


THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

The Inter-American Development Bank, the oldest and largest regional multilateral development insti
tution, was established in December of 1959 to help accelerate economic and social development in Latin 
America and the Caribbean. 

The Bank was created in response to a longstanding desire on the part of the Latin American 
nations for a development institution that would focus on the pressing problems of the region. A 
resolution calling for the creation of such a bank was adopted at the First International American 
Conference, held in Washington, D.C. in 1890. While this initiative, and subsequent ones, failed to bear 
immediate fruit, in 1958 President Juscelino Kubitschek of Brazil proposed that the countries of the 
Hemisphere embark upon a bold cooperative effort to promote the economic and social development of 
the region. His proposal received support from throughout the Hemisphere and shortly thereafter a 
special committee of the Organization of American States drafted the Articles of Agreement Establishing 
the Inter-American Development Bank. 

The Bank's original membership included 19 Latin American and Caribbean countries and the 
United States. Subsequently, seven other Western Hemisphere nations, including Canada, joined the 
Bank. From the beginning, the Bank developed links with many industrialized countries on other 
continents and in 1974 the Declaration of Madrid was signed to formalize their entry into the Bank. 
Thirteen European countries, as well as Japan and Israel became nonregional members of the Bank in 
1976 and 1977, to be joined by Portugal in 1980 and Norway in 1986. Today Bank membership totals 44 
nations. 

In its 30 years of operations, the Bank has become a major catalyst in mobilizing resources for 
the region. The Bank's Charter states that its principal functions are to utilize its own capital, funds raised 
by it in financial markets, and other available resources, for financing the development of the member 
countries; to encourage private investment in projects and to supplement private investment when 
private capital is not available on reasonable terms and conditions; and to provide technical assistance for 
the preparation, financing, and implementation of development plans and projects. 

In carrying out its mission, the Bank has mobilized financing for projects that represent a total 
investment of nearly $146 billion. The Bank's annual lending grew dramatically from the $294 million in 
loans approved in 1961 to $5.4 billion in 1991. 

The Bank's operations cover the entire spectrum of economic development, with particular 
emphasis on the productive sectors of agriculture and industry, the physical infrastructure sectors of 
energy and transportation and the social sectors of environmental and public health, education and urban 
development. 

During the 1960s and 1970s, the Bank was a pioneer in financing social projects such as health 
and education. In fact, the Bank's first loan, approved in February of 1961, was for improving the water 
and sewage system of Arequipa, Peru. Its innovative Small Projects Program seeks to provide small 
financings to microentrepreneurs and small-scale farmers and in 1991 the Bank continued to broaden its 
support to the informal sector. The Bank has made an effort to see to it that its lending operations directly 
benefit low-income populations. Finally, 1991 saw the continued growth of sector lending as part of the 
Bank's program of activities. 

The financial resources of the Bank consist of ordinary capital resources—comprised of 
subscribed capital, reserves and funds raised through borrowings—and Funds in Administration, 
comprised of contributions made by member countries. It should be noted that member countries' 
subscriptions to the Bank's capital fund consist of paid-in and callable capital. A paid-in subscription is in 
the form of a cash payment and represents a minor portion of a member's subscription (under the Seventh 
General Increase in the Resources of the Bank, the paid-in portion represents only 2.5 percent of a 
member's subscription). The major part of a member's subscription is in the form of callable capital—or 
guarantees of the Bank's borrowings in the world's financial markets. The Bank also has a Fund for 
Special Operations for lending on concessional terms for projects in countries classified as economically 
less developed. 

The Bank has borrowed funds for its ordinary operations from the capital markets of Europe, 
Japan, Latin America, the Caribbean and the United States. The Bank's debt is AAA rated by the three 
major rating services in the United States, and is accorded equivalent status in the other major capital 
markets. 

The Bank's highest authority is its Board of Governors, on which each member country is 
represented. Governors are usually Ministers of Finance, Presidents of Central Banks or officers of 
comparable rank. The Board of Governors has delegated many of its operational powers to the Board of 
Executive Directors, which is responsible for the conduct of the Bank's operations. 

The Bank has Country Offices in each of its regional member countries, as well as in Paris. The 
Bank's headquarters are in Washington, D.C. 
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COVER: BARRANQUILLA, COLOMBIA. An employee 
weaves cloth on a hand loom at Textiles Artísticos, 
a microenterprise that produces cloth for curtains, 
upholstery, table cloths and napkins. Some 15,000 
small businesses in Colombia are receiving credit 
or training through two IDBglobal microenterprise 
credit programs totaling $21 million and channeled 
through banks and nonprofit organizations. A $7 
million global loan to Colombia in 1986 marked the 
first time the Bank ever financed a national micro-
enterprise program. Similar microenterprise pro
grams in Argentina, Ecuador and Uruguay have 
been built on the success of the Bank's Small Pro
jects Program, created in 1978. 
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THREE DECADES OF ACTIVITIES 

Loans, Technical Cooperation, and Small Projects 

The Bank has approved 1,923 loans totaling $51.8 billion. The 
total investment in the projects financed with the help of the 
Bank is estimated at nearly $146 billion. 

• The Bank has committed a total of $1,760 million for 
technical cooperation. Of this, $921 million was extended on 
a grant or contingent recovery basis. Another $839 million in 
technical cooperation was extended for preinvestment pur
poses or as part of specific loans to ensure the optimum 
execution of projects. 

• A total of $116.1 million has been approved for the 
financing of Small Projects. 

Resource Mobilization 

• The subscribed capital of the Bank totaled $51 billion, as 
of December 31, 1991. The Seventh General Increase in the 
Resources of the Bank, which went into effect January 17, 
1990, increased the Bank's authorized capital to $61 billion. 

• Contributions to the Fund for Special Operations have 
totaled $8.7 billion. 

Sectoral Activities 

• Agriculture and Fisheries: 473 loans amounting to $10.4 
billion have helped to finance agricultural and fisheries 
projects costing a total of $23.9 billion. 

•Energy: 253 loans for $13.1 billion have helped to finance 
$49.8 billion in projects in the energy sector. 

•Industry and Mining: 258 loans amounting to $6.3 billion 
have been approved for industrial and mining projects costing 
$28.3 billion. 

•Transportation and Communications: 246 loans totaling 
$6.8 billion have financed transportation and communications 
projects with a combined cost of $14.6 billion. 

• Environmental and Public Health: 250 loans amounting to 
$5 billion have helped finance projects costing $10.5 billion. 

• Education, Science and Technology: 155 loans amounting 
to $2.1 billion have financed education projects costing $4.1 
billion. 

•Urban Development: 103 loans amounting to $2.5 billion 
have helped finance $4.5 billion in urban development 
projects. 

•Export Financing: 44 loans totaling $1.1 billion have 
financed projects costing $1.6 billion. 

•Tourism and Microenterprise: 24 loans amounting to $707 
million financed tourism and microenterprise projects whose 
total cost is $1.5 billion. 

• Preinvestment: 75 global preinvestment loans amounting 
to $394 million have been made to finance projects costing 
$765 million. 

•Other: 42 loans, including sector adjustment lending, 
totaling $3.4 billion for projects whose total cost is $6.4 billion. 

Member Countries 

Argentina 
Austria 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belgium 
Bolivia 
Brazil 

Canada 
Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Denmark 
Dominican 

Republic 

Ecuador 
£1 Salvador 
Finland 
France 
Germany 
Guatemala 
Guyana 

Haiti 
Honduras 
Israel 
Italy 
Jamaica 
Japan 
Mexico 

Netherlands 
Nicaragua 
Norway 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Portugal 

Spain 
Suriname 
Sweden 
Switzerland 
Trinidad and 

Tobago 
United Kingdom 

United States 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 
Yugoslavia 
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PRESIDENTS LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL 

Inter-American Development Bank 
Washington, D.C. 

February 12, 1992 

Mr. Chairman: 

Pursuant to Section 2 of the By-Laws of the Inter-American Development Bank, I transmit to you the Annual 
Report of the Bank for 1991, which the Board of Executive Directors submits to the Board of Governors. 

The Report contains a brief summary of the economic situation of Latin America and a review of the Bank's 
activities in 1991. 

In addition, the Report contains a description on a country-by-country basis and a regional basis of the 
Bank's various operations—loans, financings for small projects and technical cooperation—on behalf of Latin 
America's development; a summary statement of the loans approved in 1991; a series of tables of selected data 
on the region; the financial statements of the Bank; and its general appendices. 

Complying with Article III, Section 3(a), of the Agreement Establishing the Bank, the Report contains 
separate audited financial statements for its various sources of funds. For the ordinary capital resources, these 
are presented pursuant to the provisions of Article VIII, Section 6(a), of the Agreement; for the Fund for Special 
Operations, in accordance with the provisions of Article IV, Section 8(d), of the Agreement; for the Intermediate 
Financing Facility Account, complying with Section 5(d) of Resolution AG-12/83 of the Board of Governors; for 
the Social Progress Trust Fund, pursuant to Section 5.04 of the Agreement signed between the Government of 
the United States and the Bank, and for the Venezuelan Trust Fund, in accordance with Article VI, Section 24, 
of the Agreement signed between the Government of Venezuela and the Bank. 

Sincerely yours, 

Enrique V. Iglesias 

Chairman, Board of Governors 
Inter-American Development Bank 

IV 
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TABLE I. TEN YEARS OF OPERATIONS, 1982-91 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

CAPITAL 
Subscriptions (End of Year) 

Ordinary Capital 
Fund for Special Operations 
Other Funds 

Total 

BORROWINGS 
Outstanding (End of Year) 
Gross Annual Borrowings 

OPERATIONS 
Loans Authorized (Cumulative)1 

Ordinary Capital 
Fund for Special Operations 
Other Funds 

Total 

Loans Authorized (Annual) 
Ordinary Capital 
Fund for Special Operations 
Other Funds 

Total 

Loan Disbursement (Annual) 
Ordinary Capital 
Fund for Special Operations 
Other Funds 

Total 

Loan Repayments ( Annual) 
Ordinary Capital 
Fund for Special Operations 
Other Funds 

Total 

Loans Outstanding 
Ordinary Capital 
Fund for Special Operations 
Other Funds 

Total 

Nonreimbursable Technical 
Cooperation (Annua!) 

Fund for Special Operations 
Other Funds 

Total 

1982 

19,230 
7,673 
1,173 

28,076 

4,252 
1,296 

12,770 
8,479 
1,276 

1,892 
786 

66 

2,744 

1,081 
485 

97 

1,663 

248 
153 
80 

481 

4,141 
3,803 

595 

33 
16 

49 

1983 1984 1985 1986 1987 1988 1989 1990 

21,427 
8,211 
1,176 

24,537 
8,305 
1,180 

26,714 
8,362 
1,182 

34,073 
8,420 
1,188 

34,083 
8,476 
1,127 

34,083 
8,458 
1,192 

34,455 
8,458 
1,130 

40,994 
8,702 
1,172 

5,180 
1,408 

14,930 
8,809 
1.296 

6,132 
1,763 

17,511 
8,984 
1,277 

9,366 
2,333 

21.056 
9,150 
1,314 

12,115 
1,911 

24,772 
9,354 
1,312 

15,225 
1,115 

28,658 
9,664 
1,369 

14,266 
902 

28.466 
9,733 
1,426 

14,630 
1,984 

30,113 
10,038 
1,448 

17,273 
1,830 

35,021 
10,475 

1,499 

22,525 25,035 27,772 31,520 35,438 39,691 39,625 41,599 46,995 

2,589 
412 
44 

3,045 

1,170 
493 

67 

1,730 

268 
163 
82 

513 

5.250 
4,306 

590 

8,539 10,146 

31 
23 

54 

3,215 
307 

45 

2,766 
251 

2,706 
292 
39 

1,957 
346 

58 

1,474 
154 
54 

2,235 
342 
41 

3,315 
517 
49 

3,567 3,061 3,037 2,361 1,682 2,618 3,881 

1,759 
568 
50 

1,781 
504 

58 

1,742 
478 

45 

1,574 
290 

55 

1,942 
321 
65 

2,193 
311 
45 

2,129 
329 

49 

2,377 2,343 2,265 1,919 2,328 2,549 2,507 

335 
177 
78 

382 
187 
74 

519 
202 

60 

646 
205 
78 

850 
232 
78 

935 
219 
68 

1,069 
229 
77 

590 643 781 929 1,160 1,222 1,375 

6,258 
4,709 

519 

8,586 
5,072 

497 

11,166 
5,359 

452 

14,119 
5,452 

433 

14,342 
5,544 

422 

15,281 
5,631 

386 

17,728 
5,747 

359 

11,486 

40 
8 

35 
6 

10 
10 

35 
12 

40 
16 

44 
17 

48 
9 

48 41 20 47 56 61 57 

1991 

41,063 
8,704 
1,191 

30,814 34,022 36,258 43,681 43,686 43,733 44,043 50,868 50,958 

19,656 
3,649 

39,223* 
11,040 

1,556 

51,819 

4,734* 
625 

60 

5,419 

2,804 
296 

51 

3,151 

1,440 
340 
108 

1,888 

19,260 
5,716 

307 

14,155 16,977 20,004 20,308 21,298 23,834 25,283 

99 
41 

140 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
Income 

Loans 
Ordinary Capital 386 453 
Fund for Special Operations 99 102 

Investments 
Ordinary Capital 231 233 
Fund for Special Operations 52 46 

Net Income 
Ordinary Capital 243 219 
Fund for Special Operations2 72 75 

Reserves (End of Period) 
Ordinary Capital 1,493 1,692 
Fund for Special Operations 552 536 

543 
107 

271 
39 

252 
71 

1,923 
458 

695 
110 

311 
29 

271 
64 

2,207 
471 

945 
114 

367 
40 

286 
79 

2,537 
528 

1,145 
120 

344 
48 

282 
94 

2,882 
567 

1,221 
111 

329 
62 

238 
50 

3,070 
559 

1,165 
103 

370 
73 

221 
48 

3,296 
546 

1,418 
126 

449 
74 

341 
47 

3,711 
539 

1,675 
158 

529 
61 

394 
131 

¡,062 
539 

ADMINISTRATION 
Administrative Expenses 

Total—Ml Funds 140 142 145 155 165 170 184 202 220 

1 Net of cancellations. 
1 Income before Technical Cooperation expense. 
'$1,712 million of loan approvals were authorized with provisional resources and made unconditional in January 1992. 
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LATIN AMERICA 
AND THE CARIBBEAN 

IN 1991 

Restoring Economic Growth 

Latin America and the Caribbean made impressive gains in 
economic growth during 1991, reversing the generally 
weak performance that persisted throughout the 1980s. 
Regional output rose last year by an average of 2.7 percent, 
even in the face of unfavorable external factors. A number 
of countries—Argentina, Chile, Mexico, Panama, and 
Venezuela—were especially successful in re-establishing 
growth. Almost every country made progress in restoring 
macroeconomic balance and in advancing structural re
forms designed to enhance international competitiveness. 

Despite the improvement in economic growth, aver
age per capita output in the region now stands at the level 
reached a decade and a half ago. Consequently, most 
countries in the region face severe social problems that 
stem from a high incidence of underemployment, de
pressed per capita incomes, and a level of social services 
that has failed to keep pace with the growing needs of the 
region's population. Virtually all countries have renewed 

HAINA, DOMINICAN REPUBLIC. Shipping 
capacity was doubled at Port Haina by a 
modernization and expansion project financed 
with a $35.5 million LDB loan. Located near Santo 
Domingo, Haina is the country's main port. A 
second Bank loan for $18 million in 1985 was 
used to repair the port's two main breakwaters, 
which had been damaged by hurricanes. 

their commitment to restoring adequate rates of sustain
able economic growth, to renewing their attack on pov
erty, and to strengthening social services. 

For most countries in the region, recoveiy was 
hampered by adverse external developments including 
weakened demand for their exports stemming from an 
economic slowdown in the industrial countries, continued 
depressed and declining commodity prices, and deterio
rating terms of trade. The combination of rising demand for 
imports, as levels of investment and output rose, and 
reduced demand for exports, owing to lower growth of the 
world economy, resulted in a decline in the region's trade 
surplus. This, together with higher interest payments 
associated with arrears reduction, resulted in a substantial 
increase in the region's current account deficit. The latter 
was more than covered by net capital inflows. As a result, 
international reserves rose considerably during the course 
of the year. 

The large increase of imports in many countries 
represented a restoration of imports to more traditional 
levels and a rebuilding of inventories following a number 
of years of stagnation or decline. It also reflected reduced 
tariff and non-tariff barriers to trade as a number of 
countries in the region implemented far-reaching reforms 
of their foreign trade regimes aimed ai integrating their 
economies more closely with the world economy. For 
some countries that are well advanced in the adjustment 
process, increased imports were the consequence of 
appreciation of the real exchange rate associated with 
large capital inflows. These inflows included some repa
triation of flight capital. 

Progress in Reducing Inflation 

While the economies of most countries improved despite 
adverse external developments, those that applied com-
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TABLE H. GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT 
(In percent) 

Country 

Proportion of Regional GDP 

Averages 

1 9 6 1 - 7 0 1 9 7 1 - 8 0 1 9 8 1 - 9 0 1 9 6 1 - 7 0 1 9 7 1 - 8 0 1 9 8 1 - 8 7 

Real Growth Rates 

Averages Annual 

1988 1989 1990 

Latin America 100 100 100 5.4 5.9 1.4 0.1 0.5 0.8 

1991 

Argentina 18.8 15.4 11.4 4.4 2.5 - 1.1 - 3.5 - 5.8 - 0.7 5.0 
Bahamas 0.4 0.3 0.3 3.6 2.8 3.3 2.3 2.0 1.0 - 1.0 
Barbados 0.3 0.2 0.2 6.6 0.1 0.4 3.5 3.2 - 6.9 - 2.8 
Bolivia 1.0 0.9 0.8 4.8 4.0 - 0.9 3.0 2.1 2.2 3.5 
Brazil 28.8 34.3 38.8 5.4 8.6 2.5 - 1.0 2.5 - 5.1 0.0 

Chile 4.7 3.4 3 3 4.2 2.6 1.1 7.4 10.1 1.9 5.1 
Colombia 4.5 4.4 4.8 5.2 5.5 3.4 4.3 3.3 3.9 2.0 
Costa Rica 0.5 0.5 0.5 6.0 5.4 1.6 3.1 5.4 3.3 -2 .0 
Dominican Republic 0.5 0.6 0.6 5.1 6.9 2.7 0.5 4.2 -5 .7 -0 .7 
Ecuador 1.1 1.3 1.5 5.2 9.0 1.0 7.8 0.9 2.3 2.9 

El Salvador 1.1 1.0 0.7 5.8 2.6 -1 .5 1.5 1.6 3.0 3.1 
Guatemala 1.0 1.0 0.9 5.5 5.7 - 0.3 3.9 3.9 3.1 2.0 
Guyana 0.1 0.1 0.1 37 0.8 - 2 . 8 -3 .6 -6 .1 -4 .6 3.0 
Haiti 0.4 0.3 0.3 0.8 4.7 - 0.6 - 1.5 - 1.5 - 3.0 - 4.0 
Honduras 0.5 0.5 0.5 5.3 5.7 1.9 5.4 2.6 - 0.5 - 1.9 

Jamaica 0.8 0.6 0.4 5.1 - 1.6 1.1 1.5 7.9 4.6 37 
Mexico 17.1 18.4 20.2 7.0 6.7 0.9 1.6 3.4 4.1 4.8 
Nicaragua 0.6 0.5 0.3 6.8 - 0,1 - 0.3 - 14.3 - 3 7 0.1 - 0.4 
Panama 0.6 0.6 0.6 8.1 5.1 2.7 -15.7 - 0 . 3 4.8 9.3 
Paraguay 0.5 0.5 0.7 4.6 8.7 2.2 6.5 5.9 3.0 2.5 

Peru 5.4 4.7 4.0 5.5 3.6 2.4 - 9.0 - 12.8 - 4.3 2.0 
Suriname 0.2 0.2 0.2 5.3 4.5 - 2.0 2.9 1.8 0.4 2.9 
Trinidad and Tobago 1.0 0.9 0.7 4.3 5.6 -3 .4 - 3 . 8 -0 .4 0.2 2.0 
Uruguay 1.7 1.1 1.0 1.6 3-0 0.2 - 0.6 1.0 0.9 3.0 
Venezuela 8.5 8.3 7.2 6.3 4.3 0.6 5.7 - 9.2 3.9 9.2 

2.7 

Source: IDB estimates based on official statistics of member countries. 

prehensive and consistent stabilization and adjustment 
policies continued to register the strongest economic 
performance. Virtually every country in the region made 
efforts to carry out economic policy reforms aimed at 
improving their international competitiveness. Political 
and social conditions in some made it more difficult to 
implement these reforms than in others. Countries that 
have stabilized their economies and are more advanced in 
carrying out structural reforms designed to strengthen the 
private sector, to create a smaller, more efficient public 
administration, and to reduce protection and discretionary 
controls which encourage waste and rent-seeking behav
ior, have generally been successful in re-establishing 
adequate rates of per capita economic growth. Low or 
negative rates of growth generally were associated with 
continued macroeconomic imbalance and with delays in 
advancing the restructuring process. 

Argentina had the most noteworthy success in 
stabilizing its economy in 1991- Inflation fell from 1,344 

percent in 1990 to 173 percent in 1991 and an annualized 
rate of 6 percent in the fourth quarter. This was achieved 
by reducing the public sector deficit, by eliminating 
Central Bank financing of the deficit through money 
creation, by anchoring the Austral to the U.S. dollar and by 
limiting monetary expansion to the increase in the country's 
international reserves. In addition, imports were encour
aged by reduction of quantitative restrictions and tariffs 
and through appreciation of the real exchange rate. The 
public sector deficit reduction program included cuts in 
government spending, tax reform, privatization of major 
public enterprises and a revitalized debt equity conversion 
program which reduced interest payments on the country's 
long-term external debt to commercial banks. The Argen
tine economy is estimated to have grown by 5.0 percent in 
1991. 

Peru and Nicaragua, countries which had very high 
rates of inflation in 1990, also made significant gains in 
stabilizing their economies in 1991. While there were 
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temporary setbacks, measures introduced by the govern
ment in these countries indicated that economic policy 
would remain consistent with the objective of stabilizing 
the economy. 

In the case of Brazil, some progress was made in 
reducing inflation early in the year, partly through a price 
freeze, but full implementation of other aspects of the 
program was not possible. Inflation accelerated during the 
second semester as the price freeze was lifted, and public 
sector prices adjusted upward. Since mid-year a new 
economic team has been following a more orthodox 
economic program, which the IMF had endorsed by the 
end of the year with a 20-month stand-by arrangement. 
Meanwhile, the Government has redoubled its efforts 
against inflation, adopting an austere monetary policy, 
undertaking fundamental fiscal reform, and controlling 
expenditures to restore public sector credit. 

Chile, El Salvador, Guatemala, Mexico, Paraguay, 
Trinidad and Tobago and Venezuela, countries which had 
lower, more moderate rates of inflation in 1990, made 
further progress in stabilizing their economies. A number 
of other countries with moderate levels of inflation, 
Bolivia, Costa Rica, Ecuador, Guyana, and Jamaica had 
fresh outbreaks of inflation in 1991. All introduced mea
sures aimed at restoring macroeconomic balance. 

External Debt and Capital Flows 

Countries in the region continued to make progress in 
dealing with excessive levels of external debt. Commercial 
bank debt was further restructured under a range of 
techniques including interest rate reduction bonds, exit 
bonds with recapture clauses, debt-equity swaps and 
phased market buy-backs. This diversity of instruments 
has increased the efficiency with which restructuring has 
been carried out by facilitating a closer match between the 
interests of debtors and creditors. 

In 1991, a fourth Latin American country, Uruguay, 
implemented an agreement with its commercial bank 
creditors to reduce its external debt and debt service under 
the Brady Plan. Mexico, Costa Rica, and Venezuela com
pleted such arrangements in 1990. In present value terms, 
Uniguay's commercial bank debt was reduced by 46 
percent. This represented a 21 percent reduction of its total 
outstanding external debt. 

Important restructuring agreements covering official 
debt were concluded by the Paris Club for Argentina, Costa 
RiC'd, the Dominican Republic, Jamaica, Nicaragua, and 
Peru. Until recently, official creditors provided cash flow 
relief through rescheduling and new financing. More 
recently efforts have been made to develop new ap
proaches to bilateral debt relief. 

In December 1991 there was a breakthrough in the 
Paris Club on granting more concessional terms for the 
poorest countries. Acting on proposals made by the United 
Kingdom, Paris Club creditors reached consensus on 
additional debt relief measures, on a case by case basis, 
going well beyond the relief already granted underToronto 
terms. Nicaragua was the first country to benefit from these 
substantially improved terms, known as the Trinidad 
terms, and obtained a 50 percent reduction of the claims 
in net present value in addition to rescheduling. 

Under the Enterprise for the Americas Initiative, 
concessional official debt is to be exchanged for a new and 
restructured debt obligation with a reduced face value. 
Three countries, Chile, Bolivia, and Jamaica, benefited 
from this program in 1991. The Initiative also provides for 
official non-concessional loans of the Commodity Credit 
Corporation and the Export-Import Bank to be sold at a 
discount to investors engaging in debt-for-equity swaps 
and debt-for-nature swaps. The program will have the 
greatest impact on the smaller, less developed countries in 
the region where U.S. official debt is large relative to total 
debt outstanding. 

The stock of the region's external debt fell slightly in 
1991 in nominal terms as the effects of debt conversion 
roughly offset the increase in debt associated with new 
lending flows and exchange rate valuation changes. Progress 
in reducing the burden of external debt and debt service 
was interrupted in 1991 as a consequence of the slowdown 
of world trade, the failure of the region's export earnings 
to rise and the increase in the region's debt service pay
ments. The ratio of debt service payments to exports of 
goods and non-factor services rose by over 10 percent forthe 
entire region, in part as a result of increased cash payments 
made by some countries as parts of agreements with their 
commercial bank creditors on settlement of arrears. As a 
consequence, the ratio of debt service payments to exports 
rose from 26 percent in 1990 to 30 percent. 

In recent years progress in reducing debt and debt 
service and the improved economic performance of coun
tries in the region brought about a sharp increase in 
aggregate net resource inflows including non-debt related 
flows. Foreign direct investment and portfolio investment 
flows, which had been rising the most rapidly, continued to 
increase in 1991- As a result, the marked shift in the 
composition of resource flows toward non-debt creating 
flows that has been taking place since 1987 continued in 
1991. 

Foreign Direct Investment 

During 1991 large increases in foreign direct investment 
(FDD to several countries in the region continued as 
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further progress was made to stabilize their economies, 
liberalize trade, restructure and privatize public enter
prises, and increase the transparency and stability of 
regulations affecting FDI. Debt equity conversion pro
grams have also helped to attract FDI. Argentina, Chile, 
Mexico, and Venezuela showed the largest increases. Most 
of the foreign investment has been in public enterprises 
which have been privatized, in resource-based industries 
where the magnitude of resources required and risk are 
especially high and, for the smaller countries in the region, 
in export-oriented activities where domestic market size is 
less important relative to trade policy liberalization, ratio
nalization of investment regimes, and progress in estab
lishing freer trade. In the future, countries that will be the 
most successful in attracting increased FDI flows are those 
which have a number of characteristics. These include a 
macroeconomic environment in which private investors 
can achieve adequate and stable rates of return; abundant 
skilled manpower; and a modern infrastnicture to support 
flexibility in production. 

Access to International Capital Markets 

The most important consequence of progress in resolving 
the region's external debt problem and of improved 
economic performance is that for the first time since the 
beginning of the 1980s, some countries have regained 
access to international capital markets on a limited scale. 
A number of countries, led by Mexico, Chile and Venezue
la, have raised over $5 billion in the past two years largely 
through bond issues of private and state-owned compa
nies. These countries have succeeded in reducing their 
external debt, in creating an environment more conducive 
to private investment, and in re-establishing economic 
growth. Nationals of the borrowing countries are believed 
to have purchased a large portion of these offerings. In 
doing so, they have initiated repatriation of flight capital. 
This repatriation is one of the strongest indicators of the 
increased credibility of these countries' economic pro
grams and improved prospects for growth. Institutions in 
industrial countries, such as insurance companies, pension 
funds, and corporate treasuries have also invested in these 
offerings. 

In addition to bond issues, banks and companies in 
these countries are attracting foreign capital by offering 
certificates of deposit and short-term commercial paper. 
There has also been, to a limited extent, a resumption of 
voluntary commercial bank lending. To avoid taking on 
too much debt, borrowers are also raising capital through 
international public equity offerings. 

Renewed access to international capital markets has 
been limited for the most part to countries that have 

successfully carried out stabilization and structural adjust
ment programs supported by debt reduction. To date, it 
has mainly benefitted enterprises with an established 
international reputation and recognized credit rating. It has 
been facilitated by the use of a wide range of innovative 
collateralization techniques including telephone and credit 
card receivables. Increased access to external sources of 
finance has been accompanied by an improvement in 
market terms. 

Increased market confidence in Latin American 
financial instruments has also been reflected in a deepen
ing of trading turnover and a widening of the investor base 
of the secondary market for Latin American debt. This has 
resulted in a steady rise of secondary market prices for 
the debt of a number of Latin American countries. While 
the increase in secondary market prices was triggered by 
successful adjustment programs in a few countries, it 
appears to have altered investors' expectations more 
fundamentally about the entire region, leading them to 
bid up secondary market prices in anticipation of 
effective adjustment programs being implemented, ar
rears being settled, and future debt and debt- service 
reduction programs being carried out by countries 
which have not yet implemented such a strategy. 
Despite the notable success of some countries in the 
region to tap private capital markets, there is a continu
ing need for long-term development finance. 

Free Trade Agreements 

Efforts to spur private investment and economic growth 
have led to a greater awareness in the region of the 
necessity for liberalizing trade and investment regimes. 
This common strategy has fueled an accelerated pace of 
agreements among hemispheric trading partners within 
the context of a new definition of economic integration. 
Countries are committing not only to the free exchange of 
goods and services with their partners, but also to unprec
edented levels of convergence across national borders as 
to the pace and scope of economic adjustment aimed at 
jointly achieving greater competitiveness in the world 
market. 

During 1991 further progress was made to reduce 
barriers to intra-regional trade. This took the form of 
agreements aimed at creating sub-regional free trade areas 
which may be linked together in the future. Negotiation of 
these free trade areas is being structured to be consistent 
with Article 23 of the General Agreement on Tariffs and 
Trade (GATT) and supportive of a freer global trading 
system. As a general rule, negotiation of these agreements 
is comprehensive in coverage and includes a zero tariff 
target date. While tariff reductions are to be based on 
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reciprocity, time phasing of such reductions is differenti
ated to take into account adjustment problems of specific 
industries or sectors. Individual countries are also making 
trade and investment arrangements outside their respec-
tivesubregionalgroupings. This includesColombia, Mexico, 
and Venezuela, the so called "Group of 3;" Mexico and 
Venezuela each with CARICOM and with Central America; 
and Chile and Mexico. 

Argentina, Brazil, Paraguay, and Uruguay entered 
into a far-reaching agreement in March which established 
MERCOSUR. Under this agreement a full common market 
is to be created by 1994. Increased commitment in these 
countries to liberalization of trade and investment regimes, 
greater awareness of the necessi ty of restor ing 
macroeconomic balance as a way of facilitating acceler
ated growth, and economic integration, all enhance the 
prospects of achieving this objective. 

The members of the Andean Group-Bolivia, Colom
bia, Ecuador, Peru and Venezuela-have agreed to estab
lish an Andean Common Market, to be fully in place in 
1992, through the adoption of a common external tariff. 
Accords have also been reached to substantially liberalize 
foreign investment rules and to recognize intellectual 
property rights, thus enhancing the investment climate of 
the subregion. 

The United States, under the Enterprise for the 

LA PAZ, BOLIVIA. Edgar Saravia (right), national 
coordinator for a Bolivian government program 
to improve the efficiency of state-owned enter
prises, talks with consultant Richard D. Mallon 
(left), of the Harvard Institute for International 
Development. Financed by a $410,000 IDB 
technical cooperation grant, the program was 
designed to help determine which public 
enterprises should be transferred to the private 
sector. 

Americas Initiative, announced a proposal in June 1990 to 
form a hemispheric free trade zone, in which issues of debt 
restructuring and refinancing, and investment climate 
reforms are linked to free trade agreements with countries 
and with groups of countries. Within that context, the 
United States has signed bilateral framework agreements 
that create a mechanism for dialogue on trade and 
investment matters with Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, 
Ecuador, El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras, Nicaragua, 
Panama, Peni, Venezuela, CARICOM, and MERCOSUR. 
Framework agreements with Bolivia and Mexico were 
signed prior to the Enterprise for the Americas Initiative. 
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GUAYAQUIL, ECUADOR. A $35 million IDB loan in 
1982 helped Ecuador finance an industrial credit 
program to establish and modernize industrial 
firms. This plastic products factory used a $1.5 
million loan to buy machinery and expand 
facilities. A total of 59 industrial projects— 
involving food processing, textiles, clothing, and 
metal working products and other activities— 
were financed by the program. 

The European Community (EC) has for some years 
maintained a dialogue with Latin America through the Rio 
Group, with CARICOM through the Lomé Conventions, 
and with Central America through the San José Accords. 
Over the last 18 months, the EC has signed bilateral trade 
agreements with the Andean Group, Brazil, Chile, Mexico, 
and Uruguay. 

A central objective of the new trade arrangements 
between the Latin America and Caribbean region and its 
extra-regional trading partners is to establish a level 
playing field for all. Currently, protectionism is still present, 
at very high levels, outside of Latin America and the 

Caribbean. Barriers to the markets of the industrial coun
tries persist in sensitive areas of agriculture and industry. 
A commitment on all sides to freer trade is receiving a 
strong test in the Umguay Round negotiations; the hemi
spheric tests are taking place in the context of negotiations 
of the North American Free Trade Area (NAFTA). As a first 
step, the liberalization of trade and initiation of regional 
integration of the economies of the United States, Mexico, 
and Canada is envisaged to take place in the near future. 
An integrated hemispheric-wide free trade area would 
create the largest market in the world in terms of income 
and population. 

The process of trade liberalization within the region 
signals a new relationship with the world marketplace. 
Intra-hemispheric negotiations currently taking place are 
envisaged to be consistent with the GATT. The massive 
dismantling of trade barriers that is occurring throughout 
the region, accompanied by general economic liberaliza
tion, is to be supportive of the present, multilateral trading 
system in general and the Uniguay Round in particular. 
Through these and other efforts, Latin America and the 
Caribbean continue actively to pursue expansion of the 
region's participation in global trade and investment flows. 
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Private Sector Development Poverty Alleviation 

During 1991, countries throughout the region introduced 
policy reforms aimed at accelerating development of the 
private sector. Private investment and economic growth 
were sharply reduced during the crisis years of the 1980s. 
Efforts to restore growth through increased private invest
ment have focused on four areas: creating a stable 
macroeconomic environment favorable to investment and 
the efficient use of resources; establishing a supportive 
legal, tax, and regulatory framework including adequate 
protection of property rights; restructuring public sectors 
based on a clear definition of boundaries between the 
public and the private sectors; and enhancing mobilization 
of resources by the private sector through financial sector 
development. 

Restoration of macroeconomic balance through con
sistent and stable policies is the most important factor in 
determining incentives and risks for investors; almost every 
country in the region made progress in this area in 1991. 

A number of countries, principally Chile, Mexico, 
Colombia, Argentina and Venezuela are well advanced in 
introducing more supportive and transparent regulations 
for the private sector generally and foreign direct invest
ment in particular. Restrictions on entry, performance 
requirements, inadequate legal protection, and distorting 
tax structures including double taxation of corporate 
profits and complex approval processes designed to 
achieve specific developmental objectives which frequently 
impedes private investments have been modified in these 
countries. Argentina, Bolivia, Chile, Mexico, Peru, and 
Venezuela have carried out far-reaching privatization 
programs and have increased the role of the private sector 
in the production and delivery of goods and services. 
Virtually all countries in the region increased their efforts 
to deepen and widen their financial systems. This has 
included restructuring financial institutions so as to reduce 
their vulnerability to shocks and strengthen regulatory 
oversight. 

In 1991, these efforts were supported by the IDB 
through its investment and financial sector loans. Under 
the Enterprise for the Americas Initiative, agreement was 
also reached on establishing a Multilateral Investment 
Fund. It will provide resources for technical assistance to 
support the countries of the region in their efforts to design 
and implement programs of reform of investment regimes. 
In addition, it will assist countries to prepare the labor force 
needed for a dynamic private sector through the provision 
of training facilities, including management training. It will 
also include an enterprise development facility to support 
microenterprise and small business development and 
improve their access to the financial system. 

Most countries in the region sustained serious economic 
losses in the 1980s. Negative per capita economic growth, 
rising open unemployment, a high incidence of acute 
underemployment and accelerating rates of inflation had 
a severe impact on the poorest, most vulnerable groups of 
the population. In addition, the major restructuring that 
has been carried out in a number of countries has 
displaced workers, thereby contributing to an increase of 
absolute poverty. As a consequence, additional and urgent 
efforts are needed to deal with the social costs associated 
with economic losses which occurred throughout the 
region during the 1980s. 

Most countries in the region are planning new 
initiatives to alleviate poverty in the future. These include 
measures to: 1) increase the cost effectiveness of social 
service delivery systems by making them more responsive 
to local needs through decentralization; and 2) improve 
the targeting of social services—especially primary educa
tion, basic health care and nutrition—so as to increase the 
capacity of the poor to respond to new training and 
employment opportunities. Decentralization of social ser
vices in most cases requires building up delivery capacity 
at the provincial and municipal level. Chile, Colombia, and 
Venezuela are most advanced in carrying this out. Ad
vances in planning such reforms are also being made in 
Argentina, Costa Rica, and Mexico. 

Poverty alleviation requires that public sector ser
vices be tailored to support economic activities in which 
the poor are concentrated. Thus reforms aimed at im
proved targeting of social services also include efforts to 
eliminate existing biases against the poor in education, 
roads, irrigation, and agricultural extension. In a number 
of countries, subsidized goods and public services which 
were initially introduced to benefit the poor have been 
found to most benefit the rich. Elimination of these 
anomalies will release budgetary resources which can be 
shifted to increase the supply of services. These services 
are needed by the poor to overcome ill health, malnutri
tion, lack of skills, and illiteracy so that they can take 
greater advantage of economic opportunities. 
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PARTI 

THE BANK 
IN 1991 

OPERATIONS 

OVERVIEW 

The Bank became the pivotal lender for Latin America and 
the Caribbean in 1991. The emphasis on policy-based 
lending and investment sector reform, coupled with a 
record lending volume and strong support for the most 
vulnerable countries and groups, made 1991 a watershed 
year for the Bank and permitted it to assume the para
mount multilateral leadership role in the region. 

Two countries—Nicaragua and Peru—mobilized the 
necessary resources in 1991 to clear their arrears with the 
international financial institutions and resume full and 
normal relations with those institutions. Panama is ex
pected to accomplish the same objective in early 1992. The 
Bank was proud to be the first international organization 
to begin lending resources to Nicaragua and Peru and 
looks forward to resuming lending to Panama shortly. 

SANDILLAL, COSTA RICA. Workers construct a 
steel-lined tunnel for the hydroelectric plant being 
built in northwest Costa Rica. Powered by the 
waters from Lake Arenal, the 32,000-kilowatt 
plant at Sandillal will help the country meet 
increasing demands for electricity. The project, 
supported by a $94.6 million IDB loan in 1987, 
also includes extension of transmission lines and 
expansion of transformer capacity. 

In most areas of development—whether it was 
helping to build basic infrastructure, supporting economic 
policy reforms, promoting the privatization and streamlin
ing of public enterprises, improving the climate for domes
tic and foreign investment, setting up social investment 
funds, promoting trade and economic integration, encour
aging natural resource management or extending re
sources for debt reduction—the Bank was able to provide 
the countries of the region with resources and expertise to 
help address very serious economic and social challenges. 

During the year, the Bank approved 77 loans totaling 
$5,419 million, representing its highest level of commit
ments on record and an increase of nearly 40 percent over 
the 1990 total. Two-thirds of the Bank's lending was 
directed to the more developed countries and one-third to 
the lesser developed countries of the region. 

Sector lending continued to be an important part of 
the Bank's work to assist the countries in their efforts to 
stabilize their economies and renew economic growth. 
The Bank approved 12 rapid-disbursement sector loans for 
11 countries totaling S2 billion, representing 37 percent of 
the year's lending. These loans were designed to help 
bring about critical reforms in key sectors of the countries. 

Within the sector lending program, the Bank made 
loans to Bolivia, Chile, Colombia, and Jamaica to help carry 
out reforms to encourage private investment. 

The Enterprise for the Americas Initiative focuses on 
the areas of trade, debt reduction and investment promo
tion and calls for the IDB to take a leading role in 
implementing the investment and debt reduction compo
nents of the program. Among other measures, the Initiative 
provides for the establishment of up to a $1.5 billion 
Multilateral Investment Fund which the IDB would admin
ister and which would complement the Bank's investment 
sector lending program. To date, several regional and 
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TABLE HI. THE BANK'S YEARLY ( 1 9 9 1 ) A N D CUMULATIVE LOANS1 ( 1 9 6 1 - 9 1 ) 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

Couatry 

DETAIL BY FUNDS 

Total Amount Ordinary Capital 
Fund for 

Special Operations 

1991 1961-91 1991 1961-91 1991 1961-91 

Funds in 
Administration 

1991 1961-91 

Argentina 892.7 5,168.2 
Bahamas 31.8 156.7 
Barbados 155.0 
Bolivia 180.2 1,937.1 
Brazil 780.4 7,930.5 

Chile 230.0 4,2597 
Colombia 205.0 4,698.4 
Costa Rica 91.0 1,514.7 
Dominican Rep. 29.6 1,111.0 
Ecuador 102.3 2,467.0 

El Salvador 170.0 1,265.4 
Guatemala 15.0 1,136.3 
Guyana 67.8 407.0 
Haiti 12.4 356.4 
Honduras 216.3 1,319-4 

Jamaica 126.0 988.7 
Mexico 653.1 7,107.8 
Nicaragua 152.5 618.2 
Panama 871.1 
Paraguay 162.0 817.1 

Peru 655.9 2,291.2 
Suriname - 21.7 
Trinidad and Tobago 265.4 447.4 
Uruguay 222.7 955-8 
Venezuela 156.5 2,362.2 
Regional - 1,455.4 

820.0 
31.8 

140.0 
659.8 

230.0 
205.0 
79.0 

100.0 

95.0 

144.0 

115-0 
653-1 

20.0 

162.0 

639.9 

260.0 
222.7 
156.5 

4,535.3 
154.6 
93.2 

979.8 
6,448.5 

4,012.4 
3,940.7 
1,041.6 

416.5 
1,465.4 

431.9 
531.5 
110.5 

482.6 

704.0 
6,512.6 

118.8 
553.9 
337.5 

1,678.6 
18.8 

406.7 
809.2 

2,188.0 
1,250.5 

72.7 

339 
120.6 

29.3 
2.3 

65.0 
14.4 
67.5 
12.4 
71.0 

131.5 

4.0 

583.8 

43.0 
880.5 

1,348.8 

203-3 
693-3 
352.2 
617.2 
911-3 

692.4 
543.5 
288.1 
3497 
783-0 

167.7 
560.2 
448.0 
282.9 
466.8 

393.1 
3.0 

31.3 
104.7 
101.4 
190.9 

6.3 

12.0 
0.3 

10.0 
0.6 
0.3 

1.3 

11.0 

1.0 

16.0 

1.4 

49.1 
2.0 

18.8 
76.8 

133.2 

44.0 
64.4 

120.8 
77.3 
90.4 

141.1 
61.3 
8.3 
6.7 

53.8 

116.9 
35.0 
51.3 
34.3 
12.8 

219.4 

9.3 
41.8 
72.9 
14.0 

TOTAL $5,418.6 $51,819.1 $4,733.8 $39,223.3 $624.6 $11,040.1 $60.2 $1,555.7 

1 After cancellations and exchange adjustments. 

non reg iona l count r ies h a v e p l e d g e d resources for t he 
Fund , a n d an a g r e e m e n t es tabl ishing the F u n d was s igned 
o n February 11, 1992. 

As it a s s u m e s a grea ter l eade r sh ip role, int imately 
involved wi th the critical i ssues confront ing the count r ies 
in the reg ion , t he Bank is also pe r fo rming a va luab le 
service as a b r idge a m o n g count r ies a n d p e o p l e s . T h e 
Bank ' s offices h a v e b e c o m e a fertile c ross roads for the 
e x c h a n g e of ideas a n d a central a rena for b r ing ing toge the r 
g r o u p s wi th similar interests a n d goa ls in p r o m o t i n g the 
e c o n o m i c a n d social d e v e l o p m e n t of the region. For 
e x a m p l e , in D e c e m b e r 1991, the Bank s p o n s o r e d a forum 
at h e a d q u a r t e r s that a t t racted over 400 pr ivate a n d publ ic 
sector par t ic ipants from every m e m b e r count ry to discuss 
h o w to increase private inves tment in Latin America a n d 
t h e Car ibbean . 

Lending highlights of the year included the following: 

Loans and Technical Cooperation Approvals: 
• T h e Bank a p p r o v e d 77 loans total ing $5,419 

mill ion ( inc luding increases in previous ly a p p r o v e d expor t 
f inancing credits) in s u p p o r t of Latin America 's e c o n o m i c 
a n d social d e v e l o p m e n t . Cumulat ive l end ing to ta led $51.8 
billion. 

• O n a sectoral basis, the Bank au thor i zed loans 
total ing $1,985 mill ion for sec tor loans , $988 million for 
social infrastructure projects, $696 million for energy , $678 
mill ion for t ranspor ta t ion a n d co mmu n i ca t i o n s , $570 mil
lion for agriculture, $267 mill ion for p re inves tment , $102 
mill ion for indust ry a n d mining, $88 mill ion for expor t 
f inancing, a n d $45 mill ion for tour i sm a n d microenter 
pr ise . 

10 
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TABLE IV. DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

Sector 1991 % 1961-91 

Productive Sectors 
Agriculture and 

Fisheries 570 
Industry and Mining 102 
Tourism and 

Microenterprise 45 

Physical Infrastructure 
Energy 696 
Transportation and 

Communications 678 

Social Infrastructure 
Environmental and 

Public Health 407 
Education, Science 

and Technology 195 
Urban Development 386 

Other 
Planning and 

Reform 1,985 
Export Financing 88 
Preinvestment 

and Other 267 

10.5 10,351 20.0 
1.9 6,278 12.1 

0.8 707 1.4 

12.8 13,087 25.3 

12.5 6,791 13-1 

7.5 

3.6 
7.1 

5,040 9.7 

2,066 4.0 
2,488 4.8 

36.6 3,070 5.9 
1.6 1,094 2.1 

4.9 847 1.6 

TOTAL $5,419 100.0 $51,819 100.0 

• $140 million was approved in grant and contin
gent recovery technical cooperation, the highest yearly 
approval level on record, and representing a 146 percent 
increase over the 1990 total of $56.8 million. The 1991 
approvals brought the cumulative total to $921 million. As 
for reimbursable technical cooperation, $28.4 million in 
loans or portions of loans was extended bringing the 
cumulative total to $839 million. 

THE YEAR'S LENDING 

The loans authorized by the Bank in 1991 came from the 
following sources: 

Ordinary Capital Resources: 52 loans (plus increases 
in previously approved export financing credits) for $4,733.8 
million, brought the cumulative total of loans, less cancel
lations, to 866 for $39,223 million as of December 31,1991. 

Fundfor Special Operations: 25 loans totaling $624.6 
million, brought the cumulative total to 860 loans, less 
cancellations, for $11,040.1 million as of December 31, 
1991-

Other Funds: Increases in previously approved export 
financing credits for $60.2 million from the Venezuelan Trust 
Fund, brought the cumulative total to 199 loans, less 
cancellations, for $1,555.7 million as of December 31, 1991. 

The Bank agreed to partially defray up to 5 percent 
of the interest on 7 loans for $188 million approved in 1991 
from the ordinary capital resources, with funds from the 
Intermediate Financing Facility created under the Sixth 
General Increase of Resources. 

(Tables III and IV show the Bank's cumulative 
lending and sectoral breakdown). 

Total Cost of Projects 

The $5,419 million in Bank-financed loans help to finance 
projects involving a total investment of about $9,643 
million. The Bank's loans cover only a part of the total cost 
of the projects being carried out by the Latin American and 
Caribbean countries. The balance over and above the 
Bank's contribution comes from the Latin American coun
tries themselves and, in some cases, other sources of 
financing. A country-by-country breakdown of this rela
tionship is shown in Table V. 

Disbursements 

The Bank's disbursements on previously authorized loans 
amounted to $3,151 million in 1991, compared with $2,507 
million in 1990. 

As of December 31,1991, cumulative disbursements, 
including exchange adjustments, totaled $39,281 million, 
or 75 percent of the loans authorized by the Bank. The 
1991 disbursements and cumulative totals by funds in
clude: 

Ordinary Capital Resources: $2,804 million, bringing 
the cumulative total to $28,735 million as of December 31, 
1991. 

Fund for Special Operations: $296 million, bringing 
the cumulative total to $9,009 million as of December 31, 
1991-

Other Funds: $51 million, bringing the cumulative 
total from funds administered by the Bank to $1,537 
million as of December 31, 1991-

The distribution of 1991 and cumulative disburse
ments by country appears in Table VI. 

Repayments 

Loan repayments amounted to $1,888 million in 1991. 
Cumulative repayments as of December 31, 1991, were 
$12,865 million. 

Repayments received by the Bank during the year, 

/ / 



TABLE V. H O W BANK PROJECTS ARE FINANCED YEARLY ( 1 9 9 D A N D CUMULATIVE1 ( 1 9 6 1 - 9 1 ) 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

Country 

Total Cost Bank's Loans 

1991 1961-91 1991 1961-91 

Latin America's 
Contributions 

1991 1961-91 

Argentina $ 1,956.4 $ 15,131.0 
Bahamas 45.5 244.3 
Barbados 0.0 272.3 
Bolivia 268.1 3,091.1 
Brazil 1,195.4 38,957.2 
Chile 270.0 9,052.3 
Colombia 205.5 11,444.6 
Costa Rica 148.7 2,500.3 
Dominican Republic 50.4 1,661.9 
Ecuador 227.4 5,009.8 
El Salvador 244.9 1,894.8 
Guatemala 18.8 2,226.7 
Guyana 75.2 522.6 
Haiti 23.9 509.9 
Honduras 372.5 2,752.8 
Jamaica 141.4 1,511.3 
Mexico 1,999.4 22,347.4 
Nicaragua 280.5 1,215.4 
Panama 0.0 1,638.7 
Paraguay 204.5 1,228.4 
Peru 752.8 4,757.1 
Suriname 0.0 29.7 
Trinidad and Tobago 410.1 705.3 
Uruguay 466.7 1,900.9 
Venezuela 285.0 6,992.6 
Regional 0.0 8,362.8 

892.7 
31.8 

0.0 
180.2 
780.4 
230.0 
205.0 
91.0 
29.6 

102.3 
170.0 

15.0 
67.8 
12.4 

216.3 
126.0 
653.1 
152.5 

0.0 
162.0 
655.9 

0.0 
265.4 
222.7 
156.5 

0.0 

5,168.2 
156.7 
155.0 

1,937.1 
7,930.5 
4,259-7 
4,698.4 
1,514.7 
1,111.0 
2,467.0 
1,265.4 
1,136.3 

407.0 
356.4 

1,319.4 
988.7 

7,107.8 
618.2 
871.1 
817.1 

2,291.2 
21.7 

447.4 
955.8 

2,362.2 
1,455.4 

$ 1,063-8 
13.6 
0.0 

87.9 
415.0 

40.0 
0.5 

57.7 
20.8 

125.2 
74.9 

3.8 
7.4 

11.5 
156.2 

15.4 
1,346.3 

128.0 
0.0 

42.5 
96.9 

0.0 
144.7 
244.0 
128.5 

0.0 

$ 9,962.8 
87.7 

117.3 
1,154.0 

31,026.7 
4,792.6 
6,746.2 

985.6 
551.0 

2,542.8 
629.4 

1,090.4 
115.6 
153-5 

1,433-4 
522.7 

15,239.6 
597.3 
767.6 
411.3 

2,465.9 
8.0 

257.9 
945.1 

4,630.4 
6,907.4 

TOTAL $9,643.1 $145,961.2 $5,418.6 $51,819.1 $4,224.5 $94,142.0 

' Cumulative loans after cancellations and exchange adjustments. 

TABLE VI. THE BANK'S YEARLY ( 1 9 9 1 ) A N D CUMULATIVE DISBURSEMENTS ( 1 9 6 1 - 9 1 ) 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

DETAIL BY FUNDS 

Total Amount Ordinary Capital 

Country 1991 1961-91 1991 1961-91 

Fund for 
Special Operations 

1991 1961-91 

Funds in 
Administration 

1991 1961-91 

Argentina $ 284.4 $ 3,981.8 $ 274.9 $ 3,446.0 
Bahamas 52.4 85.7 52.4 83-7 
Barbados 7.6 1397 6.7 79.9 
Bolivia 107.4 1,279.3 66.4 524.9 
Brazil 241.0 6,405.0 230.4 5,120.9 
Chile 228.6 3,331-0 228.6 3,083.7 
Colombia 377.2 3,596.0 373.0 2,894.6 
Costa Rica 69.3 960.2 55.9 491.7 
Dominican Republic 37.3 847.8 27.6 243-4 
Ecuador 138.5 1,777.6 85.6 1,073.0 
El Salvador 36.2 909-5 2.3 292.7 
Guatemala 54.6 969.5 35.7 472.2 
Guyana 12.4 225.2 7.9 107.0 
Haiti 11.1 223.8 
Honduras 28.5 916.5 14.0 313.2 
Jamaica 67.5 693.5 56.0 414.3 
Mexico 513.7 5,965.3 507.7 5,377.1 
Nicaragua 72.5 541.7 8.5 108.8 
Panama 722.3 424.2 
Paraguay 25.8 541.0 5.1 161.8 
Peru 331.5 1,900.4 324.9 1,288.2 
Suriname 2.7 11.5 2.4 10.8 
Trinidad and Tobago 44.0 99.2 41.7 68.5 
Uruguay 127.0 657.6 119.2 519.8 
Venezuela 201.3 1,164.0 201.3 989.7 
Regional 78.6 1,336.5 75.7 1,144.9 

$ 9.5 $ 486.6 

0.7 
37.6 
10.6 

4.2 
1.4 
9.1 

52.9 
28.9 
18.1 
4.0 

11.1 
14.4 
0.5 
6.0 

64.0 

20.7 
(9.4) 
0.3 
0.3 
7.8 

2.9 

42.8 
682.0 

1,150.9 
203.3 
637.0 
347.7 
528.8 
614.2 
480.7 
436.9 
111.7 
217.1 
551.4 
162.2 
553.2 
381.5 
264.8 
366.4 
392.8 

0.7 
21.4 
96.0 

101.4 
177.6 

0.2 
3.4 

12.0 
0.6 

5.0 
0.8 
0.5 

0.1 
11.0 

16.0 

2.0 

49.2 
2.0 

17.0 
72.4 

133.2 
44.0 
64.4 

120.8 
75.6 
90.4 

136.1 
60.4 

6.5 
6.7 

51.9 
117.0 
35.0 
51.4 
33.3 
12.8 

219.4 

9.3 
41.8 
72.9 
14.0 

TOTAL $3,151.1 $39,281.6 $2,803.9 $28,735.0 $295.6 $9,009.1 $51.6 $1,537.6' 

1 Social Progress Trust Fund $537.9 million; Venezuelan Trust Fund $887.6 million; Argentine Fund $23.1 million; Canadian Fund $63.2 million; Norwegian 
Fund $2.5 million; Swedish Fund $4.9 million; Swiss Fund $4.0 million, and United Kingdom Funds $14.4 million. 
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identified by sources of loan funds, were: 
Ordinary Capital Resources: $1,440 million, bringing 

the cumulative total, before repayments to participants, to 
$8,596 million as of December 31, 1991. 

Fund for Special Operations: $340 million for a 
cumulative total, before repayments to participants, of 
$3,032 million as of December 31, 1991-

Other Funds: $108 million, bringing the cumulative 
total to $1,237 million as of December 31, 1991. 

SECTOR LENDING 

Sector loan approvals in 1991—the second year of policy-
based lending under Seventh Replenishment guidelines— 
increased by 54 percent compared to the approvals in 
1990. Twelve sector loans totaling $2 billion were ap
proved during the year, compared with six sector loans 
totaling $1.3 billion approved in 1990. 

During the year, a number of important features 
were introduced in the approach and scope of the Bank's 
policy-based lending. Several loans, for example, were 
prepared under the leadership of the IDB, in close 
consultation with the World Bank, whereas the loans 
cofinanced with the World Bank in 1990 were already in 
various stages of preparation at the time of initial IDB 
involvement. 

Another important feature introduced in 1991 was 
the earmarking of a portion of a fast-disbursing loan for 
commercial bank debt and debt service reduction as 
authorized by the Bank's Debt and Debt Service Reduction 
Facility. Under the Facility's guidelines, eligible borrowers 
may use a portion of the resources made available in a 
sector loan to buy back publicly guaranteed debt at a 
discount, or to collateralize new discounted debt that has 
been exchanged for old debt. 

Another innovation was the introduction of the 
investment sector loan modality, which is aimed at improv
ing the climate for domestic and foreign investment. Some 
of the policy elements that might be included in this type 
of loan are improving access to financial sector services for 
a wider number of firms; privatization of selected govern
ment enterprises; removing barriers to foreign capital; and 
improving or establishing the regulatory environment for 
services now provided by the private sector. 

Perhaps the most significant of the changes intro
duced in the Bank's policies for sector lending was the 
broadening of the flexibility—in special circumstances— 
to make sector loans independently of World Bank adjust
ment operations. This flexibility was approved by the 
Board of Governors in light of the experience gained by 
the Bank in the first year of sector lending, and out of 

concern for those countries that would not have timely 
access to World Bank structural or sectoral adjustment 
lending. 

Under the debt workout proposal made by Peru and 
agreed to by the international support group and sup
ported by the International Monetary Fund and the World 
Bank, the IDB was the first multilateral financial institution 
to resume normal financial relations with the country. The 
Bank approved a $429.9 million fast-disbursing policy-
based loan to help consolidate the Government's stabiliza
tion program. 

A $130 million policy-based loan aimed at helping to 
reactivate Nicaragua's economy marked that country's 
return to normal lending status with the Bank. The loan 
cofinanced a World Bank Economic Recovery Program 
and focused on trade and finance issues. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

In 1991, the Bank approved 305 technical cooperation 
operations for $140 million. Institutional strengthening 
was the major objective of the technical cooperation 
program, providing borrowing member countries, particu
larly governmental agencies, as well as regional entities, 
with the technical skills needed to prepare and implement 
national and regional development programs and projects. 
These technical cooperation operations were extended on 
a grant or contingent recovery basis, in many cases directly 
complementing the Bank's lending program. 

A significant proportion of technical cooperation 
was approved in order to improve the efficiency of public 
sector activities, particularly in critical areas of customs and 
tax administration and management information systems. 
Technical cooperation was also earmarked for improve
ments that will encourage foreign investment. 

The Project Preparation Facility (PPF), originally 
established in 1989 for a two-year period to accelerate the 
preparation of projects, was recapitalized and expanded. 
The PPF has two components: one which makes funds 
available on a reimbursable basis through revolving lines 
of credit to all borrowing countries; and the other that 
provides funding on a grant basis up to $150,000 per 
project for the less developed countries. In 1991, 18 PPF 
projects were approved totaling $2.3 million. 

Technical cooperation funding is also provided for 
short-term missions to hire consultants who can assist the 
Bank and governments in preparing pre-feasibility and 
feasibility studies for previously identified projects. During 
1991, $3.5 million was approved for these operations 
compared to $2.3 million approved in 1990. 

The Bank also approved 53 intra-regional technical 
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BANK GROWTH INDICATORS 

Subscribed capital of the Inter-
American Development Bank 
amounts to $51 billion. 

Bank's loans amounted to $5.4 
billion in 1991, reaching a 
cumulative total of nearly $52 billion. 

Disbursements of more than $3-1 
billion in 1991 raised cumulative 
total to $39 billion. 

Technical cooperation approvals-
both grant and contingent recovery-
which amounted to $140 million in 
1991 brought the cumulative amount 
to more than $921 million. 

Bank's cumulative lending of 
nearly $52 billion supports matching 
funds of about $94 billion in carrying 
out projects whose total cost 
amounts to $146 billion. 

Ordinary Capital Resources 

Fund for Special Operations 

Other Resources 

RESOURCES (CUMULATIVE) 1982-91 
(In millions of dollars) 
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DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-91 
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TABLE VTJ. DISTRIBUTION OF TECHNICAL 
COOPERATION 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Country 1991 1961-91 

Argentina $ 4,669 
Bahamas 2,731 
Barbados 3,965 
Bolivia 15,914 
Brazil 669 
Chile 550 
Colombia 1,010 
Costa Rica 7,192 
Dominican Republic 1,441 
Ecuador 2,576 
El Salvador 5,898 
Guatemala 440 
Guyana 10,790 
Haiti 310 
Honduras 339 
Jamaica 1,361 
Mexico 872 
Nicaragua 7,351 
Panama 2,605 
Paraguay 438 
Peru 10,283 
Suriname 188 
Trinidad and Tobago 5,608 
Uruguay 5,150 
Venezuela 1,055 
Regional1 46,565 

24,246 
10,868 
17,868 
46,715 
64,637 

2,174 
21,963 
25,701 
27,776 
32,917 
27,543 
19,205 
28,445 
27,549 
24,074 

20,457 
2,782 

25,794 
19,003 
21,952 

40,692 
10,171 
15,050 
18,558 
3,327 

341,948 

TOTAL $139,970 $921,415 
1 In 1991, includes $3,850 for Caribbean subregion, $4,517 for Central 
American subregion and $38,198 for general regional. 

cooperation operations totaling $823,506. These opera
tions finance the transfer of technical expertise among 
borrowing member countries. 

The year's grant and contingent repayment technical 
cooperation brought the cumulative total as of December 
31, 1991 to $921 million. Contingent recovery technical 
cooperation for project preparation is subject to repay
ment only if, as a result of the cooperation, a loan is 
subsequently extended by the Bank or another external 
financial institution for the execution of the resulting 
project. 

In addition to its grant and contingent repayment 
cooperation, the Bank extends loans for technical coop
eration purposes, primarily for preinvestment funds or 
studies and allocates portions of other loans to technical 
cooperation designed to insure the optimum execution of 

the project. During 1991, $28.4 million in loans or portions 
of loans was extended for technical cooperation, bringing 
the cumulative total to $839 million. 

The Bank also finances a major program of technical 
cooperation approved on a regional or subregional basis. 
In addition to providing resources for operations in both 
the social sectors (such as education and health) and 
productive sectors (such as agriculture), the Bank also 
gave strong emphasis to public sector modernization, 
integration and trade, the environment and natural re
sources, and women in development. During the year, 
regional operations totaling $46.6 million were approved. 

SOCIAL SECTORS 

One of the mainstays of the Bank's activities since its 
founding has been its lending for projects to improve the 
living conditions and educational opportunities of the 
region's people. The Bank has been a pioneer in financing 
social loans—its first loan, made in 1961, was for a water 
supply system for the city of Arequipa, Peru. 

In an effort to meet growing social sector demands 
the Bank in 1991 increased the amount of resources for the 
social sectors as well as diversified the type of projects and 
programs that it finances. The Bank is supporting the 
efforts of its member countries to reduce the impact of 
economic stabilization and structural adjustment pro
grams. During I99I the Bank continued to support social 
emergency funds, which finance a wide range of labor-
intensive small projects to create employment, increase 
income levels, and reduce chronic poverty. 

During the year the Bank approved loans to help 
establish and implement social emergency funds for El 
Salvador, Haiti, Nicaragua and Peru. Social investment 
funds in Uruguay and Venezuela also received loans 
earmarked for financing social projects. The Uruguayan 
project provides services in areas such as education, 
health, nutrition, and care for the elderly. In Venezuela, the 
program will strengthen local governments, supporting 
the decentralization process and thus the effective distribu
tion of public and private resources to the social sectors. 

The Bank is examining various methods and instru
ments to greatly augment its support for the social sectors 
by financing broad-based social programs. Within this 
context, the Bank approved projects during the year that 
were specifically designed to benefit low-income groups 
and that included investments in all of the social sectors. 
In addition to social emergency and investment funds, and 
water and sanitation programs, the Bank approved loans 
in education and health. For example, a $33.9 million loan 
to Bolivia will finance an integrated health program for 12 
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EL CHIPE, ECUADOR. First graders study at a school 
built under an IDB-backed education project that 
also provided their textbooks. An estimated 42,000 
elementary school age children in 15provinces were 
expected to benefit from the project, which included 
teacher training, curriculum development, and school 
construction. 

CONCEPCIÓN, HONDURAS (below). Residents used 
water from a nearby river before homes were 
equipped with water and sewerage facilities under 
an IDB rural sanitation project. Homes now have 
latrine-sink-shower modules connected to a common 
septic tank, and residents pay a small monthly fee for 
water service. Concepción was one of 250 rural 
communities to benefit front the project, financed by 
a $24 million IDB loan in 1985. 

rural and urban districts in Bolivia's interior. The project's 
target population is pregnant and lactating mothers and 
children under five years of age. 

In a departure from traditional practices in financing 
certain project costs, the Bank, within the context of this 
particular loan to Bolivia, adopted a more flexible ap
proach and agreed to finance the recurrent costs associ
ated with an important nutrition component that will reach 
school-age children. The project also includes administra
tive decentralization, institutional strengthening, increased 
community participation and the implementation of a cost-
recovery system geared to the beneficiaries' capacity to pay. 

On a cumulative basis, the Bank has made almost 500 
loans totaling $9.6 billion for projects in the social sectors, 
representing 18.5 percent of total Bank lending. Lending 
for social projects in 1991 totaled $988 million or 18 
percent of the Bank's lending during the year. 

LOW-INCOME GROUPS 

In the context of the Seventh Replenishment of Resources, 
the Board of Governors agreed that it was desirable to 
maintain the objective established in the Fifth and Sixth 
Replenishments whereby the Bank would do its utmost to 
ensure that 50 percent of its lending program should be 
allocated to benefit the lower-income groups. 

In 1991, 45 percent of the number of new loans 
approved by the Bank totaling $2.4 billion were analyzed 
for their distributive impact on low-income persons. Of 

these loans, and setting aside public sector benefits, it is 
estimated that low-income persons will receive 43 percent 
of the benefits. This estimate of the distributive impact of 
Bank lending in 1991 does not reflect the distributive 
impact of certain types of projects where it is either difficult 
or impossible to define low-income beneficiaries as a 
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ANTIGUA, GUATEMALA. Master weaver Gloria 
Marina Chavez used a $400 loan from the 
Foundation for Support to Small Enterprise, a 
private nonprofit organization, to buy looms 
and raw materials in bulk. Chavez produces 
traditional huípiles, the intricately woven blouses 
worn by Mayan women. The microenterprise 
credit and training project run by the Foundation 
was supported by a $400,000 IDB loan. 

proportion of all the beneficiaries of the project. These 
areas include global loans, preinvestment and sector 
lending. 

In order to strengthen the compliance with the low-
income objective, Management is developing a strategy 
to increase its activities in poverty reduction. This strat
egy addresses three basic areas: (i) the lending program 

including the formulation of specific projects to reduce 
poverty; ( ii ) institutional strengthening for agencies at the 
country level engaged in poverty reduction work; and 
(iii) a component of research, measurement and evalua
tion. 

MICROENTERPRISES 

Within the context of the Seventh Replenishment Agree
ment, the Bank's Board of Governors directed the Bank to 
increase its support for microenterprises, recognizing the 
importance of such producers to the economies of the 
region. To begin fulfilling this mandate, the Bank, building 
on its experience with the Small Projects Program, initiated 
in 1990 the financing of microenterprise global credit 
programs. In addition to channeling credit resources to 
microenterprises, these programs aim to strengthen and 
expand the institutional infrastructure necessary to pro
vide this sector with maximum access to credit and 
training. The microenterprise global credit loans approved 
to date range from $7 million to close to $50 million and 
benefit tens of thousands of microproducers, while Small 
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Projects are limited to $500,000 each and ordinarily benefit 
between 300 and 1,000 microproducers. 

Through the global microenterprise credit opera
tions, the Bank and the borrowing countries are designing 
programs that can be executed through an institution such 
as a central bank, or a development bank, which channels 
the resources to financial intermediaries. The financial 
intermediaries in turn make the resources available to 
microenterprises as well as to entities such as producer 
associations and nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) 
that work directly with microentrepreneurs. In 1991, the 
Bank approved one global credit program for Argentina 
totaling $45 million. 

Under the Small Projects Program 43 projects were 
approved during the year totaling $20.8 million. An 
additional $5 million in nonreimbursable technical coop
eration was also approved. The year's approvals are twice 
the number of approvals for Small Projects in any previous 
year of the program's existence. 

Ten of the projects approved are aimed at urban-
based microentrepreneurs engaged in a variety of manu
facturing, commercial, and service ventures. Thirteen of 
the projects are directed at rural populations primarily 
engaged in food production and processing. The other 20 
projects are aimed extensively at low-income women, 
mostly in urban areas, who are the major source of income 
for their families. 

The strong emphasis on women participants is the 
result of an intentional effort to encourage local organiza
tions to include innovative features in programs that will 
insure the participation of women. Such features include 
the acceptance of non-traditional guarantees for credits, 
the timing of office hours and training activities to coincide 
with women's available time and the provision of day-care 
and other services. 

WOMEN IN DEVELOPMENT 

In 1991 the Bank made strides in helping women gain 
access to credit, agricultural extension, education, training, 
and health care; in supporting women's contribution to 
poverty alleviation through the social emergency and 
investment funds; and in strengthening government and 
private institutions that address women's needs. 

The Bank advanced further in its efforts to institu
tionalize the consideration of women in development 
issues with the preparation and approval of a Plan of 
Action for implementing its Women in Development 
Policy during 1991-93. The plan defines three major 
initiatives: programming, project development/analysis, 
and institutional support. 

During 1991 the Bank focused its project support for 
women in development on two types of projects: microen
terprise development, and the social investment funds 
designed to mitigate the effects of economic adjustment 
and recession on the poor. The latter is of particular 
importance because of the negative effects of the eco
nomic crisis in the region on women, and because women 
have a great potential to contribute through these pro
grams to the alleviation of poverty in their countries. 
Special efforts were taken to support women's access to 
social funds in El Salvador and Haiti by creating specific 
types of subprojects to meet women's needs, and introduc
ing mechanisms to permit greater participation of NGOs, 
many of which have a direct and close relationship with 
poor women. 

The microenterprise global loan approved for Ar
gentina in 1991 is expected to include significant numbers 
of women among the beneficiaries. As mentioned previ
ously, many of the forty-three urban microenterprise and 
agricultural projects funded through the Small Projects 
Program in 1991 will directly benefit women. This is due 
in large part to the efforts to identify and finance produc
tive projects created by women's NGOs. 

ENVIRONMENTAL ACTIVITIES 

The Bank's commitment to the sustainable management of 
natural resources deepened during 1991 as it approved 
several loans and technical cooperation operations aimed 
at improving the environment. Many other projects that 
were approved had built-in environmental protection 
and/or natural resource management components. 

The Bank approved nine loans totaling S846.9 
million that were designed to benefit the environment. For 
example, a $62.5 million loan for sustainable forestry 
development in Venezuela was approved. A $14.4 million 
loan will help manage and conserve the Chixoy watershed 
in Guatemala. A $4 million loan will help Trinidad and 
Tobago protect two national parks and rehabilitate three 
areas with damaged ecosystems. The other six loans were 
for water quality and human environment improvement 
through sewage treatment and solid waste programs. 

All of the Bank's operations are reviewed by the 
Environment Protection Division and the Environment 
Management Committee and are categorized according to 
the investment's impact on the environment. During the 
year, 94 loans, 43 Small Projects, and 91 technical coopera
tion operations were classified as to their environmental 
impact. The Committee also reviewed and approved 38 
Environmental Summaries. When necessary, mitigative or 
safeguarding components were incorporated into projects 
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CHAGUARAMAS, VENEZUELA. One ofseveralfire watch-
towers built to oversee 180,000 hectares of pine trees 
planted under a forestry development program fi
nanced by a $34.3 million IDB loan in 1984. A $62.5 
million loan in 1991 supports fore station of another 
165,000 hectares, and protection of 565,000 hectares 
against pests, disease and fires. The program will help 
Venezuela develop a wood supply and facilitate pri
vate sector investment in commercial forestry. 

BAHÍAS DE HUATULCO, MEXICO (below). A resort 
complex being developed on the west coast of Mexico 
by the National Tourism Fund (FONATUR) includes an 
environmental program to protect the area'sflora and 
fauna, marine life and archeological sites. Here, 
FONATUR employees collect plant species for identifi
cation by botanists. A $45 million IDB loan is financing 
construction of resort infrastructure such as an inter
national airport, roads, utilities, sewage treatment 
plants, and two marinas, as well as the environmental 
program. 

to ensure a minimal effect on the environment. Of the 
loans approved by the Bank during the year, 39 incorpo
rated environmental components that will help protect an 
area or mitigate the impact of an investment. These 
components represent an approximate investment of $600 
million. 

Increasingly, the Bank's borrowing countries are 
requesting technical cooperation to carry out environmen
tal studies, train staff of executing agencies, and strengthen 
environmental agencies and institutions. During 1991, 20 
environmental technical cooperation operations were 
approved totaling $2.7 million. 

In June 1991, the Bank sponsored in Caracas, 
Venezuela, its Third Consultative Meeting on the Environ
ment. This Hemisphere-wide meeting of government 
officials, Bank staff, and representatives from non-govern
mental organizations (NGOs) provided a forum to discuss 
the role that NGOs, local groups and communities and 
indigenous people play in the project cycle. 

ECONOMIC INTEGRATION AND 
TRADE DEVELOPMENT 

Economic integration and foreign-trade promotion again 
ranked high in national development strategies in 1991. As 
they continue their efforts to forge more open economies, 
the countries in the region are viewing integration as an 
intermediate step on the path toward fuller integration into 
world markets. For this reason, the integration models are 
now substantially different from those advocated during 
the last 30 years. Import substitution sought to expand 
possibilities for individual countries without lowering their 
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strong levels of protection or moving them more firmly 
into the world economy. Despite the integration processes 
that were unfolding in the region, that model prevailed 
until recently. The integration commitments now being 
forged, however, envisage mild levels of protection and 
regional associations that will be able to compete effi
ciently and effectively in the international marketplace. 

Significant progress was made in 1991 on the eco
nomic integration commitments made in the last two years: 

• Under the terms of the MERCOSUR Treaty signed 
in May 1990, Argentina, Brazil, Paraguay, and Uruguay 
have agreed to have a fully-developed common market in 
place by December 31, 1994. By that date, all tariffs and 
non-tariff barriers to trade among the four countries are to 
have been lifted; a common external tariff is to be brought 
in; and the countries' macroeconomic, trade, foreign ex
change, fiscal, transportation, industrial, technological, 
agriculture, and energy policies are to be harmonized. In 
June 1991, the MERCOSUR countries signed a framework 
agreement with the United States for negotiations in the 
context of the Enterprise for the Americas Initiative. 

• At meetings in Caracas in May and in Cartagena 
in December 1991, the Andean Group's Presidential Coun
cil confirmed that the Andean Free Trade Zone would 
become effective January 1, 1992 (July 1, 1992 for Ecua
dor). The Presidents also decided to establish an Andean 
Common Market, to be fully in place in 1992, through the 
adoption of a common external tariff. Under these agree
ments, lists of exceptions and export subsidies would be 
eliminated by the beginning of 1993- During the year, 
accords were also reached to substantially liberalize for
eign investment rules and to recognize intellectual prop
erty rights, thus, enhancing the investment climate of the 
subregion. 

• Ministerial level discussions between Canada, 
Mexico, and the United States on a proposed North 
American Free Trade Area (NAFTA) got under way June 12 
in Toronto. Three similar meetings followed during the 
course of the year, and preliminary work has begun on 
drafting an agreement. If NAFTA becomes a reality, it will 
create a $6 trillion market with a combined population of 
360 million, and would be a first step toward the hemi
spheric free trade area envisioned by the Enterprise for the 
Americas Initiative. Combined trade in 1990 between the 
three countries was $238 billion: over $176 billion between 
Canada and the United States; nearly $60 billion between 
Mexico and the United States; and almost $2 billion 
between Canada and Mexico. 

• In July 1991 the presidents of the Central Ameri
can nations met in El Salvador, and resolved to press 
forward with the implementation of the accords contained 
in the Action Plan for the subregion which had been 

TABLE VDI. SUPPORT FOR ECONOMIC 
INTEGRATION (1961-91) 
In millions of U.S. dollars 

1991 1961-91 

Total 
Bank Cost of 

Support Projects 

Bank 

Support 

Loans 

Agriculture 
Industry 
Energy 
Transportation 
Telecommunications 
Education 
Tourism 
Housing 
Export Financing 
Multisectoral 

Other 

Technical 
Cooperation 

Agriculture 
Industry 
Energy 
Transportation 
Health Care 
Urban 

Development 
Education and 

Research 
Tourism 
Planning 
Multisectoral 
Development 

Banks 
Export 

Financing 
Business 

Development 

$46.6 

22.2 
0.6 
0.1 
7.5 
5.7 

2.2 

0.8 
7.4 

$63.5 

25.3 
0.7 
0.1 

11.0 
7.1 

$2,620.0 

110.7 
247.2 

1,052.9 
603.7 

83.7 
9.9 

29.2 
15.0 

320.2 
80.0 
67.5 

364.0 

187.4 
7.4 
5.1 

10.3 
17.6 

0.1 

0.9 
14.0 

0.1 

3.9 

21.2 
1.3 
8.3 

72.4 

9.9 

17.6 

1.6 

TOTAL 

Total 
Cost of 
Projects 

$15,327.9 

271.5 
425.1 

12,336.5 
1.088.1 

158.3 
25.4 
50.7 
30.0 

334.6 
515.0 

92.7 

1,227.0 

876.7 
10.0 
7.5 

19.5 
66.2 

7.9 

37.5 
1 3 

23.9 
1333 

14.5 

26.8 

1.9 

$46.6 $63.5 $2,984.0 $16,554.9 

adopted the previous year. The presidents set out the 
parameters for a common external tariff to be instituted in 
late 1992, and announced that restrictions on trade in 
agricultural commodities would be phased out at the end 
of I99I and would be completely abolished by June 30, 
1992. A multilateral treaty between Honduras and its sister 
nations in Central America that entered into force in May 
1991 is being viewed as a significant step forward in efforts 
to reinstate a free trade zone in Central America. In January 
I99I, the presidents of Mexico and the Central American 
countries signed a preliminary economic complementarity 
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SANTIAGO, CHILE. Compañía Electrometalurgia, 
an iron and steel foundry, uses technology licensed 
from Austria and the United States to melt down 
scrap metal to make heavy machinery parts for 
construction, mining and logging industries. A 
$1.6 million loan obtained through an IDB-backed 
industrial credit program enabled the foundry to 
increase production capacity 40 percent. The 

firm has molds for 8,000 different parts, such as 
parts for front-end loaders (inset). 

agreement that is to culminate in the establishment of a free 
trade zone by late 1996. A similar agreement was reached 
with Venezuela in July. 

• At their most recent annual gathering, the heads 
of state of the Caribbean Community agreed to adopt a 
common currency and institute a subregional stock ex
change. Work is now under way to draft objectives and 
action plans for developing a single market in the subre

gion by January 1, 1994. A common external tariff for the 
Community, ranging from 5 percent to 45 percent, has 
been set in place by several countries. In July 1991, the 
Community signed a framework agreement on trade and 
investment with the United States, within the context of the 
Enterprise for the Americas Initiative. 

Institute for Latin American Integration 

The Institute for Latin American Integration (INTAL) was 
established by the Bank in 1964 to promote the integration 
of the region's economies. In 1991, the Bank decided to 
make INTAL an independent entity which will continue 
some of its work in the traditional areas of economic and 
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SANTA TEREZINHA DE ITAIPU, 
BRAZIL. Workers string the high 
voltage electric cables that will 
carry power from the Itaipti 
hydroelectric complex through
out Brazil. A $122 million IDB loan 
in 1986 to ELETROBRAS, Brazil's 
national electricity agency, helped 

finance transmission lines as well 
as the expansion of four substa
tions. Located on the Paraná River 
between Brazil and Paraguay, 
Itaipti was completed in 1991 and 
is the largest hydroelectric plant 
in the world. 

physical integration while at the same time pursue new 
goals and undertake new tasks that will strengthen its 
contribution to regional integration. The Bank would 
continue its support of a new, independent INTAL through 
technical cooperation and other support. With respect to 
INTAL's activities, in 1991, INTAL supported projects to 
examine the most successful exporting operations of 
companies in the Andean Group, the Caribbean, and 
Central America. INTAL also provided backing for 
roundtable discussions to help small- and medium-sized 
businesses in Latin America in the process of regional 
integration. It also lent support to the governments of 
Argentina, Brazil, Paraguay, and Uruguay for the prepara
tion of a request for regional technical cooperation to be 
presented to the Bank by the MERCOSUR member coun
tries. 

ENTERPRISE FOR THE AMERICAS 

In response to the Enterprise for the Americas Initiative 
(EAI), the Bank expanded operational support to its 
borrowing countries to encourage growth of the private 

sector. Accordingly, in addition to traditional loans for 
investment projects and global credit programs, Bank 
assistance to the private sector was expanded to include 
investment sector loans—policy-based instruments de
signed to correct major impediments to private invest
ment—and technical cooperation to facilitate reform and 
privatization. 

The EAI gave an important boost to the desire of the 
Bank's borrowing member countries to design and carry 
out private sector reforms. Under the Initiative, countries 
that take steps to provide an investment environment 
conducive to private sector growth would receive relief on 
U.S. bilateral debt in addition to trade preferences. The 
Multilateral Investment Fund would provide additional 
support to countries in the region undertaking investment 
reforms. 

To qualify for debt relief under the EAI, a country first 
must have in place major investment reforms in conjunc
tion with a Bank investment sector loan, or otherwise be 
deemed by the Bank to be taking steps to create an 
investment climate favorable to private sector growth. 

Demand for investment sector loans has been sub
stantial. In 1991, the Bank approved four such loans to 
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TABLE EX. DISBURSEMENTS FOR PURCHASE OF GOODS A N D / O R SERVICES BY ORIGIN OF SUPPLIERS 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

Local 
Purchases Exports Total 

Cumulative 1961-90 1961-90 

Local 
Purchases 

1991 

Exports Total 

1991 1991 

Amount % Amount % Amount % Amount % Amount % Amount % 

BORROWING COUNTRIES 

Argentina $ 725.0 8.6 $ 344.1 2.6 $ 1,069.1 4.9 $ 70.2 7.7 $ 81.6 4.1 $ 151.8 5.3 
Bahamas 0.3 0.0 2.7 0.0 3.0 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.0 
Barbados 20.7 0.2 1.7 0.0 22.4 0.1 2.6 0.3 0.3 0.0 2.9 0.1 
Bolivia 214.5 2.6 1.0 0.0 215.5 1.0 47.3 5.2 0.3 0.0 47.6 1.6 
Brazil 1,561.3 18.6 762.6 5.7 2,323.9 10.7 125.6 13.8 144.8 7.3 270.4 9.4 
Chile 1,112.2 13.2 42.6 0.3 1,154.8 5.3 215.0 23.6 21.0 1.1 236.0 8.2 
Colombia 587.0 7.0 50.2 0.4 637.3 2.9 65.0 7.1 49.2 2.5 114.2 4.0 
Costa Rica 176.9 2.1 93.2 0.7 270.0 1.2 17.4 1.9 8.6 0.4 26.0 0.9 
Dominican Republic 172.3 2.1 6.0 0.0 178.3 0.8 16.6 1.8 0.0 0.0 16.6 0.6 
Ecuador 386.6 4.6 0.6 0.0 387.2 1.8 78.3 8.6 55.0 2.8 133.3 4.6 
El Salvador 80.1 1.0 15.7 0.1 95.8 0.4 8.2 0.9 0.8 0.0 9.0 0.3 
Guatemala 121.6 1.4 23.0 0.2 144.6 0.7 30.6 3.4 3.4 0.2 34.0 1.2 
Guyana 4.8 0.1 0.2 0.0 5.0 0.0 0.8 0.1 1.0 0.1 1.8 0.1 
Haiti 36.9 0.4 0.6 0.0 37.5 0.2 5.3 0.6 0.0 0.0 5.3 0.2 
Honduras 138.5 1.6 16.5 0.1 155.0 0.7 11.0 1.2 0.6 0.0 11.6 0.4 
Jamaica 115.5 1.4 32.0 0.2 147.5 0.7 9.3 1.0 4.6 0.2 13.9 0.5 
Mexico 1,868.4 22.2 444.9 3.3 2,313.3 10.6 109.0 12.0 69.5 3.5 178.5 6.2 
Nicaragua 70.4 0.8 17.9 0.1 88.3 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0 
Panama 170.8 2.0 28.1 0.2 198.9 0.9 0.5 0.1 2.9 0.1 3.4 0.1 
Paraguay 133.4 1.6 34.2 0.3 167.6 0.8 6.1 0.7 5.3 0.3 11.4 0.4 
Peru 339.6 4.0 45.0 0.3 384.6 1.8 4.0 0.4 7.0 0.4 11.0 0.4 
Suriname 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0 
Trinidad and Tobago 18.1 0.2 7.1 0.1 25.2 0.1 8.4 0.9 2.4 0.1 10.8 0.4 
Uruguay 159.2 1.9 20.9 0.2 180.1 0.8 28.3 3.1 9.4 0.5 37.7 1.3 
Venezuela 183.6 2.2 57.6 0.4 241.2 1.1 50.7 5.6 83.0 4.2 133.7 4.6 

Total Borrowers $8,397.9 100.0 $ 2,048.5 15-3 $10,446.5 47.9 $910.9 100.0 $ 551.0 27.8 $1,461.9 50.6 

NON-BORROWING COUNTRIES 

Austria 
Belgium 
Canada 
Denmark 
Finland 
France 
Germany 
Israel 
Italy 
Japan 
Netherlands 
Norway 
Portugal 
Spain 
Sweden 
Switzerland 
United Kingdom 
United States 
Yugoslavia 

51.3 
62.8 

233.6 
54.1 
22.0 

1,063.3 
955.1 

30.7 
1,231.8 

992.1 
146.2 

11.6 
4.6 

451.7 
240.0 
379.7 
341.8 

5,068.8 
8.9 

0.4 
0.5 
1.7 
0.4 
0.2 
7.9 
7.1 
0.2 
9.2 
7.4 
1.1 
0.1 
0.0 
3.4 
1.8 
2.8 
2.6 

37.8 
0.1 

51.3 
62.8 

233.6 
54.1 
22.0 

1,063.3 
955.1 

30.7 
1,231.8 

992.1 
146.2 

11.6 
4.6 

451.7 
240.0 
379.7 
341.8 

5,068.8 
8.9 

0.2 
0.3 
1.1 
0.2 
0.1 
4.9 
4.4 
0.1 
5.7 
4.6 
0.7 
0.1 
0.0 
2.1 
1.1 
1.7 
1.6 

23.3 
0.0 

2.4 
13.2 
45.6 
14.3 
2.1 

121.9 
168.9 

5.9 
129.9 
111.6 
18.7 
6.9 
0.4 

26.6 
32.9 
23.8 
43.0 

658.3 
1.4 

0.1 
0.7 
2.3 
0.7 
0.1 
6.2 
8.5 
0.3 
6.6 
5.6 
0.9 
0.3 
0.0 
1.3 
1.7 
1.2 
2.2 

33.3 
0.1 

2.4 
13.2 
45.6 
14.3 
2.1 

121.9 
168.9 

5.9 
129.9 
111.6 

18.7 
6.9 
0.4 

26.6 
32.9 
23.8 
43.0 

658.3 
1.4 

0.1 
0.5 
1.6 
0.5 
0.1 
4.2 
5.8 
0.2 
4.5 
3.9 
0.6 
0.2 
0.0 
0.9 
1.1 
0.8 
1.5 

22.8 
0.0 

Total Non-Borrowers $11,350.2 84.7 $11,350.2 52.1 $1,427.8 72.2 $1,427.8 49.4 

TOTAL $8,397.9 100.0 $13,398.7 100.0 $21,796.7 100.0 $910.9 100.0 $1,978.8 100.0 $2,889-7 100.0 
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Chile, Bolivia, Colombia, and Jamaica, and at year's end, 
similar operations were being considered for Umguay and 
Costa Rica. Diagnostic studies of obstacles to private sector 
development were started for El Salvador, Trinidad and 
Tobago, Honduras, Guatemala, and Argentina. 

Regarding the EAI's trade aspects, the Bank has 
established a program for research and to provide a fonim 
for discussion of trade liberalization. In keeping with an 
agreement that trade liberalization would be based on 
several existing integration/free trade efforts in Latin 
America and the Caribbean, such as the MERCOSUR, 
Andean Pact, CARICOM, and Central American efforts, the 
U.S. Government and 16 Latin American and Caribbean 
Governments have reached an agreement on the objec
tives and the mechanisms to be used in negotiating free 
trade agreements. 

ments and do not measure amounts received by subcon
tractors or the substantial secondary and tertiary impact of 
Bank lending. 

A review of disbursements in convertible currencies 
reveals that during the first two decades of Bank opera
tions, the non-borrowing member countries provided the 
majority of goods and services for Bank-financed projects. 
In recent years, that trend has shifted somewhat, and since 
1984 the borrowing member countries have supplied the 
majority share of goods and services purchased with Bank 
resources. 

RECIPROCAL BENEFITS 

Bank-loan contracts require the Bank's public sector 
borrowers to procure goods and construction services 
through open international competitive bidding when the 
value of the procurement exceeds $200,000. The services 
of consulting firms also must be acquired through an open 
and competitive selection process. 

Only IDB member countries are eligible to partici
pate in procurement financed with resources from the 
Bank's ordinary capital, the Fund for Special Operations, 
the Venezuelan Tmst Fund and certain other funds under 
Bank administration.1 

The value of goods and services procured with Bank 
resources from individual member countries exceeds the 
total of cash payments, in convertible currencies, paid-in 
or contributed by the member country. 

Disbursements of convertible currencies for pur
chases of goods and services totaled $2,889.7 million in 
1991. Borrowing member countries received $1,461.9 
million or 50.6 percent of this value. Local purchases of 
goods and services for projects in the borrowing countries 
totaled $910.9 million and exports of borrowing countries 
to other borrowing countries amounted to $551.0 million. 
Non-borrowing member countries provided goods and 
services totaling $1,427.8 million in 1991. Table IX, Dis
bursements for Purchase of Goods and Services by Origin 
of Supplier, gives a detailed breakdown of local purchases 
and exports of goods and services by Bank member 
countries. These disbursement figures reflect only the 
initial round of procurement traced by actual disburse-

1 Special eligibility restrictions apply to certain Funds. 
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TABLE X. CAPITAL OF THE BANK 
In thousands of U.S. dollars 

Country 

Subscriptions as of December 31, 1991 Future Commitments 

Paid-in Callable Sub-Total Paid-in Callable Total Grand Total 

Argentina 
Austria 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belgium 

$ 326,581 $ 4,438,366 $ 4,764,947 
2,220 

10,411 
4,946 
5,416 

30,315 
81,669 
52,042 
71,693 

32,535 
92,080 
56,988 
77,109 

$ 57,470 
398 

1,122 
687 
942 

$ 2,241,084 
15,309 
43,320 
26,817 
36,262 

2,298,554 
15,707 
44,442 
27,504 
37,204 

7,063,501 
48,242 

136,522 
84,492 

114,313 

Bolivia 
Brazil 
Canada 
Chile 
Colombia 

26,214 
326,581 
127,655 
89,607 
89,583 

356,294 
4,438,366 
1,672,101 
1,218,757 
1,217,828 

382,508 
4,764,947 
1,799,756 
1,308,364 
1,307,411 

4,596 
57,470 
21,714 
15,779 
15,779 

179,901 
2,241,084 
846,454 
615,343 
614,909 

184,497 
2,298,554 
868,168 
631,122 
630,688 

567,005 
7,063,501 
2,667,924 
1,939,486 
1,938,099 

Costa Rica 13,101 178,092 191,193 2,316 89,934 92,250 283,443 
Denmark 2,388 32,270 34,658 435 16,285 16,720 51,378 
Dominican Republic 17,480 237,782 255,262 3,077 120,044 123,121 378,383 
Ecuador 17,480 237,782 255,262 3,077 120,044 123,121 378,383 
El Salvador 13,101 178,092 191,193 2,316 89,934 92,250 283,443 

Finland 
France 
Germany 
Guatemala 
Guyana 

2,220 
27,239 
27,866 
17,480 
6,924 

30,316 
368,912 
377,875 
237,782 
63,973 

32,536 
396,151 
405,741 
255,262 
70,897 

398 
4,777 
4,886 
3,077 
868 

15,308 
186,307 
190,831 
120,044 
33,331 

15,706 
191,084 
195,717 
123,121 
34,199 

48,242 
587,235 
601,458 
378,383 
105,096 

Haiti 
Honduras 
Israel 
Italy 
Jamaica 

12,329 
13,101 
2,208 

27,239 
17,480 

148,115 
178,092 
29,857 

368,912 
237,782 

160,444 
191,193 
32,065 

396,151 
255,262 

3,088 
2,316 

398 
4,777 
3,077 

119,911 
89,934 
15,091 

186,307 
120,044 

122,999 
92,250 
15,489 

191,084 
123,121 

283,443 
283,443 
47,554 

587,235 
378,383 

Japan 
Mexico 
Netherlands 
Nicaragua 
Norway 

30,340 
209,964 

4,102 
13,101 
2,388 

411,580 
2,853,014 

56,119 
178,092 
32,270 

441,920 
3,062,978 

60,221 
191,193 
34,658 

5,319 
36,950 

723 
2,316 

435 

207,841 
1,440,591 

28,337 
89,934 
16,285 

213,160 
1,477,541 

29,060 
92,250 
16,720 

655,080 
4,540,519 

89,281 
283,443 

51,378 

Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Portugal 
Spain 

13,101 
13,101 
43,802 

688 
27,239 

178,092 
178,092 
594,703 

9,747 
368,912 

191,193 
191,193 
638,505 

10,435 
396,151 

2,316 
2,316 
7,709 

108 
4,777 

89,934 
89,934 

300,307 
4,923 

186,307 

92,250 
92,250 

308,016 
5,031 

191,084 

283,443 
283,443 
946,521 

15,466 
587,235 

Suriname 5,248 33,621 38,869 470 18,276 18,746 57,615 
Sweden 4,729 62,742 67,471 796 31,739 32,535 100,006 
Switzerland 6,044 82,417 88,461 1,049 41,619 42,668 131,129 
Trinidad and Tobago 13,101 178,092 191,193 2,316 89,934 92,250 283,443 
United Kingdom 27,239 368,912 396,151 4,777 186,307 191,084 587,235 

United States 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 
Yugoslavia 

977,415 
35,056 

182,387 
2,220 

13,279,161 
475,818 

2,370,477 
30,315 

14,256,576 
510,874 

2,552,864 
32,535 

171,940 
6,152 

30,798 
398 

6,705,229 
240,268 

1,200,685 
15,309 

6,877,169 
246,420 

1,231,483 
15,707 

21,133,745 
757,294 

3,784,347 
48,242 

TOTAL $2,838,115 $38,225,241 $41,063,356 $496,505 $19,357,591 $19,854,096 $60,917,452 
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RESOURCES 

SEVENTH GENERAL INCREASE OF RESOURCES 

The Seventh General Increase in the Resources of the Bank 
went into effect on January 17, 1990. The agreement 
among the Bank's member countries increased the autho
rized capital of the Bank by $26.5 billion to a total of $6l 
billion. The increase in resources permits a $22.5 billion 
lending program in convertible currencies over the 1990-
93 period. 

The paid-in portion of each member country's 
subscription i> 2.5 percent subscribed in convertible 
currencies and the remaining 97.5 percent in the form of 
callable capital subscriptions. The paid-in share requires 
paid-in subscriptions from members totaling approxi
mately $66l million. The Fund for Special Operations is 
being augmented with new contributions in convertible 
currencies totaling $200 million. 

BORROWINGS 

During 1991, the Bank completed 21 individual borrow
ings in the world's capital markets for a total of $3,649 
million equivalent. These borrowings represent the largest 
amount borrowed by the Bank in any single year. Previ
ously, the largest annual borrowing level—$2,333-3 mil
lion equivalent—occurred in 1985 when the Bank con
cluded 24 individual transactions. At the end of 1991, the 
Bank's outstanding borrowings amounted to $19,656 mil
lion equivalent. 

In 1991, approximately 39 percent of the Bank's 
borrowings after swaps were denominated in Japanese 
yen, 37.3 percent in U.S. dollars, 15.3 percent in Swiss 
francs, 4.9 percent in Deutsche marks and 3-5 percent in 
Netherlands guilders. 

In 1991, the Bank expanded its currency swap 
vehicle currencies to include Spanish pesetas, Portuguese 
escudos, and Canadian dollars, as well as Japanese yen 
and Deutsche marks. The issues were successfully 
swapped into U.S. dollars at considerable cost savings 
compared to direct market borrowings. The Bank issued 
the first floating-rate yen bond in the Tokyo market, 
whose proceeds were successfully swapped into fixed-
rate yen borrowings. The Bank has increased its cur
rency and interest rate swap programs to take advantage 
of arbitrage opportunities as well as to diversify its 
borrowing sources and create and expand its presence 
in new markets. 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

Improving economic conditions in the region and a 
concerted effort by borrowers to meet payment obliga
tions to the Bank were the major factors in the Bank's 
strong financial performance in 1991. Of particular signifi
cance was the return of Peru and Nicaragua to a fully 
performing status in September when both countries 
became current in their financial obligations to the Bank. 

The above events combined with other favorable 
financial results permitted the Bank to reduce its lending 
spread for the whole year and its loan charges in the 
second semester and still maintain a strong financial 
position. Also, the earnings and reserve levels of the Bank 
were robust enough to allow $50 million of net income to 
be set aside for transfer to the Intermediate Financing 
Facility and/or funding of technical cooperation projects. 

Highlights of earnings from the Bank's own re
sources in 1991 are shown below: 

Ordinary Capital Resources: Total income: $2,205 
million compared with $1,870 million in 1990. Net income: 
$3936 million compared with $341.2 million in 1990. Total 
reserves after the transfer mentioned above: $4,062 
million as of December 31, 1991, compared with $3,711 
million at the end of 1990. 

Fund for Special Operations: Total income: $220 
million compared with $201 million in 1990. Net income: 
$15-2 million compared with $5.7 million in 1990. Total 
reserves: S539 million as ofDecember31,1991,compared 
with $539 million at the end of 1990. 

Intermediate Financing Facility: Total addition of 
$36 million in 1991 compared with $36.8 million in 1990. 
Interest paid on behalf of ordinary capital borrowers: $19.4 
million compared with $13-2 million in 1990. Fund balan
ce: $276.4 million compared with $258.1 million at the end 
of 1990. 

The audited financial statements of the ordinary 
capital, the Fund for Special Operations, and the Interme
diate Financing Facility Account, as well as those of the 
Social Progress Trust Fund and the Venezuelan Trust Fund, 
appear on pages 109 through 152. 
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TABLE XL CONTRIBUTION QUOTAS TO THE FUND FOR SPECIAL OPERATIONS 
In thousands of U.S. dollars 

Country 

Seventh Increase of Resources ' 

As of 
December 31, 1991 w<b) Received 

T o b e 
Received 

Grand 
Total 

Argentina 
Austria 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belgium 

$ 472,058 
12,950 
9,708 
1,569 

31,830 

2,838 
142 

9 
336 

8,514 
424 
258 

26 
1,007 

483,410 
13,516 
9,966 
1,604 

33,173 

Bolivia 
Brazil 
Canada 
Chile 
Colombia 

45,301 
504,573 
250,546 
145,245 
142,411 

232 
2,838 
2,767 

798 
798 

8,514 
8,302 
2,392 
2,392 

46,227 
515,925 
261,615 
148,435 
145,601 

Costa Rica 
Denmark 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 

21,645 
13,818 
31,250 
28,060 
19,700 

114 
151 
155 
155 
114 

343 
453 
466 
466 
343 

22,102 
14,422 
31,872 
28,681 
20,158 

Finland 
France 
Germany 
Guatemala 
Guyana 

12,938 
157,710 
161,593 
30,221 

7,680 

142 
1,725 
1,767 

155 
50 

424 
5,176 
5,300 

466 
149 

13,504 
164,611 
168,660 
30,842 

7,879 

Haiti 
Honduras 
Israel 
Italy 
Jamaica 

20,143 
24,396 
12,763 

157,710 
26,643 

140 
1,725 

155 

457 
457 
419 

5,176 
466 

20,600 
24,853 
13,322 

164,611 
27,264 

Japan 
Mexico 
Netherlands 
Nicaragua 
Norway 

175,948 
302,290 

23,959 
22,413 
13,818 

1,987 
263 
114 
151 

7,698 
5,960 

787 
343 
453 

183,646 
310,237 

25,009 
22,870 
14,422 

Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Portugal 
Spain 

23,698 
26,331 
73,831 
5,636 

157,710 

114 
114 
393 
46 

1,725 

343 
343 

1,178 
136 

5,176 

24,155 
26,788 
75,402 

5,818 
164,611 

Suriname 
Sweden 
Switzerland 
Trinidad and Tobago 
United Kingdom 

5,816 
27,868 
35,181 
19,273 

157,710 

38 
294 
385 

1,725 

114 
881 

1,156 
457 

5,176 

5,968 
29,043 
36,722 
19,730 

164,611 

United States 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 
Yugoslavia 
Unallocated 

4,633,574 
51,596 

290,169 
12,950 
5,387 

20,576 
311 

1,987 
142 

61,728 
932 

5,960 
424 

4,715,878 
52,838 

298,116 
13,516 
5,387 

$8,607,620 Total $8,407,620 $47,671 

''Includes Sixth Increase of Resources at amounts stipulated in Resolution AG-11/83. 
" Includes $56 not yet received from Suriname. 
:) Amounts stipulated in Resolution AG-2/90. 

$152,329 
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TABLE XII. IDB BORROWINGS', FISCAL YEAR 1 9 9 1 
(In millions of currency) 

Type Issue Units Amount 
Amount 

(US$ equiv.) 

United States dollars 

Japanese yen 

Swiss francs 

German marks 

Spanish pesetas 

Netherland guilders 

Portuguese escudos 

Canadian dollars 

8.5% ten-year notes, due 2001 
8.875% ten-year Eurobonds, due 2001 

6.75% ten-year Euronotes, due 2001 
Var. % five-year loan, due 1996 
7.25% seven-year loan, due 1998 
7.0% five-year Euronotes, due 1996 
Var. % seven-year notes, due 1998 
6.0% ten-year Eurobonds, due 2001 
Var. % five-year loan, due 1996 (Tranche A) 
Var. % eleven-year loan, due 2002 (Tranche B) 
5.75% five-year Eurobonds, due 1996 

7.625% ten-year bonds, due 2001 
7.125% ten-year bonds, due 2001 
7.25% ten-year bonds, due 2001 
7.25% ten-year bonds, due 2002 

8.5% ten-year bonds, due 2001 
8.75% two-year notes, due 1993 

14.15% five-year bonds, due 1996 
11.25% seven-year bonds, due 1998 

8.875% seven-year bonds, due 1998 

12.0% five-year bonds, due 1996 

10.375% five-year bonds, due 1996 

Total Borrowings 

Before swaps. 
Proceeds received on January 21, 1992. 

TABLE XLTJ. OUTSTANDING BORROWINGS BY 
CURRENCY AS OF DECEMBER 3 1 , 1 9 9 1 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

Currency* Amount 

Canadian dollars 
Deutsche marks 
European currency units (ECUs) 
Japanese yen 
Netherlands guilder 
Portuguese escudos 
Pounds sterling 
Spanish pesetas 
Swiss francs 
Trinidad and Tobago dollars 
United States dollars 

129.8 
3,087.7 

134.1 
6,416.8 
1,216.3 

85.7 
629.9 
207.1 

2,969.1 
2.0 

4,777.4 

Total $19,655.9 

US$ 
US$ 

Yen 
Yen 
Yen 
Yen 
Yen 
Yen 
Yen 
Yen 
Yen 

SwF 
SwF 
SwF 
SwF 

DM 
DM 

SP 
SP 

Dfl 

PTE 

Can$ 

300 
.300 

30,000 
10,000 
10,000 
35,000 
30,000 
35,000 
5,000 
5,000 

45,000 

150 
150 
150 
3002 

300 
400 

10,000 
10,000 

250 

11,500 

150 

300.0 
300.0 

228.7 
75.8 
70.9 

253.8 
217.5 
263.5 
38.4 
38.4 

346.0 

115.8 
118.5 
104.3 
221.2 

176.9 
240.5 

107.4 
94.8 

127.0 

79.4 

130.2 

3,649.0 

" Before swaps. 
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TABLE XIV. COFLNANCING A N D OTHER ARRANGEMENTS, 1 9 9 1 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

Country 

Sources of Finance 

Project IDB IBRD Japan 
Other 
Funds 

Argentina 

Bolivia 

Dominican Republic 

Ecuador 

Guyana 

Haiti 

Honduras 

Jamaica 

Mexico 

Nicaragua 

Peru 

Trinidad and Tobago 

Uruguay 

Venezuela 

Provincial Development Program 200.0 
Water & Sewerage Program 100.0 
Agricultural & Livestock Services 41.3 
Public Sector Reform Program 325.0 

Financial Sector Reform & Private 60.0 
Investment Promotion 

Electric Energy Generation d 

Primary Education Improvement System 29-3 

Global Multisectoral Credit Program 102.3 

Agricultural Sector 52.0 

Economic & Social Fund 12.3 
Artibonite Valley Development Program Phase II d 

Highway Rehabilitation & Road Improvement 
Hybrid Energy Sector 105.0 

Rural Community Development Phase III 36.0 
Trade, Finance & Investment 75.0 

Export Sector Program 250.0 
Agricultural Sector Loan 200.0 
Irrigation & Drainage Investment Program 200.0 

Trade & Finance Sector 132.5 
Rehabilitation of the Electric Sector 19.0 

Trade Sector Adjustment Loan 429.9 

Oil Recovery & Refining 260.0 

Financial Sector 151.7 

Public Enterprise Reform Loan d 

200.0 
100.0 
35.3 

300.0 

40.0 

15.0 

75.0 

4.3f 

11.4 

50.6 

30.0 

300.0 
400.0 
400.0 

110.0 

205.0 

1.8h 

70.0 ¡ 

400.0¡ 

40.0 

300.0 ' 

13a + 7.0b 

5.0' 

25.0e 

1.8a 

5.0* 

20.0 i 
9.8k + 3.4e 

10.0h 

42.0 m 

TOTAL 2,781.3 2,276.6 811.8 142.0 

' German Agency for Technical Cooperation (GTZ) 
b Government of Switzerland. 
c Nordic Development Fund. 
d Approved in 1990. Not added to the total. 
e Andean Development Corporation (CAF). 
' $68.2 million approved in 1990. 
«OPEC Fund. 

1 Government of Japan grant. 
Overseas Economic Cooperation Fund of Japan (OECF). 
Donor countries (Canada, Norway, Switzerland, etc.). 

; Central American Bank for Economic Integration. 
Export Import Bank of Japan. 

"European Investment Bank (ECU 38 million). 

COFINANCING 

T h e Bank has b e e n ab le to mobi l ize addi t ional r e sou rces 
for d e v e l o p m e n t projects in the reg ion by cof inancing 
projects wi th bilateral a n d multilateral par tners . 

O n the bilateral s ide, J a p a n con t inues to b e the major 
sou rce of funds. Dur ing 1991, the Bank r e a c h e d a g r e e m e n t 
wi th the Expor t - Impor t Bank of J a p a n to cof inance t w o 
projects wi th un t ied funds total ing $340 million. A $300 
million cof inancing loan will s u p p o r t t he V e n e z u e l a n 
Public Enterpr ise Reform Program a n d a $40 million 
cof inancing loan will s u p p o r t an oil recovery a n d refinery 
project in Tr in idad a n d T o b a g o . T h e O v e r s e a s E c o n o m i c 

Coope ra t i on F u n d of J a p a n (OECF), a n o t h e r impor tan t 
sou rce of bilateral suppor t , p r o v i d e d $400 million equiva
lent for the t rade sec tor p r o g r a m for Peru. Switzer land also 
p r o v i d e d Peru wi th $10 mill ion equ iva len t o n a n o n 
re imbursab le basis for the t rade sec tor p rog ram. 

O n the multi lateral s ide, the IDB a n d the Wor ld Bank 
cof inanced 16 projects in 11 count r ies r ep resen t ing over $4 
billion in c o m m i t m e n t s , of w h i c h $2.2 bill ion w a s p r o v i d e d 
by the Wor ld Bank. T h e E u r o p e a n Inves tment Bank (EIB) 
also cof inanced the oil recovery a n d refinery project in 
Tr in idad a n d T o b a g o wi th a $45 million loan, mark ing the 
first t ime t h e EIB cof inanced a project wi th t h e Bank. A n d 
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the Nordic Development Fund (NDF), located in Helsinki. 
Finland, provided $8.4 million in cofinancing resources for 
three projects during the year. These operations also marked 
the first cofinancings with NDF, whose resources are 
provided on concessional terms. The Central American 
Bank for Economic Integration provided $9.8 million in 
cofinancing to help rehabilitate the electricity sector in 
Nicaragua. 

FUNDS IN ADMINISTRATION 

Many of the Bank's nonborrowing and borrowing member 
countries have entrusted the Bank with funds to finance 
projects. These trust funds have become increasingly 
important over time because they augment the Bank's 
regular resources and, in some cases, are used to finance 
on concessional terms and conditions projects benefiting 
low-income people. 

The first fund, created in 1961. was the Social 
Progress Trust Fund, set up with resources contributed by 
the United States. Other special funds followed, several of 
wJiich were established by donor countries prior to their 
becoming members of the Bank. These include the Cana
dian Fund in 196i and the Swedish Development Fund 
and the United Kingdom Fund in 1966. During the 1970s 
several additional funds were established, including the 
Norwegian Development Fund in 1971 and the Swiss 
Technical Cooperation and Small Projects Fund in 1973-

Latin American countries have also asked the Bank 
to administer funds on their behalf. In 1970, the Argentine 
Fund was established to provide counterpart funds for 
projects located in Argentina's neighboring countries— 
Bolivia, Paraguay, and Uruguay. In 1975, Venezuela estab
lished the Venezuelan Tmst Fund with a contribution 
equivalent to $500 million. Resources from this fund have 
been used for projects in integration, natural resources, 
industry and exports. 

In 1988, the Government of Japan established the 
Japan Special Fund with an initial contribution of Y3.500 
million. The purpose of the Fund is to finance non
reimbursable technical cooperation, primarily for project 
preparation, small projects, and emergency assistance 
arising from natural disasters. The Fund was increased in 
1990 and 1991 with contributions totaling Y13,500 million, 
equivalent to approximately $100 million. During 1991 
resources from the Fund were tised to finance nine 
technical cooperation operations totaling $23 million. 

The Gove rnmen t of Spain es tab l i shed the 
Quincentennial Fund in 1990, making the equivalent of 
S500 million available for cofinancing projects. In addition, 
Spain will provide the equivalent of S150 million to fund 

a Special Account which will subsidize interest rates 
charged on loans from the Quincentennial Fund. 

The past year also saw the establishment of the 
Technical Cooperation Fund Program (CT/FONDOS), 
which consists of five individual funds, which the Bank 
will administer. Applied as grants, these trust funds are 
earmarked fortechnical cooperation activities, specifically 
funding short-term consultancies, scholarships and fellow
ships, as well as seminars. 

Three of the new trust funds were contributed by 
three European countries. For the most part, these re
sources are to be used to hire consultants from the donor 
country. The Belgian Government provided BF13 million 
(approximately S380.000) for the establishment of the 
Fund for Belgian Consultants. The Italian Government 
funded the Special Italian Fund for Consultancy Scholar
ships and Traineeships with a contribution of 4 billion lire 
(approximately $3-2 million). The Portuguese Govern
ment created the Portuguese Technical Cooperation Trust 
Fund with a S 1.5 million contribution for the 1991-93 
period. 

The remaining two technical cooperation funds 
were established during the year by the European Eco-
nomic Community ( EEC) and the Swedish Government. As 
a result of consultations with the EEC. the Special Fund for 
Technical Consultancy Services, funded with ECL'2 million 
( equivalent to $2.4 million), was established. The Swedish 
Trust Fund for Consulting Services and Training Activities 
entered into force December 19.1991 with an endowment 
of $7 million, replacing the Swedish Development Fund, 
which was terminated during the year. 

Also during 1991, the EEC established the Special 
Fund for the Financing of Small Productive Projects. Its 
funding base of ECUS million (equivalent to approxi
mately $9.5 million), will finance Small Projects and 
microenterprise activities. 

Table XV lists these important sources of additional 
development resources. 
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TABLE XV. FUNDS IN ADMINISTRATION AS OF DECEMBER 3 1 , 1 9 9 1 

Name 

Currency Amount 
Date Entrusted or Committed 

Established By Denomination (million) 

Social Progress Trust 
Fund 

Venezuelan Trust Fund 

Canadian Fund 

Canadian Project 
Preparation Fund 

Japan Special Fund 

Technical Cooperation 
and Small Projects 
Swiss Fund 

Norwegian Development 
Fund 

United Kingdom Development 
Fund 

Argentine Fund 

European Economic 
Community Grant 

Spanish Quincentennial 
Funds 

Fund for Belgian 
Consultants 

Special Fund for 
Technical 
Consultancy 
Services 

Italian Trust 
Fund 

Portuguese 
Technical 
Cooperation 

Swedish Trust Fund for 
Consulting Services 
and Training Activities 

1961 USA 

1988 & 
1989 

1973 & 
1980 

1971 

1966 

1970 

1981 

1990 

1991 

1991 

1991 

1991 

1991 

U.S.$ 

1975 Venezuela U.S.$ 
Bolivars 

1964 Canada 

1974 Canada 

Japan 

Switzerland 

1970 Norway 

U.K. 

U.K. 

Argentina 

EEC 

Spain 

Belgium 

Commission 
of the 
European 
Communities 

Italy 

Portugal 

Sweden 

Can$ 

Can$ 

Yen 

SwF 

U.S.$ 

Australes 
equiv. to U.S.! 

ECU 

ECU 

BF 

ECU 

Lire 

Escudos 

Sector Concentration 
or Purpose 

US$ 

525 Agriculture, sanitation, 
education, social. 

400 Integration, natural resources. 
430 industry, exports. 

73 Physical infrastructure and 
other sectors on concessional 
terms. 

6 Preparation of project—basic-
studies, feasibility and 
engineering designs. 

8,000 Technical assistance, small 
projects, emergency 
assistance. 

45 Projects that benefit low-
income groups. 

2 Loans and small projects, low-
income groups, health, 
education, agriculture and 
small-scale industry. 

4 Concessional loans. 

4 Concessional loans. 

23 Local counterpart financing 
for IDB projects. 

2 Small projects and technical 
assistance. 

490 Technical education, agricul
ture, health, communications, 
urban development. 

13 Technical assistance for prepa
ration of projects in productive 
and private sectors. 

2 Short-term consultancy services 
to carry out studies and train
ing in conjunction with the 
Bank's operations. 

Consulting services related 
to industrial reconstruction. 
with particular emphasis on 
privatization programs. 

Technical assistance, 
scholarships and 
traineeships. 

$7 Consulting services and 
training in social sectors. 

4,000 

equivalent 
of US$1.5 
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INSTITUTIONAL MATTERS 

BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

During the April 1991 meeting of the Board of Governors 
in Nagoya, Japan, several Governors encouraged the Bank 
to extend sectoral adjustment loans to borrowing member 
countries for which the World Bank was not providing 
sectoral adjustment loans. In response to this encourage
ment, the Board approved a resolution in May authorizing 
the Board of Executive Directors to approve, on a case-by-
case basis, loans for sectoral adjustment without cofinancing 
by the World Bank. 

In other actions taken in 1991, the Board: 
• Approved the 1990 financial statements of the 

ordinary capital, the Fund for Special Operations and the 
Intermediate Financing Facility. 

• Designated an external auditing firm to verify the 
Bank's financial statements for 1991. 

The Committee of the Board of Governors, a perma
nent working group made up of 12 members of the Board, 
held one meeting in 1991, which took place during the 
32nd Annual Meeting of the Board of Governors in 
Nagoya. Among the matters discussed were the Bank's 
efforts to support the role of the private sector in the 
region's economic development and strategies to promote 
programs and projects to reduce poverty. 

BOARD OF EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 

The Board of Executive Directors is responsible for the 
operations of the Bank. It establishes the institution's 
operational policies, approves loan and technical coopera
tion proposals submitted by the President of the Bank, 
authorizes Bank borrowings on the capital markets, and 
approves the institution's administrative budget. 

The Board performs its duties on a full-time basis at 
the Bank's headquarters, and its 12 principal members are 
elected or appointed for three-year terms by the Governors 
of the Bank. Each Executive Director may appoint an 
Alternate, who has full power to act when the principal is 
absent. A roster of the Executive Directors and Alternate 
Executive Directors appears on page 154. To facilitate its 
tasks, the Board has four full-time committees, each 
comprised of six Executive Directors. 

In addition to the duties described above, the Board 
of Executive Directors in 1991 considered and, in several 
cases, adopted important policies affecting the operations 
and procedures of the Bank, including the following: 

• Financial Policies. In 1991, the Board approved a 

comprehensive set of new financial policies in the areas of 
liquidity, borrowing, currency selection, and investment 
authority. The objective of the new policies is to assure that 
the Bank provides its borrowing member countries the 
maximum amount of resources at minimum cost, while at 
the same time maintaining the financial soundness of the 
institution and its excellent credit rating in the world's 
capital markets. 

The Board agreed to revisions in the Bank's policy 
on loan loss provisioning, approving a new methodology 
to maintain the Allowance for Loan Losses at a target level 
of 3 percent of the total outstanding loan balance. 

• Debt Reduction Facility. In March the Board 
approved operational guidelines for a facility to assist 
borrowing member countries in reducing their external 
public debt and debt service to commercial banks. The 
facility's initial operation was approved during 1991. 

• Policies to Address Natural Disaster Emergencies. 
The Board in March approved a new policy regarding the 
Bank's support to member countries affected by natural 
disasters. The objective of the policy is to provide assis
tance to the affected countries and help them resume 
socioeconomic development. 

• Forestry Development Policy. Also in March, the 
Board approved a revision of the Bank's policy on forestry 
development that establishes basic guidelines and priori
ties to guide the institution's activities in this important 
sector. 

• Special Project Preparation Facility. In September 
the Board approved the recapitalization and reorganiza
tion of a facility that enables the Bank to swiftly contract 
technical consulting services in order to help borrowing 
countries and institutions prepare investment projects and 
programs for the Bank's consideration. The facility would 
speed preparation of new financing proposals, particularly 
for relatively less developed borrowing countries. 

• Program to Promote Technical Cooperation Be
tween Bank Member Countries. In March the Board 
approved the establishment of trust funds for consultancies, 
scholarships, and assistantships designed to increase re
ciprocal technical cooperation between the 44 member 
countries of the Bank. Through donations from govern
ments and other entities, the program aims to increase the 
Bank's capacity to finance technical cooperation to accel
erate the transfer of knowledge and technology to borrow
ing member countries. 

• Agreement to Establish a European Economic 
Community Special Fund for Small Projects in Latin America. 
The Board in September approved a cooperative agree
ment with the EEC to channel nonreimbursable financing 
to intermediate organizations in the Bank's borrowing 
member countries. These organizations will in turn extend 
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PALMIRA, COLOMBIA. Farmer Gustavo Duran 
(left) discusses the drip irrigation system he 
installed on his avocado farm with agovernment 
agronomist. Duran was one of some 60,000farm
ers to receive credit through a $100 million IDB 
global agricultural loan to Colombia in 1987. 
Durdn's loan enabled him to finance the irriga
tion system, purchase a tractor and plant 38 
hectares of avocado and lime trees. EXTERNAL REVIEW AND EVALUATION OFFICE 

credit for small productive projects designed to improve 
the living conditions of low-income groups. 

• Government of Japan Scholarship Program. In 
February the Board approved an agreement with the 
Government of Japan to establish a scholarship program 
for Latin American and Caribbean students for graduates 
studies at universities in Bank member countries. 

The External Review and Evaluation Office (ORE) is 
independent of the Management of the Bank and performs 
evaluations at the direction of the Board of Executive 
Directors. The evaluations cover broad areas of lending 
activities and specific institutional issues. The recommen
dations resulting from these evaluations are submitted to 
the Board (if Executive Director's Review and Evaluation 
Committee for review. If approved by the Committee, the 
recommendations are then forwarded to the Board of 
Executive Directors for its formal approval. Subsequently, 
the recommendations are sent to Management for imple
mentation. 

During 1991, a number of ORE evaluations were 
published. Many of these reports are currently under 
review by the Review and Evaluation Committee, while 
others will be submitted to that Committee in 1992. The 
evaluations include: Constraints in Meeting Loan Condi-
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tions Prior to First Disbursement; The Performance of 
IDB's Country Offices in Borrowing Countries; Loan Can
cellations; Infrastructure: Rehabilitation and Consolidation 
of Irrigation Investments; Improving the Implementation 
of Board Decisions on ORE Recommendations; IDB and 
Microenterprise: A Development Strategy for the 1990s; 
IDB's Internal Operations Evaluation System; and IDB 
Lending to Agroindustry and Marketing. 

In addition, ORE published a Reference Guide to 
Board Decisions on ORE Recommendations. The Guide 
contains both decisions by the Board and the status of 
implementation of the recommendations. 

PROGRAMMING AND POLICIES 

The Plans and Programs Department (DPL) continued 
improving the programming process whereby the Bank 
and its borrowing countries clearly define development 
strategies. The heart of the programming process is the 
dialogue between the borrowing country and the Bank, 
and that dialogue culminates in the preparation of Country 
Programming Papers (CPPs). The CPPs represent an 
agreed set of priorities between the borrowing country and 
the Bank that lays the foundation for future lending 
activities. CPPs have become more policy-focused and 
operational in nature and are now prepared on a three-
year cycle. During 1991 10 CPPs were prepared. 

The programming mission is an integral part of the 
programming process. These missions are undertaken to 
achieve agreement on a lending strategy and a loan and 
technical cooperation pipeline of projects. Programming 
missions also enable the Bank to raise policy issues which 
can lead to the formulation of sector adjustment loans. 
Special emphasis is placed on priority areas such as the 
environment, private sector support, microenterprise pro
motion, women in development, and support for low-
income groups. Twenty-one programming missions to 19 
countries were carried out in 1991. 

A Regional Programming Paper (RPP) was prepared 
for Central America. RPPs contain lending strategies for 
sub-regions based on the existence of economic 
complementarity, commercial or trade interdependence, 
and mutual interest. RPPs permit more efficient and 
focused multilateral lending programs and complement 
the Bank's lending strategy in each country within a 
subregion. 

OPERATIONS EVALUATION AND INTERNAL AUDIT 

Intensive use of the results of ex-post evaluation studies is 
an integral part of the Bank's operations. The insights and 
recommendations derived from in-depth study of previ
ously completed projects are routinely brought to bear on 
the preparation and analysis of new projects. 

The Operations Evaluation Office (OEO) of the 
Office of the Controller is the primary source for ex-ante 
inputs, based on the results of detailed evaluation studies, 
to the formulation of new projects. Since 1988 OEO has 
been specifically charged with reviewing the documenta
tion associated with all new operations being prepared 
within Management for eventual submission to the Board 
of Executive Directors. During 1991, OEO analyzed over 
550 documents prepared at various stages in the develop
ment of individual projects or during consideration of 
country programs and policy-driven lending operations. 

In addition to its more traditional assignments, OEO 
has recently carried out special evaluations which are not 
based on detailed ex-post evaluation studies. The first of 
these special studies concerned the Technical Cooperation 
Facility for Project Preparation and was submitted to the 
Board in May 1991. OEO found that the Facility had a 
positive impact on project preparation, though a few 
aspects could benefit from improvement. 

OEO also coordinated the efforts of an interdepart
mental working group charged with assessing and rede
signing an important element in the Bank's Operations 
Evaluation System, namely the Project Completion Reports 
which, since 1980, have been prepared by Bank staff in the 
Country Offices. The working group's report and recom
mendations were approved and detailed guidelines are to 
be sent to all concerned offices in 1992. 

Internal Audit 

The Auditor General is responsible for internal auditing 
and performs independent audit reviews for Management 
of the financial, accounting, management information 
systems (MIS) and related operations, and operational and 
administrative activities of the Bank. The fundamental 
objective of the Office is to assist Management by provid
ing periodic reports and appraisals on the effective perfor
mance of control and resource utilization responsibilities. 

During 1991, the Office performed reviews from the 
control perspective of the significant organizational and 
procedural changes that have been implemented recently. 
These included the increased delegation of authority to the 
Country Offices; the contracting of consultants and con
sulting firms; and the system for control and administration 
of independently audited financial statements of loans and 
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GEORGETOWN, GUYANA. A fleet of 84 tractors 
acquired by the Guyana Sugar Corporation under 
an IDB-financedproject to improve agricultural 
productivity. The tractors were among shipments 
of machinery, spare parts, pesticides and other 
agricultural inputs needed to bolster Guyana's 
sugar and rice industries. The project, carried 
out by the Ministry of Agriculture, is supported 
by a 1990 Bank loan for $27 million. 

projects. The Office also carried out reviews of selected 
Country Offices and the Bank's surveillance system of 
ongoing loans. 

THE ROLE OF THE COUNTRY OFFICES 

The Country Offices in each of the Bank's borrowing 
member countries are beginning to play a far more pivotal 
and substantive role in the Bank's activities. Country 
Offices are now directly involved in project identification, 
in building a realistic project pipeline and in negotiating, 
preparing and implementing projects and programs that 
have been approved by the Board of Executive Directors. 

The Country Offices are also now engaged in the 
programming process. Country teams (which help define 
the Bank's strategy in each country) include the IDB's 
Representative in the country; and project teams (which 
are assigned responsibility for a specific loan) may include 
sector specialists from the Country Offices. 

Country Offices are responsible for identifying tech
nical assistance and Small Project operations. The Offices 
have responsibility for prepar ing and approving 
intraregional technical assistance operations and technical 
assistance operations in response to emergencies caused 
by natural disasters. They also have primary responsibility 
for short-term missions relating to operations administra
tion. 

In loan administration (loans, technical assistance 
and Small Projects operations), the IDB's Countiy Repre
sentatives have been given greater authority to approve 
and extend the terms of contractual commitments and to 
approve some conditions prior to the first disbursement of 
operations. 

The changes in the role of the Countiy Offices are the 
result of a number of studies that have been carried out in 
recent years. At the heart of these changes is an effort to 
decentralize decision-making authority and to more fully 
engage and utilize the Country Offices in the Bank's 
activities. 
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Role of the Special Office in Europe 

The Bank's Special Office in Europe (SOE), located in 
Paris, plays a significant role in fostering cooperation 
between the Bank and its nonregional member countries. 
In order to strengthen regular contacts between the Bank 
and nonregional governments, the second annual informal 
consultation between the President and representatives of 
these governments was held in Rome in February before 
the Bank's annual meeting. 

Several major high-level conferences were orga
nized by the Office in 1991. A conference on Recovery, 
Investment and Growth in Latin America was organized by 
the IDB, Canning House, and the Oxford International 
Institute in London in May. Subregional integration in Latin 
America was the theme of a conference in Brussels in 
November, organized by the Bank in conjunction with the 
European Community and the Institute for European-Latin 
American Relations (IRELA). And a meeting in the IDB/ 
OECD Forum on Latin American Perspectives—the second 
of a series—took place in Paris in November. The first of 
a series of consultations between the Bank and European 
NGOs took place in Paris in September. 

The other major area of SOE activities continues to 
be resource mobilization, mainly through parallel financ
ing arrangements with European bilateral and multilateral 
institutions. 

MONTEVIDEO, URUGUAY. Companies from the 
United States provided the huge pumps for this 
sewage pumping station at Punta Carreta. 
Financed by a $78 million IDB loan in 1981, the 
sanitation project included construction of sewer 
lines, pumping stations, a preliminary treatment 
plant, and other works. The second stage of the 
project was financed by a $26.2 million IDB loan 
in 1989. The project will reduce pollution of the 
waters and coastal areas of Montevideo. 

ADMINISTRATION 

Several measures were implemented or taken in 1991 to 
improve human resources administration, services, and 
budgeting. The new Individual Performance Planning and 
Review System (IPPR) was implemented. The system sets 
the framework for dialogue, planning and evaluation of 
individual staff members and provides the Bank with an 
important tool to enhance the planning and execution of 
work and assess the performance of its staff. 

A number of Management Development Programs 
for the Bank's executive level-staff were carried out. Those 
programs, which included intensive training seminars, will 
be extended to other supervisory levels. 
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TABLE XVI. CONSOLIDATED ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Category 
1990 

Actual 
1991 

Actual 
1992 

Budget 

Board of Governors 
Annual Meeting 
Other Expenses 

Board of Executive Directors 
Personnel Costs 
Consulting and Business Travel 
External Review and Evaluation Office 

Headquarters and Country Offices 
Personnel Costs 
Consulting and Business Travel 
General Administrative Costs 

TOTAL BEFORE REIMBURSEMENT 

Reimbursement from Funds 
under Administration and IIC 

661.1 
63.5 

6,250.1 
937.3 

1,232.7 

132,952.6 
24,181.9 
29,103.2 

195,382.4 

(6,448.0) 

966.5 
444.2 

7,197.3 
1,001.5 
1,282.7 

157,370.3 
22,316.3 
31,035.4 

221,614.2 

(3,984.4) 

697.3 
492.3 

8,281.8 
1,015.4 
1,573.3 

166,483.0 
30,286.6 
36,755.3 

245,585.0 

(3,585.0) 

TOTAL $188,934.4 $217,629.8 $242,000.0 

In budgeting, the 1992 program based-budget in
cluded a detailed operational plan, key performance 
indicators, and a costing of all major activities to be 
undertaken by the Bank over the 1992-94 period. The 
budget document was considerably streamlined with 
emphasis given to the presentation in summary format of 
principal areas of activities or new activities and changes 
in resource requirements. The budgeting process has been 
further enhanced by the introduction of a new Time 
Management Reporting System and new computerized 
systems, which allow for a better analysis of the data to 
facilitate budgetary planning, preparation, and execution. 
Systems enhancements also include a new accounting 
system. 

The Bank's Administrative Budget for 1992 was 
authorized at $242 million net of projected overhead 
reimbursements of $3-6 million, an increase of $26.7 
million or 12 percent (6 percent in real terms) compared 
with the $215.3 million approved for 1991, net of projected 
overhead reimbursements of $7.3 million. This 6 percent 
increase, in real terms, is required to fulfill the ambitious 
operational program mandated by the Seventh Replenish
ment as well as to modernize and adapt the Bank to 
changing requirements. Total expenditures in 1990 and 
1991 as well as the 1992 Administrative Budget are 
presented in Table XVI. In 1991, total expenditures of 
$221.6 million represented 99.6 percent of the authorized 

expenditures of $222.6 million and overhead reimburse
ments of $4 million represented 55 percent of the projected 
$7.3 million. 

At the end of 1991, the staff of the Bank (excluding the 
Board of Executive Directors and the External Review and 
Evaluation Office and their staff) totaled 1,785, of which 
1,110 were professionals and 675 were administrative. Of 
these, 486 were assigned to the Country Offices. These 
figures compare with a total of 1,742—1,064 professionals 
and 678 administrative staff— at the end of 1990. At the end 
of 1991, women occupied 278 professional positions. 

INTER-AMERICAN INVESTMENT CORPORATION 

The Inter-American Investment Corporation (IIC) plays a 
pivotal role in complementing the activities of the IDB by 
promoting the economic development of the region. 
Specifically, the IIC encourages the establishment, expan
sion, and modernization of private enterprises, preferably 
those that are small- and medium-scale. 

While affiliated with the Bank, the IIC is a legally 
autonomous multilateral investment corporation with re
sources and management separate from the IDB. The IIC 
works directly with the private sector and neither seeks nor 
requires government guarantees. Enterprises with partial 
share participation by government or other public entities 
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whose activities strengthen the private sector of the 
economy are eligible for financing by the Corporation. 

During 1991, the Bank and the IIC continued work
ing together within the context of their respective man
dates. For example, the two institutions coordinated their 
efforts in assessing constraints to investment in several 
countries of the region. 

The IIC concluded its second full year of operations 
in 1991 by approving equity investments and loans totaling 
$101.7 million for 26 private sector projects in 16 of 24 
borrowing member countries. A total of S 19.1 million was 
approved for equity investments and $82.6 million in loans 
was approved. Fourteen of the projects for which the IIC 
approved financing were located in the Corporation's 
higher-income countries, and 12 were located in the 
lower-income countries. The projects were in the 
agribusiness, tourism, manufacturing, communications, 
trade and finance sectors. The 1991 approvals compare 
with 19 operations totaling $66.6 million approved in 1990. 

A more detailed review of the Corporation's activi
ties in 1991 appears in its Sixth Annual Report, which is 
published separately. 

COOPERATION WITH OTHER ORGANIZATIONS 

During 1991, the Bank continued improving the effective
ness of its relationship with various specialized agencies of 
the United Nations and regional institutions of the inter-
American system whose activities are complementary to 
those of the Bank. 

A number of important steps were taken by the Bank 
and the United Nations Development Programme ( UNDP) 
to implement their renewed commitment to an effective 
and productive relationship. Following the signing of a 
new umbrella agreement in October of 1990, a second 
IDB/UNDP agreement letter was signed and sent to the 
field offices of the two institutions requesting the prepara
tion of a joint Work Plan for each country. In addition, the 
UNDP appointed a Liaison Officer to be stationed at Bank 
headquarters in order to identify areas of mutual interest 
and opportunities for joint action. Joint strategy coordina
tion for the four priority areas of the environment, low-
income groups, women in development, and native Ameri
cans was also discussed at the January meeting. 

The Bank worked with the Economic Commission 
for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC) to provide 
the countries of the region with the technical resources 
necessary to explore and examine the potential of the trade 
component of the Enterprise for the Americas Initiative 
(EAI). The President of the Bank and the Executive 
Secretary of ECLAC agreed to establish a program that 

would help develop a dialogue among the countries of the 
hemisphere. The program includes provision of guidelines 
and criteria that could be used by the countries to analyze 
and define the trade dimension of the EAI; establishment 
of communication channels between the different coun
tries through an exchange of views, information, and the 
results of analytical work; and definition of activities and 
mechanisms that could be used to assist the countries in 
the context of the Initiative. 

For the first time ever the Bank collaborated in the 
execution of programs with the Pan American Health 
Organization (PAHO) in the nutrition and animal health 
fields. The Bank extended its current agreement with the 
Inter-American Institute for Cooperation in Agriculture 
(IICA) to July 1992 and continued to simplify and extend 
the scope of activities under which the two institutions 
collaborate. A similar exercise is ongoing with a number 
of UN specialized agencies, such as the Food and Agricul
tural Organization and regional institutions. Formal agree
ment on new and modified collaborative agreements is 
expected to be reached in the next calendar year. 

The Bank entered into an agreement with the LInited 
States Securities and Exchange Commission and the LJnited 
Nations Economic Commission for Latin America and the 
Caribbean to provide assistance to Latin American and 
Caribbean countries in the development and operation of 
capital markets and securities regulatory mechanisms. 
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PART II 

LOANS AND 
TECHNICAL 

COOPERATION 

Part II contains a description of the terms and conditions 
for Bank lending for each borrowing member country, 
including a brief history of Bank activities in the country, 
and a description of the loans. Small Projects, and tech
nical cooperation authorized by the Bank in 1991 from 
its various sources of funds. 

Terms and Conditions 

The Bank's pool-based variable lending rate methodol
ogy (adopted in December 1989) uniformly adjusts the 
lending rate applicable to the outstanding balances of all 
loans approved since January 1, 1990. Thus, consistent 
with the cooperative nature of the institution, all borrow
ers share equally the costs and benefits of changes in 
the lending rate. The lending rate derived under the 
fixed-at-disbursement methodology will continue to be 
applied to future disbursements of those loans approved 
before January 1, 1990. Both rates, however, include the 
same spread over the relevant cost of borrowing. 

SANJOSE POAQUIL, GUATEMALA. A rural roads 
project in Guatemala's highlands created jobs 
and linked agricultural areas to marketing cen
ters. Many laborers were localfarmers who some
times lost crops when rain turned roads into 
mud and prevented trucks from getting their 
products out. Some 400 kilometers of roads were 
built or improved under the project, which was 
financed by a $25.8 million Bank loan in 1986. 

New borrowings are assigned to fund loans ap
proved under either one of the two types of lending rates. 
The cost of borrowing for the fixed-at-disbursement lend
ing rate is the weighted average cost of those new bor
rowings during the last 12 months assigned to fund loans 
approved before January 1, 1990. The cost of borrowing 
for the pool-based variable lending rate is the weighted 
average cost of the outstanding borrowings assigned to 
the pool which funds loans approved since January 1, 
1990. 

The lending rate for new disbursements of fixed 
rate loans during both semesters of 1991 was 8.38 per
cent. The lending rate applicable to outstanding balances 
of variable rate loans was 7.69 percent during the first 
six months of 1991, and 7.89 percent during the last six 
months of the year. 

Seven loans approved in 1991 from the ordinary 
capital received a partial offset of interest from the Inter
mediate Financing Facility Account. Loans made from the 
ordinary capital in a member country's own currency car
ried an interest rate of 1 to 4 percent, depending on the 
nature of the project. Loans extended from the ordinary 
capital during 1991 were made for terms ranging from 
15 to 25 years. 

The rates of interest charged on loans extended 
from the Fund for Special Operations varied from 1 to 4 
percent, depending on the stage of development of the 
country and the nature of the project, with grace periods 
ranging from 5 to 10 years. For the less developed mem
ber countries, the rate of interest was 1 percent during 
the first 10 years and 2 percent subsequently. Maturities 
varied from 25 to 40 years. 

Loans not extended directly to the governments of 
the member countries carried guarantees of the govern
ment or governmental agency. The financings for Small 
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Projects described in this section, which need not be 
guaranteed, were extended in local currency for up to 
40 years, with grace periods of up to 10 years, and car
ried a commission of 1 percent. Technical cooperation is 
extended on a grant, contingent recovery, or reimburs
able basis. Contingent repayment cooperation, which rep
resents a small amount of the total, is subject to repay
ment only if, as a result of the cooperation, a loan is 
made subsequently by the Bank or another external fi
nancial institution for the execution of a project or pro
gram. 

KEY TO ABBREVIATIONS USED 
IN PROJECT DESCRIPTIONS 

The following abbreviations are used in the country-by-country 
descriptions of loans, Small Project financings, and technical 
cooperation operations. 

OC Ordinary Capital 
FSO Fund for Special Operations 
SPTF Social Progress Trust Fund 
IFF Intermediate Financing Facility 
TC Technical Cooperation 
JSF Japan Special Fund 
CF Canadian Project Preparation Fund 
SWF Technical Cooperation and Small Projects Swiss Fund 
NF Norwegian Development Fund 

All figures, including the number of loans, total lending and dis
bursements in the introductory paragraphs in each country, are 
as of December 31, 1991. Cumulative loan totals are net of can
cellations and after exchange adjustments. 

42 



ARGENTINA 

The Bank has made 139 loans totaling $5,168.2 million to Argentina. 
Sector emphasis has been on energy, agriculture and fisheries, plan
ning and reform, environmental and public health, industry and 
mining, and transportation and communications. Cumulative dis
bursements total $3,981.8 million. In 1991, the Bank approved 10 
loans for seven projects, and three Small Project financings. 

YEARL Y LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 

900 

1*11 
82 83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 

Lending Disbursements 

LOANS 

Public Sector Reform 

Financial Recovery and Economic Development 
Program for the Provinces 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

$325 million from the OC; and cofinancing 
of $325 million from the International Bank 
for Reconstmction and Development 

Ministry of Economy and Public Works and 
Services 

This loan will help strengthen and modernize public ad
ministration and services by supporting an agenda of re
forms that will help the Government mobilize more rev
enue and rationalize expenditures, as well as strengthen 
and refocus the Central Bank. Reforms include adoption 
of measures that will limit the Central Bank's powers to 
create money and lend to the Government. These will 
effectively disentangle the Central Bank from public fi
nances and clear the way for it to assume its legitimate 
role as monetary authority. Specifically, functions not di
rectly related to currency stability that will be removed 
from its purview include trade credit, deposit insurance, 
and financing the float for the social security system. 

The loan will improve revenue mobilization by in
creasing collection of value added and income taxes; im
proving tax and customs administration; and closing tax 
loopholes in order to lower subsidies for industrial pro
motion. The loan will support expenditure rationaliza
tion through administrative reforms to reduce federal em
ployment, eliminate some functions, and reverse wage 
compression. Improvements will be made in the federal 
budget process and accounting framework. Measures will 
be instituted to strengthen public sector investment plan
ning through improved review and project selection. 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

$200 million from the OC; and cofinancing 
of $200 million from the International Bank 
for Reconstruction and Development 

Ministry of Economy 

This loan will finance the first stage of the Provincial De
velopment Program (PDP), one of three programs that 
the Argentine Government has developed to reduce the 
size of the state and the public sector while increasing 
revenues and controlling expenditures. The ultimate goal 
is to transform the provincial governments from genera
tors of public sector deficits to generators of surpluses 
that will finance public infrastmcture and services neces
sary for economic development . The program will 
strengthen the provincial governments' capacity to plan, 
program, evaluate, finance, execute, and monitor expen
diture programs that are economically efficient, financially 
sustainable, and environmentally sound. 

Proceeds of the loan will finance civil works, 
goods, and technical services necessary to implement 
provincial Financial Recovery Programs (FRPs), includ
ing annual Financial Action and Investment Plans (FAIPs), 
which will provide the program's framework. There are 
two subprograms in the program's first stage. One sub
program will strengthen the executing agency so that it 
can assist the provinces in preparing FRPs and FAIPs and 
monitor the execution of the program. The executing 
agency's capacity also will be improved to analyze and 
approve projects presented to it for financing under the 
second subprogram. The second subprogram will focus 
on reinforcing provincial government institutions, main-
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CAMPANA, ARGENTINA. This computerized con

trol room monitors production at the SIDERCA 
seamless steel tube and pipe plant. A $40 million 
IDB loan in 1985 financed expansion and mod

ernization of the SIDERCA plant. The firm is 
Argentina's largest exporter of industrial prod

ucts. The seamless pipes produced by SIDERCA 
are used for oil and gas wells and refineries. 

taining and rehabilitating systems that support existing 
services, completing unfinished works, and financing in

vestments that will immediately improve the fiscal status 
of the provinces. 

Provincial Electric Energy Program 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

Two loans—$140 million from the OC and 
$25 million from the FSO 

Office of the Secretary for Electric Energy 

This loan will support a program to strengthen the pro

vincial electric utilities in the country's 23 provinces 
through subloans for technical assistance and invest

ments, thus improving service and coverage. The loan 
consists of two components. The first, which focuses on 
institutional strengthening, will promote better planning. 
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including preinvestment studies; help establish indepen
dent provincial utilities to provide service where none 
exists; and support managerial and administrative steps 
to make operations more efficient. It includes staff train
ing and equipment acquisition. 

The loan's second component, the investment por
tion, will rehabilitate and expand the overall system to 
meet new demand and improve the operating efficiency 
of the plants. 

The program will also improve the utilities' finan
cial standing by encouraging them to adopt rate policies, 
investment programs, and financing plans that are more 
closely attuned to operational needs. Better financial 
standing, together with the improvements brought about 
by the technical assistance component of the loan, will 
put the utilities in a better position to participate in the 
program's investment component. 

The Provincial Electric Energy Program is part of 
the Government's wider Program for Financial Recovery 
and Economic Development of the Provinces, which aims 
to make provincial government institutions stronger. 

Water Supply and Sewerage Program 

Global Credit for Small Business 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

570 million from the OC; $30 million from 
the FSO; and cofinancing of $100 million 
from the International Bank for Reconstruc
tion and Development 

Consejo Federal de Agua Potable y Sanea
miento (Water and Sanitation Board) 

These loans will fund a global credit program to help 
provincial and municipal water and sanitation utilities 
upgrade operations, renovate existing systems, and. 
where needed, expand services. The program also will 
expand the institutional capacity of the utilities, make 
them financially self-sufficient, improve their operations, 
and expand their coverage. 

The loans will help the provincial utilities become 
independent and operate as commercial concerns, elimi
nating one of the chief causes of provincial deficits. The 
reform and the upgrading of their operations is a first 
step in an effort to attract investment from the private 
sector . The global credit p rog ram c o m p l e m e n t s 
Argentina's Provincial Economic Development Program, 
which will prepare provincial institutions to assume wider 
responsibilities as part of decentralization. The credit pro
gram funds the first stage of a larger effort that over 15 
years will provide 90 percent of the people in urban and 
densely populated rural areas with water service, and 70 
percent with sewer service. 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agencies: 

$30 million from the OC and $15 million 
from the FSO 

Ministry of Economy and Public Works and 
Services and the Banco Central de la Re
pública Argentina 

These loans will provide credit and technical assistance 
to small businesses and microenterprises, enabling them 
to increase their production, improve their incomes, and 
maintain or increase employment opportunities. Loan re
sources are funneled through the Central Bank to quali
fied intermediary institutions, which in turn make 
subloans directly to small businesses or through techni
cal assistance institutions, such as nongovernmental or
ganizations, to microentrepreneurs. 

Under the global credit program, short- and me
dium-term loans finance the purchase of fixed assets, 
working capital, and advisory services, such as feasibility 
studies, for small businesses and microenterprises en
gaged in production, trade, and services. The lending in
stitutions set the terms of the subloans, which may not 
exceed two years. 

The program includes a training and technical as
sistance component that will finely tune the institutional 
capacity of intermediary financial institutions to help them 
develop methods to reach the smallest borrowers, who 
historically have been outside the credit mainstream. 
Managerial and line staff from intermediary financial in
stitutions and technical assistance institutions will be 
trained to work effectively with the informal sector. 

Modernization of Agricultural Services 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

S41.2 million from the OC; and cofinancing 
of S35.3 million from the International Bank 
for Reconstruction and Development 

Secretariat of Agriculture and Fisheries 

The program will improve Argentina's capacity to pro
duce and export high-quality agricultural products, thus 
increasing Argentina's strong comparative advantage in 
agriculture and the sector's capacity to generate foreign 
exchange. The program will focus on the following ar
eas: 

• Animal health. Efforts to improve the vitality and 
number of livestock will be increased. Cattle and sheep 
will be more closely monitored for disease, and vaccines 
will become more widely available against diseases, such 
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as hoof-and-mouth, brucellosis, and tuberculosis. A cen
tral laboratory to diagnose animal diseases and control 
veterinary products will be built and equipped. 

• Plant health and quality. This component will 
broaden services such as quality control and certification 
and, among other things, help gain wider market access 
abroad for Argentine farm products. 

• Fisheries development. An institutional frame
work will be created to develop the country's abundant 
fishery and aquacultural resources. A program to assess 
the marine fish resources will be carried out using two 
research vessels to be purchased with loan resources. In 
addition, a warm water aquaculture center and a salmon 
breeding center will be established. 

• Promotion. A program promoting meat products 
in the local and international markets will be launched. 
An export promotional fund will be established from 
which producers and entrepreneurs will be able to ob
tain grants to defray costs associated with exporting. 

• Technological development. This component 
will support the use of technologies to increase exports. 
These include advanced biotechnology, such as plant 
genetic engineering; the appropriate use of chemicals and 
fungicides to reduce fruit and vegetable losses after har
vest; adoption of the wool classification system; and im
proved forestry techniques. 

Institute of Cardiology and Cardiovascular Surgery 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

$2.7 million from the FSO; and a $3.8 
million grant from the Social Progress Trust 
Fund 

Institute of Cardiology and Cardiovascular 
Surgery (Instituto de Cardiología y Cirugía 
Cardiovascular) 

This loan will complete construction and equipping of 
the Favaloro Foundation for Teaching and Scientific Re
search in Buenos Aires. The project will support devel
opment of basic experimental research, teaching, health 
education, hospital care, and clinical research to be car
ried out by the Institute of Cardiology and Cardiovascu
lar Surgery. The institute is a decentralized branch of the 
Favaloro Foundation and is supported by federal, pro
vincial, and municipal agencies, as well as private insti
tutions. The project's four components are: 

• Construction of two buildings, one to be used 
for treatment, medical residency programs, and clinical 
research, and the other for administration and data pro
cessing. 

• Equipping of 15 clinics, the pre-admission emer

gency area, and administrative and data processing of
fices. 

• Institution building through the hiring of experts 
to help with organizational planning, preparation of op
erating guidelines, and the programming and execution 
of the institute's start-up activities. 

• Initial working capital to cover the cost of medi
cal and laboratory supplies, gas and electricity, as well 
as selection, training, and hiring of personnel to start 
treatment, teaching, and administration. 

FINANCING FOR SMALL PROJECTS 

Support for Goatherding Families 

A $500,000 financing from the FSO will be used by the 
Fundación Banco de Mendoza to provide a program of 
credit, marketing, and technical training for low-income 
goatherding families in a desert area in northeastern 
Mendoza Province. The program will construct and set 
in operation a production and training center together 
with a cold storage plant; establish a revolving credit 
fund; and offer technical assistance. The program is ex
pected to benefit about 360 goatherders, with their fami
lies, to be organized into cooperatives. Eventually, the 
program will extend to the region's full goatherder popu
lation, estimated at 1,200 people and their families. The 
financing is accompanied by a $120,000 technical coop
eration grant from the FSO. 

Support for Low-Income Farmers and Craftsmen 

The Bank approved a $500,000 loan using resources from 
the FSO for the Federación Agraria Argentina (FAA), a 
private non-profit organization. The loan and the techni
cal cooperation grant of $145,000 from the FSO that ac
companies it will benefit one of FAA's affiliates, the 
Cooperativa Agropecuar ia Ar tesana l de Vivienda y 
Consumo I a Poma Itda. The ultimate beneficiaries will 
be 325 low-income native people of Aymara stock living 
in precarious conditions in Puna Salteña, a region at 3,600 
meters above sea level in northern La Poma Department, 
in the province of Salta. They are primarily farmers and 
artisans, including a significant number of women en
gaged in wool-processing. The five subprograms the loan 
will finance are a revolving credit fund for equipment, 
animals, and supplies; construction of five craft centers 
equipped with looms so work can be done more effi
ciently and comfortably; construction of a demonstration 
center for improved cultivation and improvement of for
age crops; financing of fixed assets; and construction and 
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CORDOBA, ARGENTINA. Héctor 
Rolando Pérez (left) used a loan 
from the Fundación Banco de la 
Provincia de Córdoba (FUNDA) 
to study carpentry and start his 
own business. He is one of over 
1,000 students of agricultural and 
industrial schools to benefitfrom 
the FUNDA program, supported 
by a $500,000 IDB loan in 1982. A 
second Bank loan to FUNDA in 
1990 is helping microentrepre
neurs in urban areas of Córdoba. 

operation of a wool mill so that llama and sheep wool 
can be washed, carded, and spun faster and more effi
ciently. The technical assistance will improve the 
cooperative's operational capacity. 

machinery, equipment, and working capital that the mi
croentrepreneurs need to produce and sell their goods 
and services. Project resources also will fund training and 
technical assistance for the beneficiaries. 

Support for Urban Microentrepreneurs 

The Bank approved three loans from the FSO—two for 
$500,000 and one for $300,000—to support an equal 
number of programs of credit, training, and management 
benefiting 2,000 low-income microentrepreneurs in the 
Buenos Aires metropolitan area who are, for the most 
part, women. The borrowers, three non-profit organiza
t ions, will carry out the p rograms . They are the 
Fundación funtos (Ff), Fundación Banco de la Provincia 
de Buenos Aires (FBPBA), and the Fundación Argentina 
pa ra la Salud (FAS). In addition to the loans, the organi
zations will receive technical cooperation grants of 
$100,000 (77 and FBPBA) and $150,000 (FAS). The re
volving funds set up by project resources will finance 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1991 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 

Energy 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Planning and Reform 
Environmental and Public Health 
Industry and Mining 
Transportation and Communications 
Education, Science and Technology 
Urban Development 
Expon Financing 
Tourism 
Preinvestment 
Total 

Total Cost of 
the Projects 

$1,944,299 $ 4,914,093 
743,841 3,247,701 
528,233 1,225,000 
491,472 1,440,758 
466,993 2,011,538 
357,230 941,904 
273,617 673,641 
166,628 401,000 
147,502 205,875 
45,000 60,000 
3,363 9,473 

$5,168,178 $15,130,983 
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THE BAHAMAS 

The Bank has made 6 loans totaling $ 156.7 million 
to the Bahamas. Sector emphasis has been on 
energy. Cumulative disbursements total $85.7 mil
lion. In 1991, the Bank approved two loans for one 
project, and two major technical cooperations. 

LOANS 

Electrification Program 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

Two loans—$28 million and $3.8 million, 
both from the OC, with interest on the 
larger loan partially defrayed by the IFF 

The Bahamas Electricity Corporation ( BEC) 

These loans support a program that will bring adequate 
and reliable supplies of electricity to parts of the islands 
which at present are either not served or if so, insuffi
ciently. In some cases, lack of electrical utility services 
or the fact that businesses and residents must generate 
their own power on a small scale is impeding economic 
development. The plan also envisages electrification cre
ating circumstances that will attract more investors. 

Specifically, electricity will be supplied through die-
sel-electric and electric distribution lines to the following 
areas: Grand Bahamas, East End; Long Island; Exuma 
Cays; Moores Island; and Abaco. Three of these—Moores 
Island, Long Island, and Exuma Cays—require a new, 
fully equipped power station building. Existing facilities 
at Grand Bahamas, East End, and Abaco will be upgraded 
and expanded. At Bimini and Eleuthera, systems will be 
reinforced and their service area enlarged by adding die
sel electric generators and by improving distribution. 

The project includes the installation of a demonstra
tion solar system at Ragged Island. Solar is thought to be a 
reliable source of energy for such a remote location. Also 
under the program BEC's capacity to plan and manage 
projects and operations will be strengthened; administra
tive procedures updated; least-cost planning implemented; 
and an environmental unit established within BEC. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Expanding Data Management Capacity 

A $1,963,000 nonreimbursable technical cooperation from 
the FSO will improve the capacity of three Government 
agencies to gather, manage, and use data. The operation 
specifically targets the central public Data Processing Unit 
located in the Ministry of Finance; the Registrar General, 
which registers a full range of civil documents, such as 
birth certificates and wills, papers related to business ac
tivities, such as trademarks, and real estate, such as 
deeds; and the Department of Statistics, wJrich compiles 
and disseminates statistics covering practically all eco
nomic and social activities in the Bahamas. Activities fi
nanced by the operation include staff training: design, 
development, and installation of computer systems where 
needed; and implementation of organization reforms to 
improve efficiency. 

Alternative Energy Program 

This S680.000 contingent recovery technical cooperation 
from the FSO will fund feasibility studies for a national 
solar water heating program and for dendrothermal 
(wood-burning) power plants on the islands of Abaco 
and Andros to help reduce dependency on foreign en
ergy resources. The solar subprogram is a follow-on to a 
study completed in 1987 that recommends installing so
lar energy systems. The dendrothermal subprogram is 
based on studies that endorse a forest management pro
gram for Abaco and Andros, through which electric 
power could be generated by using the by-products from 
regular forest thinnings. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1977-1991 
(lu thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Energy 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Industry and Mining 
Other 
Total 

$144,467 
8,541 
2,088 
1,568 

$156,664 

S227.136 
11,365 
3,330 
2,500 

$244,331 
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BARBADOS 

The Bank has made 27 loans totaling $155 million to Barbados. 
Sector emphasis has been on transportation, education, public 
health, agriculture, and export financing. Cumulative disbursements 
total $139.7 million. In 1991, the Bank approved financing for one 
Small Project and two major technical cooperations. 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
i In millions tf dolíais) 

82 83 84 .S'5 86 87 88 89 90 91 

Lending Disbursements 

FINANCING FOR SMALL PROJECTS 

Credit for Urban and Rural Entrepreneurs 

A $250.000 financing from the FSO will be used by the 
National Development Foundation of Barbados to ex
pand the non-profit organization's credit facility for low-
income microentrepreneurs in rural and urban areas. The 
financing is a follow-on to an earlier loan for the same 
amount. It will benefit 70 more microenterprises ranging 
from repair shops, dressmakers, beauty shops, bakeries, 
and furniture workshops in the city, to farmers produc
ing vegetables, fruits, and chickens, as well as the pro
cessing and marketing of the farm products. A S 113,000 
technical cooperation grant from the FSO accompanies 
the loan. 

Solid Waste Management Plan 

A technical cooperation grant of $1,555,000 from the FSO 
will finance a feasibility study and designs for the prepa
ration of a long-term solid-waste management plan. A 
technical assistance component will train staff from the 
Sanitation Services Authority most involved in the opera
tion. The necessary loan documents for the actual invest
ment project also will be prepared with help from the 
grant. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Health Sector Feasibility Studies and Designs 

A nonreimbursable technical cooperation in the amount 
of $1,750,000 from the Japan Special Fund will fund fea
sibility studies and designs necessary for presenting a 
loan request for the health sector rationalization program. 
The studies' main emphasis will be the review and ad
justment of demographic, epidemiological, and other data 
as well as the review of government strategies and pro
grams for providing health care, particularly for the eld
erly and mentally dependent. Studies will also precisely 
define the scope and resource requirements for the pro
gram and plan activities necessary to strengthen the 
managerial capacity of the Ministry of Health. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1969-1991 
tin thousands of US. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 
the Projects 

Transpor ta t ion and Communica t ions S 37.150 S 69.697 
Education, Science and Techno logy 36,332 71,762 
Environmenta l a n d Publ ic Heal th 27,633 44,637 
Agriculture and Fisheries 17.199 26,975 
Export Financing 17,137 24,481 
Tour ism 8,074 14,813 
Industry and Mining 6,767 12.613 
Preinvestment 4,726 7.300 

Total $155,018 $272,278 
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BOLIVIA 

The Bank has made 98 loans totaling $1,937.1 million to Bolivia. 
Sector emphasis has been on energy, transportation and communi
cations, agriculture, and industry and mining. Cumulative disburse
ments total $1,279.3 million. In 1991, the Bank approved three 
loans—one with a technical cooperation grant—for two projects; 
four Small Project financings; and three technical cooperations. 

YEARL Y LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 

300 

200 

100 

82 83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 

Lending Disbursements 

LOANS 

Investment and Financial Sector Reform and 
Multisectoral Credit Program 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agencies: 

Two loans from the OC—$80 million and 
$60 million; and cofinancing of $40 million 
from the International Development Asso
ciation, $13 million from the German Tech
nical Assistance Agency, and $7 million 
from the Government of Switzerland 

Ministry of Planning and Coordination for 
the investment and financial sector reform 
loan; and the Central Bank of Bolivia for the 
multisectoral credit program 

These loans will support reform of Bolivia's financial sec
tor, promote private investment, and fund a multisectoral 
global credit program. This is the second operation ap
proved by the Bank within the framework of the Enter
prise for the Americas Initiative. 

The $60 million loan supports reforms that will im
prove the competitive environment in the banking sys
tem, eliminate controls on interest rates, and remove im
pediments to the development of capital markets. 
Investment sector reforms supported by the loan will 
open opportunities for private capital in public enter
prises, particularly in the mining and hydrocarbon sec
tors; develop plans for fostering private participation in 
transportation services; and improve efficiency in major 
public enterprises and support the privatization of oth
ers. 

The $80 million loan supports a multisectoral credit 
program that complements financial and investment re

forms and will provide medium- and long-term financ
ing to the private sector, especially small- and medium-
size businesses, through a competitive market pricing 
mechanism. It will also support institutional and opera
tional reforms to improve the financial intermediation 
process. 

The technical cooperation will help strengthen the 
institutional capacity of the Credit Management Unit of 
the Central Bank as well as intermediary financial insti
tutions and fund staff training. 

Basic Health Services Program 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

$33.9 million from the FSO and nonreim
bursable technical cooperation funding of 
$5 million 

Ministry of Welfare and Public Health (Mi
nisterio de Previsión y Salud Pública) 

This loan will improve the health conditions and quality 
of life for about 477,000 people living in six rural and six 
urban districts throughout the country. Its objectives are 
to build priority preventive programs; expand and im
prove coverage of basic health care services; improve the 
operation of the health services network; and help pro
mote decentralization of the public sector. The program 
is made up of three components: 

• Training for, and execution of, priority preven
tive programs that include maternal and child care and 
nutrition improvement. 

• Amplifying the health services network to ex
pand coverage of basic services. This will mean construc
tion, rehabilitation, and re-equipping of about 115 units 
that are mostly health centers and posts. 
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• Institutional strengthening to improve opera
tional capacity of health units, including training, data 
organization, accounting, input supply, and transport. 

The nonreimbursable technical cooperation will 
provide support for training activities and for the design 
and implementation of new systems and procedures. 

FINANCING FOR SMALL PROJECTS 

Support for Urban Microentrepreneurs 

A S500,000 financing from the Swiss Fund for Technical 
Cooperation and Small Projects will be used by the 
Centro de Fomento a Iniciativas Económicas (FIE) to pro
vide training, advice, and credit for microentrepreneurs 
in La Paz and El Alto. FIE is a private, non-profit organi
zation that promotes economic and social development 
of low-income families and groups by providing a full 
range of assistance to small businesses. About 800 
microentrepreneurs are expected to benefit from the 
project, with indirect benefits reaching an additional 7,000 
low-income people. Technical assistance funds totaling 
$130,000, also from the Swiss Fund for Technical Coop
eration and Small Projects, will expand FIE's capacity to 
administer and carry out the program by hiring financial 
and evaluation experts. 

Program for Women Microentrepreneurs 

The Asociación de Mujeres p a r a el Desarrollo (MUPADEJ 
will use a $500,000 financing from the FSO for a pro
gram of credi t and i n v e s t m e n t for w o m e n 
microentrepreneurs in low-income neighborhoods of El 
Alto, Achocalla, Chipamaya, and La Paz. MUPADE is a 
non-profit organization devoted to providing low-income 
women with the resources they need to advance eco
nomically. The program will provide credit for women 
in cottage industries including rabbit farming, weaving, 
agro-based industry, and crafts. One-fifth of the loan will 
supply investment resources to support production, pack
aging, and marketing of the activities supported by the 
credit component. Direct beneficiaries are expected to 
total 1,750. A technical cooperat ion grant totaling 
$158,000 will provide a training program for program 
beneficiaries as well as MUPADE's own staff. 

Support for Small-Scale Farmers 

A $500,000 financing from the FSO to the Corporación 
Regional de Desarrollo de Potosí (CORDEPO) will provide 
credit, basic infrastructure services for agricultural pro

duction, and marketing assistance for small-scale farm
ers. The 300 families that the program will benefit live in 
the communities of Santa Ana, Santiago, Molle Huayco, 
and K'asa Huasi. The credit component provides a re
volving fund for working capital, tools, and equipment 
supporting production of crops such as potatoes, barley, 
wheat, and quinoa. The investment segment of the pro
gram will cover construction of storage, processing, and 
maintenance facilities, purchase of equipment, and pro
curement of vehicles. CORDEPO is one of a range of in
stitutions participating in the Potosí Integrated Agricul
tural Project (PDAI). The accompanying technical 
coopera t ion grant of $130,000 from the FSO will 
strengthen PDAI and provide training, supervision, and 
technical assistance for project beneficiaries. 

Support for Microentrepreneurs in Montero 

A $500,000 financing from the FSO will enable the 
F u n d a c i ó n p a r a la Promoción y Desarrol lo de la 
Microempresa (PRODEM) to establish a new regional ad
ministrative center to provide credit and training to 
microenterprises in Montero, Santa Cntz. About one third 
of Montero's residents earn their living in the informal 
sector. This represents 12,000 enterprises. An accompa
nying technical cooperat ion grant of $170,000 will 
strengthen PRODEM so that it can set its new center in 
operation and will establish a liaison mechanism with the 
banking sector—especially Bancosol, a newly formed 
commercial bank specializing in loans to microenterprises 
in Bolivia. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Sanitation Investment Studies 

Feasibility studies and final designs for a sanitation sec
tor investment program will be funded by two technical 
cooperations: grants of $2,727,883 from the FSO and the 
equivalent of $5,072,117 from the Japan Special Fund. 
The studies and designs are forerunners to construction 
of drinking water and sewerage systems in 11 urban cen
ters (La Paz, Santa Cruz, Cochabamba, Potosí, Sucre, 
Tarija, Montero, Trinidad, Riberalta, Huanuni , and 
Cobija). The TC also will fund a socioeconomic analysis 
of the projects and a financial and institutional evalua
tion of the utility companies involved. 

Support for Production and Export 

A $1.5 million technical cooperation grant from the FSO 
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SANTA CRUZ, BOLIVIA. In just 
three years, Brazil nut sales from 
Miguel Dur an's processing plant 
increased from $114,000 to over 
$1 million. Almost all production 
is exported. Duran received a 
$146,000 loan to establish and 
equip his plant in 1989 from an 
industrial credit program fi
nanced by a $100 million IDB loan 
channeled through Bolivia's 
banking system. 

will promote the development of the productive and ex
port sectors. Efforts will focus mainly on institutional 
strengthening of the executing agencies—the Ministry of 
Planning and Coordination, the Ministry of Industry, 
Trade, and Tourism (MICT)—and the National Institute 
for Promotion of Exports (INPEX). The first of three sub
programs supported by the financing will formulate, ana
lyze, and evaluate policies relating to foreign trade and 
the productive sectors. The second will strengthen and 
consolidate MICT's capacity to provide support services 
to producers and the third will strengthen INPEX's ca
pacity to develop and promote nontraditional exports. 

Strengthening of Internal Revenue Bureau 

This nonreimbursable technical cooperation of $900,000 
from the FSO will enable Bolivia to continue strengthen
ing its Internal Revenue Bureau by further consolidating 
the bureau's systems, procedures, and organizational 
structure. Tax collection will be particularly emphasized. 

As part of the activities, a new computerized information 
system will be put in place to support oversight. The sys
tem includes a training module to improve the technical 
and administrative skills of the bureau's staff. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1991 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 

Energy 
Transpor ta t ion and Communica t ions 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Industry and Mining 
Environmenta l a n d Public Heal th 
Planning and Reform 
Export Financing 
Tour ism 
Preinvestment 
Educat ion, Science and Techno logy 
Urban Deve lopmen t 
Other 

Total 

535,767 
480,060 
268,282 
208.067 
158,471 
140,000 

28,252 
18,454 
17.751 
11,928 
11,428 
58,680 

Total Cost of 
the Projects 

839,208 
802,792 
365,450 
404.023 
221,068 
220.000 
40,361 
28,354 
23.604 
23,533 
19.164 
103,540 

$1,937,140 $3,091,097 
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BRAZIL 

The Bank has made 208 loans totaling $7,930.5 million to Brazil. 
Sector emphasis has been on energy, industry and mining, transpor
tation and communications, agriculture and fisheries, and public 
health. Cumulative disbursements total $6,405 million. In 1991, the 
Bank approved nine loans for four projects, and one Small Project 
financing. A reimbursable technical cooperation accompanies one of 
the loans. 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 

800 

600 

400 

200 

82 83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 

Lending ^—^— Disbursements 

LOANS 

Social Action Program in the Sanitation Sector 

Financing: $300 million from the OC and $50 million 
from the FSO 

Executing 
Agency: Ministiy of Social Action 

This loan—the Bank's largest single social sector loan— 
will finance sanitation projects, benefiting about one mil
lion people in tip to 30 of Brazil's major urban centers. 
At least 75 percent of the beneficiaries will be from low-
income groups. Known as the Emergency Relief and Job 
Creation Program (PROSEGE), the program is one of 
three that comprise the Plan for Immediate Sanitation 
Action, or PAIS Brasil, which calls for investment in wa
ter supply, sewerage, and urban drainage systems. 
PROSEGE's objectives are to extend coverage of basic 
emergency sanitat ion services to include the less 
advantaged population and to alleviate the social costs 
of unemploymen t deve lop ing in the w a k e of the 
country's economic stabilization plan in 1990. 

PROSEGE will construct 2,300 kilometers of sewer 
collector systems, connect 218,000 households to sewer 
lines, construct 105 kilometers of trunk collectors, and 
erect 100 pumping stations and 10 treatment plants. 
About 220,000 dwellings will be served. An estimated 
45,000 people will find jobs in the resulting civil works, 
with about 15,000 jobs generated in related sectors and 
in system administration. It is anticipated that 7,800 
people will benefit from permanent jobs in operation and 
maintenance of the works constructed. Consideration is 
now being given to a program of social and urban de
velopment (PRODESU), which would complement the 

activities envisaged in PROSEGE, expanding and improv
ing the delivery of basic urban and social services. 

State Highway Programs 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agencies: 

Four loans—$52 million from the OC and 
$15.6 million from the FSO to the State of 
Espirito Santo; and $83-5 million from the 
OC and $25 million from the FSO to the 
State of Pernambuco 

The Highway Departments of Espirito Santo 
and Pernambuco 

These loans will support the respective plans of the two 
borrowing states to improve their highway systems so 
that they are supportive of economic and social activi
ties. The State of Espirito Santo's program calls for 54 
kilometers of highway to be paved; 11 sections of road 
totaling 400 kilometers to be rehabilitated; and 550 kilo
meters to be sealed, as a preventative measure against 
deterioration. Under Pernambuco's program, 11 kilome
ters of highway will be upgraded, which includes a dou
bling of the width of the road between Cabo and the 
entrance to the Suape Industrial-Port Complex; 1,250 ki
lometers will be rehabilitated; and 13 kilometers rein
forced. 

Both programs have components to build up the 
technical and managerial capabilities of their highway 
departments, enabling them to conduct a continuous 
evaluation of the status of their highways in order to se
lect and prioritize the sections needing to be repaired, 
and to determine the technical solutions that will pro
vide effective highway maintenance. Accordingly, the 
maintenance subprograms focus primarily on improving 
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SEGREDO, BRAZIL. Construction 
workers lay reinforcement bars 
before concrete is poured to seal 
the reservoir side of a 145-meter-
high dam for the Segredo hydro
electric plant on the Iguaztt River. 
A 1990 IDB loan for $135 million 
to COPEL, the State of Paraná elec
tric company, is helping finance 
construction of the 1,260,000-kilo-
watt plant. 

the highway departments' administration, engineering in
struments and equipment, and maintenance equipment. 

Drainage, Roads, Water, and Sewerage 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

Two loans—one for 5115 million from the 
OC, and one for $30 million from the FSO 

Companhia de Saneamento do Pará 
(COSANPA) 

These loans will resolve flooding in low-lying areas of the 
Una Basin by providing an efficient drainage system. 
Belém, the capital of the state of Pará. is located in the 
basin. Gateway to the Amazon and a major center for in
come and employment, Belém and its sunounding areas 
are home to most of the state's inhabitants. In addition to 

various works, the loans will fund necessary infrastnicture 
to provide at leasi minimally acceptable sanitation for all 
the basin's residents. 

The drainage problems are due to the insufficient 
capacity of canals and failure of the flood control gates 
at the canal outlets into Guajará Bay. These deficiencies, 
together with obstructions caused by garbage dumping, 
block rainwater runoff and the rapid outflow of receding 
high tides into the bay. To address these problems, the 
project calls for drainage works to make canals at the 
interior operate properly and to remedy problems at the 
outfall of the main canals into the bay; road and infra
stnicture works to connect the low-lying areas that drain
age operations will recover with the test of the city; wa
ter supply works to increase coverage of the city to 82 
percent; and sanitary sewer works for collection and pri
man' treatment of sewage, covering 100 percent of the 
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low-lying part of the basin. Project activities also include 
improved garbage collection, measures to protect raw 
water reservoirs from further pollution, installation of 
water meters to support increased efficiency of the wa
ter system, and an environmental awareness program. 

Science and Technology Development Program 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agencies: 

$100 million from the OC and reimbursable 
technical cooperation funding of $2 million 
from the OC 

Studies and Projects Financing Agency (Fi
nanciadora de Estudos e Projetos—FINEP) 
for the loan; and the Ministry of External 
Relations (MRE) through its Department of 
Trade Promotion (DPR) for the TC 

Beneficiaries will be mainly women. The organizations 
are the Centro de Apoio a Atividades Económicas 
Informais "Ana Terra" (CAT), the Associação p a r a o 
Desenvolvimento da Mulher na Economia Informal 
(ADIM), a n d the Cent ro de Apoio aos P e q u e n o s 
Empreendimentos "Nísia Floresta" (CEAPE). Technical 
cooperation grants from the FSO accompany the loans 
in the amount of $150,000 each for ADIM and CEAPE 
and $130,000 for CAT to strengthen their capacity to carry 
out the programs. The credit portion of the programs will 
be managed with the collaboration of commercial banks 
in the three cities. 

This loan will expand Brazil's technological base, with a 
view to enhancing its competitive position in the inter
national market. The program will support the nation's 
best and highly promising public and private non-profit 
research institutes and universities through grants for 
projects in life sciences, physics, or chemistry. Through 
subloans and joint venture financing, the program also 
will support projects undertaken by private national en
terprises. The loan will strengthen FINEP, which, as the 
principal federal technology development financing 
agency, is one of the operation's executing agencies. With 
assistance from the accompanying TC, the operation will 
build the network for technology and investment infor
mation and promotion to establish links between Brazil
ian businesses and those abroad in research, technology 
transfer, and investment. 

The program is explicit recognition of the fact that 
comparative advantages, the foundation of economic re
lations between nations, increasingly hinge on technol
ogy. The economic and financial crisis of the past de
cade has adversely affected not just universities and 
public science and technology institutions in Brazil, but 
also firms that engage in research and development. 

FINANCING FOR SMALL PROJECTS 

Support for Urban Microentrepreneurs 

Three separate loans from the FSO, each for $500,000, 
will be used by three different non-profit organizations 
for credit, training, and technical assistance programs 
benefiting 3,350 low-income microentrepreneurs in the 
metropolitan areas of Porto Alegre, São Luís, and Natal. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1991 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 

Energy 
Industry and Mining 
Transpor ta t ion and Communica t ions 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Environmental and Public Health 
Educat ion, Science and Techno logy 
Urban D e v e l o p m e n t 
Export Financing 
Preinvestment 

Total 

Total Cost of 
the Projects 

$1,955,386 $12.933,601 
1,537,020 15,780,030 
1,450,910 3,688,005 
889,301 1,989,042 
766.098 1.991,232 
505,745 1.171,469 
489,689 881,619 
260,254 371,793 
76,103 150,377 

$7,930,506 $38,957,168 
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CHILE 

The Bank has made 108 loans totaling $4,259.7 million to Chile. 
Sector emphasis has been on energy, transportation and communi
cations, agriculture and fisheries, industry and mining, and urban 
development. Cumulative disbursements total $3,331 million. In 
1991, the Bank approved three loans for as many projects, and three 
Small Project financings. 

YEARL Y LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 

82 83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 

Lending ^ — ^ Disbursements 

LOANS 

Investment Sector Reform Program 

Financing: 5150 million from the OC 
Executing 
Agency: Ministry of Finance 

This loan supports policy changes aimed at consolidat
ing progress already made in promoting private partici
pation in the Chilean economy and expanding invest
ment opportunities for the private sector. It is the first 
investment sector loan the Bank has made within the 
goals of the Enterprise for the Americas Initiative. The 
program aims to create a legal and regulatory structure 
that fosters increased private investment. Specifically, its 
goals are to increase the financial system's capacity to 
finance private enterprises; facilitate private sector par
ticipation in infrastructure projects and state enterprises; 
and to ensure greater efficiency in privately-owned ser
vice companies. 

Financial sector reforms focus on permitting im
proved intermediation of domestic savings for long-term 
finance of capital investment, particularly as it relates to 
the financing needs of firms operating infrastructure ser
vices or of ventures that the public sector and private 
enterprise will undertake together. Regarding the latter, 
the Government plans legislation that will permit private 
investors to join with the public sector to develop previ
ously unexploited copper deposits and, using state rail
road capital stock, to form a freight transportation firm. 
The program also seeks to deepen capital markets 
through reforms directed at increasing the supply and 
demand for securities and at improving the structure of 
the securities market. Changes in the banking system aim 

at introducing services for small and medium enterprises 
as well as developing second-tier lending to improve the 
accessibility for such firms to bank-term financing. In con
nection with the latter, the program provides for the in
stitutional and operational strengthening of the Financial 
Intermediation Division of the Corporación de Fomento 
as a second-tier institution. 

Regulatory improvements supported by the loan 
will promote greater efficiency in infrastructure and other 
services, such as transportation, telecommunications, and 
electricity, which increasingly are being assumed by the 
private sector. The loan is complemented by a Govern
ment-financed technical cooperation of $2.6 million for 
special studies and consultancies to support policy re
forms as they are phased in. 

Rehabilitation of Health Services 

Financing: $70 million from the OC 
Executing 
Agency: Ministry of Health 

This loan supports the first phase of a national plan that 
will increase the efficiency and effectiveness of the Chil
ean public health system and help widen access to health 
care, particularly for the lowest-income groups. This 
phase will finance technical assistance nationwide for in
stitutional strengthening and also rehabilitate the health 
infrastructure in three separate regions. The three regions 
are viewed as pilot projects because of their diversity 
from both medical and sanitary standpoints. 

The studies financed by the loan will focus on ways 
to improve management of health services; development 
of a national policy for maintaining the health services 
system, including design of a hospital engineering and 
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SANTIAGO, CHILE. A multisector 
credit program financed by a $180 
million IDB loan boosted produc
tion in such key economic sectors 
as agriculture, industry, mining, 
fisheries and tourism. Over 4,000 
loans were extended through 
CORFO, Chile's economic develop-
mentment agency. This apple plan
tation and processing firm near 
Santiago, Agrobosques San Isidro 
Ltda., used a loan to build a cold 
storage plant. 

maintenance system; and preparation of the next stages 
of the overall national plan to improve the public health 
system. The component of the operation that focuses on 
three health services—those of Iquique, San Felipe-Los 
Andes, and Valdivia—provides technical assistance to set 
up an information system and the training models needed 
to improve the administrative and technical management 
of the hospitals. This component also will construct, re
habilitate, expand, and otherwise improve the physical 
structures of the three services and provide necessary 
equipment and furniture. 

Preinvestment Program 

Financing: 
Executing 
Agencies: 

S10 million from the OC 

Ministry of Planning and Cooperation in 
coordination with the Ministiy of Finance 

This loan will finance preinvestment studies and activi
ties to strengthen the National Investment System (SNI), 
which manages the government's investments support
ing the country's economic development program. SNI 
balances the interests of each investing unit and of the 
country as a whole and centralizes information on each 
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investment proposal while maintaining a continuing flow 
of projects in various stages of completion. 

Accordingly, the program is divided into an institu
t i on -bu i ld ing s u b p r o g r a m and a s u b p r o g r a m of 
preinvestment studies. The institution-building subpro
gram includes measures to be carried out by the Ministry 
of Planning and Cooperation in support of SNI's opera
tion and project implementation; by the Executive Secre
tariat, Transport Infrastmcture Investment Planning Com
mission to develop methods for preparing and evaluating 
transport projects; by the Chilean Copper Commission to 
formulate methods to analyze investment projects in the 
non-energy metal and nonmetal mining sector; by the 
National Geology and Mining Service to complete a sur
vey of industrial safety and health conditions related to 
active mining tasks; and by the Ministry of Housing and 
Urban Development to modernize operation and infor
mation systems for Santiago and to improve fiscal man
agement possibly through modernizing data bases. The 
preinvestment studies subprogram will cover specific 
studies preliminary to project preparation, general stud
ies to identify new projects or to help overcome bottle
necks in key sectors, and institutional-strengthening stud
ies or activities to improve the implementing ability of 
agencies participating in SNI. The specific studies corre
spond initially to seven projects, five of which will be 
considered for financing in 1992. 

FINANCING FOR SMALL PROJECTS 

Support for Women Microentrepreneurs 

The Bank approved a $500,000 loan using resources from 
the FSO to support a microenterprise credit, training, and 
advisory program in Greater Santiago through Finanzas 
Internacionales y Nacionales de la Mujer (FINAM), the 
Chilean affiliate of Women's World Banking (WWB), a 
nongovernmental organization that promotes access of 
women to economic activity worldwide. The Bank's re
sources will be used to establish a revolving credit fund 
to help generate income and create jobs for low-income 
women microentrepreneurs in the capital area. Techni
cal t r a in ing c e n t e r s will be u sed to t rain the 
microentrepreneurs, and local banks will work with the 
Chilean affiliate of WWB to administer the loans. A 
$115,000 technical cooperation grant from the FSO will 
help strengthen WWB/Chile and support training for pro
gram beneficiaries in such areas as accounting, market
ing, financial administration, strategic planning, and le
gal issues. 

Credit for Microentrepreneurs in Santiago 

A $500,000 financing from the FSO will be used by the 
Corporación de Promoción p a r a la Pequeña Empresa 
(PROPESA) for a revolving credit program benefiting 
microentrepreneurs in Greater Santiago. The loan will 
enable PROPESA to expand the number of micro-
entrepreneurs it serves—in particular those currently at 
the margins of the conventional credit system. PROPESA 
is a non-profit organization whose principal aim is to 
b r ing credi t and t echn ica l adv i so ry se rv ices to 
microentrepreneurs, thus increasing production, gener
ating employment, and improving living standards. A 
$130,000 technical coopera t ion grant will suppor t 
PROPESA and help the organization create conditions for 
expanding its credit program beyond the capital. 

Support for Urban Small Businesses 

The Bank approved a $500,000 financing that will pro
vide credit and technical assistance for micro-
entrepreneurs or industrial workshops in Santiago, 
Concepción, and Valparaiso through the Cooperativa de 
Ahorro y Crédito Liberación Ilda. (CREDICOOP), a pri
vate, non-profit organization. The project resources will 
be used to set up a revolving fund for financing fixed 
assets and working capital, benefiting about 250 
microentrepreneurs who do not otherwise have access 
to conventional credit. The range of beneficiaries will 
include enterprises engaged in metalworking, woodwork
ing, construction of homes, clothing, leather and foot
wear, and trade and services. A technical cooperation 
grant of $135,000 will provide training to loan recipients 
and improve the institutional capacity of CREDICOOP. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1991 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Energy 
Transpor ta t ion and Communica t ions 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Industry and Mining 
Urban Deve lopmen t 
Environmental and Public Health 
Planning and Reform 
Tourism 
Educat ion, Science and Techno logy 
Preinvestment 
Export Financing 

Total 

$1,033,216 $2,838,121 
723,811 1,745,575 
723,272 1,399,133 
665,416 1,263,845 
585,719 981,203 
295,315 529,474 
150,000 150,000 
37,039 37,158 
29,015 75,767 
13,000 26,514 
3,857 5,510 

$4,259,660 $9,052,300 
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COLOMBIA 
YEARL Y LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 

The Bank has made 142 loans totaling $4,698.4 million to Colom
bia. Sector emphasis has been on energy, planning and reform, 
environmental and public health, agriculture and fisheries, and 
urban development. Cumulative disbursements total $3,596 mil
lion. In 1991, the Bank approved one loan with a reimbursable 
technical cooperation, and two Small Project financings. 

600-

100 

200 

82 83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 

Lending ^—^— Disbursements 

LOANS 

Investment Sector Program 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

$200 million from the OC and a $5 million 
reimbursable technical cooperation from 
the OC 

Ministry of Finance and Public Credit 

This loan will support Colombia's efforts to modernize 
its economy and bolster economic opportunities for the 
private sector through policy changes in the investment, 
external trade, and financial sectors of the economy. The 
reform program supports measures that will remove ob
stacles to investment or that will facilitate investment de
cisions. The technical cooperation will finance studies 
in connection with the investment sector program. 

Reforms targeted at the investment sector itself will 
focus on the exchange rate, the labor market, the tax 
system, and the foreign investment regime. With regard 
to the tax system, the Government plans a study explor
ing the effect of taxes on investment. The study will serve 
as the basis of an action plan to take effect in 1992. 

Trade reforms will concentrate largely on tariffs, 
foreign trade institutions and finance, ports, and customs. 
Specifically, the program will cut transaction costs for 
traded goods through reduced tariff charges and lower 
port fees, contribute to more efficient customs proce
dures, and include trade finance and trade promotion ac
tivities. In the financial sector the goal is to establish ba
sic marke t cond i t ions and incen t ives wh ich are 
prerequisites for properly functioning financial interme
diaries. The program will provide for equality of treat
ment of foreign and domestic investment, improved ac

cess by small- and medium-sized firms to commercial 
credit, restructuring and divestiture of government-owned 
banks, and development of a long-term capital market. 

FINANCING FOR SMALL PROJECTS 

Support for Traditional Fisheries 

A $500,000 financing from the Swiss Fund for Technical 
Cooperation and Small Projects will support a program 
to develop fishing on the islands of Barú, Tierra Bomba, 
and Rosario, off the coast at Cartagena. The funds will 
be channeled through the non-profit organizat ion 
Fundación Corona to about 460 fishermen for a program 
of credit, training, and technical assistance. In addition 
to the credit program, which will make possible the in
troduction of two new types of fishing boats, the loan 
will expand the Centro Pesquero de Servicios, which is 
devoted to developing fishing and marketing, and repair
ing and maintaining fishing equipment. A marketing fund 
will also be established. An accompanying technical co
operation grant of S 160.000 will support an education 
program in waste disposal for the fish processors and 
their communities. The grant will also provide for the 
services of a marketing expert and the assistance of an 
expert in fishing gear. 

Support for Women Microentrepreneurs 

Financing of $3.6 million from the FSO in six loans of 
$500,000 apiece will provide credit and training to about 
8.000 women microentrepreneurs and their families. The 
money will be channeled through six local nongovern
mental organizations, five of which are affiliates of 

59 



INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

CARTAGENA, COLOMBIA. Indus
tria de Grasa de la Costa S.A. 
doubled its production of veg
etable oil with the help of a 
$789,000 loan that financed new 
soybean oil refining equipment 
and cottonseed oil extracting ma
chinery. The 1990 loan was part 
of a $200 million industrial credit 
program jointly financed by the 
IDB and fapan's Export-Import 
Bank and channeled through 
Colombia's development finance 
corporations. 

Women's World Banking (WWB). The loans will be used 
to establish revolving credit programs, financing work
ing capital, tools, and equipment for the creation, expan
sion, and consolidation of women's microenterprises in 
five cities and in the Department of Antioquia. Eligible 
enterprises must be independent, have no more than five 
full-time employees, an identifiable place of business, and 
monthly sales and assets that do not exceed $3,000 and 
$10,000, respectively. The programs supported by these 
loans also will provide training and technical assistance 
and establish "solidarity groups" to promote mutual sup
port and self-help among beneficiaries. 

The organizations are Fundación WWB Colombia 
of Cali, the Corporación Mundial de la Mujer of Medellín, 
the Fundación Mundo Mujer oí Popayán, the Fundación 
Mundial de la Mujer of Bucaramanga, the Corporación 
Mund ia l de la Mujer-Colombia of Bogotá, and the 
Corporación Acción por Antioquia (ACTUAR). Each will 
also receive a technical cooperation grant for $103,000. 
The five grants destined for the WWB affiliates are 
chargeable to the Norwegian Development Fund for Latin 
American Development. The sixth, from the FSO, will 
accompany the loan to ACTUAR, which will carry out its 
program throughout Antioquia. 

D I S T R I B U T I O N O F L O A N S 1 9 6 1 - 1 9 9 1 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 

Energy 
Planning and Reform 
Environmenta l a n d Public Health 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Urban D e v e l o p m e n t 
Industry and Mining 
Transpor ta t ion and Communica t ions 
Educat ion, Science and Techno logy 
Pre inves tment 
Tour ism 

Total 

$2,034,766 
517,444 
506,225 
461,141 
340,189 
323,626 
310,867 
155,535 

34,612 
14,000 

Total Cost of 
the Projects 

$ 4,897,494 
814,500 

1,406,712 
1,229,481 
692,585 

1,188,938 
780,055 
324,906 
87,890 
22,000 

$4,698,405 $11,444,561 
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COSTA RICA 

The Bank has made 83 loans totaling $1,514.7 million to Costa Rica. 
Sector emphasis has been on energy, agriculture and fisheries, 
transportation and communications, environmental and public health, 
and education, science, and technology. Cumulative disbursements 
total $960.2 million. In 1991, the Bank approved three loans for two 
projects, two Small Project financings, and one technical coopera
tion. 

YEARL Y LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 

(In millions of dollars) 
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Lending ^ ~ ^ ~ Disbursements 

LOANS 

Water Supply and Sanitation 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

Two loans from the OC—S28 million and 
S23 million—with interest on the larger one 
part ial ly defrayed by the IFF—and 
cofinancing of S12 million from Japan's 
Overseas Economic Cooperation Fund; and 
a $4.87 million technical cooperation grant 
from the Japan Special Fund 

Costa Rican Water Supply and Sewerage 
Institute 

These loans will finance expansion and improved cover
age of the potable water supply service in about 16 towns 
and cities with populations ranging from 10,000 to 65,000 
and repair earthquake damage in certain areas. Improve
ments to water systems are expected to benefit about 
480,000 mostly low-income people. Specifically, the op
eration will construct or improve surface water intake in
frastructure, conduits, storage tanks, hydraulic intercon
nections, purification plants, distribution systems, the 
drilling of wells, and the purchase and installation of 
pumping equipment and control systems. 

In the city of Limón, the financing will help repair 
the water supply system and the sanitary and storm sewer 
lines. In 16 rural communities, water supply systems se
verely damaged by the earthquake in the spring of 1991 
will be restored. In addition, the streets of Limón dam
aged by the earthquake or torn up during the repair of 
sewer lines will be repaved. An institutional strengthen
ing component will train staff in the regional and local 
offices of the executing agency as well as upgrade and 

add operating and maintenance equipment. The techni
cal cooperation grant will support studies in environmen
tal sanitation. 

Program to Improve the Quality of Education 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

S28 million from the OC, with funding 
drawn from the IFF for partial payment of 
interest; and cofinancing of S23 million 
from the International Bank for Reconstruc
tion and Development 

Ministry of Public Education 

This loan will support a range of activities aimed at im
proving education in grades one to nine with the goal of 
reducing the number of youngsters repeating grades or 
dropping out of school. The program targets weaknesses 
in the system that have developed in recent years de
spite its overall high quality. Generally, it will focus on 
curriculum improvements, better instruction, support for 
decentralization of education, and upgrading the physi
cal infrastructure. The components are: 

• Reform of the course of study. Courses, an in
formational campaign, and demonstration schools will be 
used to educate both educators and the general public 
on the curriculum recently adopted and how it will im
prove education. The curriculum incorporates ecology, 
cultural revitalization, personal and collective safety, and 
health and nutrition. 

• Production and distribution of learning materi
als. Among new materials will be almost 2 million text
books and 33,000 teacher handbooks, as well as record
ing and product ion equipment to improve further 
educational radio broadcasts, which have already proven 
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successful. In addition, learning resource centers will be 
set up and existing ones expanded. 

• Data management system. A data management 
system will link central offices of the implementing 
agency with regional offices, supporting decentralization 
of education and also demonstrating applications for 
computers. 

• Training in planning, administration, and super
vision. Top officials in the head and regional offices will 
be trained in financial and budget planning and control. 
Supervisors will learn teaching methodologies that will 
expedite regionalization and decentralization. 

• Infrastructure. Three regional centers and nearly 
400 schools will be rehabilitated in Chorotega, Huetar 
Norte, and Brunca. Works will extend beyond classrooms 
to ensure that all sanitary facilities have running water 
and drinking water, if possible. 

ing for small-scale farmers in Hojancha Canton in the 
northwest. The program, which will be administered by 
the Hojancha Canton Agricultural Center, a non-profit or
ganization, includes a component that will improve the 
center's marketing infrastructure. The credit component 
will mainly support activities involving tree nurseries, cof
fee production, beekeeping, family poultry farms, hog 
raising, truck farming, cattle raising, and traditional crops. 
A technical cooperation grant in the amount of $100,000 
will help expand the center's institutional capacity and 
also support training and technical assistance for program 
beneficiaries, which will number 200. Half of these will 
be women. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Technology for Basic Education 

FINANCING FOR SMALL PROJECTS 

Support for Women Microentrepreneurs 

The Bank approved three loans and three technical co
operation grants from the Swiss Fund for Technical Co
operation and Small Projects to provide credit, training, 
and technical assistance to 950 women microentre
preneurs. The loan recipients are three nongovernmen
tal organiza t ions : Asociación Centro Feminis ta de 
Información y Acción (CEFEMINA), Fundación Mujer, 
and Asociación Credimujer. In addition to the loans, 
these organizations will each receive a technical coop
eration grant for institutional strengthening in amounts 
of $135,000, $90,000, and $110,000, respectively. The loan 
amounts are $500,000 except the one to CREDIMUJER, 
which is $300,000. CEFEMINA will serve about 250 
women in Cocorí, Guararí, Gregorio José Ramírez, El 
Poro, and San Felipe de Alajeulita. Fundación Mujer's 
program will assist 400 women, mainly in the semi-ur
ban areas of Alajuela, Cartago, and Limón. CREDIMUJER 
will work with 300 women in metropolitan San José. Each 
program consists of a revolving fund through which the 
three organizations will grant loans for working capital 
and fixed assets to low-income women microentre
preneurs or groups of microentrepreneurs. The credit will 
finance industrial, crafts, agricultural, service, and trade 
activities. 

Support for Small-Scale Farmers 

A $500,000 financing from the FSO will be used to pro
vide credit for fixed assets and working capital, and train-

A $1,335,000 nonreimbursable technical cooperation from 
the FSO will consolidate the country's Educational Com
puting Program to improve basic education. Under the 
program, strategies will be developed for learning skills 
based on a scientific model using computer technology 
in the public schools, at the preschool level, and for chil
dren between the ages of 5 and 12. Teachers will be 
trained to incorporate computer technology in education; 
software will be produced in mathematics, science, Span
ish, and social studies; and a system will link school labo
ratories with the executing agency so that the program 
can be monitored. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1991 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 

Energy 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Transpor ta t ion and Communica t ions 
Environmental and Public Heal th 
Education, Science a n d Technology-
Industry and Mining 
Export Financing 
Urban Deve lopmen t 
Preinvestment 

Total 

Total Cost of 
the Projects 

$ 638,564 $1,097,011 
277,850 424,600 
150,675 269,014 
118,850 185,637 
102,941 185,258 
91,626 133,953 
90,000 128,571 
28,051 49,205 
16,137 27,039 

$1,514,694 $2,500,288 
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DOMINICAN REPUBLIC 

The Bank has made 57 loans totaling $1,110.9 million to the 
Dominican Republic. Sector emphasis has been on agriculture and 
fisheries, energy, transportation and communications, industry and 
mining, and education, science and technology. Cumulative dis
bursements total $847.8 million. In 1991, the Bank approved one 
loan with a technical cooperation grant for one project, and one Small 
Project financing. 

YEARL Y LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 

250 . 
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Lending Disbursements 

LOANS 

Basic Education Improvement Program 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

$29.3millionfromtheFSOwitha$l,038,000 
grant from the FSO; and cofinancing of $ 15 
million from the IBRD 

Department of the Secretary of State for 
Education, Fine Arts, and Religious Affairs 

This loan will improve the quality of the eight-year basic 
education in the Dominican Republic. The operation will 
support the partial renovation of infrastructure in rural 
areas; purchase of textbooks and teaching materials; im
provement of the instruction and training of teachers; es
tablishment of a formal system to evaluate academic 
achievement; the school lunch program, especially in 
low-income areas; and studies in the education sector. 
In addition, basic libraries will be set up in core schools 
nationwide. 

The technical cooperation grant will upgrade the 
executing agency's institutional and operating capacity by 
strengthening the planning system, redefining the super
vision system, improving the book bank structure and its 
operation, enlisting community support for schools, and 
supporting evaluations of secondary education. 

FINANCING FOR SMALL PROJECTS 

Support for Urban Women and Small Producers 

Two financings, each for $500,000 from the FSO, will be 
used to expand the lending capacity of two private non

profit organizations. Promoción APEC de la Mujer (PRO-
MAPEC) and Fundación p a r a el Desarrollo Integral de la 
Región Este (FUNDESIRE). Both will consist of loans 
through revolving lines of credit, training, and technical 
assistance. PROMAPEC's program will concentrate on 
helping women microentrepreneurs in Santo Domingo, 
while FUNDESIRE's will support small producers in the 
provinces of Hato Mayor and San Pedro de Macorís in 
the eastern part of the countiy. Direct beneficiaries of 
PROMAPEC's program will be about 300 women with 
potential for higher production but with no access to 
credit. FUNDESIRE's program is expected to directly ben
efit about 425 small-scale farmers and agrobusinessmen 
organized in cooperatives or similar associations through 
which the loans will be channeled. Both programs are 
paralleled by technical cooperation grants, each for 
$120,000 from the FSO. that are intended to strengthen 
intermedian' organizations and provide advisory services 
for management of the revolving credit funds and train
ing for loan beneficiaries. 

D I S T R I B U T I O N O F L O A N S 1 9 6 1 - 1 9 9 1 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Agriculture and Fisheries 
Energy 
Transpor ta t ion and Communica t ions 
Industry and Mining 
Educat ion, Science and Techno logy 
Environmental and Public Health 
Tour ism 
Export Financing 
Preinvestment 
Urban Deve lopmen t 
Othe r 

Total 

$ 369,062 
269,922 
137,346 
86.988 
69,705 
53.125 
50,793 
9,937 
4,706 
3,479 
55,887 

613,115 
365,184 
224,095 
120,198 
103,764 
79,155 
71,430 
13,940 
6,897 
6,375 

57,764 

$1,110,950 $1,661,917 
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ECUADOR 

The Bank has made 113 loans totaling $2,467 million to Ecuador. 
Sector emphasis has been on agriculture and fisheries, energy, 
industry and mining, transportation and communications, and 
environmental and public health. Cumulative disbursements total 
$1,777.6 million. In 1991, the Bank approved one loan with a 
reimbursable technical cooperation, and one stand-alone technical 
cooperation grant. 

YEARL Y LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 

350 
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Lending — . — Disbursements 

LOANS TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Multisector Global Credit Program 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

$100 million from the OC and a $2,270,000 
reimbursable technical cooperation from 
the FSO 

Corporación Financiera Nacional (CFN) 

This loan will be used to provide medium- and long-
term credits for the purchase of machinery, equipment, 
and services to help establish Ecuadoran private firms or 
to help existing firms expand, modernize, or diversify. 
The resources would be funnelled through C/W after it is 
reorganized into a second-tier bank. CFN would lend the 
money to intermediate financial institutions, which would 
issue the credit to private enterprises. The intermediate 
financial institutions would include banks, investment 
companies, and leasing companies meeting certain re
quirements. 

Besides supporting economic growth of the private 
sector and the institutional strengthening of CFN, this loan 
will support modernization of the financial system. Atten
dant financial policy changes include the freeing of inter
est rates, reduction of mandatory investments of interme
diate financial institutions, and elimination of the functions 
performed by the Central Bank as a provider of credit for 
productive activities at subsidized interest rates. 

In addition to restructuring CFN, the parallel tech
nical cooperation will be used, among other things, to 
improve CFN's data handling systems, train CFN's staff to 
improve its capacity to mobilize domestic and external 
resources, and support the privatization of companies 
that CTWowns. 

Customs Strengthening 

A technical cooperation grant of $1,870,000 from the FSO 
will help improve the customs system. The project will 
concentrate on customs regulations, administrative orga
nization, and tax administration. These will be ap
proached within the structure of two subprograms: 
informatics and administrat ive reform. Under the 
informatics subprogram, an information system will be 
set up to enable authorities to better control imports and 
exports, track tax collections, and compile trade statis
tics. Administrative reforms will give special emphasis to 
training, new forms and procedures, and implementation 
of a new customs structure. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1991 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 

Agriculture and Fisheries 
Energy 
Industry and Mining 
Transpor ta t ion and Communica t ions 
Environmental and Public Health 
Educat ion, Science and Techno logy 
Urban Deve lopmen t 
Tourism 
Preinves tment 

Total 

Total Cost of 
the Projects 

$ 756,388 $1,172,412 
515,765 1,623,193 
404,740 752,465 
229,085 566,476 
199,426 328,987 
175,635 213,628 
148,100 293,310 
18,403 25,278 
19,497 34,083 

$2,467,039 $5,009,832 
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EL SALVADOR 

The Bank has made 66 loans totaling $1,265.4 million to El 
Salvador. Sector emphasis has been on environmental and public 
health, transportation and communications, energy, agriculture and 
fisheries, and industry and mining. Cumulative disbursements total 
$909.5 million. In 1991, the Bank approved four loans for three 
projects, and two Small Project financings. 

YEARL Y LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 

200 

160 
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Lending Disbursements 

LOANS 

Trunk Highway Program 

Financing: Two loans—$95 million from the OC and 
525 million from the FSO 

Executing 
Agency: Ministry of Public Works through the Bu

reau of Roads 

These loans will finance part of the National Plan for Im
provement and Maintenance of Trunk Roads for 1992-
96. The program will speed up the rehabilitation and re-
constmction of critical sections on the most important 
trunk corridors and restore them to normal service, pro
viding transportation corridors for farming and export ac
tivities. Reliable highways are especially important given 
that agriculture is the country's main foreign exchange 
earner. 

The program has three components: 
• Investments. More than 430 kilometers of main 

highways will benefit from improvements under this 
component. They include the La Cuchilla-Sonsonate-
Acajutla highway, which is the corridor for all import and 
export traffic using the port of Acajutla; the El Delirio 
section of the Central American Natural Corridor in the 
Acajutla bypass; the El Delirio-San Miguel-Goascorán sec
tion of the Central American Natural Corridor; the Alter
native Corridor "A" in the section from Las Chinamas to 
El Portezuelo; and three points where major highways 
connect. 

• Maintenance. This component will set up an ef
ficient system for both routine and periodic maintenance, 
as well as fund the procurement of spare parts for high
way equipment and the constniction and outfitting of 

more vehicle weigh stations. 
• Staff training. Highway employees' ability to 

carry out technical and maintenance duties will be im
proved through courses, seminars, and other training ac
tivities. 

Social Investment Fund 

Financing: $33 million from the FSO 
Executing 
Agency: Social Investment Fund of El Salvador 

This loan will support a program designed to cushion 
the effects of the economic stabilization and structural 
adjustment program on people living in extreme poverty 
by meeting some of their basic priority needs and help
ing integrate them into the development process. The 
program will target all people living below the poverty 
line, which is 11,166 colons ($1,396) annual per capita. 
Women especially will benefit, principally through the 
implementation of projects in health, nutrition, education, 
and training. 

The program will finance targeted priority projects 
and expand the executing agency's institutional capac
ity, especially as it applies to supervising projects. The 
following categories of projects are eligible for financ
ing: community facilities and infrastructure; socioeco
nomic infrastructure such as water and sewer systems, 
bridges or retaining walls; productive infrastmcture, such 
as irrigation systems; environmental protection; social 
welfare services, such as primary health care, nutrition, 
and education; and pilot projects in other areas. The in
stitutional strengthening component includes the hiring 
of consultants and in-service training for technical staff 
to enable the executing agency to improve its capacity 
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to select, evaluate, and supervise implementation of 
subprojects, which includes supervision of the procure
ment process. 

Preinvestment Program 

Financing: $7 million from the FSO and nonreimburs
able technical cooperation funding of up to 
$4.7 million in two tranches from the FSO 

Executing 
Agency: Salvadoran Fund for Preinvestment Studies 

This loan and technical cooperation will fund the neces
sary studies to support the country's investment program 
for 1991-94, as well as investments in the low-income 
social sectors, while improving the executing agency's 
institutional capacity. Ten studies to be financed by the 
loan have been identified in the energy, transportation, 
agricultural, and environmental sectors. Funds from the 
technical cooperation will finance studies for priority 
projects and programs for low-income groups, social sec
tor operations, and advisory support for institutional 
strengthening. Specifically, 10 studies will be conducted 
in water and sanitation, health, education, environment, 
and privatization. The second tranche of the technical 
cooperation, set at $380,000, is designated for expand
ing the institutional capacity of the executing agency to 
improve management and to modernize its administra
tion, operations, and financial system. 

eas of San Salvador, La Libertad, Sonsonate, Santa Ana, 
San Miguel, and Cuscatlán. The programs will be con
ducted by three private non-profit organizations: the 
Asociac ión de M e d i a n o s y P e q u e ñ o s Empresar ios 
Salvadoreños (AMPES-SC), Asociación Pro-Superación 
Juvenil (APSJ), and Fundación José Napoleón Duarte 
(END). The loans, which will finance machinery, equip
ment, and working capital, will benefit about 2,500 
microenterprises and create or guarantee about 5,000 
jobs. Technical cooperation grants from the Swiss Fund 
accompany each of the loans, two in the amount of 
$150,000 for APSJ and END, respectively, and one to 
AMPES-SC for $135,000. They will be used to improve 
and increase the effectiveness of the executing organiza
tions. 

FINANCING FOR SMALL PROJECTS 

Support for Rural Women's Microenterprises 

A $500,000 financing from the FSO will be used to pro
vide credit, training, and technical assistance to about 
1,400 low-income and displaced women in the rural ar
eas of the Department of San Vicente, an area especially 
affected by civil conflict in recent years. The program will 
be administered by the Asociación p a r a la Organización 
y Educación Empresarial Femenina de El Salvador. Ben
eficiaries will be trained in establishing and managing an 
enterprise. Part of a $150,000 technical cooperation grant 
will finance additional training for project beneficiaries. 

Support for Low-Income Microentrepreneurs 

The Bank approved three financings from the Swiss Fund 
at $500,000 each to support programs that will provide 
credit, through revolving credit funds, and training to ur
ban and rural microentrepreneurs in the low-income ar-

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1991 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 

Environmenta l and Public Health 
Transpor ta t ion and Communica t ions 
Energy 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Industry and Mining 
Planning and Reform 
E x p o n Financing 
Urban Deve lopmen t 
Educat ion, Science a n d Techno logy 
Pre inves tment 

Total 

272,273 
221,658 
210,376 
175,156 
134,013 
93,000 
84,823 
31,208 
25,149 
17,767 

Total Cost of 
the Projects 

$ 382,236 
336,757 
411,184 
278,751 
144,593 
111,700 
114,033 
59,255 
31,344 
24,980 

$1,265,423 $1,894,833 
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GUATEMALA 

The Bank has made 66 loans totaling $1,136.3 million to Guatemala. 
Sector emphasis has been on energy, environmental and public 
health, industry and mining, agriculture and fisheries, and transpor
tation and communications. Cumulative disbursements total $969.5 
million. In 1991, the Bank approved one loan for one project, and 
one Small Project financing. 

YEARLY LENDING AND DIS1ÍI RSEMENTS 
(In miliums of dollars) 

200 . 

160 

120 
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Lending Disbursements 

Natural Resource Conservation and Management in 
the Upper Chixoy River Valley 

Financing: $14.4 million from the FSO 
Executing 
Agency: Ministry of Agriculture, Livestock, and Food 

• Studies. Under this component, a system will be 
established for research, follow-up, and project impact 
evaluation. This component also provides for explora
tion of pre-Hispanic archaeological sites in the watershed 
to avoid damage to them by project activities. 

This loan will help reverse environmental degrada
tion—particularly deforestation and erosion—in the Up
per Chixoy River Valley. The valley is located in central 
Guatemala and covers more than 5,000 square kilome
ters, constituting 5 percent of the country's surface area. 

The project will establish systems that increase pro
ductivity and permit the sustained use of renewable natu
ral resources necessary for crop and livestock farming 
and forestry. There are four inter-related components: 

• Soil conservation and agricultural promotion. 
More than 12,000 farmers will be assisted with soil con
servation works and sustainable farming practices, such 
as banked-terrace crop cultivation. These activities will 
cover about 7,000 hectares of steep land. Assistance also 
will be provided for management and improvement of 
1,630 hectares of pastures used for grazing livestock. 

• Forestry component and management of pro
tected areas. This portion of the project includes prepa
ration of forestry management plans, establishment of 
forest management demonstration plots, extension ser
vices, and activities designed to motivate 4,600 families 
from 115 communities to participate in carrying out the 
management plans. Forest protection, surveillance and 
seedling production also are included. 

• Gully erosion rehabilitation. This component in
cludes works ranging from simple hand-built structures 
to rehabilitate eroded areas, to absorption ditches to halt 
the creeping action of gullying. 

FINANCING FOR SMALL PROJECTS 

Support for Urban Microentrepreneurs 

Four nongovernmental organizations have received indi
vidual loans of $500,000 apiece from the FSO, to pro
vide programs of credit, training, and technical assistance 
to microenterprises. The NGOs are Fundación p a r a el 
Desarrollo de la Microempresa, Fundación de Desarrollo 
de Mixco (FUNDEMIX), Fundac ión Guatemala, and 
Fundación de Desarrollo Empresarial. With the excep
tion of FUNDEMIX, which covers the township of Mixco 
in the capital's suburbs, beneficiaries all reside in metro
politan Guatemala City, including parts of nearby town
ships. 

D I S T R I B U T I O N O F L O A N S 1 9 6 1 - 1 9 9 1 
<fn thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Energy 
Environmental and Public Health 
Industry and Mining 
Agriculture a n d Fisheries 
Transpor ta t ion and Communica t ions 
Urban Deve lopmen t 
Educat ion, Science and Techno logy 
Tour ism 
Export Financing 

Total 

299,552 
209,633 
200,095 
161,834 
148,013 

79,359 
30,104 

5,109 
2,590 

978,427 
325,506 
194,683 
255,671 
271,780 
127,439 

62,472 
6,971 
3,701 

$1,136,289 $2,226,650 
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GUYANA 

The Bank has made 20 loans totaling $407 million to Guyana. Sector 
emphasis has been on agriculture and fisheries, education, science, 
and technology, environmental and public health, and industry and 
mining. Cumulative disbursements total $225.2 million. In 1991, 
the Bank approved three loans for two projects, and four major 
technical cooperations. 

YEARL Y LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 

82 83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 

Lending Disbursements 

LOANS 

Agricultural Sector Hybrid Program 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

Two loans from the FSO—one for $30 
million for the sector adjustment compo
nent and one for $22 million for the invest
ment component 

Ministry of Agriculture 

These loans will support a program to rehabilitate the 
agricultural sector, restoring its productive capacity so that 
it contributes to restoring economic growth. One of the 
country's most important sectors, agriculture accounts for 
about 25 percent of output and employs about 29 per
cent of the labor force. The sector has not performed to 
capacity during the past 10 years, owing for the most 
part to inadequate macroeconomic and sector policies, 
characterized by excessive government intervention, and 
deteriorating infrastructure and support services, such as 
water management and research and extension. 

The program supports policy reforms and will re
move infrastructure bottlenecks that have contributed to 
deterioration in the sector. To improve production incen
tives and resource allocation, the sector adjustment com
ponent will liberalize trade and domestic prices for rice; 
streamline export procedures and eliminate export du
ties for other agricultural products; and liberalize input 
and factor markets by adjusting water tariffs in drainage 
and irrigation areas to cover operation and maintenance 
costs, and by allowing the sale of long-term leasing of 
state-owned lands at market-determined prices. Attendant 
institutional reforms will see the elimination of govern
ment agencies or divestiture of public enterprises, as well 

as the restructuring and strengthening of government ser
vices such as irrigation, research and extension, and the 
Guyana Cooperative Agricultural and Industrial Develop
ment Bank. 

The investment component will help make the 
transportation system more reliable and efficient and pro
tect agricultural land along the coast from sea intrusions. 
Specifically, the loan will support upgrading and mainte
nance of 1,000 miles of access roads in highly produc
tive farm areas and repair a series of breaches along the 
coastline's sea defenses. 

Rehabilitation of the Electricity Corporation 

Financing: $15.5 million from the FSO 
Executing 
Agency: Guyana Electricity Corporation (GEC) 

This loan will provide the necessary additional financing 
to comple te renovat ion of the Guyana Electricity 
Corporation's main generating facilities. Besides rehabili
tating the facilities at Kingston B, Garden of Eden, 
Onverwagt, and Canefield, the loan will finance trans
mission and distribution works throughout the system to 
improve service and provide the company with enough 
spare parts to last three years. The company has been 
unable to maintain its equipment properly, mostly be
cause of difficulties in procuring imported parts and the 
lack of skilled technicians. The loan also provides for hir
ing a firm to provide management support to GEC and 
hiring another firm, if necessary, to operate and main
tain the system for up to 18 months in the event govern
ment divestiture of the company to a private firm is not 
concluded or takes longer than envisaged. 

The loan supports a program that began in 1985. 
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Over the past five years, one of the major constraints to 
increased economic growth has been the lack of reliable 
energy. Completion of the system's rehabilitation is es
sential to overcoming the emergency siniation in the elec
trical sector, and will support the economic recovery of 
the country. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Institutional Strengthening 

A technical cooperation grant of $4,219,000 from the FSO 
will support institutional strengthening of three separate 
Government agencies. By automating internal operations 
and improving field operations, the program will boost 
the Finance Ministry's overall efficiency, especially in tax 
administration and the budgetary process. The financing 
also will be used to train staff and develop a strategy for 
improving financial performance and control mechanisms 
within the Office of the Auditor General. The environ
mental management and impact assessment capabilities 
of the staff at the Agency for Health Sciences Education, 
Environment, and Food Policy also will be strengthened 
through training. 

Urban Rehabilitation 

Two technical cooperation grants—one for the equiva
lent of $1.1 million from the Japan Special Fund, and one 
for $331,000 from the FSO—will assist the government 
in preparing a loan request for an urban rehabilitation 
project. The future loan will finance basic urban infra
structure and housing sites and services in Georgetown, 
New Amsterdam, Linden/Wismar, Corriverton, and 
Rosehall. The technical cooperations will help fill the 
shortfall in skilled and experienced manpower necessary 
to design urban physical investments and programs. 

Support for Social Impact Amelioration Program 

A technical cooperation grant of $2.8 million from the 
Social Progress Tmst Fund will support the Government's 
efforts to blunt the adverse social impact of structural 
adjustment, particularly on vulnerable people. The re
sources will support development of an institution that 
will finance and administer small-scale self-help projects, 
effectively establishing a pilot social investment program. 
As part of the pilot, the executing agency will be cre
ated, and procedures developed for the identification, 
preparation, execution, and monitoring of subprojects in 
social and economic infrastructure, health, nutrition, and 
child care, and vocational training. 

Water and Sanitation Master Plan 

Two nonreimbursable technical cooperations—$1.8 mil
lion from the Japan Special Fund and $474,000 from the 
FSO—will finance the preparation of a master plan that 
will analyze steps needed to improve drinking and sur
face water in metropolitan Georgetown. The financing 
will also make possible a plan for developing a potable 
water and sewerage system in the study area and assess 
the feasibility of a first-stage investment project. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1976-1991 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Agriculture and Fisheries $239,465 $316,350 
Educat ion, Science and Techno logy 60,800 67,600 
Environmenta l and Public Heal th 36,382 42,900 
Industry and Mining 35,252 42,300 
Energy 32,779 50,400 
Export Financing 2,272 3,000 

Total $406,950 $522,550 
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HAITI 
) EA RL ) ' LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dolíais) 

60-

The Bank has made 34 loans totaling $356.4 million to Haiti. Sector 
emphasis has been on transportation and communications, environ
mental and public health, agriculture and fisheries, and education, 
science, and technology. Cumulative disbursements total $223.8 
million. In 1991, the Bank approved one loan. 

82 83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 

Lending Disbursements 

LOANS 

Economic and Social Assistance Program 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

$12.4 millionfrom the FSO; and cofinancing 
of $11.4 million from the International De
velopment Association 

Economic and Social Assistance Fund 

This loan will help establish the Economic and Social 
Assistance Fund as a mechanism to help meet the basic 
needs of the poorest people in the countiy by financing 
subprojects that will provide low-income communities 
with physical infrastructure and social services, while at 
the same time generating employment. The bulk of the 
loan will finance about 300 projects over four years that 
will be designed and carried out by local communities 
and nongovernmental organizations. 

The projects fall into two broad categories: infra
structure projects that will equip communities with 
needed facilities, and social services or assistance 
projects. These are in health and nutrition; basic sanita
tion; drinking water; education and family welfare; roads, 
especially tertiary roads; productive rural infrastructure, 
such as small irrigation systems and storage silos; and 
environmental improvement. About one fourth of the 
loan will be used for the program administration and in
stitution building component—specifically to support 
start-up of the government agency created to implement 
the program. 

D I S T R I B U T I O N O F L O A N S 1 9 6 1 - 1 9 9 1 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Transpor ta t ion and Communica t ions $119,717 $167,694 
Environmental and Public Health 115,474 145,015 
Agriculture and Fisheries 65,300 106,447 
Educat ion, Science a n d T e c h n o l o g y 17,311 28,700 
Industry a n d Mining 15.328 24,950 
Planning and Reform 12,400 23,935 
Export Financing 3,117 4,453 
Othe r 7,784 8,700 

Total $356,431 $509,894 
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HONDURAS 

The Bank has made 80 loans totaling $1,319.4 million to Honduras. 
Sector emphasis has been on energy, transportation and communi
cations, agriculture and fisheries, environmental and public health, 
and urban development. Cumulative disbursements total $916.5 
million. In 1991, the Bank approved five loans for two projects, and 
one Small Project financing. 

YEARL Y LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 

250 -

100 

82 83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 

Lending Disbursements 

LOANS 

Energy Sector Hybrid Loan 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agencies: 

Three loans—$50 million from the OC for 
the investment component; and $46 million 
from the FSO with $9 million from the OC 
for the sector adjustment component; and 
cofinancing of $50.6 million from the Inter
national Development Association 

The National Enterprise of Electric Energy 
(ENEE), the investment component; the 
Central Bank of Honduras, the sector ad
justment component; and the Secretary of 
Economy and Commerce and the Secretary 
of Public Works, Communications, and 
Transportation, with support from ENEE on 
policy measures of the adjustment program 

These loans will support major institutional, financial, and 
economic reforms that will strengthen the electric power 
and petroleum subsectors and provide a formal energy 
policy and strategy. At the same time, the investment loan 
will finance high-priority investments in the electric 
power sector and provide consulting services to improve 
ENEE's operational performance. 

The energy sector adjustment program will define 
and implement an energy policy consistent with the 
Government's macroeconomic adjustment program; es
tablish an appropriate institutional and regulatory frame
work to carry out energy policy; establish and implement 
an efficiency pricing policy for energy; improve the per
formance of the electricity sub-sector; and promote pe
troleum exploration to diversify a sector that at present 

relies mostly on wood fuel and hydropower. 
The investment component will improve ENEE's 

operational performance mainly by reducing and con
trolling electricity losses; improving the efficiency and 
availability (if thermal plants; improving the reliability and 
quality of electricity service; and restructuring and stream
lining ENEE's organization, information systems, and pro
cedures to make management and control of its opera
t ions more efficient. The plan therefore calls for 
rehabilitating a number of thermal generation plants as 
well as power distribution networks in the seven largest 
cities. Loan proceeds under this component also will pur
chase equipment for operation and maintenance of the 
distribution network; the services of consultants to assist 
ENEE in project execution; and training for staff respon
sible for maintaining distribution networks. 

Highway Rehabilitation, Expansion, and 
Maintenance 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

$85 million from the OC and $25 million 
from the FSO; with additional cofinancing 
from the Governments of Mexico and Ven
ezuela, respectively, for $33 million and $5 
million 

Ministry of Communications, Public Works, 
and Transportation through its General High
way and Maintenance Directorates 

This loan will support a program to repair, expand, and 
upgrade about 6,000 kilometers of highways, reversing a 
deterioration that stems from reduced outlays for main
tenance and a highway system that continues to expand. 
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Roads are particularly important to the Honduran 
economy because of their role as principal means of 
moving both farm and industrial products to consumer 
centers and ports. 

The program covers primary, secondary, and local 
roads. 

Besides rehabilitating, expanding, and improving 
the primary and secondary roads systems, the program 
will cover both periodic and routine maintenance. There 
are three other components: 

• Access roads. About 200 kilometers of low-cost 
access roads leading to small rural communities will be 
upgraded to all-weather status, and their maintenance fi
nanced. 

• Management of environmental impact. In addi
tion to repairing damage done by flooding or mudslides, 
for example, this component finances the planting of 
trees and other ground cover needed in connection with 
program works to stabilize banks and restore the land
scape where warranted. 

• Studies. These will chart how best to improve 
road planning and administration; identify alternative fi
nancing for highway maintenance; and find new tech
nologies in construction and maintenance of highways. 

grant to improve its administrative and implementation 
capabilities and hire an expert in credit, agribusiness, and 
marketing. APROCACAHO will apply its technical coop
eration to strengthening its institutional capacity, training 
its members, and consolidating its credit program. 

FINANCING FOR SMALL PROJECTS 

Support for Small-Scale Farmers and Rural 
Microentrepreneurs 

Two loans of $500,000 each from the FSO will support 
programs to improve the production and standard of liv
ing for low-income agricultural producers and rural 
microentrepreneurs. Two non-profit organizations will 
manage the programs. They are the Centro Asesor p a r a 
el Desarrollo de los Recursos Humanos de Honduras 
(CADERH) and the Asociación de Productores de Cacao 
de Honduras (APROCACAHO). CADERH's program will 
benefit 500 farm families in southeastern Honduras by 
providing credit to finance agricultural inputs and an in
vestment fund to construct and equip facilities for pro
cessing, storage, and market ing of farm products . 
APROCACAHO's program will benefit an equal number 
of cocoa planters and their families in the northern and 
northwestern parts of the country. The largest part of this 
loan will finance inputs and supplies to help restore farm 
production. The remainder will establish centers for co
coa storage and processing as well as a fund to cover 
costs related to exporting. Two technical cooperation 
grants of $120,000 each from the FSO have been ap
proved to run parallel to the loans. CADERH will use the 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1991 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Energy 
Transpor ta t ion and Communica t ions 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Environmenta l and Public Health 
Urban D e v e l o p m e n t 
Industry and Mining 
Educat ion, Science and Techno logy 
Pre inves tment 
Export Financing 

Total 

344,002 
315,895 
282,735 
172,883 

75,092 
69,214 
42,065 

8,776 
8,715 

$1,041,145 
521,944 
535,790 
275,173 

97,731 
191,842 
66,151 
10,533 
12,450 

$1,319,377 $2,752,759 
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JAMAICA 

The Bank has made 55 loans totaling $988.7 million to Jamaica. 
Sector emphasis has been on industry and mining, export financing, 
agriculture and fisheries, energy, and urban development. Cumula
tive disbursements total $693.5 million. In 1991, the Bank approved 
three loans for two projects. 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 

160-

82 83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 

Lending Disbursements 

LOANS Rural Township Development 

Trade, Finance, and Investment Sector Loan 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agencies: 

$75 million from the OC and a technical 
cooperation grant of $1,092,000 from the 
FSO 

Ministty of Finance and the Bank of Jamaica 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agencies: 

Two loans—$28 million and $8 million 
from the OC, with interest on the larger loan 
partially defrayed by the IFF 

The Urban Development Corporation 
through a Project Executing Unit and the 
Ministry of Construction 

This loan is the third that the Bank approved in the frame
work of the Enterprise for the Americas Initiative. It will 
support adjustment programs in trade, finance, and invest
ment aimed at expanding private investment and free mar
ket mechanisms in Jamaica, consolidating the adjustment 
progress of nearly a decade. Trade reforms will eliminate 
import restrictions in order to increase competition and ef
ficiency in the productive sectors and focus on ways to 
encourage exports. Finance refonns will correct distortions 
in credit allocation, such as preferential interest rates, and 
strengthen the regulatory and institutional framework. In
vestment sector reforms will build upon financial, legal, 
and regulatory reforms to promote private sector activities 
and privatize public enterprises. The loan's investment 
component will also establish a legal and regulatory frame
work for environmental protection, support ing the 
Government's efforts to develop an action plan for staffing 
and operating an environmental regulatory agency. Such 
an agency will be responsible for enforcement, impact 
analysis, monitoring, and training. 

The technical cooperation will provide assistance 
to Government institutions involved, helping coordinate 
the program's complex policy reforms; enlarge the ca
pacity of the institutions involved; develop implement
ing systems and procedures; and evaluate training needs. 

This loan will improve the quality and coverage of pub
lic infrastructure in seven regions of the country, chosen 
for their economic dynamism and capacity to contribute 
to the country's balance of payments. Called CORTOWNS 
III, the program will benefit secondary townships whose 
population provides labor, goods and services for the 
most dynamic centers of tourist, mining, and agricultural 
activities. They are Montego Bay, Mandeville, St. Ann's 
Bay, Linstead, Savanna-la-Mar, Santa Cruz, and Clarendon 
South.The program will improve schools and health clin
ics; rehabilitate rural and urban roads; and construct 
small-scale public transport terminals. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1969-1991 
(In thousands oft '.S. dolíais) 

Sector Amount 

Industry and Mining 
Export Financing 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Energy 
Urban Deve lopmen t 
Environmenta l and Public I lealth 
Planning and Reform 
Transpor ta t ion and Communica t ions 
Educat ion, Science and Techno logy 
Tour ism 
Preinvestment 

Total 

Total Cost of 
the Projects 

$194,219 $ 254,995 
143,999 205,714 
131,163 321,635 
123,446 176,900 
104,791 140,000 
92,247 137,126 
75,266 75,000 
55,337 87,150 
50,333 74,500 
11,813 26,410 
6,048 11,900 

$988,662 $1,511,330 
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MEXICO 

The Bank has made 137 loans totaling $7,107.8 million to Mexico. 
Sector emphasis has been on agriculture and fisheries, industry and 
mining, environmental and public health, transportation and com
munications, and tourism. Cumulative disbursements total $5,965.3 
million. In 1991, the Bank approved three loans for three projects, 
one Small Project financing, and one major technical cooperation. 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 

800 

600 

400 

200 
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Lending Disbursements 

LOANS Agriculture Sector Program 

Export Sector Adjustment Program 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

$250 million from the OC; with cofinancing 
of $300 million from the International Bank 
for Reconstruction and Development 

Banco Nacional de Comercio Exterior, 
S.N.C. (BANCOMEXT) 

This loan supports reforms in trade policy, customs proce
dure, and trade finance, with the goal of promoting ex
port performance. The reforms will render the policies, 
procedures, and institutions involved in international trade 
more market-oriented and efficient, enhancing progress 
that Mexico has made since the mid-1980s, when it under
took an aggressive trade liberalization program. 

The reforms will concentrate largely on export fi
nance, where some distortions remain to be corrected. 
As part of the strategy, BANCOMEXT will strengthen its 
role as a second-tier institution that offers financing at 
market-based interest rates, centralizing its provision of 
credit guarantees and providing for maximum participa
tion of other financial intermediaries to carry out lending 
and promotion activities. Moreover, BANCOMEXT will 
continue to support export promotion on a cost-recov
ery basis and will maintain the value of its equity in dol
lar terms in an effort to operate profitably. 

In general terms, the program's objectives are to 
maximize foreign exchange revenue from sales of non-
petroleum goods and services, encourage rational use of 
external sources to finance the country's priority imports, 
and facilitate participation of the various economic agents 
in Mexico's foreign trade. 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

$200 million from the OC; and cofinancing 
of $400 million from the International Bank 
for Reconstruction and Development 

Secretaría de Hacienda y Crédito Público 
through the Secretaría de Agricultura y 
Recursos Hidráulicos and the Secretaría de 
Comercio y Fomento Industrial 

This loan will support policy reforms to modernize and 
develop the potential of the agriculture sector in Mexico. 
The program calls for the liberalization of consumer and 
producer prices for basic agricultural commodities and 
the reduction of food subsidies, as well as improvement 
in the allocation of public expenditures in the sector. The 
food policy and nutrition component of this program ex
plicitly recognizes the relationship between agricultural 
policy and food consumption policy, the impact of agri
cultural adjustment on low-income consumers, and the 
structural changes needed in allocating budget resources 
to combat malnutrition. 

As part of the reform program some measures will 
be implemented: 

• Liberalization of consumer and producer prices 
of agricultural commodities, as well as liberalization of 
agricultural trade. 

• Reduction of government intervention in storage, 
marketing, and food processing. 

• Continuation of reforms in the sugar, coffee, and 
tobacco subsectors. 

• Lifting restrictions and barriers that impede com
petition between the private sector and agricultural 
parastatals. 
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• Creation of a competitive environment in mar
kets for seeds, agricultural machinery, and pesticides. 

• Streamlining of regulations governing plant pro
tection, animal health, and pesticides. 

• Reduction of general input subsidies and im
provement of allocation of public expenditures in agri
culture. 

For more than three decades agriculture has been 
the target of government intervention, specifically in 
price, trade, and regulatory policies, as well as in land 
use and agricultural output and input markets. The re
forms that this program supports should help to increase 
agricultural productivity in a sector that employs 30 per
cent of the work force and contributes about 8 percent 
to Mexico's GDP. 

Irrigation and Drainage Investment Program 

Financing: $200 million from the OC; and cofinancing 
of $400 million from the International Bank 
for Reconstruction and Development 

Executing 
Agency: National Water Commission 

FINANCING FOR SMALL PROJECTS 

Support for Low-Income Farmers and Craftsmen 

Three financings of $500,000 each from the FSO will es
tablish revolving credit funds to finance productive 
projects for low-income farmers and craftsmen in the 
states of Jalisco, Nuevo León, and Coahuila, and provide 
them with training and technical assistance. The loans 
were approved for three nongovernmental organizations, 
Jalisco Desarrollo y Fomento A.C. (JADEFO), Movimiento 
de Promoción Rural A.C. (MOPRAC), and Desarrollo Ru
ral de Saltillo A.C. (DERSAC), all of which are affiliated 
with the Fundación Mexicana de Desarrollo Rural. Dur
ing the first three years of the project about 800 people 
are expected to benefit directly from the credit program, 
which will finance production, processing, and market
ing projects and cover working capital and machinery, 
equipment, and basic infrastructure. 

The operations include three parallel technical co
operation grants of $95,000 for each organization to use 
for institutional strengthening and technical advice on 
managing the credit funds. 

This loan will support an infrastructure rehabilitation and 
maintenance investment program that will expand the 
land area under irrigation. It will also support policies 
and institutional reforms to facilitate maximum efficiency 
of the public irrigation and drainage subsector. 

Irrigation plays an important role in Mexican agri
culture. Currently, the almost 6 million hectares under 
irrigation represent 30 percent of the country's cropped 
area, account for half of the value of the gross agricul
tural product, and generate 65 percent of the sector's ex
ports. Nevertheless it is estimated that 800,000 hectares 
of land equipped with irrigation infrastructure is idle or 
under-used, owing to deterioration of the infrastructure. 

This loan will support Mexico's public sector irri
gation and drainage investment programs for 1991-94, to
gether with a plan for the transfer of the irrigation dis
tricts to the users. It consists of four main components: 
the irrigation and drainage works component, including 
recycling of wastewater for agricultural irrigation; envi
ronmental works and activities aimed at preventing or 
mitigating negative impact resulting from project opera
tions, including institutional strengthening of the execut
ing agency; the supplementary works and actions por
tion, such as studies and designs, dam safety, and minor 
river control works; and the irrigation district transfer 
plan, which will phase the responsibility for operation 
and maintenance of the irrigation districts from the fed
eral government to the users. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Support for Low-Income People 

A technical cooperation grant of $557,000 from the So
cial Progress Trust Fund will constitute a source of credit 
and training for participating Indian and peasant groups 
to help them increase craft output and agricultural pro
duction. Specifically, Indians from the state of Durango 
would benefit from training; Indians and day laborers in 
the states of Puebla, Oaxaca, Querétero, and Morelos 
would receive financing for small projects; and industrial 
technical baccalaureate workshops for training young 
people in the State of Morelos would be equipped. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1991 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Agriculture and Fisheries 
Industry and Mining 
Environmental and Public Health 
Transportation and Communications 
Tourism 
Energy 
Education, Science and Technology 
Urban Development 
Export Financing 
Preinvestment 
Other 
Total 

$3,374,092 
830,053 
815,559 
733,225 
357,966 
330,460 
151,209 
96,741 
94,530 
72,123 

251,800 

$ 8,443,139 
2,848,217 
1,529,370 
1,424,047 

928,167 
5,880,000 

264,377 
196,305 
135,042 
148,740 
550,000 

$7,107,758 $22,347,404 
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NICARAGUA 

The Bank has made 49 loans totaling $618.1 million to Nicaragua. 
Sector emphasis has been on agriculture and fisheries, planning and 
reform, energy, transportation, health, and industry. Cumulative 
disbursements total $541.7 million. In 1991, the Bank approved 
three loans for two projects—one with a reimbursable technical 
cooperation—and two stand-alone technical cooperation grants. 

YEARL Y LENDING AND DISBl !RSEMEN'TS 
(In millions of dollars) 

160 -
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Lending Disbursements 

LOANS 

Trade and Finance Adjustment Program 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

Two loans—$ 110 million from the FSO and 
$20 million from the OC; with interest on 
the $20 million loan partially defrayed by 
the IFF; and a reimbursable technical coop
eration of $2.5 million; with cofinancing of 
$100 million from the International Devel
opment Association 

Ministry of Economic Affairs and Develop
ment 

These loans will support adjustment programs in the 
trade and financial sectors designed to correct distortions 
in the country's economy and spur renewed economic 
growth. 

In the area of trade, policy reforms supported by 
the loans aim to increase competition and private sector 
participation by eliminating state monopolies in foreign 
trade, reducing the distortions caused by quantitative im
port restrictions, and liberalizing the marketing systems 
for basic grains. In the course of the reform program, 
the Government will also move toward a liberalized for
eign exchange market, reduce distortions in the struc
ture of tariff protection, and increase incentives to the 
export sector. 

In the financial sector, the operation will support 
the improvement and stricter enforcement of banking 
regulations and credit discipline, stronger supervision of 
banking and financial institutions, elimination of distor
tions in interest rates, and the reduction of state partici
pation in financial intermediation. Financial sector re

forms will increase savings rates and improve mobiliza
tion of domestic resources to be channeled into produc
tive activities. 

The accompanying technical cooperation is in
tended to support the newly created Superintendency of 
Banks and Financial Institutions. 

Electric Power System Rehabilitation 

Financing: $19 million from the FSO 
Executing 
Agency: Nicaraguan Power Authority 

This loan will finance rehabilitation of Nicaragua's elec
tric generation, transmission, and distribution infrastruc
ture, while supporting reforms in tariff structures and 
regulation of the electric power sector and strengthening 
both maintenance and managerial capacities of the ex
ecuting agency. The operation, which is a step toward 
the larger goal of self-sufficiency in energy within the 
next 20 years, also includes a number of studies that will 
pave the way for future projects. 

The project consists of four components: 
• Generation. The spillways of the Asturias and 

Apañas dams will be rehabilitated and other civil works 
carried out on the Asturias-Centroamérica-Carlos Fonseca 
hydroelectric complex. 

• Transmission. This component will rehabilitate 
and upgrade 37.5 kilometers of lines plus substation 
equipment with a total of 385 MVA (megavolt-ampere) 
of transformer capacity. 

• Distribution. Meters and other related equip
ment, service connections, vehicles, and work tools will 
be purchased under this component. This component is 
key to regularizing illegal electric power users and re-
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during nontechnical losses. 
• Institutional strengthening. Sectoral studies are 

the backbone of this component. The areas include the 
electricity market, budget and accounting, regulatory re
form, and expansion of the generating and transmission 
systems and of the Managua distribution system. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Support for Privatization 

A $3.8 million nonreimbursable technical cooperation will 
support the privatization program, an integral part of the 
Government's economic stabilization and structural re
form program. The grant will finance technical services 
for the preparation of marketing and sales documents— 
an important technical step in the process of readying 
about 100 government-owned companies for sale. Ac
tivities include preparing background information on the 
companies, including technical studies; accounting, finan
cial and legal work; and sales prospectuses. The techni
cal cooperation funds also will provide management sup
port for the executing agency. Corporaciones Nacionales 
del Sector Público (CORNAP) and purchase a relatively 
small amount of equipment and supplies. 

Central Bank Reform 

A technical cooperation grant of $3 million from the FSO 
will finance the institutional reform and restructuring of 
the Central Bank of Nicaragua, restoring it to its role of 
managing monetary policy and re-establishing it as the 
country's financial backbone. The two-year program will 
provide policy advisory services at the senior executive 
level as well as practical advisory services at the opera
tional level. Among the bank's most important needs are 
guidance in policy formulation, improved economic re
search and financial analysis, an accounting system, and 
assistance in debt management. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1991 
(In thousands of US. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Agriculture and Fisheries 
Planning and Reform 
Energy 
Transpor ta t ion and Communica t ions 
Environmental and Public Health 
Industry and Mining 
Urban D e v e l o p m e n t 
Education, Science and Techno logy 
Export Financing 
Pre inves tment 
Othe r 

Total 

$193,810 
132,680 

75,286 
63,724 
53,463 
42,829 
22,514 
9,250 
1,826 

148 
22,618 

$ 444,843 
242,600 
168,840 
115,469 

89,050 
76,453 
39,496 
10,925 
4,037 

398 
23,317 

$618,148 $1,215,428 
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PANAMA 
YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 

120-

100 

The Bank has made 76 loans totaling $871.1 million to Panama. 
Sector emphasis has been on energy, transportation and communi
cations, agriculture and fisheries, education, and urban develop
ment. Cumulative disbursements total $722.3 million. In 1991, the 
Bank approved two major technical cooperations. 

82 83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 

Lending Disbursements 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Strengthening of General Revenue Directorate 

A nonreimbursable technical cooperation for $2.1 million 
from the FSO will help make Panama's tax administra
tion more efficient, raising collections, reducing tax eva
sion, and boosting productivity of staff at the General 
Revenue Directorate. The financing will build on previ
ous progress; develop information systems and adminis
trative procedures governing a wide variety of taxes; de
sign and develop computerized procedures and programs 
for tax auditing; develop a comprehensive staff training 
program; and strengthen the organizational stmcture of 
the six regional offices, the large taxpayer unit, and the 
data processing department. 

Emergency Assistance 

The Bank approved a technical cooperation grant of 
$200,000 from the FSO for the purchase of emergency 
supplies following an earthquake in April 1991. The 
Panamanian provinces of Chiriqui and Bocas del 
Toro suffered damage and loss from this earthquake, al
though its epicenter was near Puerto Limón, Costa Rica. 
Priority needs included water supply and drainage pipes, 
portable latrines, and electrical supplies. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1991 
(In thousands of U.S. dolían) 

Sector Amount 

Energy 
Transpor ta t ion and Communica t ions 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Educat ion, Science and Techno logy 
Urban D e v e l o p m e n t 
Environmental and Public Health 
Industry and Mining 
Preinvestment 
Tour ism 
Export Financing 
Othe r 

Total 

Total Cost of 
the Projects 

$289,295 $ 597,272 
181,764 395,304 
147,351 236,662 
70,144 108,500 
52,567 82,420 
45,506 ^2,157 
33,540 61,694 
20,904 41,460 
20,671 41,822 
1,000 1,429 
8,340 — 

$871,082 $1,638,720 
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PARAGUAY 

The Bank has made 62 loans totaling $817.1 million to Paraguay. 
Sector emphasis has been on energy, transportation and communi
cations, agriculture and fisheries, environmental and public health, 
and education, science, and technology. Cumulative disbursements 
total $541 million. In 1991, the Bank approved two loans for two 
projects. 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 

180 -
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Lending Disbursements 

LOANS Concepción-Cuero Fresco Highway Project 

Electric Transmission and Distribution Program 

Financing: $100 million from the OC 
Executing 
Agency: National Electricity Administration (Adminis

tración Nacional de Electricidad—ANDE) 

This loan will expand Paraguay's electric transmission 
and distribution systems, increasing service coverage in 
about 14 towns and extending service to 35 new towns, 
and make the National Electricity Administration more ef
ficient. The project consists of three components: 

• Investment. Under this component, service cov
erage will be enlarged to meet the growth in demand, 
and electric service quality and reliability in urban cen
ters will be improved. Steps will be taken to reduce elec
tric losses, and isolated systems will be added to the in
terconnected system, replacing obsolete thermal-electric 
generation. 

• New equipment. Equipment, instruments, tools, 
and vehicles will be needed to ensure the effective op
eration and maintenance of the facilities built under the 
investment component. These include tools to maintain 
energized lines, voltage regulating equipment, electric 
meters, and safety, laboratory and workshop equipment. 

• Institutional strengthening. This component will 
update ANDE's organization, administration, management, 
and planning. It includes modernizing and expanding the 
data processing and information systems of ANDE's finance 
department; conducting a study of organization and man
agement at ANDE to chart improvements; and further de
veloping the organization's planning capacity. 

Financing: $62 million from the OC 
Executing 
Agency: Directorate of Highways of the Ministry of 

Public Works and Communications 

This loan will upgrade and help maintain the national 
paved road system. A major part of the loan will improve 
Route 5, which is one of the country's most important ex
port corridors. The 90-kilometer road connects Cuero 
Fresco to the river port of Concepción, a major trade gate
way to Brazil, the Paraguay and Paraná river system, and 
other main routes to the Atlantic Ocean. Besides paving, 
this component will include repair or construction of both 
drainage works and the necessary structures together with 
constniction of a 60-meter bridge over the Caré River. 

Other important parts of the country's highway sys
tem also will be maintained, specifically about 120 kilo
meters of asphalt-concrete paved roads. The project de
sign includes a component to protect the environment 
and surrounding indigenous communities, especially 
along the Cuero Fresco-Concepción stretch of highway. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1991 
(In thousands of US. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Energy 
Transpor ta t ion and Communica t ions 
Agriculture a n d Fisheries 
Environmenta l and Public Health 
Educat ion, Science and Techno logy 
Industry and Mining 
Urban Deve lopmen t 
Tour ism 
Pre inves tment 
Other 
Total 

$280,584 $ 414,012 
157,580 221,931 
139,935 234,211 
102,672 171,017 
59,706 84,280 
55,357 79,513 
10,769 16,273 
4,574 6,608 
436 582 

5,503 = 

$817,116 $1,228,427 
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PERU 

The Bank has made 113 loans totaling $2,291.2 million to Peru. 
Sector emphasis has been on industry and mining, planning and 
reform, agriculture and fisheries, transportation and communica
tions, energy, and export financing. Cumulative disbursements total 
$1,900.4 million. In 1991, the Bank approved two loans for two 
projects, the largest accompanied by two technical cooperations; and 
two major stand-alone technical cooperation grants. 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 
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500 
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Lending Disbursements 

LOANS 

Trade Sector Reform 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

5425 million from the OC; with a reimburs
able technical cooperation of $4.9 million 
from the same resources and a technical 
cooperation grant of $4 million from the 
Japan Special Fund 

Ministry of Economy and Finance 

This loan, the largest in the Bank's 30 years of operations, 
will help consolidate and expand Peru's efforts to liberal
ize trade and will support the country's economic stabili
zation program by expanding the Government's revenue 
base, reducing the role of state-owned enterprises in the 
economy, and cutting down on public expenditures. 

The program will bring about reform in five major 
areas: foreign trade policy, customs, agricultural market
ing, the labor market, and social welfare. As it consoli
dates trade liberalization, begun in September 1990, the 
loan's foreign trade component supports additional mea
sures such as abolition of a 5 percent special tariff, es
tablishment of a monitoring system to prevent the use of 
anti-dumping and health and safety codes for protection
ist purposes, establishment of a deadline for setting a 
uniform tariff, and elimination of the state's monopoly 
on trade in petroleum products. The Government also 
will restructure the Customs Administration and make 
changes in the law to promote flexibility in international 
trade flows while increasing efficiency in the collection 
of import duties. In agricultural marketing, the Govern
ment will privatize the assets of the rice marketing agency 
as well as restmcture and downsize its fertilizer and grain 

marketing agency. Labor market reforms will include re
inforcing recent legislative changes that promote greater 
flexibility in labor contracts. 

The reimbursable financing of $4.9 million will pro
vide technical assistance to the institutions participating 
in the program, while the $4 million grant from the Ja
pan Special Fund will help launch a National Fund for 
Social Compensation and Development. The fund, an 
autonomous public institution, will assist low-income 
groups affected by the stabilization process by channel
ing resources to local governments, nongovernmental or
ganizations, and community groups to cany out projects 
that improve the standard of living for low-income groups 
and generate employment. 

Highway Repair and Maintenance 

Financing: 
Executing 
Agency: 

$210 million from the OC 

Ministry of Transportation and Communi
cations 

This loan will repair the country's most important high
ways and support administrative and technical planning 
of the subsector to ensure that the road system is ad
equately maintained. The resulting stronger highway de
partment and improved roads will make a major contri
but ion to st imulating the economy, as goods are 
transported almost entirely by road in Peru. The program 
consists of four components. 

• Repair. About 1,400 kilometers of the Pan Ameri
can and Central Highways will be repaired as will bridges 
and other structures. Of this, five sections of both roads 
totaling 444.5 kilometers have been chosen as priorities 
for immediate repair. 
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AYACUCHO, PERU. New class
rooms built at the Colegio San 
Antonio were part of a project to 
improve living conditions in rural 
areas of Peru's Southern Sierra 
region. A $5 million IDB technical 
cooperation grant supported the 
project, which improved local 
roads and irrigation facilities as 
well as services in health, sanita
tion and education. Credit, land 
titling and health education were 
also provided. 

• Periodic maintenance. For this component, 2,000 
kilometers of pavement worn by weather and traffic have 
been identified. Roads thus targeted include 1,744 kilo
meters of the Pan American Highway and 256 kilome
ters of the Central Highway between Lima and Huánuco. 

• Administration and supervision. In addition to 
advising the executing unit responsible for the program 
on administration and management, consultants will com
plete engineering studies on works to be carried out in 
the second, third, and fourth years of the program. 

• Subsector reorganization. This component will 
fund studies to help the Government formulate central 
and regional policies as well as plans and preinvestment 
studies for administering the national roads subsector. 

equipment and consultants will improve SUNAT's tax ad
ministration and information systems and train its person
nel. The project also will consolidate an automated collec
tion system for the major taxpayers of Lima and Callao. 

Support for the Cholera Emergency 

A nonreimbursable technical cooperation of $1 million 
from the FSO is helping finance Peru's campaign against 
cholera, which broke out in epidemic proportions early 
in 1991. The financing has been used to purchase emer
gency supplies to control the disease's spread. The Pan 
American Health Organization was the executing agency. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Improvement of Tax Administration 

A technical cooperation grant of S5 million from the FSO 
will support the Government's program to improve the ef
ficiency and effectiveness of its domestic tax administra
tion system. The financing will help the National Tax Ad
ministration Superintendency (SUNAT), which is the 
executing agency, to increase staff productivity and rev
enue collection, as well as to reduce tax evasion. New 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1961-1991 
(In thousands of U.S. dolíais) 

Sector Amount 

Industry and Mining 
Planning and Reform 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Transpor ta t ion and Communica t ions 
Energy 
Export Financing 
Environmental and Public Health 
Urban D e v e l o p m e n t 
Tour ism 
Preinvestment 
Educat ion, Science a n d Techno logy 

Total 

Total Cost of 
the Projects 

$ 454,826 $1,170,542 
446,602 429,900 
444,420 1.167,038 
366,072 608,001 
209,844 684,505 
174,756 249,652 
88,245 221,312 
56,520 105,773 
31,247 71,400 
9,596 27,071 
9,028 21,869 

$2,291,156 $4,757,063 
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SURINAME 

The Bank has made five loans totaling $21.7 million 
to Suriname. Sector emphasis has been on education, 
science and technology, environmental and public 
health, and industry and mining. Cumulative dis
bursements total $11.5 million. In 1991, the Bank 
approved one major technical cooperation. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Institutional Strengthening 

This technical cooperation grant of $148,500 will begin 
to rebuild Suriname's professional and technical exper
tise, which was seriously depleted during the years fol
lowing the economic downturn of 1982. It will equip the 
National Planning Office (NPO) and certain government 
ministries and agencies involved in planning with the 
technical and operational capability needed to plan and 
manage the project cycle. Such institutional strengthen
ing will ensure that the country's resources used for pub
lic sector investment programs are allocated more effi
ciently. 

At the heart of the program is training for about 25 
government staff who will learn methods and techniques 
for project planning and analysis. Participants will have 
the opportunity to practice project management prin
ciples in workshops using selected case studies rein
forced by site trips to projects. The hands-on program 
also will teach specialized computer programs formulated 
to aid in project planning. 

The overall goal is to upgrade and expand the op
erational capability of NPO and participating agencies by 
making the requisite analytical tools available and by pro
viding agencies with experience in project identification, 
preparation, and analysis that will contribute positively 
to the country's economic and social development. In 
summary, the grant will build a permanent foundation 
within NPO upon which to construct a full-fledged plan
ning and project cycle management capability. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1980-1991 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Education, Science and Technology 
Environmental and Public Health 
Industry and Mining 

Total 

$ 8,162 
7,876 
5,682 

$21,720 

$10,000 
9,700 

10,000 
$29,700 
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TRINIDAD 
AND TOBAGO 

The Bank has made 21 loans totaling $447.4 million to Trinidad and 
Tobago. Sector emphasis has been on energy, urban development, 
education, agriculture and fisheries, transportation and public health. 
Cumulative disbursements total $99.2 million. In 1991, the Bank 
approved two loans for two projects, each with a technical coopera
tion grant; and one stand-alone technical cooperation. 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 

300 

82 83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 

Lending — ^ Disbursements 

LOANS 

Secondary Recovery of Oil and Refinery 
Modernization 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

S260 million from the OC and cofinancing 
of $75 million from the Export-Import Bank 
of Japan and the European Investment 
Bank; with a technical cooperation grant of 
tip to 595,000 from the FSO 

Trinidad and Tobago Oil Company, Ltd. 

This loan will expand the country's oil-exporting capac
ity and, ultimately, its foreign exchange earnings, by mod
ernizing and expanding oil extraction infrastructure and 
by upgrading its refinery facilities. The loan will help de
velop infrastructure onshore and offshore, as well as 
modernize the refinery at Point-à-Pierre, adapting it to 
market demand for higher proportions of light and me
dium petroleum by-products. Another goal of the project 
is to support government efforts to rationalize the fossil 
fuel sector by streamlining and reorganizing it. At present 
five government ministries share responsibility for energy 
matters, and there are 11 government-owned oil, gas, and 
petrochemical enterprises. 

The project consists of three components. The first 
will recover onshore oil deposits of about 13-2 barrels of 
heavy oil using steam injection techniques; the second 
will recover offshore deposits of about 16.8 million bar
rels of medium-density oil using water injection tech
niques. Oil from both sites will be transferred to the 
Point-à-Pierre refinery for processing. The third compo
nent will increase the conversion capacity of the refinery 
at Point-à-Pierre so that it can obtain a higher percent

age of light products, which bring better prices on the 
international market, and also increase its processing ca
pacity from 90,000 barrels of crude oil per day to 160,000 
barrels. 

Implementation of an environmental management 
and pollution control program as part of the project will 
improve current conditions substantially, rehabilitate bod
ies of water, preserve estuary ecosystems, prevent con
tamination of farm land, and improve air quality. The pro
gram will strengthen the executing agency's capacity to 
meet environmental needs. In addition, a technical co
operation will support the Point-à-Pierre Wild Fowl Trust, 
a non-profit organization occupying 26 hectares within 
the confines of the refinery, to expand its environmental 
education and to support continued bird research. 

Environmental Protection and Rehabilitation 
Program 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

$4 million from the FSO and a technical 
cooperation grant of $238,000 from the FSO 

Ministry of Environment and National Ser
vice 

This loan will fund projects to protect two national parks 
and help rehabilitate three areas with damaged ecosys
tems. The two environmental protection projects will help 
conserve natural resources and offer recreation and en
vironmental education benefits. The loan will protect the 
Caroni Swamp National Park next to Port-of-Spain and 
the San Fernando Hill National Landmark. The Caroni 
Swamp National Park's management and educational fa
cilities will be expanded. The other project—protection 
of the San Fernando Hill—will provide extensive recre-
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f 1 If Jill 
COt/E/1, TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO. 
A Learning Resource Center es
tablished as part of a primary 
school improvement project in
cludes this 3,000-volume library 
for teachers and other educa
tional staff. The Center provides 
in-service training, curriculum 
evaluation, and development and 
distribution of educational mate
rials. Supported by a $36.8 mil
lion IDB loan in 1986, the project 
also financed construction and 
equipping of schools and estab
lished library facilities in primary 
schools throughout the country. 

ational and education benefits and will revegetate part 
of the hill. 

One of the three rehabilitation projects, located in 
the central and western sections of the Northern Range, 
near Port-of-Spain, will reforest about 100 hectares of 
deforested slopes covering seven watersheds. Designed 
to reduce erosion and downstream flooding, the project 
will support tree nursery activities, planting, maintenance, 
fire protection, and education. The second rehabilitation 
project will focus on the southwest peninsula of Trinidad 
in and around the town of La Brea, where project activi
ties will help reverse environmental problems—particu
larly coastal erosion—prevent further degradation, and 
provide employment for local inhabitants. The third 
project aims at alleviating drainage and flooding prob
lems, reducing erosion, and landscaping works in 
Laventille Hill, an area once quarried. 

The accompanying technical cooperation will sup
port a program of studies on the following: the feeding 
and breeding ecology of the ibis, one of the national 
birds; the water regime of the Caroni Swamp, with a view 
to halting salt water encroachment; fish and shellfish ecol
ogy of the Caroni Swamp as a basis for better manage
ment; a slope rehabilitation plan of the San Fernando Hill; 
and ways of converting present monoculture pine plan
tations in the Northern Range to natural, mixed-species 
forest. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Preliminaries to Health Sector Reform Program 

Three nonreimbursable technical cooperations—$2.2 mil
lion from the Japan Special Fund, $1.95 million from the 
FSO, and $1 million from the Canadian Fund for Prepa
ration of Development Projects—will fund activities pre
paratory to a health sector reform program that is ex
pected to focus mainly on decentralization and health 
care financing. The resources will fund the studies 
needed to formulate the health sector reform program 
and sector loan and support commissioning of the Eric 
Williams Medical Science Complex at Mt. Hope, ensur
ing its functional integration with the other major hospi
tal in the area, Port-of-Spain General Hospital. Support 
for the Mt. Hope facility includes design of operating sys
tems, preparation of corresponding manuals, purchase of 
microcomputing equipment, and staff training. 

DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 1967-1991 
(In thousands of U.S. dolíais) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Energy $260,453 $403.000 
Urban Development 70,392 97,240 
Education, Science and Technology 41,024 55,219 
Agriculture and Fisheries 29.379 42,898 
Transportation and Communications 18,296 59,398 
Environmental and Public Health 12,414 25,160 
Export Financing 9,320 13,103 
Preinvestment 6,077 9,239 
Total $447,355 $705,257 
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URUGUAY 

The Bank has made 67 loans totaling $955.8 million to Uruguay. 
Sector emphasis has been on transportation and communications, 
planning and reform, agriculture and fisheries, environmental and 
public health, urban development, and energy. Cumulative disburse
ments total $657.6 million. In 1991, the Bank approved five loans 
for three projects, one Small Project financing, and a stand-alone 
technical cooperation. Two of the loans were accompanied by 
technical cooperations—one reimbursable, one a grant. 

YEAR! Y LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 

250-

200 

150 

82 83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 

Lending Disbursements 

LOANS 

Finance Sector Adjustment Program 

Financing: $150 million from the OC with a reimburs
able technical cooperation of S 1.7 million 
from the OC 

Executing 
Agency: Ministry of Economic Affairs and Finance 

This loan supports a program that will help maintain a 
macroeconomic environment conducive to growth with 
price stability and consolidate efforts to reduce and re
structure external debt. It is the Bank's first loan with 
resources specifically designated for reduction of foreign 
debt. About one third of the loan is designated for guar
antees, the purchase of debt, and payment of interest. 
The program also aims at mobilizing more domestic sav
ings and improving their allocation by making the inter
mediate financial institutions more efficient and competi
tive. In addition, the program will support the regulatory, 
institutional, and financial changes needed to achieve and 
sustain adequate levels of solvency and liquidity in the 
financial institutions. 

To achieve a growth-oriented economy, the pro
gram links the use of the IDB loan with fulfillment of the 
policy goals supported by both a stand-by agreement 
with the International Monetary Fund and a structural ad
justment loan from the International Bank for Reconstruc
tion and Development. The Government is poised to take 
the necessary legislative and regulatory steps to increase 
competitiveness and efficiency in the financial system and 
to make financial institutions more stable. Public banks 
will continue to be restructured so that they are on equal 
footing with private banks. The Banco de la República 

Oriental del Uruguay will establish methods for setting 
loan interest rates so that they reflect the cost of money. 
The program also will speed up the process by which 
public banks are required to comply with the Central 
Bank's rules on reserves, accounting records, and reports. 
The technical cooperation will support institutional 
strengthening and technical support for institutions par
ticipating in the finance sector adjustment program. 

Social Investment Program 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

Two loans—$28 million and $8 million, 
both from the OC, with a technical coopera
tion grant of $2.7 million from the FSO; the 
interest on the larger loan will be partially 
defrayed by the IFF 

Office of Planning and Budget of the Presi
dency of the Republic 

These loans will support a program to improve the qual
ity of life of low-income people by providing the social 
services most acutely needed to offset the effects of eco
nomic stabilization measures and growing urbanization. 
The overall objective is to reorganize social spending; 
diagnose problem areas; strengthen social policies; pro
vide better education and health care; encourage private 
sector involvement, specifically through nongovernmen
tal organizations; and improve the standard of living of 
the neediest. The program will emphasize social infra
structure investment and will consist of the two follow
ing components: 

• Execution of works and provision of equipment 
needed to deliver services in education, health care, food, 
and community residences and centers. 
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MONTEVIDEO, URUGUAY. A $775,000 IDB techni
cal cooperation grant is supporting a project to 
provide housing and servicesfor 140 low-income 
families. The project includes construction of a 
nursery and a community center. 

• Strengthening of the executing agency to im
prove its organization and operation. At the same time, 
the project preparation and implementation capabilities 
of the Bureau of Public Education and the Ministry of 
Public Health will be upgraded. 

A parallel program supported by the technical co
operation will improve the social information systems; 
reorganize public social expenditure in health care, edu
cation, and food; and make sector assessments to iden
tify problem areas and devise concrete proposals so that 

the quality and efficiency of services in those areas can 
be adjusted or improved as needed. 

Science and Technology Program 

Financing: 

Executing 
Agency: 

Two loans from the OC—$28 million and 
S7 million; the interest rate on the S28 
million loan will be partially defrayed by 
the IFF 

National Council for Scientific and Techni
cal Research (CONICYT) 

These loans will help Uruguay build the scientific and 
technological base to assure its competitiveness in the 
international marketplace. By funding projects and ex
panding the technological capacities of key institutions, 
the program that the loan supports will increase national 
capacity to assimilate, adapt, generate, and use science 
and technology. The program consists of five compo
nents: 
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• The financing of projects in research and devel
opment and in scientific and technological services car
ried out by both non-profit public and private agencies 
and by private enterprise. Priority areas for such research 
include biotechnology; computer science and electron
ics; food technology; water resources; energy; environ
mental protection; and fine chemistry. 

• Two investment projects to improve the infra
structure of the National Science and Technology Sys
tem. Under this component, the Faculty of Exact and 
Natural Sciences, the mainstay of the country's science 
and technology, would be supplied with the facilities, 
equipment, and materials that it needs to operate at the 
needed capacity and level. The second project would 
supplement the current facilities and equipment of the 
Clemente Estable Biological Research Center. 

• Under the human resources training component, 
master's degree and doctoral level education would be 
provided to 280 people; and 1,500 people would be 
trained in shorter courses and one-year internships in 
Uruguay and in other member countries of the Bank. 

• A unit would be established within the execut
ing agency to disseminate and transfer the results of sci
entific and technological activities and to incorporate 
these activities into production. 

• Institutional strengthening of the executing 
agency, which will be financed by a technical coopera
tion grant of $876,000 from the FSO. This component will 
focus on helping the agency consolidate its institutional 
structure and functions and will entail the contracting of 
numerous outside experts. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Private Investment Promotion 

A nonreimbursable technical cooperation of $1.22 mil
lion from the FSO will be used by the Government's' In
vestment Development Commission (CDD to support ac
tivities to promote private investment, mainly through 
incentives aimed at encouraging foreign companies and 
investors to set up export-oriented businesses in Uruguay. 
Five activities comprise the program: advertising and in
stitutional promotion; identification and development of 
investment projects; development of specific proposals 
for investment; coordination of advisory services; and 
basic and advanced training for investment agents and 
CDI staff. 

FINANCING FOR SMALL PROJECTS 

Aid to Small-Scale Beekeepers 

A $500,000 financing from the FSO to the Centro 
Cooperativista Uruguayo (CCU) will establish a revolving 
credit fund to help about 300 low-income, small-scale 
beekeepers increase production. The sub-borrowers, who 
are either women or young people, are located in seven 
departments. The loans will enable qualified individuals 
or groups to buy production material and fixed assets. A 
significant part of the resulting honey production will go 
into export markets. A parallel technical cooperation 
grant of $120,000 from the FSO will strengthen the CCU, 
specifically in financial planning and modernization of 
internal control systems, and will support technical assis
tance and training. 

D I S T R I B U T I O N O F L O A N S 1 9 6 1 - 1 9 9 1 
(In thousands of US. dolíais) 

Sector Amount 

Transpor ta t ion and Communica t ions 
Planning and Reform 
Agriculture a n d Fisheries 
Environmenta l and Public Health 
Urban Deve lopmen t 
Energy 
Educat ion, Science and Technology-
Industry and Mining 
Export Financing 
Tour ism 
Preinvestment 
Other 

Total 

$201,923 
189,117 
172,805 
138,835 
77,707 
62,511 
39,524 
34,896 

8,940 
8,752 
7,761 

13,000 

Total Cost of 
the Projects 

454,759 
416,700 
265,245 
203,112 
100,301 
162,009 
104,186 
138,536 
12,771 
17,091 
13,204 
13,001 

$955,771 $1,900,915 
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VENEZUELA 

The Bank has made 51 loans totaling $2,362.2 million to Venezuela. 
Sector emphasis has been on planning and reform, energy, industry 
and mining, agriculture and fisheries, and environmental and public 
health. Cumulative disbursements total $ 1,164 million. In 1991, the 
Bank approved three loans for three projects, and one technical 
cooperation. 

YEARLY LENDING AND DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions of dollars) 

1000 -

600 

82 83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 

Lending Disbursements 

LOANS 

Local Social Investment Program 

Financing: $84 million from the OC 
Executing 
Agencies: Fondo de Inversión Social de Venezuela 

(FONVIS) with state and municipal govern
ments 

This loan will help establish a national mechanism to fi
nance and strengthen the social investment programs of 
regional and local governments, thus supporting the de
centralization of central government services now under 
way. Decentralization calls for certain functions per
formed previously by the central government to be trans
ferred fully or partially to state and municipal govern
ments. The activities of this program will support that 
process. 

The project consists of three components. The first, 
an investment projects component, will finance state- and 
municipal-mn projects in social sectors and infrastructure, 
such as education, health, environmental sanitation, ur
ban roadways, electrification, and community equipment. 
The second component will offer comprehensive techni
cal assistance and training for state governments, munici
palities, and local water utilities, as well as to FONVIS, to 
help improve their abilities to plan, evaluate, contract, 
and operate social services and basic urban infrastruc
ture. The third component, the preinvestment subpro
gram, will finance studies and designs for a representa
tive sample of projects for the program's second phase. 
It will also finance basic general or sectoral studies to 
define the objectives and scope of the second phase. In
cluded in the latter will be a study to determine the fea

sibility of using a credit mechanism to finance local in
vestment projects in the future. 

Forestry Development 

Financing: 
Executing 
Agencies: 

$62.5 million from the OC 

Venezuelan Corporation of Guayana-East-
ern Forestry Products in cooperation with 
Forest Corporation of Guayamure C.A. 

This loan supports the second stage of a program that 
will develop and protect forest plantations in Venezuela's 
eastern region. The project will help promote the 
country's considerable comparative advantage in forest 
products by developing a sustainable supply of raw for
est materials that will also facilitate investments from the 
private sector. Under the second stage, commercial for
est plantations already started in the states of Anzoátegui 
and Monagas will be consolidated and expanded. It in
cludes aforestation, primarily with Caribbean pine, of 
165,000 hectares of savannah, as well as protection of 
570,000 hectares against pests, disease, and fire. In addi
tion, 325 kilometers of forest roads throughout the plan
tations will be rehabilitated, and a harvesting unit will be 
established within the executing agency so that it has 
adequate supplies for its industrial enterprises. A fourth 
subproject will provide technical and institutional sup
port for participating institutions through research in for
estry and genetic improvement, a pilot agroforestry pro
gram, and consultancy and training services. 

The project features considerable environmental 
benefits, including reduced soil erosion, improved land 
use planning, and increased knowledge about sustain
able soil and forest management. The project also incor-
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porates activities to mitigate the impact of single-species 
plantations, including the maintenance of areas of natu
ral vegetation, intercropping of local hardwood species, 
and the establishment of wildlife refuges. 

Tax Administration Modernization 

Financing: 
Executing 
Agency: 

S10 million from the OC 

Ministry of Finance 

This loan will help reform Venezuela's tax system and 
administration, ultimately improving the domestic effi
ciency of the economy and its competitiveness abroad. 
Reforms will be applied mainly in six areas: the revenue 
base's heavy dependence on oil; overall low total tax col
lections; a complex legal structure that is ineffective at 
raising revenue; a web of exemptions, credits, and re
ductions that distorts economic decisions and poses an 
obstacle to resource allocation within the economy; lack 
of equity; and tax administration with complex systems 
and procedures, a high degree of centralization, and a 
backlog of collections and audits. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Strengthening Rural Education 

The Bank approved a technical cooperation grant of 
5550,000 from the Social Progress Trust Fund to improve 
rural education in Boconó. Trujillo State. Under the 
project, Boconó Agricultural School will be enlarged and 
new equipment will be purchased. The plan also calls 
for the addition of more advanced courses. Specifically, 
three new courses will be added gradually at grades 7, 
8, and 9 of the official secondary technical training cycle. 
The improvements will allow the school, founded in 1956 
in western Venezuela, to more than double its present 
enrollment capacity to accommodate 350 students. 

D I S T R I B U T I O N O F L O A N S 1 9 6 1 - 1 9 9 1 
(In thousands of l '.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 

Planning and Reform 
Energy 
Industry' and Mining 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Environmental and Public Health 
Transpor ta t ion and Communica t ions 
Educat ion, Science and Techno logy 
Tour ism 
Urban Deve lopmen t 
Preinvestment 
Export Financing 

Total 

705,653 
403,444 
321,243 
268,196 
259,705 
192,168 
81,608 
75,000 
31,871 
21.926 

I. u n 

Total Cost of 
the Projects 

$1,415,000 
1.901.500 
1.176,594 

720,575 
651,596 
638,600 
197,626 
150,000 
94,450 
! 1.691 
2,006 

$2,362,218 $6,992,641 
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REGIONAL 

The Bank has made 40 loans totaling $1,455.4 million for regional 
projects. Sector emphasis has been on energy, transportation and 
communications, planning and reform, industry and mining, and 
preinvestment. Cumulative disbursements total $1,336.5 million. 
In 1991, the Bank approved 15 major technical cooperations. 

) TARI. )" LENDING AND DISBl IRSEMENTS 
(In millions of dolíais) 

300 

250 

150 

82 83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 

Lending I )isbursements 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Agricultural Research Centers 

A $20.8 million technical cooperation grant from the FSO 
will support the programs of three International Agricul
tural Research Centers (IARCs) in Latin America: the In
ternational Maize and Wheat Improvement Center 
(CIMMYT) in Mexico, the International Tropical Agricul
ture Center in Colombia (CIAT), and the International 
Potato Center (CIP) in Peni. In addition to providing bud
getary support, the grant will finance seven special agri
cultural research projects, for which S6.1 million of the 
total grant amount has been reserved. Examples of the 
projects include CIMMYT's work to generate corn germ 
plasm tolerant of acid soil; CIAT's training program for 
instructors in bean, cassava, and rice production; and 
CIP's efforts to produce potato strains resistant to late 
blight. One project funded by the grant and focused on 
improving agricultural research management is being 
conducted by a center in Amsterdam—lhe International 
Service for National Agricultural Research. 

Studies on the Paraguay-Paraná River 

A $7.5 million nonreimbursable financing from the FSO 
will support technical, economic, and environmental fea
sibility studies on the Paraguay-Paraná (Puerto Cáceres-
Nueva Palmira) Waterway, which links the interior of 
South America with deep-water ports along the lower 
parts of the Paraná and La Plata rivers, crossing parts of 
Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil, Paraguay, and Umguay. The 
project will evaluate the feasibility of improving naviga
bility n[ the waterway for year round river transport and 
productive activity, thus helping develop production and 

trade in the River Plate Basin. Specifically, the studies will 
provide a framework within which the involved govern
ments can plan future measures affecting the waterway. 
Besides funding studies and improving the institutional 
capacity of the Secretariat of the Intergovernmental Com
mittee on the Paraguay-Paraná (Puerto Cáceres-Nueva 
Palmira), the financing will establish a coordinating unit 
to monitor the studies and other important aspects of the 
project. 

Control and Prevention of Cholera 

A $3-8 million technical cooperation grant from the So
cial Progress Trust Fund will support a program carried 
out by the Pan American Health Organization to control 
and prevent cholera in the region. Project activities will 
build on and complement existing national and interna
tional efforts to strengthen epidemiological surveillance, 
improve the capacity of the laboratory network, and de
velop activities related to environmental health and food 
hygiene. Such efforts will rely primarily on training, ad
visory services, health education, and dissemination of 
information to the community. 

Support for Children at Risk in Central America and 
Panama 

This technical cooperation grant of S3,075,000 from the 
Social Progress Trust Fund will finance a program for 
young people in difficult physical, psychological, and 
social conditions in Central America and Panama. The 
beneficiaries range from children who live at home but 
who earn a daily subsistence, to children who live on 
the streets with no protection. The activities are designed 
to protect the children and integrate them into society. 
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primarily through education or training. Accordingly, the 
grant will concentrate on creating or enhancing the nec
essary infrastructure by providing advisory services; fund
ing studies on, for example, small productive projects that 
young people could manage or on alternative ways to 
care for teenage mothers; and training those who work 
with street children. 

Support for Trade Liberalization 

A $2.1 million technical cooperation grant from the FSO 
will be used to promote dialogue on the trade compo
nent of the Enterprise for the Americas Initiative. The fi
nancing will support colloquia and conferences to bring 
together leading experts and decision makers on trade 
matters from throughout the Western Hemisphere to pro
mote their exchange of views. The dialogue will lead to 
the development of documents shedding light on the 
principal implications of the initiative for trade policy, 
law, and other areas, and identify alternative courses of 
action for promoting trade liberalization in the hemi
sphere . The U.N. Economic Commission for Latin 
America and the Caribbean is the executing agency. 

Agriculture Development in Central America 

This $1,184,000 technical cooperation grant will cofinance 
the activities of the Regional Unit for Technical Assistance 
(RUTA) in support of agricultural and rural development 
in Central America and Panama. Financiers include the 
International Bank for Reconstruction and Development 
with funds under its administration from the Government 
of Japan, the International Fund for Agricultural Devel
o p m e n t , and the Uni ted Na t ions D e v e l o p m e n t 
Programme. RUTA will advise each country's technical 
units on sector and subsector studies as well as on the 
analysis of policies upon which the programming of vi
able agricultural investments is based. With its staff ex
perts and consultants, RUTA will train the national tech
nical units' professionals in the participating countries 
through in-service training backed up by short courses, 
seminars, and workshops at the local or regional level. 

Information Systems for Community Health 

The Bank approved a $1.84 million technical coopera
tion grant from the FSO to set in place a system to im
prove the capacities of Barbados and countries in the 
Eastern Caribbean to provide primary health care effi
ciently and cost effectively. To be carried out by the Pan 
American Health Organization, the project has two inter
related components. The first is the design and develop

ment of the health management information system and 
installation of the system in each Ministry of Health. The 
second is strengthening of the institutional mechanisms, 
largely through staff training, that will be needed for the 
successful operation and management of the project and 
health management information system. 

Support for the University of the West Indies 

This $1.3 million nonreimbursable technical cooperation 
from the FSO will assist the University of the West Indies 
and the office of its vice-chancellor to implement the 
University Centre. Created during a restructuring of the 
university in 1984, the centre is charged with coordinat
ing academic, administrative, and financial activities, in
cluding operational management and evaluation and stra
tegic planning. The grant will help the centre to develop 
management information and human resource informa
tion systems; to improve the delivery of special projects 
and the quality of campus development plans; to set in 
place frameworks for effective financial planning and 
budgeting; and to strengthen the Office of Academic Af
ta ir.v 

Support for Environmental Strategies and Projects 

This technical cooperation grant of 81,165.000 from the 
FSO will support and strengthen the capacity of the 
Bank's borrowing countries and their regional and sub-
regional organizations to analyze, draw up, and carry out 
policies, strategies, and programs for using natural re
sources for sustainable development. Two of the three 
subprograms involve preparation of reports—one follow
ing up on Our Own Agenda, and the other setting a 
framework for action in the Amazon. The third subpro
gram will fund a team of experts to work with the Cen
tral American Commission on Development and the En
vi ronment in. among other activities, deve lop ing 
strategies and action plans, designing projects, and plan
ning programs. 

Amazon Information System 

This technical cooperation grant of $877,000 from the 
FSO will expand and improve the technical and scien
tific capacity of universities and other members of the 
Association of Amazonian Universities (UNAMAZ). 
UNAMAZ was created as a center for addressing prob
lems of the region through cooperation and information 
exchange. The financing will build a system for coop
erative retrieval, processing, and dissemination of scien
tific, technological, and cultural information on the Ama-
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zonian region, primarily on the environment and natural 
resources. 

Support for Fourth World Congress on Protected 
Areas 

Fiscal Management Strengthening 

A technical cooperation grant of $650,000 from the FSO 
will support a training program to improve the manage
ment capabilities of senior officials from the tax depart
ments of up to 18 Latin American countries. The pro
gram will train the participants to use human, financial, 
and technical resources more efficiently. Staff from the 
U.S. Internal Revenue Service and the Inter-American 
Center of Tax Administrators will teach three intensive 
courses lasting five weeks and offered once a year for 
three consecutive years. The executing agency is the Min
istry of Finance of Venezuela. 

A technical cooperation grant of $280,000 from the FSO 
will support the Latin American component of the Fourth 
World Congress on National Parks and Protected Areas 
organized by the International Union for the Conserva
tion of Nature and Natural Resources (IUCN), a nongov
ernmental organization based in Switzerland. The con
gress will be held in Venezuela in February 1992. The 
grant will fund participation at the meeting of up to 20 
professionals from the Bank's borrowing countries. Meet
ing proceedings will be published as a joint effort by the 
Bank and IUCN. 

Analysis of Agriculture Policy and Women 

Support for the West Indian Commission 

A technical cooperation grant of $650,000 from the FSO 
will support a program aimed at promoting economic 
integration of the Caribbean Community and introduc
ing reforms conducive to export development and glo
bal competitiveness. The program features primarily stud
ies and seminars. Studies range from topics such as the 
impact of a monetary union and formation of a common 
currency area, to the possibility of forming a regional 
stock exchange by electronically linking the three exist
ing stock exchanges. Among other topics, workshops will 
focus on establishing a policy and institutional framework 
for wider relations between the Commonwealth Carib
bean and the rest of the hemisphere. 

This technical cooperation grant of $230,000 from the 
Social Progress Trust Fund will fund studies, a seminar, 
and a workshop that will develop the basis for technical 
principles to shape policies that affect women working 
in agriculture in five Central American countries (Costa 
Rica, El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras, and Nicaragua). 
The studies will concentrate on women's participation in 
the production of food; policies affecting food produc
tion and their impact on rural women; women and tech
nology development and transfer; and the role of women 
in food marketing. 

Strengthening of Women's World Banking 

Two technical cooperation grants—one for S400.000 from 
the Norwegian Development Fund for Latin America and 
the other for 5150,000 from the FSO—will fund a train
ing program to strengthen the administrative capacity of 
17 affiliates of Women's World Banking (WWB) in 13 of 
the region's countries. The project will provide financing 
for regional meetings and training programs for mem
bers of the boards of directors and for executive staff 
members. In addition, training manuals and videos will 
be prepared for the affiliates. WWB is a non-profit orga
nization incorporated in the Netherlands and headquar
tered in New York City with affiliates worldwide, which 
aims to bring women into the economic mainstream. 

D I S T R I B U T I O N O F L O A N S 1 9 6 1 - 1 9 9 1 
((In thousands of U.S. dollars)) 

Sector Amount 

Energy 
Transpor ta t ion and Communica t ions 
Planning and Reform 
Industry and Mining 
Preinvestment 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Educat ion. Science and Techno logy 
1'rban Deve lopmen t 
Other 
Total 

S 1.092,899 
138,220 
80,000 
58,433 
32,603 
10,330 
9.902 
5,465 

27,550 

Total Cost of 
the Projects 

S"',228,418 
218,216 
515,000 
211,615 

58,752 
49,430 
25,410 
10,000 
45,999 

$1,455,402 «8,362,840 
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STATEMENT O F A P P R O V E D LOANS, 1 9 9 1 ' 
Ordinary Capital 

Country SECTOR (Project) 

Amount 
(Expressed in 

Date millions of Term 
Approved U.S. dollars) (Years) 

ARGENTINA AGRICULTURE (Modernization of Agricultural Services) 

PLANNING AND REFORM (Financial Recovery and Economic 
Development Program for the Argentine Provinces) 

SANITATION (Water Supply and Sewerage System) 

ENERGY (Provincial Electric Energy Program) 

PLANNING AND REFORM (Public Sector Reform) 

MICROENTERPRISES (Global Credit Program for Small 
Business and Microenterprise) 

3/6/91 

3/6/91 

3/28/91 

9/25/91 

9/25/91 

10/30/91 

41.2 

200.0 

70.0 

140.0 

325.0 

30.0 

20 

20 

2S 

20 

20 

20 

BAHAMAS ENERGY (Family Islands Electrification Program) 

ENERGY (Family Islands Electrification Program) 

12/11/91 

12/11/91 

28.02 

3.8 

20 

20 

20 

20 

BOLIVIA PLANNING AND REFORM (Multisectoral Credit Program) 

PLANNING AND REFORM 
(Financial Sector Reform and Investment Promotion) 

9/11/91 

9/11/91 

80.0 

60.0 

BRAZIL SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY 
(Science and Technology Development Program) 

SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY 
(Science and Technology Development Program) 

URBAN DEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING 
(Social Action Program in Sanitation) 

TRANSPORTATION 
(Highway Program for the State of Pernambuco) 

TRANSPORTATION 
(Highway Program for the State of Espirito Santo) 

SANITATION (Drainage, Roads, Water and Sewerage 
Project in the Low-Lying Areas of Belém 

3/28/91 

3/28/91 

4/24/91 

10/23/91 

10/23/91 

11/20/91 

100.0 

2.0 

300.0 

83.5 

52.0 

115.0 

2d 

20 

25 

20 

20 

25 

CHILE PLANNING AND REFORM 
(Investment Sector Reform Program) 

HEALTH (Health Services Rehabilitation) 

PREINVESTMENT (Preinvestment Program) 

6/19/91 

7/24/91 

10/2/91 

150.0 

70.0 

10.0 

20 

2S 

20 

20 

20 

COLOMBIA PLANNING AND REFORM (Investment Sector Program) 

PLANNING AND REFORM (Investment Sector Program) 

10/16/91 

10/16/91 

200.0 

5.0 

'Variable interest rate on outstanding balance is established semi-annually. 
2 Interest rate is partially defrayed by Intermediate Financing Facility. 

93 



INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

STATEMENT OF APPROVED LOANS, 1991 
Ordinary Capital (continued) 

Country SECTOR (Project) 

Amount 
(Expressed in 

Date millions of Term 
Approved U.S. dollars) (Years) 

COSTARICA SANITATION (Urban Water and Sanitary Infrastructure in Limón) 10/9/91 28.02 25 

SANITATION (Urban Water and Sanitary'Infrastructure in Limón) 10/9/91 23.0 25 

EDUCATION (Education Program) 12/18/91 28.02 25 

ECUADOR INDUSTRY (Multisector Global Credit Program) 11/27/91 100.0 20 

25 EL SALVADOR 

HONDURAS 

TRANSPORTATION (Trunk Highway Program) 12/4/91 

JAMAICA PLANNING AND REFORM 
(Trade, Finance, and Investment Sector Program) 

URBAN DEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING 
(Rural Township Development Program) 

URBAN DEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING 
(Rural Township Development Program) 

9/18/91 

12/4/91 

12/4/91 

95.0 

ENERGY (Energy Sector Hybrid Program - Investment Component) 11/13/91 50.0 20 

ENERGY (Energy Sector Hybrid Program 
- Sector Adjustment Component) 11/13/91 9-0 20 

TRANSPORTATION 
(Highway Rehabilitation. Expansion, and Upgrading 12/18/91 85.0 20 

75.0 

28.02 

8.0 

20 

25 

25 

MEXICO AGRICULTURE (Agricultural Sector Program) 

OTHER (Export Sector Adjustment Program) 

AGRICULTURE (Irrigation and Drainage Investment Program) 

7/10/91 

8/7/91 

11/27/91 

200.0 

250.0 

200.0 

20 

20 

20 

NICARAGUA PLANNING AND REFORM 
(Trade and Finance Adjustment Program) 10/9/91 20.0- 20 

20 

20 

PARAGUAY TRANSPORTATION (The Concepción-Cuero Fresco Highway) 10/2/91 

ENERGY (Electric Transmission and Distribution Program) 11/20/91 

PERU PLANNING AND REFORM (Trade Sector Adjustment Program) 9/18/91 

PLANNING AND REFORM (Trade Sector Adjustment Program) 9/18/91 

TRANSPORTATION (Highway Repair and Maintenance) 11/27/91 

62.0 

100.0 

425.0 

4.9 

210.0 

20 

20 

20 

TRINIDAD 
AND TOBAGO ENERGY (Secondary Oil Recovery and Modernization 

of the Pointe-à-Pierre Refinery 2/6/91 260.0 15 

■'Interest rate is partially defrayed by Intermediate Financing Facility. 
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INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

STATEMENT OF APPROVED LOANS, 1991 
Ordinary Capital (continued) 

Country SECTOR (Project) 

Amount 
(Expressed in 

Date millions of Term 
Approved U.S. dollars) (Years) 

URUGUAY PLANNING AND REFORM (Finance Sector Adjustment Program) 8/7/91 150.0 20 

PLANNING AND REFORM (Finance Sector Adjustment Program) 8/7/91 1.7 20 

SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY (Science and Technology Program) 11 20 91 28.0J 2=5 

SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY (Science and Technology Program) 11/20/91 7.0 25 

PLANNING AND REFORM (Social Investment Program) 12/4/91 28.0- 25 

PLANNING AND REFORM (Social Investment Program) 12/4/91 8.0 25 

VENEZUELA FORESTRY (Eastern Forestry Development Program - Stage II) 10/16/91 62.5 

PLANNING AND REFORM (Local Soeial Investment Program) 12/4/91 84.0 

PLANNING AND REFORM (Program to Reform and Modernize 
the Tax Administration System) 12/18/91 10.0 

20 

20 

STATEMENT OF A P P R O V E D LOANS, 1 9 9 1 ' 
Fund for Special Operations 

Country 

BOLIVIA 

SECTOR (Project) 

Amount 
(Expressed in 

Date millions of Term 
Approved U.S. dollars) (Years) 

ARGENTINA ENVIRONMENT AND PUBLIC HEALTH 

(Water Supply and Sewerage System) 3/28/91 30.0 25 

HEALTH (Institute of Cardiology and Cardiovascular Surgery) 7/31/91 2.7 20 

ENERGY (Provincial Electric Energy Program) 9/25/91 25.0 25 

MICROENTERPRISES 
(Global Credit Program for Small Business and Microenterprise) 10/30/91 15.0 25 
HEALTH (Basic Health Services) S IS 91 33.9 40 

BRAZIL URBAN DEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING 
(Social Action Program in Sanitation) 

TRANSPORTATION 
(Highway Program for the State of Pernambuco) 

TRANSPORTATION 
(Highway Program for the State of Espirito Santo) 

SANITATION (Drainage. Roads. Water and Sewerage Project 
in the Low-Lying Areas of Belém) 

4/24/91 

10/23/91 

10/23/91 

11/20/91 

50.0 

25.0 

15.6 

30.0 

25 

25 

25 

25 

'Interest rates on Fund for Special operations loans ran- between I and i percent, depending on the stage of development of the countiy and lhe 
nature of the project. 
-'Interest rate is partially defrayed by Intermediate Financing Facility. 
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INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

STATEMENT OF APPROVED LOANS, 1991 
Fund for Special Operations (continued) 

Country SECTOR (Project) 

Amount 
(Expressed in 

Date millions of Term 
Approved U.S. dollars) (Years) 

DOMINICAN 
REPUBLIC EDUCATION (Basic Education Improvement Program) 

EL SALVADOR PREINVESTMENT (Preinvestment Program) 

PLANNING AND REFORM (Social Investment Fund) 

TRANSPORTATION (Trunk Highway Program) 

6/26/91 

7/17/91 

7/24/91 

12/4/91 

29.3 

7.0 

33.0 

25.0 

to 

40 

40 

40 

GUATEMALA FORESTRY (Management of Renewable Natural Resources 
in the Upper Chixoy River Valley) 12/11/91 14.4 40 

GUYANA ENERGY (Guyana Electricity Corporation Rehabilitation) 

AGRICULTURE (Agricultural Sector Hybrid Program 
- Adjustment Component) 

AGRICULTL.RE (Agricultural Sector Hybrid Program 
- Investment Component) 

1/23/91 

12/18/91 

12/18/91 

15.5 

30.0 

22.0 

40 

40 

10 

HAITI PLANNING AND REFORM 
(Economic and Social Assistance Program) 3/28/91 

NICARAGUA PLANNING AND REFORM 
(Trade and Finance Adjustment Program) 

PLANNING AND REFORM 
(Trade and Finance Adjustment Program) 

ENERGY (Electric Power System Rehabilitation Project) 

10/9/91 

12.4 

110.0 

10/9/91 2.5 

12/11/91 19.0 

4 0 

HONDURAS ENERGY 
(Energy Sector Hybrid Program - Sector Adjustment Component) 11/13/91 46.0 40 

TRANSPORTATION 
(Highway Rehabilitation. Expansion, and Upgrading) 12/18/91 25.0 40 

40 

40 

40 

TRINIDAD 
AND TOBAGO ENVIRONMENTAL PROGRAMS 

(Environmental Protection and Rehabilitation) 5/8/91 4.0 35 
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INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

POPULATION AND GROWTH RATES, 1960-90 TABLE 1 

Country 

I960 1970 1980 1985 1987 1988 1989 

(In thousands) 

1990 

Average Annual Growth Rates 

1961-70 1971-80 1981-90 

(In percent) 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Bolivia 
Brazil 

20,616 
113 
231 

3,428 
72,594 

23,962 
171 
239 

4,325 
95,847 

28,237 
210 
249 

5.570 
121,286 

30,331 
232 
253 

6,371 
135.564 

31,137 
241 
254 

6,730 
141,452 

31,534 
246 
254 

6,918 
144,428 

31,929 
250 
254 

7,113 
147,404 

32,322 
255 
255 

7,314 
150,368 

1.5 
4.2 
0.3 
2.4 
2.8 

1.7 
2.1 
0.4 
2.6 
2 . 1 

l . i 

1.9 
0.2 
2.8 
2 2 

Chile 7,690 9,599 11,145 12,122 12,536 12,748 12,961 13.173 2.2 1.5 1.7 
Colombia 15,939 21,360 26,906 29,879 31,104 31,725 32,349 32,978 3.0 2.3 2.1 
Costa Rica 1,236 1,731 2,284 2,642 2,791 2.866 2,941 3,015 .3.4 2.8 2.8 
Dominican Republic 3,231 4,423 5,697 6,416 6,716 6,867 7,019 7,170 3.2 2.6 2.3 
Ecuador 4,413 6,051 8,123 9,317 9,816 10,070 10,327 10,587 3.2 3.0 2.7 

El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 

2,570 
3,964 

569 
3,675 
1,935 

3.588 
5,246 

730 
4,535 
2,627 

4.525 
6,917 

758 
5,370 
3,662 

4,768 
7,963 

757 
5,889 
4.383 

4,934 
8,434 

756 
6,127 
4,679 

5.032 
8,681 

755 
6,253 
4,829 

5,138 
8,935 

755 
6,381 
4,982 

5,252 
9,197 

755 
6.513 
5.138 

3.4 
2.8 
2.5 
2.1 
3.1 

2.3 
2.8 
0.4 
1.7 
3.4 

1.5 
2.9 
0.0 
1.9 
3.4 

Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama' 
Paraguay 

1,629 
38,020 

1,493 
1,105 
1,773 

1,869 
52,771 
2,053 
1,487 
2,351 

2,173 
70,416 

2,771 
1,956 
3,147 

2,336 
79,376 

3,272 
2,180 
3,693 

2,409 
83,039 

3,501 
2,274 
3,922 

2,446 
84,886 
3,622 
2,322 
4,039 

2,483 
86,740 
3,745 
2,370 
4,158 

2,521 
88.598 

3,871 
2,418 
4,277 

1.4 
3.3 
3.2 
3.0 
2.9 

1.5 
2.9 
3.0 
2.8 
3.0 

1.5 
2.3 
3.4 
2.1 
3.1 

Peru 9,931 
Suriname 290 
Trinidad and Tobago 843 
Uruguay 2,538 
Venezuela 7,502 

13,193 17.295 19,417 
369 

1,027 
2,808 

10,604 

352 
1,068 
2,914 

15,024 

353 
1,118 
3,008 

17,317 

20.261 
357 

1,144 
3,042 

18,272 

20.684 
359 

1,157 
3,060 

18,757 

21.113 
362 

1,171 
3,077 

19.246 

21,550 
364 

1,215 
3,094 

19,735 

2.9 
-5.4 
2.0 
1.0 
3.5 

2.7 
-0.6 
0.4 
0.4 
3.5 

2.2 
0.3 
1.3 
0.6 
2.8 

Latin America 207,328 272,966 348,055 388,957 405,928 414,538 423,203 431,934 2.8 2.5 2.2 

Source: IDB estimates based on data from the Latin American Demographic Center and the United Nations Population Division. 
1 Panama includes the former Canal Zone, from 1980. 
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INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

GROSS DOMESTIC P R O D U C T PER CAPITA1 TABLE 2 

Countn 1960 

(In 1988 U.S. dollars) 

19_() 1980 10S.S 1989 1990 1970 

(As a percent of OECD-) 

1980 1988 1989 1990 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Bolivia 
Brazil 

2,518.2 
8.992.5 
3,277.7 

" 8 . 8 
1,018.4 

3,336.1 
8,491.0 
5,995.1 

985.0 
1.3on 5 

3,612.5 
9.096.4 
5,824.5 
1,130.4 
2.353. i 

2,890.3 
9,950.8 
6,069.8 

880.4 
2,321.4 

2.688.7 
9,987.4 
6,258.9 

874.4 
2,331.5 

2.638.3 
9,901.6 
5,804.5 

869.4 
2,169.3 

29.4 
74.7 
52.7 
8.7 

11.4 

25.3 
64.2 
41.1 
8.0 

16.6 

17.0 
58.5 
35.7 

5.2 
13.7 

Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 

1,275.2 
1,050.8 

894.3 
1.130.1 

741.2 

1.833.5 
1,496.1 
1,261.2 
1,824.2 

873.7 

1,339.0 
2,138.2 

921.3 
2,288.6 
1,496.8 

1.302.2 
1.919.7 

590.1 
1.960.1 
1.449.9 

1,384.7 
1,943.4 

549.9 
1,914.4 
1,491.1 

1,426.4 
1,980.5 

532.3 
1,966.8 
1,493.7 

16.1 
13.2 
11.1 
16.0 
7.7 

9.4 
15.1 
6.5 

16.2 
10.6 

-.-
11.3 
3.5 

11.5 
8.5 

15.4 
57.3 
35.9 

5.0 
13.4 

7.9 
11.2 
3.2 

11.0 
8.6 

14.9 
56.1 
32.9 
4.9 

12.3 

Chile 1.646.8 1.999.8 2,229.5 2,255.8 2,443.5 2,450.8 17.6 15_ 133 14.0 1.3.9 
Colombia 731.3 902.2 1.225.6 1,374.9 1,393.2 1,420.3 7.9 8.6 8.1 8.0 8.0 
Costa Rica 1,075.5 1,372.6 1,768.0 1,620.2 1.663.4 1.676.8 12.1 12.5 9.5 9.5 9.5 
Dominican Republic 416.1 499.8 759.0 -<>l.s 776.4 716.4 4.4 5.4 4.5 4.5 4.1 
Ecuador 629.8 764.5 1.348.6 1.258.6 1,238.0 1,235.9 6.7 9.5 7.4 _.l 7.0 

El Salvador 1,031.4 1,295.0 1.325.1 1.087.7 1,082.3 1.091.0 11.4 9.4 6.4 6.2 6.2 
Guatemala 638.4 82-1.2 1.083.4 878.8 887.5 889.2 7.3 7.6 5.2 5.1 5.0 
Guyana 656.7 735.6 765.7 609.2 572.3 545.8 6.5 5.4 3.6 3.3 3.1 
Haiti 368.8 323.8 434.6 353-4 341.2 324.2 2.8 3.1 2.1 2.0 1.8 
Honduras 652.6 808.0 1,013.8 925.3 920.1 887.4 7.1 7.2 5.4 5.3 5.0 

8.1 
11.2 
3.0 

11.1 
8.5 

Peru 1.329.2 1,708.3 1.860.3 1.673.7 1,429.7 1,340.7 15.0 13.1 9.8 8.2 7.6 
Suriname 1.9.311 2,549.9 4,142.7 3,620.3 3,654.8 3,647.9 22.4 29.2 21.3 21.0 20.7 
Trinidad and Tobago 3.080.4 3.838.8 6,358.2 4.415.3 4,343.7 4,195.0 33.8 44.9 26.0 24.9 23.8 
Uruguay 2,094.2 2,209.0 2.859.4 2,753.5 2,764.5 2,768.9 19.4 20.2 16.2 15.9 15.7 
Venezuela 2732.4 3,553.3 3,828.7 3.390.4 2,998.8 3,038.0 313 27.0 19.9 17.2 17.2 

Latin America 1,236.4 1,588.3 2,200.3 2,034.5 2,003.8 1,948.3 14.0 15.5 12.0 11.5 11.0 

Sources: For countries in Latin America. IDB estimates based on official statistics; and for Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) 
countries, OECD Main Economic Indicators. October 1991. 
' See Economic and Social Progress in Latin America, 1991 report. Statistical Appendix. Methodological Notes for Tables B-l to B-17. 
J Due to differences in the methodology used by the IDB and the OECD for conversion of national accounts to a common currency, the data are not strictly 
comparable to those published in previous issues of the Annual Report. The per capita GDP of OECD countries in constant 1988 t'.S. dollars was estimated 
at $11,366 for 1970. 514,170 for 1980, 517,003 for 1988, $17,419 for 1989 and 517,651 for 1990. 
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INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

GROWTH OF GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT BY SECTOR OF ORIGIN, 1987-90 
(Average annual growth rates in percent) 

TABLE 3 

Country 

Agriculture1 

1987 1988 1989 1990 1987 

Industry2 

1988 1989 1990 1987 

Services* 

1988 1989 1990 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Bolivia 
Brazil 

3.3 

-11.2 
3.7 

15.0 

0.0 

-5.9 
2.0 

-0.4 

-2.9 

-9.0 
-1 .2 

2.2 

9.8 

7.2 
-2.0 
-4.4 

2.1 

-1.1 
1.2 
1.0 

-5.9 

6.9 
11.5 
-2.6 

-9.7 

5.6 
7.7 
4.0 

-4.5 
6.4 

-8.8 

2.1 

5.4 
3.2 

-0.8 

3.4 
-1.0 
-0.2 

-3.0 

4.2 
0.8 
1.6 

0.6 

-3.5 
2.2 

-1.7 

Chile 3.4 5.3 4.8 3-3 4.5 7.4 9.4 0.4 7.1 7.6 11.3 2.8 
Colombia 6.4 2.8 4.5 6.7 5.8 4.5 4.4 4.4 4.5 4.8 2.1 2.5 
Costa Rica 4.2 4.6 7.3 2.5 5.2 2.0 4.9 2.3 4.5 3.2 4.9 4.2 
Dominican Republic 2.9 -1.3 2.3 -6.2 18.8 -1.8 4.7 -11.5 4.1 2.7 4.4 -1.5 
Ecuador 2.5 7.6 3.4 3.6 - 1 3 9 15.9 -2.8 1.4 2.0 2.7 2.8 2.6 

El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 

2.1 
3.9 

-3.1 
0.3 
4.1 

-1.0 
4.5 

-8.6 
-1.3 
1.8 

0.5 
3.1 

-3.0 
-1.1 
6.5 

7.4 
3.7 

151 
-3.7 

4.0 

4.0 
37 

-0.5 
0.3 
1.0 

3.5 
4.2 

-2.5 
-1.0 
6.7 

2.5 
3.5 

■14.5 
-0.4 

2.8 

1.0 
1.2 
2.6 

-7.3 
-0.8 

1.9 
3.3 
3.3 
1.0 
6.6 

1.4 
3.5 
0.1 

-1.9 
5.9 

1.5 
4.5 
2.S 

-2.3 
1.8 

2.8 
3.6 

-3.1 
-0.3 
-2.9 

Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 

5.2 
1.1 

-3.2 
7.4 
7.0 

-5.5 
-3.2 
10.2 
-5.0 
12.0 

-4.2 
-4.5 

2.4 
3.6 

11.8 
3.4 
2.0 
4.2 
2.2 

7.6 
3.5 

-0.4 
2.7 
3.6 

3.1 
2.7 

-24.8 
-28.1 

5.5 

16.8 
5.8 

-8.3 
-3.6 

5.2 

6.8 
5.3 

-3.6 
11.2 
3.0 

7.1 
0.8 
0.1 
1.3 
3.3 

l.o 
1.7 

■ 10.9 
-14.1 

3.8 

Latin America 7.1 0.5 0.2 0.9 2.6 -0.7 0.9 2.8 1.6 0.6 

1.8 
3.2 

-5.1 
-0.2 

5.0 

1.6 
3.4 
0.4 
3 7 
3.6 

Peni 5.1 7.9 -4.9 -8.6 12.7 -10.4 -15.7 -3.6 8.9 -10.2 -11.7 -4.0 
Suriname 5.5 -0.5 0.0 0.4 -17.6 17.5 9.0 0.4 -4.6 4.2 1.6 0.4 
Trinidad and Tobago 3.9 -3.5 14.9 15.3 -8.6 -1.7 -0.3 0.7 -3.2 -5.3 -1.2 -1.0 
Uruguay 4.6 -1.6 1.5 1.9 11.3 0.4 -1.8 0.2 6.7 -0.9 2.7 0.8 
Venezuela 4.0 4.6 -5.1 -1.3 3.7 6.5 -10.4 6.7 3.4 5.3 -8.9 2.7 

0.5 0.7 

Source: IDB estimates based on official statistics of member countries. 
1 Agriculture includes agriculture and livestock production, hunting and fishing, and forestry. 
- Industry includes mining and quarrying, manufacturing, electricity, gas and water, and construction. 
1 Services include commerce, transport and communications, financial services, government, and other services. 
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INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

GROWTH OF GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT BY TYPE OF EXPENDITURE1, 1987-90 
(Average annual growth rates in percent) 

TABLE 4 

Consumption Investment 

1987 1988 1989 1990 1987 1988 1989 1990 

Exports2 

1987 1988 1989 1990 1987 

Imports2 

1988 1989 1990 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Bolivia 
Brazil 

1.1 

1.9 
3.6 
0.2 

-5.6 

3.8 
4.0 

-1.6 

-4.7 

7.9 
2.8 
3.1 

-3.1 

-7.3 
2.6 

-2.9 

17.0 -10.8 -30 .6 -6 .4 

2.5 2.1 12.9 - 4 . 5 
10.9 -24 .6 -10 .5 - 5 . 8 
-1 .1 - 4 . 8 1.2 - 9 . 7 

-2.4 

0.5 
-6 .1 
19.2 

18.6 

2.2 
6.5 

13.1 

7.7 

- 8 . 8 
12.1 

5.1 

18.1 

- 4 . 6 
15.0 
- 0 . 5 

6.0 

-1 .0 
7.9 

-2 .9 

-11.5 

2.0 
-15.0 
-1 .1 

■17.3 

2.2 
4.7 
8.9 

0.1 

- 4 . 5 
9.5 

11.8 

Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Dominican 

Republic 
Ecuador 

3.9 
3.7 
4.5 

4.4 
3.7 

8.8 
4.6 
3.1 

-6.0 
1.6 

7.6 
3.3 
5.0 

10.3 
1.2 

0.7 
2.6 
3-5 

■13.3 
2.8 

22.7 
9.2 
3.4 

41.5 
-3 .1 

9.2 
8.0 

-7.2 

8.2 
-3.6 

28.9 
- 6 . 0 
10.2 

8.4 
6.3 

- 3 . 0 
- 1 . 0 

9.2 

-12.9 
- 2 . 8 

8.8 
7.8 

21.1 

13.0 
-16.1 

6.1 
0.3 
8.9 

8.7 
31.0 

15.7 
9.1 

14.2 

5.5 
- 3 . 2 

7.6 
18.1 

9.9 

5.6 
5.7 

17.1 
5.3 

17.6 

16.8 
15.4 

12.1 
6.6 
0.8 

- 2 . 3 
10.1 

25.3 
- 5 . 0 
16.2 

20.6 
4.4 

0.6 
6.2 

13.4 

-14.4 
1.3 

El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 

0.8 
7.4 

-8.1 
1.1 
5.5 

1.3 
4.3 

-6.8 
-1.5 
6.4 

1 2 
3.3 

-5.7 
-0.1 

2.6 

1.4 
2.3 
1.2 

-4 .2 
- 1 . 0 

- 4 . 2 
32.5 

1.4 
3.9 
7.5 

18.5 
- 1 . 0 

3.5 
- 6 . 9 
- 4 . 9 

26.1 
0.4 

- 5 . 0 
-4 .2 
- 5 . 1 

-29.2 
- 5 . 3 
16.0 

-14.0 
5.2 

12.4 
6.0 
1.5 

- 0 . 6 
0.2 

-9.4 
5.6 
0.0 

-7.2 
3.6 

-13.5 
13.3 

2.9 
-3 .4 

4.6 

44.1 
6.5 
2.2 

- 6 . 0 
- 2 . 0 

0.4 
47.8 
- 9 . 7 

3.3 
2.6 

-0.5 
3.8 

-2.4 
-8.0 

1.5 

6.1 
5.9 
3.3 
1.4 
0.5 

0.4 
- 2 . 4 
15.5 

-15.1 
- 1 . 0 

Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 

3.7 
-0.1 

1.0 
-0.7 

1.6 

10.6 
3.7 

- 5 . 8 
-31.9 

8.1 

8.1 
6.4 

■ 12.7 
17.8 

2.3 

- 0 . 3 
6.1 

- 2 . 6 
15.8 
- 0 . 4 

27.0 
4.1 

- 1 . 5 
2.4 
6.6 

16.8 
13.8 

-29.3 
-63.6 

3.9 

18.9 
5.4 

-22.9 
-43.5 

10.1 

2.6 
10.6 
0.3 

340.8 
9.2 

9.2 
10.1 
- 2 . 2 
- 1 . 9 
36.7 

-3.8 
2.7 

-2.4 
-2.8 

5.9 

0.3 
3.1 

35.4 
- 3 . 6 
25.1 

13.6 
5.2 
4.6 
8.0 
9.3 

12.4 
5.0 
3.5 

- 4 . 4 
19.4 

16.2 
38.0 
- 1 . 8 

-34.1 
8.7 

6.3 
20.7 

-26.4 
13.6 
14.0 

4.5 
22.0 
-5 .2 
40.9 

4.3 

Peai 
Suriname 
Trinidad and 

Tobago 
Uruguay-

Venezuela 

8.4 
- 9 . 0 

■11.3 
12.5 

1.2 

-9.2 
-0.8 

-7.1 
-1.6 
5.7 

• 11.6 
0.3 

-5.0 
0.3 

-1.6 - 0 . 6 
0.7 - 1 . 5 

-4.6 3.5 

28.1 
- 6 . 6 

- 9 . 4 
25.1 

■ 19.4 -18 .1 
18.4 - 7 . 2 
14.2 15.2 

-33.3 
-5.0 

2.1 
-11.8 
-53-0 

8.1 
0.5 

-1.3 
-2.8 
-8.1 

-7.3 
-6.6 

-4.4 
-8.7 
-1.7 

-7 .2 
2.6 

10.3 
9.4 
7.9 

19.5 
1.3 

- 3 . 3 
9.8 
6.1 

-5.0 
0.4 

-2.8 
6.5 
9.5 

14.9 
- 6 . 6 

-26.3 
15.8 

- 9 . 0 
2.8 

-8 .1 
0.0 

19.0 

-21.1 
- 8 . 4 

- 5 . 3 
0.6 

-34.6 

12.4 
0.4 

-6 .4 
- 4 . 5 
-1 .2 

Latin America 1.2 0.2 1.8 0.1 5.3 0.2 -6 .6 -2 .6 7.6 7.4 6.0 6.0 4.2 7.2 2.2 10.2 

Source: IDB estimates based on official statistics of member countries. 
1 Gross domestic product is equal to consumption plus investment plus exports minus imports. 
2 Goods and non-factor services. 
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INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

DISBURSED TOTAL EXTERNAL DEBT OUTSTANDING1, 1981-90 TABLE 5 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

Country 1981 1982 1983 1984 1985 1986 1987 1988 1989 1990 

Argentina 35.657 43,634 45,920 48,857 50,944 52,450 58,458 58,735 64,776 61,144 
Bahamas 160 228 234 213 193 216 193 170 217 267 
Barbados 347 471 605 695 978 1,063 1,182 1,154 1,099 1.071 
Bolivia 3,219 3,329 4,069 4,317 4,805 5,575 5,835 4,901 4,136 4,276 
Brazil 80,875 92,812 98,269 105,254 105.966 113.550 123,668 115,666 111,311 116,173 

Chile 15,664 17,315 17.928 19.737 20,384 21,144 21,472 19,580 18,018 19,114 
Colombia 8,716 10,306 11,412 12,039 14,246 15,362 17,008 16,995 16,878 17,241 
Costa Rica 3,286 3,627 4,177 3,988 4,399 4,575 4,720 4,544 4,603 3.772 
Dominican Republic 2,294 2,519 2,928 3,112 3,502 3,688 3,924 3,992 4,104 4.400 
Ecuador 7,665 7,705 7,595 8,304 8,703 9,334 10,474 10.745 11.315 12.105 

El Salvador 1,127 1,419 1.740 1,826 1,854 1,851 1,975 1,987 2,070 2,133 
Guatemala 1,264 1.537 1,799 2,353 2,654 2,768 2,769 2,605 2,594 2,777 
Guyana 868 951 1.206 1,268 1,485 1,618 1,719 1,722 1,862 1,960 
Haiti 423 536 569 664 718 710 844 818 803 874 
Honduras 1,703 1,842 2,125 2,284 2,728 2,973 3,302 3,305 3,333 3,480 

Jamaica 2,299 2,843 3,412 3,566 4,068 4.187 4,696 4,532 4,537 4,598 
Mexico 78,215 86.019 92.966 94,822 96,867 100,881 109,460 100,781 95,416 96,810 
Nicaragua 2,572 3,331 4,058 4,751 5,736 6,730 7,864 8,587 9,568 10,497 
Panama 3,366 3,923 4,389 4,365 4,755 4,896 5,629 6,045 6,268 6,676 
Paraguay 1,148 1,296 1,414 1,470 1,816 2,086 2,520 2,352 2,385 2,131 

Peru 10,319 12,305 12,061 13.099 14,279 16,154 18.645 18.998 19.921 21,105 
Suriname 26 25 26 38 52 70 85 95 123 
Trinidad and Tobago 1,050 1,203 1,438 1,222 1,448 1,858 1,805 2,158 2,174 2,307 
Uruguay 2,174 2,647 3,292 3,271 3,919 3,906 4,271 3,823 3,761 3,607 
Venezuela 32,116 32,153 38,297 36,881 35,334 34,340 34,680 34,865 32,491 33,305 

Latin America 296,553 333,976 361,929 378,396 391,833 411,985 447,198 429,155 423,763 431,823 

Sources: World Bank, World Debt Tables. 1990-91 and 1991-92: and IDB estimates. 
'Total external debt is the sum of long-term and short-term external debt (including interest arrears), and use of International Monetary Fund (IMF) credit. 
Long-term external debt is made up of public and publicly guaranteed debt and private non-guaranteed debt. Short-term external debt is debt with an original 
maturity of one year or less and could be either public or private. The use of IMF credit denotes repurchase obligations to the IMF with respect to all uses 
of IMF resources, excluding those resulting from drawings in the reserve tranche and the IMF Trust Fund. 
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ANNUAL VARIATION IN THE CONSUMER PRICE INDEX1 

(In percent) 
1971-91 TABLE 6 

C o u n t r i e s w i th Relative 
Price Stabi l i ty (Annual 
Rise in Prices o f Less 
T h a n 5 Percent) 

1971-80 1981-83 1984-86 

Panama 
Barbados 
I londuras 
Bahamas 

0.9 
3.3 
1.1 
4.6 

1987 

Haiti 
P a n a m a 
I [onduras 
B a r b a d o s 

1988 

Panama 
Haiti 
Bahamas 
Honduras 
Barbados 

1.2 
1.6 
Í.9 

1989 1990 

0.0 P a n a m a 
B a r b a d o s 
B a h a m a s 

1991 

0.6 Panama 2.0 
3.0 Trin S Tobago 3.5 
1.6 Barbados 4.9 

S 

Countries with 
Moderate Inflation 
(Annual Rise in Prices 
of between 5 and 20 
Percent) 

Countries with High 
Inflation (Annual Rise 
Greater Than 20 
Percent) 

Panama 
Bahamas 
Honduras 
Venezuela 
Guatemala 
Suriname 
( illV.lll.l 
Dominican Rep. 
El Salvador 
l l . i in 
Costa Rica 
E c u a d o r 
Trin. Si T o b a g o 
Paraguay 
B a r b a d o s 
Mexico 
Jamaica 

9.7 
9.9 

10.3 
10.5 
10.8 
10.9 
11 I 

13.2 
13.4 
I ni 
16.8 
18.5 

Guatemala 
Dominican Rep. 
Suriname 
Bahamas 
Honduras 
I (.liti 
Batbados 
Jamaica 
Venezuela 
Paraguay 
El Salvador 
trin. <S; Tobago 
Chile 
Guyana 

s.l 
6.7 
6.9 
7.1 
8.9 
9.5 

1(1.1) 

I l l s 
10.7 
I ! i 
I ¡ J 
13.7 
19.0 
19.4 

ll.iiii 
Trin. & Tobago 
Suriname 
Venezuela 
Costa Rica 
Guyana 
Colombia 
Guatemala 

6.8 
9.5 

I I I 
117 
12.') 
[6.0 

Bahamas 
Jamaica 
h m & I 
( .11.item.i 
Bolivia 
Dominic 
< osta id. 
Chile 

ibago 

n Rep. 

mi 
6.7 

m " 
12.3 
I in 
16.0 
16.8 
19.') 

Suriname 
Trin. X Toba 
Jamaica 
Guatemala 
Chile 
Bolivia 
El Salvador 

~ s 
s.s 

10.8 
11 -
1(1.11 
19.8 

Bahamas 
Barbados 
Mam 
Honduras 
'trin. it Tobago 
Guatemala 
Jamaica 
Suriname 
Bolivia 
Cosía Rica 
Chile 
El Salvador 

s I 
6.2 
0.9 
9.8 

II I 
I I I 
I I 2 
1S.0 
IS.2 
16.6 
17.0 
17.6 

Trin. \ Tobago 
Suriname 
Bolivia 
Costa Rica 

Bolivia 
Nicaragua 
Colombia 
Peru 
Brazil 
I ruguav 
Argent ina 
Chi le 

2" 2 
2(1,1 
21 i 
il s 
36.7 
63.1 

I m , 
r i I 

C o l o m b i a 
Nicaragua 
E c u a d o r 
Uruguay 
Costa Rica 
Mexico 
Peru 
Brazil 
Bolivia 
Argent ina 

2.1') 
26.6 
27.1 
3 4 1 
53.3 
62.9 
83.7 

115.2 
143.5 
_'(ii i 

111 Sa lvador 
lainaica 
Chile-
D o m i n i c a n Rep, 
P a r a g u a y 
E c u a d o r 
I Iruguay 
Mex ico 
Peru 
Brazil 
Nicaragua 
Argent ina 

22 11 
22.K 
23.3 
24.7 
25.7 
27.4 
68.0 
<•<)« 

117.2 
189.6 
312.1 
163.0 

Paraguay 
Colombia 
El Salvador 
Venezuela 
Guyana 
Ecuador 
S u r i n a m e 
Uruguay 
Pern 
Argent ina 
Mexico 
Brazil 
Nicaragua 

21.9 
23.3 
2 i n 
28 I 
28.7 
29.5 
53.4 
63.6 
8(1.11 

131-3 
131 s 
229.7 
911.9 

Costa Rica 
Paraguay 
Colombia 
Venezue l a 
G u y a n a 

2(1.8 
22.7 
28 I 
29.5 
Ki.ll 

D o m i n i c a n Rep 11 i 
E c u a d o r 
1 Iruguay 
Mexico 
Argent ina 
Peru 
Brazil 

58.3 
62.2 

114.2 
343.0 
666.2 
682.3 

Mexico 
C o l o m b i a 
Pa raguay 

Jii ii 
25.8 
26.2 

Dominican Rep ñ . t 
E c u a d o r 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 
G u y a n a 

75 .6 
si i s 
84.2 
9(1.0 

11.11 
I I II 
17.1 
19.0 

Ham 
Jamaica 
I I. Hi,ill!.I-. 
El Salvador 
Chile-
Mexico 
Colombia 
Paraguay 
Venezuela 
Guatemala 
Ecuador 
Dominican Rep. 59. ( 
Guyana 65.0 
Iruguay I 12. s 

20.8 
22.(1 
233 
24.0 
21. I 
26.7 
29.1 
.18.2 
111.8 
11.2 
I8.S 

Bahama-, 
Paraguay 

llalli 
Chile-
Jamaica 
Mexico 
Bolivia 
Costa Rica 
Guatemala 
Honduras 
Colombia 
Venezuela 
Suriname 
Ecuador 
Dominican Rep 
Guyana 
I iruguay 
Argentina 
Brazil 
Peru 

6.2 
15.0 
15.0 

J o s 
A s 
21.9 
22.(1 
22.8 
24.0 
25.0 
2" n 
28.0 
2SII 
31.7 
51.0 
ss.o 
90.0 

110.2 
172.8 
413.0 
(22.1 

C o u n t r i e s w i th Very H i g h 
Inflat ion (Annual Rise 
Greater T h a n 1 0 0 0 
Percent) Bolivia 1.135.3 Nicaragua 14,295.3 

Brazil 1,287.0 
Argent ina 3,079.2 
Peru 3.398 9 
Nicaragua i. o i 

Argent ina 
Brazil 
Peru 
Nicaragua 

2 31 i " 
2.968.11 
- 181.7 
- , IKS 2 

Nicaragua 1,400.0 

'Annual ave rages of monthly c o n s u m e r pr ice indexes 
Source: International Monetary fund . I n t e r n a t i o n a l F i n a n c i a l Statistics, and IDB est imates . 



INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

BALANCE OF PAYMENTS SUMMARY
1 

(In millions of U.S. dollars) 
1986-90 

1986 1987 1988 

Balance on 

Country 
Merchandise Current 

Trade Accotint 
Capital 

Account 

Reserves 
and 

Related 
Items-

Balance on 

Merchandise Current 
Trade Account 

Capital 
Account 

Reserves 
and 

Related 
Items2 

Balance on 

Merchandise Current 
Trade Account 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Bolivia 
Brazil 

2,446 
-719 
-278 

-51 
8,304 

-2,859 
-26 
-15 

-384 
-5,304 

1,666 
22 
18 

362 
2,006 

891 
-47 
-20 

-114 
3,232 

1,017 
-881 
-327 
-127 

11,158 

-4,235 
-166 

-53 
-422 

-1,450 

2,430 
-18 
101 
199 

4,417 

1,917 
59 
- 6 
48 

-2,165 

El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 

-124 
168 
- 2 

-112 
17 

116 
-17 
112 
-44 
■ 147 

68 
63 
78 
51 

173 

-43 
■ 112 

62 
-24 
-59 

-349 
-355 

4 
-101 
-49 

135 
-442 
-109 

-31 
-224 

-60 
462 

59 
54 

262 

-81 
53 
74 
- 5 

-64 

4,242 
-785 
-373 

-48 
19,168 

-355 
-339 

20 
-103 
-23 

Latin America 16,788 16,518 9,696 8,115 20,336 -9,556 12,794 

-1,572 
-128 

2 
-255 
4,159 

Chile 1,100 -1,137 797 252 1,230 -808 1,021 -135 2,219 -167 
Colombia 1,922 383 1,160 -1,292 1,868 336 -1 -402 827 -216 
Costa Rica 39 -80 77 -94 -138 -256 162 -37 -97 -178 
Dominican Republic -629 -185 91 -53 -880 -363 201 133 -718 -21 
Ecuador 543 -553 1,542 171 -33 -1,131 1,295 98 619 -505 

25 
-414 
-94 
-40 

-229 

Jamaica -247 -38 61 -102 -356 -I36 215 - loi -357 31 
Mexico 4,599 -1,673 1,127 88 8,433 3,968 -1,003 -5,570 1,668 -2,443 
Nicaragua -419 -687 660 211 -439 -678 763 - 6 -482 -715 
Panama -541 354 78 -59 -566 204 277 37 -184 751 
Paraguay -288 -364 181 139 -321 -489 189 -37 -159 -210 

Peru -65 -1,077 736 295 -521 -1,481 867 668 -99 -1,091 
Suriname 33 -22 1 40 64 74 -50 9 118 62 
Trinidad and Tobago 153 -441 -196 721 339 -247 78 255 389 -117 
Uruguay 273 44 18 -287 102 -157 333 -82 292 8 
Venezuela 669 -2,245 -1.149 4,324 1,567 -1,390 538 1,357 -1,998 -5,809 

-4,043 23,438 9,166 

Source: International Monetary Fund (IMF), Balance of Payments Statistics (tape), December 1990; and IDB estimates. 
1 Merchandise trade is equal to exports of goods minus imports of goods valued at f.o.b. prices. Current account is equal to trade plus services plus unrequited 
transfers. Capital account is the net result of capital inflows and outflows of the monetary and nonmonetary sectors. Reserves and related items include the 
changes in monetary gold, special drawing rights, reserve position in the IMF, foreign exchange and use of IMF credit. The table excludes errors and omissions. 
'- According to conventional usage, a minus ( - ) means an increase. 
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INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT HANK 

TABLE 7 

1988 1989 1990 

Capital 
Account 

Reserves 
and 

Related 
Items2 

Balance on 

Merchandise Current 
Trade Account 

Capital 
Account 

Reserves 
and 

Related 
Items2 

Balance on 

Merchandise 
Trade 

Current 
Account 

Capital 
Account 

Reserves 
and 

Related 
Items2 Country 

3.595 
64 
ii 

165 
-1,621 

-1,858 
0 

- 3 8 
43 

-1,711 

5,709 
-944 
-452 

- 6 
16,112 

■1,305 
-157 

-2 
-263 
1,025 

206 
96 

191 
1.495 

1,348 
13 

104 
-1,701 

8,628 
-927 
-472 

55 
11.027 

1,789 
-185 

-20 
-194 

-2,097 

873 
68 

-32 
131 

3.824 

-3,377 
- 1 1 

53 
-12 

-1,135 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Bolivia 
Brazil 

1,102 -826 1,578 -767 1,409 -570 1,273 -790 2,613 -2,331 Chile 
939 -193 1,474 -195 476 -434 2,017 391 -10 -612 Colombia 
196 -242 -238 -414 351 -145 -467 -513 179 206 Costa Rica 
132 -122 -1.039 -127 230 -2 -1,058 -58 138 -8 Dominican Republic 
683 -12 661 -472 734 -192 1,003 -136 435 -382 Ecuador 

61 
275 

59 
55 

221 

148 
•1,355 

707 
481 

-156 

1.215 
-65 
-54 
241 

-1.039 

19 
i n 
21 

-25 
-14 

-135 
6,638 

-43 
5 

ios 

-10 
5 

142 
-18 

3.783 

-662 
-358 

- 3 
-111 

2 

-572 
-645 
-257 
-498 

165 

1.242 
218 
489 
462 

5.632 

-194 
-367 
-130 

-62 
-274 

-295 
-3.958 

-361 
298 
236 

324 
K.J 

-66 
153 

2.K.1 

168 
384 

-213 
72 

249 

349 
1,362 

445 
-26 
-34 

454 
- 1 7 2 

" 
23 

-3.530 

-115 
- _ 1 

-463 
-1 
28 

-45 
-179 

67 
-50 

-111 

-595 
0 

-67 
-116 
-49 

-683 
-228 

-63 
-85 
- - ( ) 

-476 
-3,026 

-270 
-624 

38 

391 

987 
426 

10,868 

-137 
-290 
-141 

-55 
-309 

358 
230 
-45 

19 
323 

-117 
143 
-20 
-26 
-49 

El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
11. induras 

-327 397 -69 Jamaica 
-5,255 9,215 -2,303 Mexico 

-369 438 210 Nicaragua 
134 -546 -295 Panama 
91 79 -231 Paraguay 

-674 709 -268 Peru 
Suriname 

430 -225 -96 Trinidad and Tobago 
223 -69 -281 Uruguay 

8,198 -2,659 -3.366 Venezuela 

6,094 5,715 27,957 5,055 4,800 - 3,308 28,260 297 16,444 -14,382 Latin America 
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INTER-AMERICAN DEVEL OPMENT BA NK 

SELECTED SOCIAL INDICATORS1 

Country 

Vital Statistics 

Crude Birth Caide Death 
Rate Rate 

(Per 1,000 populat ion) 

Infant 
Mortality 

(Per 1,000 
live births) 

Life 
Expectancy 

at Birth 
(years) 

1970 LAE2 1970 LAE 1970 LAE 1970 LAE 

Health 

Population 
per 

Physician 
(persons) 

1970 LAE 

Argentina 23.1 20.6 9.0 8.7 51.8 30.4 66.8 70.9 529 374 
Bahamas 25.3 19.9 6.2 5.8 35.0 26.3 64.9 68.0 1.315 1,060 
Barbados 20.6 16.0 8.7 8.1 38.2 15.8 68.7 74.8 1,914 1,123 
Bolivia 45.5 42.0 19.5 135 153.4 106.4 46.1 53.7 2,018 1.538 
Brazil 34.8 27.4 10.2 7.6 94.6 59.9 59.0 65.6 2,029 1,080 

Chile 29.2 22.7 9.5 6.3 80.0 19.1 62.4 71.8 2,160 1,231 
Colombia 37.1 25.5 9.3 5.9 76.6 38.5 61.0 68.5 2,256 1.245 
Costa Rica 33.4 26.7 6.7 4.0 61.5 17.2 67.1 74.9 1,619 958 
Dominican Republic 41.2 30.2 10.8 6.5 98.4 61.9 58.7 66.5 2.299 1,763 
Ecuador 42.5 31.9 11.8 7.1 99.8 61.3 58.1 65.8 2,909 822 

El Salvador 43.9 35.6 11.6 8.0 103.0 55.6 57.6 62.9 4,101 2.829 
Guatemala 45.0 39.7 14.4 8.1 100.2 55.6 52.5 62.6 3,656 2,184 
Guyana 3 3 9 25.6 6.9 ... 80.2 53.2 59.7 63.7 4,012 6,220 
Haiti 40.7 34.6 17.9 12.5 161.8 114.7 47.6 55.2 12,465 7,179 
Honduras 49.3 39.0 14.7 7.6 115.2 66.4 52.7 64.5 3,774 1,511 

Jamaica 34.4 22.9 8.3 6.1 39.6 10.4 67.7 72.9 2,632 2,044 
Mexico 43.4 28.0 9.4 5.6 73.0 44.8 61.7 69.4 1,553 1,242 
Nicaragua 47.4 40.0 13.5 7.2 106.0 58.2 53.5 64.1 2,136 1,498 
Panama 37.1 25.3 7.7 5.0 46.6 21.8 65.5 72.4 1,657 1,000 
Paraguay 37.7 34.3 7.3 6.3 58.6 40.9 65.3 67.1 2,298 1,459 

Peru 40.8 30.5 13.9 8.6 116.4 84.1 53.9 62.1 1,920 1,042 
Suriname 35.7 31.0 7.6 7.0 53-2 40.2 63.8 67.3 2,150 1,264 
Trinidad and Tobago 27.4 25.5 7.3 6.0 34.4 15.2 66.2 71.3 2,245 954 
Uruguay 20.9 17.1 9.8 9.7 46.4 22.1 68.8 72.5 915 513 
Venezuela 37.9 29.6 7.0 5.3 53.4 34.8 65.2 69.9 1,120 701 

Sources: The Statistical Yearbooks of The United Nations Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean, the United Nations Educational. 
Scientific and Cultural Organization, United Nations Statistical Office (various issues); Pan American Health Organization. Health Conditions in the Americas, 
1990; and the World Bank, Social Indicators of Development, 1991. 
1 Social Indicators are collected by countries through censuses and surveys taken, in many cases, infrequently and on other than an annual basis. Therefore, 
the data for 1970 are for years as close to 1970 as possible and in no case earlier than 1970 nor later than 1979. Data for the latest available estimate (LAE) 
are in no case prior to 1980 and for many of the indicators refer to the latter half of the decade. Furthermore, users should be aware that the concepts, definitions 
and methodologies employed in the collection of such indicators vary from country to country and often vary over time within countries. 
2 Latest available estimate. 
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TABLE 8 

Health Education 

Population Access to Enrollment Ratios 
per Hospital Safe Illiteracy First and Second Third 

Bed Water Rate-1 Levels4 Levels 

(persons) (In percent) (In percent) (In percent) (In percent) 

1970 L"Œ 1970 LAE 1970 U\E 19T) LAE 1970 LAE Country 

179 ... 56 ... 7.4 4.5 70 96 14.2 40.8 Argentina 
196 227 65 ... ... ... ... ... ... ... Bahamas 
98 11" 98 100 0.7 ... 85 101 3.9 19.4 Barbados 

442 ... 33 53 36.8 25.8 54 76 8.7 16.6 Bolivia 
271 ... 55 84 33.8 22.3 65 87 5.3 10.9 Brazil 

265 293 56 87 11.0 5.6 87 92 9.4 17.8 Chile 
451 605 63 ... 19.2 11.9 64 83 4.7 13.9 Colombia 
252 293 74 93 11.6 6.4 76 76 24.3 24.8 Costa Rica 
379 ... 37 50 33.0 22.7 65 ... 6.5 ... Dominican Republic 
432 ... 34 57 25.8 17.6 66 89 7.6 29.3 Ecuador 

524 ... 40 54 42.9 27.9 62 69 3.3 16.8 El Salvador 
461 600 38 58 54.0 45.0 36 51 3.4 8.6 Guatemala 
198 300 75 82 8.4 4.1 79 70 1.9 3.4 Guyana 

1,270 1,397 12 38 78.7 62.4 25 58 0.4 1.2 Haiti 
578 800 34 46 43.1 40.5 57 75 2.1 8.8 Honduras 

244 300 62 ... 3.9 ... 81 82 5.4 4.2 Jamaica 
843 ... 54 70 25.8 9.7 68 84 6.1 15.2 Mexico 
424 399 35 48 42.5 13.0 54 76 5.7 8.4 Nicaragua 
342 300 69 82 21.7 11.8 75 83 6.6 28.2 Panama 
611 ... 11 22 19.9 11.8 67 69 4.3 8.8 Paraguay 

460 590 35 53 27.5 13.0 72 98 10.8 25.5 Peru 
176 112 ... 98 ... 10.0 90 84 1.2 7.7 Suriname 
202 200 96 98 7.8 3.9 73 93 2.9 4.7 Trinidad and Tobago 
169 308 92 ... 6.1 4.6 82 93 9.9 47.8 Uruguay 

2,898 2.700 _5 80 23.5 13.1 71 84 11.7 26.5 Venezuela 

' Proportion of the population 15 years of age and older who cannot with understanding read and write a short simple statement on everyday life. 
1 Gross enrollment of all ages at primary and secondary levels as a percentage of school-age children as defined by the country. School-age children at the 
primary and secondary levels generally range from 6 to 17 years of age. Gross enrollment can be more than 100 percent if some pupils are younger or older 
than the above age range. 
1 Calculated as above with an age group of 20 to 24. 
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PARTIU 

FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

SUBSCRIPTIONS TO CAPITAL STOCK A N D VOTING POWER 

Under the Agreement Establishing the Bank (Agree
ment), each member country shall have 135 votes plus 
one vote for each share of ordinary capital stock held by 
that country. The Agreement also provides that no 
increase in the subscription of any member to the ordi
nary capital stock shall become effective which would 
have the effect of reducing the voting power of the 
regional developing members below 53.5 percent, of the 
United States below 34.5 percent, and of Canada below 
4.0 percent of the total voting power. 

In making decisions concerning operations of the 
Fund for Special Operations, the number of votes and 
percent of total voting power for each member country 
are the same as determined by the provisions of the 
Agreement referred to above. 

Subscriptions to shares of ordinary capital stock, 
and the voting power of the member countries, are listed 
on the following page. 

QUITO, ECUADOR. A project to help Quito expand 
and improve its water system included 
construction of these water storage tanks at the 
Puengasi treatment plant. Each tank has a 2,200 
cubic meter capacity. The project was supported 
by a $28 million IDB loan. 
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STATEMENT OF SUBSCRIPTIONS TO CAPITAL STOCK AND VOTING POWER 
December 31, 1991 

Member countries 

Regional developing members 
Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Suriname  
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 
Total regional developing members 

United States 

Canada . . . . 

Nonregional members 
Austria 
Belgium 
Denmark 
Finland 
France 
Germany 
Israel 
Italy 
Japan 
Netherlands 
Norway 
Portugal 
Spain 
Sweden 
Switzerland 
United Kingdom . . 
Yugoslavia 
Total nonregional members 

GRAND TOTAL 

Subscribed 
shares 

394,991 
7,633 
4,724 

31,708 
394,991 
108,457 
108,378 
15,849 
21,160 
21,160 
15,849 
21,160 
5,877 
13,300 
15,849 
21,160 

253,906 
15,849 
15,849 
15,849 
52,929 
3,222 
15,849 
42,349 
211,620 

1,829,668 

1,181,801 
149,191 

2,697 
6,392 
2,873 
2,697 

32,839 
33,634 
2,658 

32,839 
36,633 
4,992 
2,873 
865 

32,839 
5,593 
7,333 

32,839 
2,697 

243,293 
3,403,953 

Number 
of votes 

395,126 
7,768 
4,859 

31,843 
395,126 
108,592 
108,513 
15,984 
21,295 
21,295 
15,984 
21,295 
6,012 
13,435 
15,984 
21,295 

254,041 
15,984 
15,984 
15,984 
53,064 
3,357 
15,984 
42,484 

211,755 
1,833,043 

1,181,936 
149,326 

2,832 
6,527 
3,008 
2,832 

32,974 
33,769 
2,793 

32,974 
36,768 
5,127 
3,008 
1,000 

32,974 
5,728 
7,468 

32,974 
2,832 

245,588 
3,409,893 

Percentage 
of total 

number of 
votes 

11.59 
0.23 
0.14 
0.93 

11.59 
3.18 
3.18 
0.47 
0.62 
0.62 
0.47 
0.62 
0.18 
0.39 
0.47 
0.62 
7.45 
0.47 
0.47 
0.47 
1.56 
0.10 
0.47 
1.25 
6.21 

53.76 

34.66 

4.38 

0.08 
0.19 
0.09 
0.08 
0.97 
0.99 
0.08 
0.97 
1.08 
0.15 
0.09 
0.03 
0.97 
0.17 
0.22 
0.97 
0.08 
7.20 

100.00 

1 Data are rounded to the nearest one hundredth of one percent; detail may not add to subtotals and grand total because of rounding. 
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ORDINARY 
CAPITAL 

REPORT OF I N D E P E N D E N T ACCOUNTANTS 

Board of Governors 
Inter-American Development Bank 

In our opinion, the financial statements appearing on pages 112 through 124 present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Inter-American Development Bank—Ordinary Capital at December 31,1991 and 1990, and 
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Bank's management; our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance 
with generally accepted auditing standards which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a 
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above. 

PRICE WATERHOUSE 

Washington, D.C. 
February 10, 1992 
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ORDINARY CAPITAL 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

BALANCE SHEET 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars - Note A 

December 31, 

1991 1990 

ASSETS 

Cash and investments 
Cash (Note C) $ 212,967 $ 183,797 
Investments (Note D) 5,708,435 $ 5,921,402 4,404,065 $ 4,587,862 

Loans outstanding (Note E) (Appendix 1-1) 19,260,389 17,728,229 
Allowance for loan losses ( 552,150) 18,708,239 (247,900) 17,480,329 

Accrued interest and other charges 
On investments 98,686 65,655 
On loans 418,817 517,503 410,626 476,281 

Receivable from members (Note J) 
Capital subscriptions 2,654 64,226 
Non-negotiable, non-interest bearing 

demand obligations 444,596 486,167 
Amounts required to maintain value of 

currency holdings 5,664 452,914 5,777 556,170 

Other assets 
Property (Note F) 249,310 246,681 
Unamortized borrowing costs 157,546 146,097 
Miscellaneous 20,317 427,173 82,296 475,074 

Special Reserve assets (Note G) 1,197,239 1,003,377 
Total assets $ 27,224,470 $24,579,093 
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ORDINARY CAPITAL 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

BALANCE SHEET 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars - Note A 

December 31, 

1991 1990 

LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL 

Liabilities 
Borrowings (Note H) (Appendix 1-2) $19,655,933 $17,273,368 

Less unamortized discount (2,274) (23,858) 
19,653,659 17,249,510 

Accrued interest on borrowings 498,600 446,800 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 

(Note I) 121,940 335,110 
Advance payments of capital subscriptions 579_ $20,274,778 — $18,031,420 

Capital 
Capital Stock (Note J) (Appendix 1-3) 

Subscribed 3,403,953 shares 
(1990-3,398,244) 41,063,356 40,994,487 
Less callable portion (38,225,241) (38,158,241) 

2,838,115 2,836,246 
General Reserve (Note K) 2,864,338 2,708,050 
Special Reserve (Note G) 1,197,239 1,003,377 
Unallocated net income (Note L) 50,000 6,949,692 — 6,547,673 

Total liabilities and capital $27,224,470 $24,579,093 
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ORDINARY CAPITAL 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

STATEMENT OF INCOME AND GENERAL RESERVE 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars - Note A 

Years ended December 31 , 

Income 
Loans (Note E) 

Interest 
Credit commissions 
Special commissions 
Supervision and inspection fees 

Investments 
Other (Note H) 

Total income 

1991 

$1,430,846 
41,304 

193,210 
9,793 

1,675,153 
528,928 

1,348 

2,205,429 

1990 

51,168,406 
68,157 

159,664 
21,580 

1,417,807 
448,862 

3,390 

1,870,059 

Expenses 
Borrowing expenses 
Provision for loan losses (Note E) 
Administrative expenses 

Total expenses 
Income before cumulative effect of change 

in accounting method 
Cumulative effect on prior years (to 

December 31 , 1989) of changing the 
method of accounting for post 
retirement benefits (Note N) 

Net income 
Allocation to Special Reserve (Note G) . 
Unallocated net income (Note L) 

Addition to General Reserve for the year 

General Reserve beginning of year . 
Translation adjustments (Note K) 

1,378,444 
304,250 
129,144 

1,811,838 

393,591 

General Reserve end of year 

393,591 
(193,210) 

(50,000) 

150,381 

2,708,050 
5,907 

$2,864,338 

1,231,265 
107,400 
115,311 

1,453,976 

416,083 

(74,876) 

341,207 
(159,664) 

181,543 

2,456,167 
70,340 

$2,708,050 
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ORDINARY CAPITAL 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars - Note A 

Years ended December 31 , 

1991 1990 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Borrowings (excluding related costs): 

Gross proceeds from borrowings 
Repayment of borrowings 

Participations: 
Sales of loans to participants 
Repayments to participants 

Capital: 
Collections of receivables from members 

Net cash provided by financing activities . 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Lending (excluding related income): 

Loan disbursements 
Loan collections 

Net cash used for lending activities 
Purchase of property 
Investments of the Special Reserve . . 
Miscellaneous assets and liabilities . . . 

Net cash used for investing activities 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Loan income collections 
Interest and other costs of borrowings 
Income from investments 
Other income 
Administrative expenses 

Net cash provided by operating activities 

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and investments 

Net increase in cash and investments 

Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by 
operating activities: 
Net income 
Difference between amounts accrued and amounts 

paid or collected for: 
Loan income 
Investment income 
Interest and other costs of borrowings 
Administrative expenses, including depreciation . . . 

Provision for loan losses 
Cumulative effect of changing the method of 

accounting for post retirement benefits 
Net cash provided by operating activities 

Supplemental disclosure of noncash activities 
Increase resulting from exchange rate fluctuations: 

Borrowings 
Loans outstanding 

$ 3,427,888 
(1,292,377) 

48,496 
(89,141) 

105,704 

2,200,570 

(2,804,073) 
1,440,198 

(1,363,875) 
(12,728) 

(191,343) 
7,734 

(1,560,212) 

1,669,036 
(1,318,540) 

501,521 
1,718 

(219,728) 

634,007 

59,175 
$ 1,333,540 

$ 393,591 

(6,117) 
(27,407) 
60,274 

(90,584) 
304,250 

$ 634,007 

247,054 
126,049 

51,830,305 
(609,001) 

16,000 
(65,240) 

77,192 
1,249,256 

(2,129,309) 
1,069,413 
(1,059,896) 

(13,042) 
(151,618) 
29,001 

(1,195,555) 

1,355,151 
(1,190,876) 

465,202 
418 

(94,883) 
535,012 
176,354 

$ 765,067 

$ 341,207 

(62,656) 
16,340 
37,417 
20,428 
107,400 

74,876 
$ 535,012 

$1,421,943 
1,349,786 
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ORDINARY CAPITAL 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

NOTES T O FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 1991 and 1990 

Note A - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Property 

Translation of currencies 

The financial statements are expressed in United States dollars; 
however, the Bank conducts its operations in the currencies of all of 
its members. Such currencies have been derived from capital and 
borrowed sources including earnings from each. Assets and liabilities 
denominated in currencies other than the United States dollar are 
translated generally at approximate market rates of exchange prevail
ing at the dates of the financial statements. Income and expenses in 
such currencies are translated generally at the approximate market 
rates of exchange prevailing during each month. Fluctuations of rates 
of exchange of currencies received from capital subscriptions do not 
have any effect on the United States dollar equivalent of such 
currencies because of the maintenance of value provisions described 
in Note B. The Bank generally follows the policy of holding, investing 
and lending the proceeds of borrowings in the currencies borrowed. 

The adjustments resulting from the translation into United 
States dollars of assets and liabilities denominated in borrowed 
currencies are shown in the Statement of Income and General Reserve 
as translation adjustments affecting the General Reserve directly. 

Exchange gains or losses realized upon conversion of one bor
rowed currency into another are generally insignificant and are 
recorded in other income. 

No representation is made that any currency held in the ordinary 
capital is convertible into any other currency at any rate or rates. 

Loans 

The Bank makes loans to its developing members, agencies or political 
subdivisions of such members or to private enterprises located in their 
territories. For loans to borrowers other than members and central 
banks, the Bank in almost all instances has received either the 
member's guarantee or other security deemed appropriate. Under the 
loan contracts with the borrowers, the Bank may sell participations in 
the loans to commercial banks or other public or private organiza
tions, but it reserves to itself the administration of the loans. The 
principal amount of loans is repayable in the currencies lent. For loans 
approved on or after July 1982, the repayment obligations of borrow
ers in various currencies are determined on the basis of an Exchange 
Risk Sharing System (Currency Pooling System), which is designed to 
equalize exchange risks among borrowers. Interest on loans is accrued 
in the currencies lent. 

The Bank has a policy of not rescheduling loan repayments. The 
Bank follows the policy of reviewing the collectibility of loans on a 
continuous basis and records provisions for loan losses in accordance 
with its determination of collectibility risk of the total loan portfolio. 
The Bank ceases to accrue income under all loans in a country when 
service under any loan to or guaranteed by a borrower in such country, 
made from any fund owned or administered by the Bank, is overdue 
for more than 180 days; income is recorded thereafter only as it is 
collected, until loan service is current under all loans. 

Direct costs associated with originating loans are expensed as 
incurred, as such amounts are considered immaterial. 

Property is recorded at cost. Major improvements are capitalized 
while routine replacements, maintenance and repairs are charged to 
expense. Depreciation is computed on the straight-line method over 
estimated useful lives (30 to 40 years for buildings and 3 to 7 years for 
equipment). 

Administrative expenses 

Substantially all administrative expenses of the Bank, including 
depreciation, are allocated to the funds pursuant to an allocation 
method approved by the Board of Executive Directors. During 1991 
such expenses were charged 59.3% to the ordinary capital and 40.7% 
to the Fund for Special Operations (1990-57.7% and 42.3%, respec
tively). 

Interest rate and currency swaps 

The difference to be paid or received for interest on interest rate and 
currency swaps is recorded as part of borrowing expense over the life 
of the respective agreements. The net asset or liability relating to swap 
transactions is shown in the Balance Sheet under Other assets -
Miscellaneous or Accounts payable and accrued expenses. 

Note B - Maintenance of Value 

In accordance with the Agreement Establishing the Bank (Agree
ment), each member is required to maintain the value of its currency 
held in the ordinary capital, except for currency derived from borrow
ings. Likewise, the Bank is required to return to a member an amount 
of its currency equal to any significant increase in value of such 
member's currency which is held in the ordinary capital, except for 
currency derived from borrowings. The standard of value for these 
purposes is the United States dollar of the weight and fineness in effect 
on January 1, 1959 (see Note J). 

Note C - Restricted Currencies 

Cash includes $194,839,000 (1990-$ 174,141,000) in the non-con
vertible currencies of regional borrowing members, of which 
$75,341,000 (1990-$73,657,000) has been restricted by one of the 
members, in accordance with the provisions of the Agreement, to be 
used for making payments for goods and services produced in its 
territory. 

Note D - Investments 

The investments of the Bank - ordinary capital - are stated at 
amortized cost which approximates market and consist of the follow
ing (in thousands): 
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ORDINARY CAPITAL 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

N O T E S T O F I N A N C I A L S T A T E M E N T S (continued) 

December 3 1 , 1991 and 1990 

December 31, 

1991 1990 

Obligations issued or guaranteed by 
governments or issued by United 
States Government corporations 
and agencies $1,602,585 

Time deposits and other obligations 
of banks 4,105,850 

$ 876,829 

3,527,236 

$5,708,435 $4,404,065 

The average return on investments was 8.44% in 1991 and 9.15% in 
1990. 

The amortized cost and estimated market values of investments 
in debt securities, including those of the Special Reserve (see Note G), 
are as follows (in thousands): 

Estimated 
market 
value December 31, 1991 

Amortized 
cost 

Gross 
unrealized 

gains 

Gross 
unrealized 

losses 

U.S. Treasury securities 
and obligations of 
U.S. Government 
corporations and 
agencies $2,200,502 

Debt securities issued by 
other governments 
and agencies 541,924 

$51,925 $ 

6,089 (214) 

$2,252,427 

547,799 
$2,742,426 $58,014 $(214) $2,800,226 

Amortized 
cost 

Gross Gross 
unrealized unrealized 

December 31, 1990 

U.S. Treasury securities 
and obligations of 
U.S. Government 
corporations and 
agencies $1,652,953 

Debt securities issued by 
other governments 
and agencies 172,374 

gains losses 

Estimated 
market 
value 

$14,578 $(143) $1,667,388 

407 (811) 171,970 
$1,825,327 $14,985 $(954) $1,839,358 

The amortized cost and estimated market value of the above debt 
securities by contractual maturity, are as follows (in thousands): 

December 31, 1991 December 31, 1990 

Amortized Estimated Amortized Estimated 
cost market value cost market value 

Due in one year 
or less $ 866,703 $ 870,635 $ 549,997 $ 550,997 

Due after one year 
through five years 1,739,978 1,788,169 1,275,330 1,288,361 

Due after five years . . 135,745 141,422 — — 
$2,742,426 $2,800,226 $1,825,327 $1,839,358 

Proceeds from sales of investments in debt securities were 
$21,526,725,000 during 1991 and $11,374,675,000 during 1990. 
Gross gains of $49,984,000 and gross losses of $5,000,000 were 
realized in those sales in 1991 (1990-$12,239,000 and $1,305,000, 
respectively). 

The Bank limits its activities of investing in securities to a list of 
authorized dealers and counterparties. Strict credit limits have been 
established for each counterparty by type of instrument and maturity 
category. 

N o t e E - Loans O u t s t a n d i n g 

Approved loans are disbursed to borrowers in accordance with the 
requirements of the project being financed; however, disbursements 
do not begin until the borrower and guarantor, if any, take certain 
actions and furnish certain documents to the Bank. Of the undisbursed 
balances, the Bank has entered into irrevocable commitments to 
disburse approximately $78,970,000 at December 31, 1991. 

The Intermediate Financing Facility Account (IFF) was estab
lished in 1983 by the Board of Governors of the Bank for the purpose 
of providing to certain borrowers part of the interest payments for 
which they are liable on loans from the capital resources of the Bank. 
During 1991 the IFF paid $ 19,434,000 ( 1990 - $ 13,196,000) of such 
interest on behalf of the borrowers. The IFF is funded from the 
General Reserve of the Bank's Fund for Special Operations. 

Pursuant to the policy described in Note A, at December 31, 
1991, loans made to or guaranteed by Panama, with an outstanding 
balance of $319,494,000 have been in nonaccrual status since March 
1988. The average interest rate on such loans is 9.02% and ptincipal 
amounting to $118,135,000 was overdue at December 31, 1991. 

In addition, loans made to or guaranteed by the following 
countries were in nonaccrual status during the periods indicated: 

Country 
Honduras 
Nicaragua 
Peru 

From 
November 1989 
May 1988 
February 1989 

To 
June 1990 
September 1991 
September 1991 

The difference between the amounts of income not accrued and 
the amounts recognized as income when collected or when the 
countries came out of nonaccrual status had the net effect of increasing 
loan income by $ 178,634,000 in 1991 and decreasing loan income by 
$17,044,000 in 1990. 

Loan loss provisions of $304,250,000 and $107,400,000 have 
been charged to income in 1991 and 1990, respectively, and the total 
allowance for loan losses amounts to $552,150,000 at December 31, 
1991. 

The average interest rate earned on loans outstanding, which 
includes the special commission (Note G), was 9.30% in 1991 and 
8.22% in 1990. In addition to the interest rate, the Bank charges a 
credit commission of .75% (1.25% on loans approved prior to 
January 1, 1989) per annum on the undisbursed convertible currency 
porrion of loans, and a one-time inspection and supervision fee of 
1 % on the principal amount of the loans, which is capitalized into the 
loan balance in installments during the disbursement period of the 
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N O T E S T O F I N A N C I A L S T A T E M E N T S (continued) 

December 3 1 , 1991 and 1990 

loan. On July 10, 1991, the Board of Executive Directors approved 
a waiver of the amount of inspection and supervision fees accrued 
during the period July 1 to December 31, 1991 and the amount of 
credit commissions in excess of .25% during the same period. The 
average return on loans outstanding was 9.59% in 1991 and 8.77% 
in 1990. 

The average interest rate on outstanding and accruing loans was 
8.27% in 1991 and8.31%in 1990; the average return on outstanding 
and accruing loans was 8.57% in 1991 and 8.89% in 1990. 

The information on loans presented in Appendix 1-1 excludes 
loans totalling $ 1,711,800,000 which were conditionally authorized 
under resolutions which did not enter into effect until January 1992, 
when the Board of Executive Directors determined that sufficient 
resources were available. 

Note F - Property 

The property of the Bank - ordinary capital - consists of the following 
(in thousands): 

December 31, 

1991 

Land, buildings, improvements and 
equipment at cost 

Less, accumulated depreciation 
$300,008 

50,698 
$249,310 

1990 

$287,280 
40,599 

$246,681 

Note G - Special Reserve 

The amount of special commissions earned by the Bank on loans 
made out of the ordinary capital resources is segregated as a special 
reserve for meeting the Bank's obligations created by borrowing or by 
guaranteeing loans. On all loans granted to date the rate of commis
sion is 1% per annum. 

The following is a summary of changes in the Special Reserve (in 
thousands): 

Years ended December 31, 

1991 1990 

Balance beginning of year $1,003,377 $ 839,793 
Allocation of special 

commissions 193,210 159,664 
Translation adjustments 652 3,920 
Balance end of year $1,197,239 $1,003,377 

The Special Reserve assets consist of the following (in thousands): 

December 31, 

1991 1990 

Investments 
United States Government 

and agencies obligations, 
at amortized cost which 
approximates market . . . 

Accrued loan commissions 
51,139,841 

57,398 
948,498 

54,879 
$1,197,239 $1,003,377 

N o t e H - Borrowings 

The borrowings of the Bank consist of loans, notes and bonds issued 
in various regional and nonregional member currencies, at interest 
rates ranging from 4.25% to 14.625%. During 1991 and 1990 the 
average cost of borrowings outstanding was 7.99% and 7.93%, 
respectively, before swaps and 7.82% and 7.88%, respectively, after 
swaps. The Bank will from time to time borrow additional amounts 
for its ordinary capital in the course of its operations. 

Sinking fund requirements and maturities subsequent to De
cember 31, 1991 are as indicated in Appendix 1-2. 

Losses of $370,000 in 1991 reflecting purchases of bonds 
pursuant to advance redemption provisions and gains of $2,972,000 
in 1990 pursuant to sinking fund operations, are included undet 
other income. 

Note I - Interest Rate and Currency Swaps 

The Bank - ordinary capital - has entered into currency swaps which 
expire from 1992 to 1998 and were outstanding as follows: 

December 31, 1991 
Amounts receivable for 129,559,000 United States dollars at 

rates ranging from 11.125% to 13.509%, for 70,000,000 British 
pounds sterling at the rate of 10.485%, for 20,000 million Spanish 
pesetas at rates ranging from 11.125% to 14.15%, for 15,000 million 
Japanese yen at the rate of 7.00%, for 150,000,000 Canadian dollars 
at the rate of 10.375%, for 400,000,000 Deutsche marks at the rate 
of 8.75% and 11,500 million Portuguese escudos at the rate of 
12.00%; and amounts payable for 498,800,000 Swiss francs at rates 
ranging from 5.650% to 6.814%, and 763,091,000 United States 
dollars at rates ranging from 5.943% to 8.415%. 

December 31 , 1990 
Amounts receivable for 129,559,000 United States dollars at 

rates ranging from 11.25% to 13.509% and for 70,000,000 British 
pounds sterling at the rate of 10.485%, and amounts payable for 
498,800,000 Swiss francs at rates ranging from 5.650% to 6.814%. 

The Bank has also entered into interest rate swaps. At December 
31, 1991 the maximum exposure to credit loss in the event of 
nonperformance by its counter parties was approximately $49,750,000 

118 



INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

ORDINARY CAPITAL 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

N O T E S T O F I N A N C I A L S T A T E M E N T S (continued) 

December 31 , 1991 and 1990 

on currency swaps and $10,120,000 on interest rate swaps ($9,869,000 
on interest rate swaps at December 31, 1990). 

The Bank incurs no risk as a result of the fluctuations of the 
exchange rates applicable to currency swap transactions because of its 
policy of holding and investing the corresponding proceeds in the 
same currencies. 

The Bank follows strict guidelines regarding the counterparties 
with whom it will enter into swap agreements and establishes strict 
credit limits for each of those counterparties. The Bank does not 
anticipate nonperformance by any of its counterparties. 

The net liability for principal and interest on swap agreements 
at December 31, 1991, amounting to the equivalent of $42,255,000 
( 1990 - $ 104,612,000), is shown in the Balance Sheet under Accounts 
payable and accrued expenses. 

Note J - Capital Stock 

Composition 

The capital of the Bank consists of "paid-in" and "callable" shares. The 
subscribed "paid-in" capital has been or is to be paid in gold and/or 
United States dollars (see below) and in the currency of the respective 
member, which in some cases must be made freely convertible, in 
accordance with the terms for the respective increase in capital. Non-
negotiable, non-interest bearing demand obligations have been or will 
be accepted in lieu of part of the member's subscription to the "paid-
in" capital. The subscribed "callable" portion of capital may only be 
called when required to meet obligations of the Bank created by 
borrowings of funds for inclusion in the Bank's ordinary capital 
resources or guarantees chargeable to such resources and is payable at 
the option of the member either in gold, in United States dollars, in 
fully convertible currency of the member country, or in the currency 
required to discharge the obligations of the Bank for the purpose for 
which the call is made. 

Valuation 

The Agreement provides that the ordinary capital be expressed in 
terms of United States dollars of the weight and fineness in effect on 
January 1, 1959. The Second Amendment to the Articles of Agree
ment of the International Monetary Fund eliminated par values of 
currencies in terms of gold effective April 1, 1978, and consequently 
the General Counsel of the Bank has rendered an opinion that the 
Special Drawing Right (SDR) has become the successor to the 1959 
U.S. dollar as the standard of value of the Bank's capital stock and for 
the purpose of maintaining the value of the Bank's currency holdings. 
The SDR has a value equal to the sum of the values of specific amounts 
of stated currencies, including the U.S. dollar. Pending a decision by 
the Bank's governing boards, and as suggested in the General Counsel's 
opinion, the Bank is continuing its practice of using the 1959 U.S. 
dollar, which pursuant to the devaluations of the United States dollar 
in 1972 and 1973 is equal to approximately 1.2063 current U.S. 
dollars, as the basis of valuation. 

In these terms, at December 31, 1991 the subscribed capital was 
$41,063,356,000 (3,403,953 shares of approximately $ 12,063 each) 

consisting of $2,838,115,000 (235,266 shares) of "paid-in" capital 
and $38,225,241,000 (3,168,687 shares) of "callable" capital. If the 
SDR were to have been substituted for the 1959 U.S. dollar on 
December 31 , 1991, subscribed capital would have totalled 
$48,691,165,000, consisting of $3,365,315,000 of "paid-in" capital 
and $45,325,850,000 of "callable" capital. Such substitution would 
not have materially affected either the overall financial position or the 
results of operations of the Bank - ordinary capital. For a statement of 
subscribed capital at December 31, 1991 see Appendix 1-3. 

Changes for the period 

In January 1990 an increase in the capital stock of the Bank was 
approved in the amount of $26,500,007,000, consisting of 
$662,705,000 of "paid-in" capital and $25,837,302,000 of "callable" 
capital. The first of four equal installments under this increase became 
effective on December 14, 1990. Additional subscriptions will be
come effective in three equal installments on October 31 of each of the 
years 1991 through 1993. The Board of Directors has extended the 
date for subscription to the second installment of the increase until 
1992. 

The following table summarizes the changes in the subscribed 
capital for the years ended December 31, 1990 and 1991: 

Subscribed capital 

Amount (in thousands) 

Shares Paid- Callable Total 

Balance at January 
1, 1990 2,856,128 $2,642,024 $31,812,683 $34,454,707 

Subscriptions to 
the increase of 
capital approved 
in 1983 2,621 31,618 31,618 

Subscriptions to the 
increase of 
capital approved 
in 1990 539,495 162,604 6,345,558 6,508,162 

Balance at 
December 31, 
1990 3,398,244 2,836,246 38,158,241 40,994,487 

Subscriptions to the 
increase of 
capital approved 
in 1990 5,709 1,869 67,000 68,869 

Balance at 
December 31, 
1991 3,403,953 $2,838,115 $38,225,241 $41,063,356 

N o t e K - General Reserve 

In accordance with resolutions of the Board of Governors the net 
income from the ordinary capital resources of the Bank after alloca
tion to the Special Reserve (see Note G) and in 1991 after $50,000,000 
of Unallocated Net Income (see Note L), has been added to a General 
Reserve to provide for possible future losses on loans or any annual 
excess of expenses over income. 
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Beginning in 1981 the adjustments resulting from the transla
tion into United States dollars of assets and liabilities denominated in 
borrowed currencies have been made directly to the General Reserve. 
Such adjustments consist of credits as follows (in thousands): 

Years ended December 31, 

1991 

Cumulative adjustments, 
beginning of year $70,674 

Translation adjustments 
for the year 5,907 

Cumulative adjustments, 
end of year . : $76,581 

1990 

$ 334 

70,340 

$70,674 

N o t e L - Una l loca ted N e t I n c o m e 

The Board of Governors has resolved to maintain $50,000,000 of 
1991 net income as Unallocated Net Income, to be allocated by the 
Board of Directors to funding of either or both of the Intermediate 
Financing Facility Account or an account in the Fund for Special 
Operations for Technical Cooperation. 

N o t e M - Staff Ret irement P lan 

Description 

The Bank has one Staff Retirement Plan for the benefit of its 
international employees and one for the benefit of local employees in 
the country offices. Both plans are defined benefit plans. 

Funding policy 

The Plans are funded by employee and Bank contributions at the rates 
of 10% and 24% of payroll, respectively. In accordance with the 
provisions of the Plans, any and all contributions to the Plans by the 
Bank shall be irrevocable, and shall be held by the Bank in the 
Retirement Funds, to be used in accordance with the provisions of the 
Plans, and neither such contributions nor any income thereon shall be 
used for or diverted to, purposes other than the exclusive benefit of 
participants and retired participants or their beneficiaries or estates 
under the Plans prior to the satisfaction of all liabilities with respect 
thereto. 

Types of assets 

The assets of the Retirement Funds are invested by several indepen
dent investment managers principally in government, corporate and 
other bonds, common stocks and real estate investment funds. 

Pension costs 

Pension costs of the Bank for 1991 and 1990 were $20,278,000 and 
$17,594,000, respectively, and were charged to administrative ex
penses and allocated to the funds as indicated in Note A. 

Components of pension costs 

Pension costs comprised the following (in thousands): 

Years ended December 31, 

Service cost 
Interest cost on projected benefit 

obligation 
Amortization of prior service costs 
Expected return on Plan assets . . 

1991 

$18,603 

50,374 
593 

(49,292) 

$20,278 

1990 

$22,571 

40,667 
593 

(46,237) 
$17,594 

Reconciliation of Plan assets based on December 31, 1990 valuation 
of the Plan (in thousands): 

Obligation at December 31, 1991 
Non-vested benefits 
Vested benefits 

Accumulated benefits 
Effect of future salary increases 
Projected benefit obligation at 

December 31, 1991 
Plan assets at December 31, 1991 
Projected benefit obligation in excess of 

Plan assets 
Remaining unrecognized net obligation at 

January 1, 1991 
Unrecognized loss 
Prepaid pension cost recognized in the 

Balance Sheet 

$ 58,444 
438,133 
496,577 
173,219 

669,796 
622,754 

(47,042) 

7,117 
39,925 

$ 0 

8.25% 

9.00% 

The unrecognized net transition obligation is being amortized 
over 15 years. 

Actuarial assumptions 
Weighted average assumed discount rate . . 
Weighted average expected long-term rate 

of return 
Weighted average rate of salary increases . . 

Note N - Non-Pension Retirement Benefits 

The Bank provides certain health care and other benefits to retirees. 
All current staff who contribute to the StaffRetirement Plan while in 
active service and who meet certain requirements will be eligible for 
postretirement benefits when they retire under the Bank's Staff 
Retirement Plans. 
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Prior to 1990, the cost of retiree health care and other benefits, 
net of retiree contributions, was recognized in expense on a cash basis. 
The Bank changed its method of accounting in 1990 to recognize the 
cost of providing these benefits over the employees' service period, on 
an actuarially determined basis, and gave immediate recognition to 
the accumulated past service liability for its non-pension retirement 
benefits. 

The cumulative effect on prior years of changing the method of 
accounting for postretirement benefits amounted to $129,767,000 
which was allocated to the ordinary capital and to the Fund for Special 
Operations on the basis of the administrative expense allocation 
method described in Note A. 

Funding policy and type of assets 

The postretirement benefits plan was funded by the Bank during 
1991 and at December 31, 1991 the Plan's assets were invested in 
United States agencies obligations. 

Components of postretirement benefits costs 

Postretirement benefits costs comprised the following (in thousands): 

Years ended December 31, 

Reconciliation of Plan assets based on December 31, 1990 valuation 
of the Plan (in thousands): 

1991 1990 

Service cost $ 7,757 $ 6,020 
Interest cost 16,273 11,183 
Amortization of unrecognized 

obligation 2,039 — 
Return on Plan assets (11,132) — 

$14,937 $17,203 

Obligation at December 31, 1991 
Accumulated postretirement benefits obligation: 

Retirees 
Fully eligible active plan participants . . . 
Other active plan participants 

Plan assets at December 31, 1991 
Accumulated postretirement benefit 

obligation in excess of plan assets 
Remaining unrecognized net obligation at 

January 1, 1991 
Unrecognized loss 
Prepaid postretirement benefits cost 

recognized in the Balance Sheet 

$ 89,774 
43,039 
87,683 

220,496 
175,917 

(44,579) 

41,117 
3,462 

S 0 

Actuarial gains and losses which exceed ten percent of the 
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation are being amortized 
over the average remaining life of active participants, or about 11.5 
years. 

Actuarial assumptions: 
Weighted average assumed discount rate . . 8.25 % 
Weighted average expected long-term rate . 

of return 9 .00% 
Weighted average rate of salary increases . . 8.88 % 

Effect of 1 % increase in the health care 
cost trend: 

The accumulated benefit obligation for health care costs would 
increase approximately 22.1% and the related cost for 1991 would 
increase approximately 25.3%. 
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SUMMARY STATEMENT OF LOANS - NOTE E 
December 31, 1991 and 1990 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars - Note A 

Member in whose 
territory loans have 
been made 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Honduras 
Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Suriname  
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 
Regional 

Total 1991 

Loans 
approved, 

less 
cancellations 

$ 4,504,307 
122,752 
93,158 
979,533 

6,195,999 
4,000,468 
3,734,593 
962,471 
416,377 

1,364,741 
336,755 
531,278 
110,477 
397,386 
667,848 

6,310,259 
118,779 
553,701 
175,028 

1,467,929 
18,757 

406,670 
738,084 

2,040,861 
1,249,917 

Principal 
collected 

$1,379,063 
3,866 
13,105 
75,740 

2,230,016 
614,632 
592,821 
110,808 
50,016 
176,886 
125,634 
158,572 
7,222 
60,431 
119,263 

1,834,603 
42,551 
46,572 
38,668 
329,188 

423 
105,547 
163,170 
291,179 

Loans sold 
or agreed to 
be sold 

$118,368 

14,000 
59,740 
121,669 
172,705 
1,520 
200 

103,257 
15,250 
40,725 

18,060 

22,186 
1,794 

58,000 
429 

128,513 

13,952 
5,768 
1,000 

51,059,256 
39,072 
13,297 

454,927 
1,077,155 
918,627 
841,164 
470,930 
173,111 
292,403 
44,293 
59,330 
3,557 
84,437 
253,699 
935,500 
10,000 
129,635 
13,760 
174,536 
7,928 

338,266 
218,429 

1,051,730 
105,585 

1,947,620 
79,814 
66,756 
434,866 

2,829,088 
2,345,540 
2,127,903 
379,213 
193,050 
792,195 
151,578 
272,651 
99,698 
234,458 
294,886 

3,517,970 
64,434 
319,494 
122,171 
835,692 
10,829 
67,981 
400,156 
820,193 
852,153 

Currency in which 
outstanding portion of 

approved loans is 
collectible 

Freely 
convertible 

Undisbursed Outstanding currencies 

1,902,148 
79,814 
66,577 
428,532 

2,745,183 
2,327,542 
2,117,910 
379,213 
193,050 
790,842 
150,035 
271,361 
99,698 
234,458 
292,670 

3,495,326 
64,434 
318,623 
120,736 
829,706 
10,829 
67,981 
400,075 
820,193 
852,153 

Other 
currencies 

$ 45,472 

179 
6,334 

83,905 
17,998 
9,993 

1,353 
1,543 
1,290 

2,216 
22,644 

871 
1,435 
5,986 

81 

Outstanding 
1990 

$ 1,815,369 
24,740 
62,021 

381,437 
2,839,354 
2,249,669 
1,849,881 

345,034 
178,054 
735,772 
172,859 
303,052 

94,523 
237,637 
264,802 

3,234,837 
78,109 

320,437 
126,245 
674,414 

8,259 
25,148 

289,541 
607,053 
809,982 

Total 1990 

$37,498,128 $8,569,976 $897,136 $8,770,627 $19,260,389 $19,059,089 $201,300 

$35,006,269 $7,156,466 $897,200 $9,224,374 $17,505,807 $222,422 $17,728,229 

T h e freely convertible currencies in which the outs tanding por t ion of approved loans is collectible are as follows: 

Currencies 1991 1990 Currencies 1991 1990 

Austrian schillings 
British pounds sterling . 
Canadian dollars 
European currency units 
French francs 
G e r m a n marks 
Italian lire 
Japanese yen 

$ 17,433 
395,649 
76,536 
81,902 

719 
2,393,191 

88 
5,481,134 

$ 22,115 
415,865 
80,083 
83,276 
2,682 

2,639,159 
420 

4,172,604 

Nether lands guilders 
Spanish pesetas 
Swedish k ronor 
Swiss francs 
T r in idad and Tobago dollars 
Uni t ed States dollars 
Venezuelan bolivars 
Yugoslav dinars 

$ 931,098 
48,302 

378 
3,529,399 

1,567 
6,092,764 

8,896 
33 

$19,059,089 

$ 997,015 
49,500 

913 
3,549,141 

1,852 
5,474,152 

16,996 
34_ 

$17,505,807 
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STATEMENT OF BORROWINGS - NOTE H 
December 31 , 1991 and 1990 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars - Note A 

December 31, 1991 

Payable in: 

Austrian schillings 
British pounds sterling . . . . 
Canadian dollars 
European currency units . . . 
German marks 
Japanese yen 
Netherlands guilders 
Portuguese escudos  
Spanish pesetas 
Swiss francs 
Trinidad and Tobago dollars 
United States dollars 

Total 

Principal 
outstanding 

629,910 
129,803 
134,084 

3,087,731 
6,416,828 
1,216,299 

85,703 
207,082 

2,969,075 
2,047 

4,777,371 
$19,655,933 

Weighted 
average 
cost (%) 

10.94 
8.24 

10.12 
7.88 
6.32 
8.22 
6.71 
7.45 
6.16 
8.34 
9.67 
7.66 

Due dates 

1995/15 
1996 
1993 

1992/01 
1993/17 
1992/00 

1996 
1996/98 
1992/05 

2002 
1992/11 

December 31, 1990 

Principal 
outstanding 

$ 23,415 
764,893 

136,333 
3,016,064 
4,684,597 
1,235,017 

3,010,344 
2,197 

4,400,508 
$17,273,368 

Sinking fund requirements and matutities subsequent to December 31, 1991 are approximately equivalent to the following: 

Year 

1992 
1993 
1994 
1995 
1996 
1997/01 
2002/06 
2007/11 
2012/16 
2017 

Amount 

$ 1,784,034 
1,797,284 
1,170,446 
2,027,953 
2,138,714 
8,115,623 
1,327,684 

649,229 
485,221 
159,745 

$19,655,933 
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STATEMENT OF SUBSCRIPTIONS TO CAPITAL STOCK - NOTE J 
December 31, 1991 and 1990 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars - Note A 

Paid-in portion of 
subscribed capital 

Membets 

Argentina 
Austria 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belgium 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Canada 
Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Denmark 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 
Finland 
France 
Germany 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Israel 
Italy 
Jamaica 
Japan 
Mexico 
Netherlands 
Nicaragua 
Norway 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Portugal 
Spain 
Suriname , 
Sweden 
Switzerland 
Trinidad and Tobago 
United Kingdom 
United States 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 
Yugoslavia 

Total 1991 
Total 1990 

Shares 
394,991 

2,697 
7,633 
4,724 
6,392 

31,708 
394,991 
149,191 
108,457 
108,378 
15,849 
2,873 

21,160 
21,160 
15,849 
2,697 

32,839 
33,634 
21,160 
5,877 
13,300 
15,849 
2,658 

32,839 
21,160 
36,633 

253,906 
4,992 
15,849 
2,873 
15,849 
15,849 
52,929 

865 
32,839 
3,222 
5,593 
7,333 
15,849 
32,839 

1,181,801 
42,349 

211,620 
2,697 

3,403,953 
3,398,244 

Freely 
convertible 
currencies 

$ 222,522 
2,220 
6,357 
3,191 
5,416 
17,854 

222,522 
127,655 
61,041 
61,029 
8,939 
2,388 
11,906 
11,906 
8,939 
2,220 

27,239 
27,866 
11,906 
4,355 
8,167 
8,939 
2,208 

27,239 
11,906 
30,340 
143,060 
4,102 
8,939 
2,388 
8,939 
8,939 

29,845 
688 

27,239 
3,016 
4,729 
6,044 
8,939 

27,239 
977,415 
23,885 
149,056 
2,220 

$2,372,952 

$2,371,083 

Other 
currencies 

$104,059 

4,054 
1,755 

8,360 
104,059 

28,566 
28,554 
4,162 

5,574 
5,574 
4,162 

5,574 
2,569 
4,162 
4,162 

5,574 

66,904 

4,162 

4,162 
4,162 

13,957 

2,232 

4,162 

11,171 
33,331 

$465,163 

$465,163 

Callable portion 
of subscribed 

capital 
$ 4,438,366 

30,315 
81,669 
52,042 
71,693 

356,294 
4,438,366 
1,672,101 
1,218,757 
1,217,828 
178,092 
32,270 

237,782 
237,782 
178,092 
30,316 

368,912 
377,875 
237,782 
63,973 
148,115 
178,092 
29,857 

368,912 
237,782 
411,580 

2,853,014 
56,119 
178,092 
32,270 
178,092 
178,092 
594,703 
9,747 

368,912 
33,621 
62,742 
82,417 
178,092 
368,912 

13,279,161 
475,818 

2,370,477 
30,315 

Total 1991 
$ 4,764,947 

32,535 
92,080 
56,988 
77,109 

382,508 
4,764,947 
1,799,756 
1,308,364 
1,307,411 
191,193 
34,658 

255,262 
255,262 
191,193 
32,536 

396,151 
405,741 
255,262 
70,897 
160,444 
191,193 
32,065 

396,151 
255,262 
441,920 

3,062,978 
60,221 
191,193 
34,658 
191,193 
191,193 
638,505 
10,435 

396,151 
38,869 
67,471 
88,461 
191,193 
396,151 

14,256,576 
510,874 

2,552,864 
32,535 

$38,225,241 $41,063,356 
$38,158,241 

Total 1990 
$ 4,764,947 

32,535 
92,080 
56,988 
77,109 

382,508 
4,764,947 
1,799,756 
1,308,364 
1,307,411 
191,193 
34,658 

255,262 
255,262 
191,193 
32,536 

396,151 
405,741 
255,262 
70,897 
160,444 
191,193 
32,065 

396,151 
255,262 
441,920 

3,062,978 
60,221 
191,193 
34,658 
191,193 
160,444 
638,505 
10,435 

396,151 
38,869 
67,471 
88,461 
191,193 
396,151 

14,218,456 
510,874 

2,552,864 
32,535 

$40,994,487 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS 

Board of Governors 
Inter-American Development Bank 

In our opinion, the financial statements appearing on pages 126 through 135 present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Inter-American Development Bank—Fund for Special Operations at December 31, 1991 and 
1990, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Bank's management; our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements 
in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above. 

PRICE WATERHOUSE 

Washington, D.C. 
February 10, 1992 
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BALANCE SHEET 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars - Note A 

ASSETS 

Cash and investments 
Cash (Note C) 
Investments (Note D) 

December 31, 

1991 

$1,138,284 
849,998 $1,988,282 

1990 

$1,003,696 
899,617 $1,903,313 

Loans outstanding (Note E) 
(Appendix II-l) 
Allowance for loan losses . 

5,716,183 
(115,100) 5,601,083 

5,746,745 
(115,100) 5,631,645 

Accrued interest and other charges 
On investments 
On loans 

9,714 
35,542 45,256 

10,850 
38,815 49,665 

Receivable from members 
Contribution quotas (Note F) 
(Appendix II-2) 
Non-negotiable, non-interest bearing 

demand obligations (Note F) . . . . 
Amounts required to maintain value 

of currency holdings (Note B) . . . 

Property, improvements and 
equipment, at cost less accumulated 
depreciation $785; (1990 - $700) . . 

Other assets 

153,619 

1,534,679 

110,993 

Total assets 

1,799,291 

1,209 
23 

$9,435,144 

170,709 

1,557,463 

114,990 1,843,162 

1,295 
27 

$9,429,107 

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE 

Liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued 

expenses 
Undisbursed technical cooperation 

projects and other financings . . 
Advance payments of contribution 

quotas 

6,729 

184,255 

694 $ 191,678 

67,170 

121,526 

$ 188,696 

Fund balance 
Contribution quotas authorized and 

subscribed (Notes B and F) 
(Appendix II-2) 

General Reserve (Note G) 
Total liabilities and fund balance 

8,703,975 
539,491 9,243,466 

$9,435,144 

1,701,828 
538,583 9,240,411 

$9,429,107 
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STATEMENT OF INCOME AND GENERAL RESERVE 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars - Note A 

Years ended December 31, 

Income 
Loans (Note E) 

Interest 
Credit commissions 
Service charges 
Supervision and inspection fees 

Investments . . . . 
Other 

Total income 

Expenses 
Provision for loan losses (Note E) 
Administrative expenses 

Total expenses 

Income before technical cooperation expense 

Technical cooperation expense (Note J) 

Income before cumulative effect of change 
in accounting method 

Cumulative effect on prior years 
(to December 31, 1989) of changing 
the method of accounting for post-
retirement benefits (Note I) 

Net income 

General Reserve beginning of year 
Translation adjustments (Note G) . . 
Allocation to Intermediate Financing 

Facility Account (Note G) 
General Reserve end of year 

1991 

$146,147 
4,778 
4,145 
2,581 

157,651 

61,190 
686 

219,527 

88,385 
88,385 

131,142 

115,910 

15,232 

15,232 

538,583 
1,176 

(15,500) 
$539,491 

1990 

5116,126 
4,297 
2,881 
2,972 

126,276 

73,960 
496 

200,732 

14,800 
84,285 
99,085 

101,647 

41,018 

60,629 

(54,891) 

5,738 

546,270 
2,075 

(15,500) 
$538,583 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars - Note A 

Years ended December 31 , 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Capital: 

Collections of receivables from members 
Participations: 

Sales of loans to participant 
Repayments to participant 

Net cash provided by financing activities . 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Lending (excluding related income): 

Loan disbursements 
Loan collections 

Net cash provided by (used for) lending activities 
Miscellaneous assets and liabilities 

Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Loan income collections 
Income from investments 
Other income 
Administrative expenses 
Technical cooperation and other financings 

Net cash provided by operating activities 

Transfer to the Intermediate Financing 
Facility Account 

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash 
and investments 

Net increase in cash and investments 

Reconciliation of net income to net cash 
provided by operating activities: 
Net income 
Difference between amounts acctued and 

amounts paid or collected for: 
Loan income 
Investment income 
Administrative expenses 
Technical cooperation and other 

financings 
Provision for loan losses 
Cumulative effect of changing the method of 

accounting for postretirement benefits . . . 

Net cash provided by operating activities 

Supplemental disclosure of noncash activities 
Increases (decreases) resulting from 

exchange rate fluctuations: 
Due from members 
Contribution quotas 

1991 

$ 46,658 

13,594 
(18,513) 

41,739 

(295,741) 
339,968 

44,227 
(8,480) 

35,747 

160,538 
62,457 

686 
(148,621) 

(53,181) 

21,879 

(15,500) 

1,103 
$ 84,968 

$ 15,232 

2,887 
1,267 

(60,236) 

62,729 

$ 21,879 

$ (167) 
(46) 

1990 

$114,470 

6,838 
(24,638) 

96,670 

(329,241) 
228,838 

(100,403) 
(10,877) 

(111,280) 

119,497 
71,392 

496 
(75,063) 
(38,011) 

78,311 

(15,500) 

10,913 

$ 59,114 

$ 5,738 

(6,779) 
(2,568) 
9,222 

3,007 
14,800 

54,891 

$ 78,311 

$ 32,361 
41,386 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 1991 and 1990 

Note A - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Translation of currencies 

The financial starements are expressed in United States dollars; 
however, the Bank conducts its operations in the currencies of all of 
its members. Assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other 
than the United States dollar are translated generally at approximate 
market rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the financial 
statements. Income and expenses in such currencies are translated 
generally at approximate market rates of exchange prevailing during 
each month. Except as indicated in the following sentence, fluctua
tions of rates of exchange do not have any effect on the United States 
dollar equivalents of such currencies because of the maintenance of 
value provisions described in Note B. The net adjustments resulting 
from the translation into United States dollars of assets, liabilities and 
contribution quotas which do not have maintenance of value protec
tion, being derived from the 1983 and 1990 increases in contribution 
quotas (see Note F), are shown in the Statement of Income and 
General Reserve as translation adjustments affecting the General 
Reserve directly. 

No representation is made that any currency held in the Fund for 
Special Operations is convertible into any other currency at any rate 
or rates. 

Loans 

The Bank makes loans to its developing members, agencies or political 
subdivisions of such members or to private enterprises located in their 
territories. For loans to borrowers other than members or central 
banks, the Bank in almost all instances has received either the 
member's guarantee or other security deemed appropriate. 

The Bank has a policy of not rescheduling loan repayments. The 
Bank follows the policy of reviewing the collectibility of loans on a 
continuous basis and records provisions for loan losses in accordance 
with its determination of collectibility risk of the total loan portfolio. 
The Bank ceases to accrue income under all loans in a country when 
service under any loan to or guaranteed by a borrower in such country, 
made from any fund owned or administered by the Bank, is overdue 
for more than 180 days; income is recorded thereafter only as it is 
collected, until loan service is current under all loans. 

Direct costs associated with originating loans are expensed as 
incurred, as such amounts are considered immaterial. 

Administrative expenses 

Substantially all administrative expenses of the Bank, including 
depreciation of property capitalized in the Bank's ordinary capital, are 
allocated to the funds pursuant to an allocation method approved by 
the Board of Executive Directors. During 1991, such expenses were 
charged 40.7% to the Fund for Special Operations and 59.3% to the 
ordinary capital (1990-42.3% and 57.7%, respectively). 

Technical cooperation 

All non-reimbursable technical cooperation projects as well as certain 

reimbursable financings which may not be fully recovered are charged 
to income at the time of approval. 

Note B - Maintenance of Value 

In accordance with the Agreement Establishing the Bank (Agree
ment), each member is required to maintain the value of its currency 
held in the Fund for Special Operations to the extent established by 
the terms for the respective increases in contribution quotas. Likewise, 
and subject to the same terms of contribution quota increases, the 
Bank is required to return to a member an amount of its currency 
equal to any significant increase in value of such member's currency 
which is held in the Fund for Special Operations. The standard of 
value for these purposes ranges from the United States dollar at its 
1959 value to the United States dollar at its value in effect at any given 
time. Holdings derived from the 1983 and 1990 increases in contri
bution quotas (see Note F) do not have maintenance of value 
protection. 

The General Counsel of the Bank has rendered an opinion that 
since the effectiveness on April 1, 1978 of the Second Amendment to 
the Articles of Agreement of the Intet national Monetary Fund, which 
eliminated par values of currencies in terms of gold, the Special 
Drawing Right (SDR) has become the successor to the 1959 U.S. 
dollar as the standard of value. The Bank's governing boards have not 
made a decision on this matter. If the SDR were to have been 
substituted for the 1959 United States dollar on December 31, 1991, 
the financial position and the results of operations of the Bank-Fund 
for Special Operations would not have been materially affected. 

"Amounts required to maintain value of currency holdings" 
represent amounts due from member countries for maintenance of 
value adjustments resulting from the changes in the values of curren
cies in 1972 and 1973. Such amounts include $5,387,000 (1990-
$ 12,602,000) for which payment responsibility has not been assigned 
as they relate to outstanding loans repayable at borrowers' options 
either in the currencies disbursed or in the borrowers' currencies. The 
obligation for payment of this amount is being allocated to individual 
members on the basis of the currencies received in loan repayments. 

Note C - Restricted Currencies 

Cash includes $1,125,705,000 (1990 — $987,025,000) in the non-
convertible currencies of regional borrowing members, of which 
$ 116,465,000 ( 1990 — $ 111,061,000) has been restricted by one of 
the members to be used for making payments for goods and services 
produced in its territory, in accordance with provisions of the Agree -

Note D - Investments 

The investments of the Bank - Fund for Special Operations - are stated 
at amortized cost which approximates market and consist of the 
following (in thousands): 
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N O T E S T O F I N A N C I A L S T A T E M E N T S (continued) 

D e c e m b e r 3 1 , 1 9 9 1 a n d 1 9 9 0 

D ecember b e r 3 1 , 

1991 1990 

Obl igat ions issued or guaranteed by 
governments or issued by Uni ted 
States G o v e r n m e n t corporat ions 
and agencies $ 2 9 3 , 2 8 8 $243 ,874 

T i m e deposits and other obligations 
of banks 556 ,710 6 5 5 , 7 4 3 

$849 ,998 $ 8 9 9 , 6 1 7 

T h e amort ized cost and estimated market values of investments 
in debt securities are as follows (in thousands): 

Amortized 
December 31 , 1991 cost 

U.S. Treasury securities 
and obligations of 
U.S. Government 
corporations and 
agencies ' . . $172,563 

Debt securities issued by 
other governments 
and agencies 120,725 

Gross 
unrealized 

gains 

$2,804 

392 
$293,288 $3,196 

Amortized 
cost December 31, 1990 

U.S. Treasury securities 
and obligations of 
U.S. Government 
corporations and 
agencies $167,299 

Debt securities issued by 
other governments 
and agencies 76,575 

Gross 
unrealized 

gains 

$1,300 

$243,874 $1,304 

Gross 
unrealized 

losses 

$(91) 

(447) 
$(538) 

Gross 
unrealized 

losses 

$ (62) 

(579) 
$(641) 

Estimated 
market 
value 

$175,276 

120,670 
$295,946 

Estimated 
market 
value 

$168,537 

76,000 

$244,537 

T h e amort ized cost and estimated market value of the above debt 
securities by contractual matur i ty , are as follows (in thousands) : 

December 31, 1991 December 31 , 1990 

Amortized 
cost 

Due in one year 
or less $191,334 

Due after one year 
through five years . 24,238 

Due after five years . . 77,716 

Estimated 
market 
value 

$193,964 

24,768 
77,214 

Amortized 
cost 

$ 97,414 

146,460 

Estimated 
market 
value 

$ 97,437 

147,100 

$293,288 $295,946 $243,874 $244,537 

Proceeds from sales of investments in debt securities were 
$291 ,975 ,000 dur ing 1991 and $65 ,422 ,000 du r ing 1990. Gross 
gains of $633 ,000 (1990 - $129 ,000) were realized in those sales. 

T h e Bank limits its activities of investing in securities to a list of 
authorized dealers and counterpart ies. Strict credit limits have been 
established for each counterpar ty by type of ins t rument and matur i ty 
category. 

Note E - Loans Outstanding 

Approved loans are disbursed to borrowers in accordance wi th the 
requirements of the project being financed; however, disbursements 
do not begin until the borrower and guarantor , if any, take certain 
actions and furnish certain documents to the Bank. O f the undisbursed 
balances, the Bank has entered into irrevocable c o m m i t m e n t s to 
disburse approximately $28 ,069 ,000 at December 3 1 , 1 9 9 1 . 

T h e Board o f Executive Directors has authorized participations 
by the Social Progress Trus t F u n d in the Uni ted States dollar or local 
currency port ions of loans made from the F u n d for Special Opera t ions 
provided that, with respect to such loans, the provisions of the Social 
Ptogress Trus t F u n d Agreement have in substance been complied 
with as fully as t hough the loans had been made initially from the 
Trus t Fund . 

Pursuant to the policy described in N o t e A, at December 5 1 , 
1 9 9 1 , loans made to or guaranteed by Panama, with an outs tanding 
balance of $188 ,671 ,000 of which $24 ,391 ,000 was overdue, have 
been in nonaccrual status since March 1988. 

In addi t ion, loans made to or guaranteed by the following 
countr ies were in nonaccrual status dur ing the periods indicated: 

C o u n t r y 
H o n d u r a s 
Nicaragua 
Peru 

From 
N o v e m b e r 1989 
M a y 1988 
February 1989 

T o 
J u n e 1990 
Sep tembet 1991 
September 1991 

T h e difference between the amoun t s of income not accrued and 
the amoun t s recognized as income when collected or when the 
countries came out of nonaccrual status had the net effect of increasing 
loan income by $ 2 9 , 1 8 0 , 0 0 0 in 1991 and by $167 ,000 in 1990. 

A provision for loan losses of $14 ,800 ,000 was charged to 
income in 1990 and the total allowance for loan losses amoun t s to 
$115 ,100 ,000 at December 3 1 , 1991 . 

Note F - Contribution Quotas Authorized and 
Subscribed 

Non-negot iable , non-interest bearing d e m a n d obligations have been 
or will be accepted in lieu of part of the payment of the members ' 
cont r ibu t ion quotas . T h e Canadian cont r ibu t ion quota is being 
increased by collections of principal, interest and service charges after 
May 3 , 1972 on loans extended from the Canadian Trus t F u n d 
adminis tered by the Bank, which was originally established in the 
a m o u n t of C A N $ 7 4 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0 . 
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N O T E S T O F I N A N C I A L S T A T E M E N T S (continued) 

December 31 , 1991 and 1990 

In January 1990 the Board of Governors authorized an increase 
of contribution quotas in the equivalent of $200,000,000 payable 
during the years 1990 to 1993 in freely convertible currencies to be 
designated by each member country at the rates of exchange in effect 
on March 20, 1989. 

The following table summarizes the changes in contribution 
quotas subsctibed for the years ended December 31,1990 and 1991 : 

Balance at January 1, 1990 
Contribution by Canada — 

Trust Fund collections 
Contributions by members approved 

in 1990 
Increase in the U.S. dollar equivalence 

of contt¡butions approved in 1983 
and 1990 due to exchange rate 
fluctuations 

Balance at Decembet 31, 1990 
Contribution by Canada — 

Trust Fund collections 
Decrease in the U.S. dollar equivalence 

of contributions approved in 1983 and 
1990 due to exchange rate fluctuations 

Balance at December 31, 1991 

Contribution quotas 
subscribed 

$8,458,206,000 

2,236,000 

200,000,000 

41,386,000 
,701,828,000 

2,193,000 

(46,000) 
$8,703,975,000 

Currencies held by the Bank which are derived from authorized 
contributions in 1983 and 1990 are not subject to the maintenance 
of value provisions of the Agreement. 

At December 31,1991 the cumulative increase in the U.S. dollar 
equivalence of contribution quotas because of exchange rate fluctua
tions was $96,334,000 (1990 — $96,380,000). 

Note G - General Reserve 

In accordance with resolutions of the Board of Governors, the net 
income of the Fund for Special Operations is to be added to a General 
Reserve to provide for possible future losses on loans or any annual 
excess of expenses over income. 

In both 1991 and 1990 the Board of Governors allocated the 
equivalent of $ 15,500,000 in convertible currencies from the General 
Reserve to the Intermediate Financing Facility Account (IFF) for the 
purpose of providing to certain borrowers part of the interest for 
which they are liable on loans from the capital resources of the Bank. 
In addition, the equivalent of $15,500,000 inconvertible currencies 
is to be allocated annually from the General Reserve to the IFF during 
each of the years 1992 through 1996, $23,500,000 from 1997 
through 2001 and $30,000,000 from 2002 through 2010, subject to 
adjustment by the Board of Governors. 

As indicated in Note A, the adjustments resulting from the 
translation of assets, liabilities and contribution quotas which do not 
have maintenance ofvalue protection, are shown as adjustments to the 

General Reserve. Such adjustments consist of credits as follows (in 
thousands): 

Yeats ended 
Decembet 31, 

Cumulative adjustments, 
beginning of yeat. . . . 

Translation adjustments 
for the year 

Cumulative adjustments, 
end of year 

1991 

$2,896 

1,176 

$4,072 

1990 

$ 821 

2,075 

$2,896 

Note H - Staff Retirement Plans 

Description 

The Bank has one Staff Retirement Plan for the benefit of its 
international employees and one for the benefit of local employees in 
the country offices. Both plans are defined benefit plans. 

Funding policy 

The Plans are funded by employee and Bank contributions at the rates 
of 10% and 24% of payroll, respectively. In accordance with the 
provisions of the Plans, any and all contributions to the Plans by the 
Bank shall be irrevocable, and shall be held by the Bank in the 
Retirement Funds, to be used in accordance with the provisions of the 
Plans, and neithet such contributions nor any income theteon shall be 
used for, or diverted to, purposes other than the exclusive benefit of 
participants and retired participants or their beneficiaries or estates 
under the Plans prior to the satisfaction of all liabilities with respect 
thereto. 

Types of assets 

The assets of the Retirement Funds are invested by several indepen
dent investment managers principally in government, corporate and 
other bonds, common stocks and real estate investment funds. 

Pension costs 

Pension costs of the Bank for 1991 and 1990 were $20,278,000 and 
$17,594,000, respectively, and were charged to administrative ex
penses and allocated to the funds as indicated in Note A. 

Components of pension costs 

Pension costs comprised the following (in thousands): 
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N O T E S T O F I N A N C I A L S T A T E M E N T S (continued) 

December 3 1 , 1991 and 1990 

Years ended December 31, 

1991 

Service cost $18,603 
Interest cost on projected 

benefit obligation 50,374 
Amortization of prior 

service costs 593 
Expected return on Plan assets . . . . (49,292) 

$20,278 

1990 

$22,571 

40,667 

593 
(46,237) 
$17,594 

Reconciliation of Plan assets based on December 31, 1990 valuation 
of the Plan (in thousands): 

Obligation at December 31, 1991 
Non-vested benefits 
Vested benefits 
Accumulated benefits 

Effect of future salary increases 
Projected benefit obligation at 

Decembet 31, 1991 
Plan assets at Decembet 31, 1991 
Projected benefit obligation in excess of 

Plan assets 
Remaining unrecognized net obligation 

at January 1, 1991 
Unrecognized loss 
Prepaid pension cost recognized in the 

Balance Sheet 

$ 58,444 
438,133 
496,577 
173,219 

669,796 
622,754 

( 47,042) 

7,117 
39,925 

The unrecognized net transition obligation is being amottized 
over 15 years. 

Actuarial assumptions: 
Weighted average assumed discount rate . . 
Weighted average expected long-

tetm tate of return 
Weighted average tate of salary increases . . 

8.25% 

9.00% 
8.88% 

Note I - Non-Pension Retirement Benefits 

The Bank provides certain health care and other benefits to retirees. 
All current staff who contribute to the Staff Retirement Plan while in 
active service and who meet certain requirements will be eligible for 
postretirement benefits when they retire under the Bank's Staff 
Retirement Plans. 

Prior to 1990, the cost of retiree health care and other benefits, 
net of retiree contributions, was recognized in expense on a cash basis. 
The Bank changed its method of accounting in 1990 to recognize the 
cost of providing these benefits over the employees' service period, on 
an actuarially determined basis, and gave immediate recognition to 
the accumulated past service liability for its non-pension retirement 
benefits. 

The cumulative effect on prior years of changing the method of 
accounting for postretirement benefits amounted to $129,767,000, 
which was allocated to the ordinary capital and to the Fund for Special 
Operations on the basis of the administtative expense allocation 
method described in Note A. 

Funding policy and type of assets 

The postretirement benefits plan was funded by the Bank duting 
1991 and at December 31, 1991 the Plan's assets were invested in 
United States agencies obligations. 

Components of postretirement benefits costs 

Postretirement benefits costs comprised the following (in thousands): 

Yeats ended December 31, 

1991 

Service cost $ 7,757 
Interest cost 16,273 
Amortization of unrecognized 

obligations 2,039 
Return on Plan assets (11,132) 

$14,937 

1990 
$ 6,020 
11,183 

$17,203 

Reconciliation of Plan assets based on December 31, 1990 valuation 
of the Plan (in thousands): 

Obligation at December 31, 1991 

Accumulated postretirement benefits obligation: 
Retirees 
Fully eligible active plan participants . . . 
Othet active plan participants 

Plan assets at December 31, 1991 
Accumulated postretirement benefit 

obligation in excess of plan assets 
Remaining unrecognized net obligation 

at January 1, 1991 
Unrecognized loss 
Prepaid postretirement benefits cost 

recognized in the Balance Sheet 

$89,774 
43,039 
87,683 

220,496 
175,917 

(44,579) 

41,117 
3,462 

$ 0 

Actuarial gains and losses which exceed ten percent of the 
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation are being amortized 
ovet the average remaining life of active plan participants, or about 
11.5 yeats. 

Actuarial assumptions: 
Weighted average assumed discount rate . . 
Weighted average expected long-

term rate of return 
Weighted average rate of salary increases . . 

8.25 % 

9.00 % 
8.88 % 
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N O T E S T O F I N A N C I A L S T A T E M E N T S (continued) 

December 31 , 1991 and 1990 

Effect of 1% increase in the health care 
cost trend: 

The accumulated benefit obligation for 
health care costs would increase 
approximately 22.1% and the 
related cost for 1991 would increase 
approximately 25.3%. 

Note J - Technical Cooperation Expense 

Technical cooperation expense comprises the following (in thou
sands): 

Years ended December 31, 

1991 

Projects approved $116,636 
Cancellation of balances for 

overages or projects not executed (664) 
Recuperations and adjustments . . . . ( 62) 

$115,910 

1990 

$ 53,363 

(12,031) 
(314) 

$41,018 
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INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

APPENDIX II-1 

SUMMARY STATEMENT OF LOANS - NOTE E 
December 31, 1991 and 1990 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars - Note A 

Currency in which 
outstanding portion of 

approved loans is 
collectible 

Member in whose 
territory loans have 
been made 

Argentina 
Barbados 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic . 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Suriname  
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 
Regional 
Unallocated 

Loans 
approved, 

less 
cancellations 

$ 583,769 
41,298 
878,836 

1,348,599 
203,456 
699,760 
348,969 
621,298 
913,643 
690,654 
535,952 
286,361 
350,299 
781,179 
166,396 
560,163 
443,492 
285,965 
468,973 
394,639 
2,955 
31,314 
104,511 
101,393 
194,252 

Principal 
collected 

f 224,841 
8,010 

119,479 
668,402 
154,588 
281,030 

94,109 
95,879 

100,941 
51,987 
80,990 
6,929 

29,423 
93,966 
40,071 

374,102 
62,663 
65,010 

116,869 
171,041 

11,191 
39,132 
70,248 
69,503 

Loans sold 
or agreed 
to be sold 

$ 28,955 

3,702 
46,985 

7,298 
7,618 
2,858 

17,370 
17,455 
12,522 
12,164 

400 
2,324 

18,956 

2,496 
25,787 
10,933 
1,322 

17,493 

2,124 
21,782 

164 

Undisbursed Outstand: 

97,137 
174 

198,534 
197,828 

56,307 
4,484 
88,383 
297,103 
211,706 
106,550 
176,454 
132,651 
231,608 
5,518 
6,913 
66,500 
18,176 
100,380 

343 
2,289 
9,922 
8,685 

13,350 
(164) 

"g 
232,836 
33,114 
557,121 
435,384 
41,570 
354,805 
247,518 
419,666 
498,144 
414,439 
336,248 
102,578 
185,901 
436,649 
120,807 
176,652 
288,542 
191,846 
250,402 
205,762 

666 
10,201 
54,570 
9,363 

111,399 

Freely 
convertible 
currencies 

$ 15,974 
32,750 

472,016 
13,633 
13,211 
195,572 
220,260 
376,568 
447,136 
374,144 
295,234 
99,927 
160,617 
393,217 
102,838 
49,174 
280,304 
150,957 
180,494 
119,836 

830 
26,948 
9,363 
87,557 

Other 
currencies 

$ 216,862 
364 

85,105 
421,751 
28,359 
159,233 
27,258 
43,098 
51,008 
40,295 
41,014 
2,651 
25,284 
43,432 
17,969 
127,478 
8,238 

40,889 
69,908 
85,926 

666 
9,371 
27,622 

23,842 

Outstanding 
199Ó 

$ 239,184 
33,535 
533,611 
472,796 
47,191 
373,683 
258,779 
429,261 
457,460 
393,538 
332,232 
100,749 
178,886 
434,937 
125,114 
194,160 
253,013 
198,302 
238,495 
266,611 

412 
10,536 
47,576 
11,669 
115,015 

Total 1991 

Total 1990 

$11,038,126 $3,030,404 $260,708 $2,030,831 $5,716,183 $4,118,560 $1,597,623 

$10,458,061 $2,692,141 $258,244 $1,760,931 $4,031,611 $1,715,134 $5,746,745 

The freely convertible currencies in which the outstanding portion of approved loans is collectible are as follows: 

Currencies 

Austrian schillings 
Belgian francs 
British pounds sterling 
Canadian dollars 
Danish kroner 
Finnish markkas 
French francs 
German marks 
Israeli shekels 
Italian lire 

1991 

: 7,734 
26,936 

115,573 
228,770 

11,896 
7,838 

109,493 
125,999 

30 
32,675 

1990 

¡ 8,257 
27,332 

119,820 
240,133 

12,059 
8,018 

112,617 
128,921 

42 
34,693 

Currencies 

Japanese yen 
Netherlands guildets 
Norwegian kronor . . 
Portuguese escudos . 
Spanish pesetas 
Swedish kronor 
Swiss francs 
United States dollars 
Venezuelan bolivars . 
Yugoslav dinars . . . . 

1991 

$ 141,856 
18,153 
14,081 
3,028 

123,273 
23,706 
29,595 

3,040,297 
53,900 
3,727 

$4,118,560 

1990 

$ 144,201 
18,713 
14,319 
3,092 

126,915 
23,750 
30,223 

2,922,390 
55,090 
1,026 

$4,031,611 
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APPENDIX II-2 

STATEMENT OF CONTRIBUTION QUOTAS 
December 31 , 1991 and 1990 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars - Note A 

NOTES B AND F 

Contribution quotas authorized and subscribed 

Subject to maintenance of 
value 

Members 

Argentina 
Austria 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belgium 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Canada 
Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Denmatk 
Dominican Republic . 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 
Finland 
France 
Germany 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Israel 
Italy 
Jamaica 
Japan 
Mexico 
Netherlands 
Nicaragua 
Norway 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Portugal 
Spain 
Suriname  
Sweden 
Switzerland 
Trinidad and Tobago . 
United Kingdom 
United States 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 
Yugoslavia 
Total befóte 

unallocated amount 
Unallocated (Note B) . 

Total 1991 

Total 1990 

Before 
adjustments 

$ 402,819 
10,955 
8,800 
1,403 

27,098 
32,535 

402,819 
198,969 
111,440 
111,385 
16,215 
11,692 
21,721 
21,721 
16,215 
10,955 

133,396 
136,692 
21,721 
6,980 
16,215 
16,215 
10,794 

133,396 
21,721 
148,825 
259,249 
20,261 
16,215 
11,692 
16,215 
16,215 
54,492 
4,994 

133,396 
5,280 

23,729 
29,752 
16,215 

133,396 
4,100,000 

43,502 
250,060 
10,955 

7,198,315 

$7,198,315 
$7,196,122 

Adjustments 
$ 29,239 

42 

9,502 
61,754 
12,577 
22,565 
19,786 
3,818 

7,341 
4,151 
1,874 

6,312 

2,316 
6,569 

2,734 

15,041 

4,594 

5,871 
8,504 

13,803 

1,446 

243,574 
3,714 

12,109 

499,236 
5,387 

$504,623 

$504,623 

Not subject 
to 

maintenance 
of value 

$ 59,803 
3,868 
1,166 
159 

8,896 
4,190 
51,352 
52,882 
14,430 
14,430 
2,069 
3,831 
2,809 
2,809 
2,069 
2,565 

40,624 
46,730 
2,809 
899 

2,069 
2,069 
3,215 

37,701 
2,809 
59,004 
35,947 
7,075 
2,061 
2,815 
2,069 
2,069 
7,107 
851 

41,133 
688 

6,917 
9,977 
2,069 

37,393 
372,304 

5,623 
35,947 
3,735 

1,001,037 

$1,001,037 

$1,001,083 

Total 1991 
$ 491,861 

14,823 
9,966 
1,604 

35,994 
46,227 
515,925 
264,428 
148,435 
145,601 
22,102 
15,523 
31,871 
28,681 
20,158 
13,520 

174,020 
183,422 
30,842 
7,879 

20,600 
24,853 
14,009 

171,097 
27,264 

207,829 
310,237 
27,336 
22,870 
14,507 
24,155 
26,788 
75,402 
5,845 

174,529 
5,968 

30,646 
39,729 
19,730 

170,789 
4,715,878 

52,839 
298,116 
14,690 

8,698,588 
5,387 

$8,703,975 

Total 1990 
$ 492,454 

14,824 
9,966 
1,604 

36,076 
45,782 
514,242 
261,989 
147,576 
145,142 
21,988 
15,614 
31,087 
28,482 
20,041 
13,600 

174,424 
184,006 
30,256 
7,879 

20,583 
24,248 
14,054 

171,795 
27,099 

203,790 
310,237 
27,422 
22,696 
14,514 
24,126 
26,788 
74,831 
5,846 

174,389 
5,968 

30,525 
40,198 
19,687 

171,935 
4,715,857 

52,799 
298,116 
14,691 

8,689,226 
12,602 

$8,701,828 

Contribution 
quotas 

receivable from 
members 1991 
$ 8,514 

524 
249 
35 

1,265 
695 

8,514 
8,581 
2,393 
2,392 
343 
560 
466 
466 
343 
437 

6,343 
5,300 
466 
199 
457 
457 
458 

6,187 
466 

6,087 
5,960 
649 
343 
517 
343 
343 

1,178 
105 

6,257 
170 

1,018 
1,376 
457 

5,649 
61,728 

932 
3,973 
424 

153,619 

$153,619 

$170,709 
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INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

INTERMEDIATE FINANCING 
FACILITY ACCOUNT 

REPORT OF I N D E P E N D E N T ACCOUNTANTS 

Board of Governors 
Inter-American Development Bank 

In our opinion, the financial statements appearing on pages 138 through 140 present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Inter-American Development Bank—Intermediate Financing Facility Account at December 
31,1991 and 1990, and the changes in its fund balance for the years then ended in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Bank's management; our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements 
in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above. 

PRICE WATERHOUSE 

Washington, D.C. 
February 10, 1992 
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INTERMEDIATE FINANCING FACILITY ACCOUNT 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

BALANCE SHEET 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars - Note B 

December 31, 

1991 1990 

ASSETS 

Cash and investments 
Cash 

Investments, at amortized cost 
which approximates market 

Obligations issued or guaranteed 
by governments or issued by 
United States agencies 
Time deposits and other 
obligations of banks 
Total cash and investments 

Accrued income on investments 
Total assets 

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE 

Liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 

Fund balance 
Total liabilities and fund balance . . . 

$ 8,536 

262,133 

$ 869 

270,669 
271,538 

4,842 
$276,380 

$ 8,489 

243,513 

276,380 
$276,380 

$ 500 

252,002 
252,502 

5,552 
$258,054 

258,054 
$258,054 
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INTERMEDIATE FINANCING FACILITY ACCOUNT 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars - Note B 

Years ended December 31, 

Additions 
Allocation from Fund for Special 

Operations (Note A) , 
Income from investments 

Total additions 

Deductions 
Interest paid on behalf of ordinary capital 

botrowers (Note D) 
Increase for the year 

Fund balance beginning of the year 

Translation adjustments (Note C) . 

Fund balance end of year 

1991 

$ 15,500 
20,457 
35,957 

19,434 
16,523 

258,054 

1,803 

$276,380 

1990 

$ 15,500 
21,255 
36,755 

13,196 
23,559 

215,526 

18,969 

$258,054 

139 



INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

INTERMEDIATE FINANCING FACILITY ACCOUNT 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 1991 and 1990 

Note A - Nature of the Account 

In 1983 the Board of Governors of the Inter-American Development 
Bank (Bank) established the Intermediate Financing Facility Account 
(IFF) for the purpose of providing to certain borrowers part of the 
interest payments for which they ate liable on loans from the capital 
resources of the Bank. For initial funding purposes, the equivalent of 
$61,000,000 in convertible currencies of the General Reserve of the 
Fund for Special Operations (FSO) was transferred to the IFF on 
December 15, 1983. In addition, the equivalent of $15,500,000 in 
convertible currencies of the General Reserve of the FSO has been 
transferred annually beginning in 1984; a similar amount is to be 
allocated annually by the Board of Governots during each of the years 
1992 through 1996, $23,500,000 from 1997 through 2001 and 
$30,000,000 from 2002 through 2010. These amounts are subject to 
adjustment for appropriate reasons related to the availability of 
funding for the IFF. 

The IFF is also authorized to receive additional contributions 
from any member country. 

Note B - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Translation of currencies 

The financial statements are expressed in United States dollars; 
however, the IFF conducts its operations in various convertible 
currencies, including the United States dollat. Assets and liabilities 
denominated in currencies other than the United States dollar are 
translated at approximate market rates of exchange prevailing at the 
dates of the financial statements. Income and expenses in such 
currencies are translated at the approximate market rates of exchange 
prevailing during each month. The adjustments resulting from the 
translation of assets and liabilities are shown in the Statement of 
Changes in Fund Balance as translation adjustments. 

No representation is made that any currency held in the IFF is 
convertible into any other currency at any rate or rates. 

Administrative expenses 

Administrative expenses of the IFF are paid and absorbed by the Inter-
American Development Bank - ordinary capital and Fund for Special 
Operations. 

Years ended December 31, 

1991 

Cumulative adjustments, 
beginning of year $46,006 

Translation adjustments 
for the year 1,803 

Cumulative adjustments, 
end of year $47,809 

1990 

$27,037 

18,969 

$46,006 

Note D - Commitments 

The payment by the IFF of part of the interest due from borrowets is 
contingent on the availability of resources. At December 31, 1991 the 
amounts disbursed and outstanding and undisbursed by the Bank 
under loans on which the IFF would pay part of the interest, were 
classified by country, as follows (in thousands): 

Country 

Barbados 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Honduras 
Jamaica 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Suriname  
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 

Disbursed 
and 

outstanding 

$ 21,940 
42,772 
19,707 
46,566 
21,943 
11,395 
45,213 
18,044 
85,977 

1,101 
42,111 

5,155 
22,751 

9,657 
$394,332 

Undisbursed 

$ 12,483 
72,948 

3,822 
9,641 

2,161 

3,087 
112,461 
46,089 
13,760 
7,928 

80,208 
64,105 

$428,693 

Note C - Translation Adjustments 

As indicated in Note B, the adjustments of assets and liabilities 
denominated in currencies other than the United States dollar are 
shown as ttanslation adjustments in the Statement of Changes in 
Fund Balance. Such adjustments consist of credits as follows (in 
thousands): 
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INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

SOCIAL PROGRESS 
TRUST FUND 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS 

Inter-American Development Bank 
Administrator of the Social Progress Trust Fund 

In our opinion, the financial statements appearing on pages 142 through 146 present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Social Progress Trust Fund, which is administered by the Inter-American Development Bank, 
at December 31,1991 and 1990, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity 
with generally accepted accounting principles. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Bank's 
management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted 
our audits of these statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards which require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for the 
opinion expressed above. 

PRICE WATERHOUSE 

Washington, D.C. 
February 10, 1992 

141 



INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

SOCIAL PROGRESS TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

BALANCE SHEET 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars - Note B 

December 31, 

1991 1990 

ASSETS 

Cash and investments 
Cash $ 9,327 $ 4,786 

Investments, at amortized cost 
which approximates market 
United States Government and 
agencies obligations 
Time deposits and other 
obligations of banks 

Total cash and investments 

8,112 

8,900 

Participations in loans made from Fund 
for Special Operations (Note C) . . . . 

Loans outstanding (Note D) (Appendix IV-1) 

Allowance for losses on loans and 
participations 

Accrued interest and other charges 
On investments 
On participations 
On loans 

11 
362 
156 

Other assets 
Total assets 

17,012 
26,339 

125,366 

46,627 

( 7,300) 

529 
1 

$191,562 

$ 7,429 

8,650 

15 
389 
334 

16,079 
20,865 

130,285 

58,258 

( 7,300) 

738 

$202,848 

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE 

Liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 
Undisbursed technical cooperation projects 

and other financings 
Fund balance 

Fund established by the United States 
Government (Note A) 

Accumulated excess of expenses over income 
Amounts returned to the United States 

Government (Note E) 
Total liabilities and fund balance 

997 

33,126 

525,000 
(202,510) 

(165,051) 

$ 34,123 

157,439 
$191,562 

$ 595 

23,650 

525,000 
(190,130) 

(156,267) 

$ 24,245 

178,603 
$202,848 
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INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

SOCIAL PROGRESS TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

STATEMENT OF INCOME AND EXPENSES 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars — Note B 

Income 
Loans (Note D) 
Participations and other (Note C) 
Investments 

Total income 

Years ended December 31, 

1991 

1,131 
3,273 

971 
5,375 

1990 

1,113 
1,995 
1,233 
4,341 

Expenses 
Administrative expenses (Note A) 

Ditect expenses 
Indirect and overhead expenses charged by 

administrator 
Total administtative expenses 
Translation adjustments 

Total expenses 

Income before technical cooperation 

Technical cooperation (Note F) . . . 
Excess of income over expenses . . . . 

Accumulated excess of expenses over 
income beginning of yeat 

Accumulated excess of expenses over 
income end of year 

174 

563 
737 

2,237 
2,974 

2,401 

14,781 
12,380) 

(190,130) 

$(202,510) 

138 

335 
473 
880 

1,353 

2,988 

(9,631) 
12,619 

(202,749) 

$(190,130) 
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INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

SOCIAL PROGRESS TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

S T A T E M E N T O F CASH F L O W S 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars - Note B 

Years ended December 31, 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Lending (excluding related income): 

Loan disbursements 
Loan collections 

Purchases of patticipations in loans . 
Collections of participations 
Other assets and liabilities 
Net cash provided by investing activities 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Loan income collections 
Income on patticipations 
Income from investments 
Administrative expenses 
Technical cooperation and other financings 
Net cash used for operating activities 

Refunded to the U.S. Government 

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash 
and investments 

Net increase in cash and investments 

1991 

11,631 
(13,594) 
18,513 

[ 
16,551 

1,309 
3,300 

975 
(335) 

(5,305) 
(56) 

(8,784) 

(2,237) 

$ 5,474 

1990 

5 (14) 
8,224 

(6,838) 
24,638 

157 
26,167 

1,146 
2,052 
1,222 
(621) 

(8,012) 

(4,213) 

(18,984) 

(880) 

$ 2,090 

Reconciliation of excess of income over 
expenses to net cash used for operating activities 

Excess of income over expenses 
Difference between amounts acctued and 

amounts paid or collected for: 
Loan income 
Participation income 
Investment income 
Administtative expenses 
Technical cooperation and othet financings . . . . 

Translation adjustments 

$(12,380) 

178 
27 

4 
402 

9,476 
2,237 

Net cash used for operating activities (56) 

$12,619 

33 
57 

(11) 
(148) 

(17,643) 
880 

$ (4,213) 
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INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

SOCIAL PROGRESS TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

NOTES T O FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 1991 and 1990 

Note A - Nature of the Fund 

In 1961 the United States of America and the Inter-American 
Development Bank (Bank) entered into an Agreement whereby the 
Bank became Administrator of the Social Progress Trust Fund. 
Pursuant to the Agreement the Bank charges the Trust Fund for salary 
costs of certain of its professional staff, other direct expenses and the 
Fund's share of allowable overhead expenses. At December 31,1991, 
the Government of the United States and the Bank had agreed to final 
overhead rates for all years through 1990 and the Bank has proposed 
the use of the rate of $3.04 per $1.00 of salary cost on a provisional 
basis for 1991 and 1992, until such time as further overhead rate 
studies are completed. 

Note B - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Translation of currencies 

The financial statements are expressed in United States dollars, the 
currency in which the Trust Fund was established and which contin
ues to be its predominant currency. Assets and liabilities in currencies 
other than United States dollars are translated generally at approxi
mate market rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the financial 
statements. Income and expenses in such currencies are translated 
generally at the approximate matket rates of exchange prevailing 
during each month. The adjustments resulting from the translation of 
the Latin American currencies held by the Trust Fund into United 
States dollars are shown in the Statement of Income and Expenses as 
translation adjustments. No representation is made that any currency 
held by the Fund is convertible into any other currency at any rate or 
rates. 

Loans 

Loans from the resoutces of the Trust Fund are made to developing 
members of the Inter-American Development Bank, agencies or 
political subdivisions of such members or to private enterprises 
located in their territories. For loans to borrowers other than members 
and central banks, the Bank as Administrator has received in all 
instances the member's guarantee. 

The Bank as Administrator has a policy of not rescheduling loan 
repayments. The Bank as Administrator follows the policy of review
ing the collectibility of loans on a continuous basis and records 
provisions for loan and participation losses in accordance with its 
determination of collectibility risk of the total loan portfolio. 

The Bank as Administrator ceases to accrue income under all 
loans in a country when service under any loan to or guaranteed by a 
borrower in such country, made from any fund owned or adminis
tered by the Bank, is overdue for more than 180 days; income is 
recorded thereafter only as it is collected, until loan service is current 
under all loans. 

Technical cooperation 

All non-reimbursable technical cooperation projects as well as certain 
reimbursable financings which may not be fully recovered are charged 
to income at the time of approval. 

Note C - Participations in Loans Made from Fund for 
Special Operations 

The Board of Executive Directors has authorized the use of the 
resoutces of the Social Progress Trust Fund to purchase participations 
in loans made from the Fund for Special Operations provided that, 
with respect to such loans, the provisions of the Social Progress Trust 
Fund Agreement have in substance been complied with as fully as 
though the loans had been made initially from the Trust Fund. 
Through the purchase of participations in the local currency compo
nents of loans made from the Fund for Special Operations, the value 
of which must be maintained by the respective borrowers, it has been 
possible to substantially maintain the value of the Trust Fund 
resources so invested. 

Note D - Loans Outstanding 

Approved loans are disbursed to botrowers in accordance with the 
requirements of the project being financed; however, disbursements 
do not begin until the borrower and guarantor, if any, take certain 
actions and furnish certain documents to the Bank. 

Loan disbursements have been made principally in United States 
dollars although, in the case of certain loans, disbursements have been 
made in the national currencies of the borrowers or in the currencies 
of other members. In accordance with the provisions of practically all 
loan agreements, loans disbursed in United States dollars may be 
repaid in the national currency of the borrower at the market rate of 
exchange existing at the date of repayment or in United States dollars 
at the election of the borrower. 

Pursuant to the policy described in Note B, at December 31, 
1991, loans and participations made to or guaranteed by Panama, 
with an outstanding balance of $ 8,087,000 of which $2,703,000 was 
overdue, have been in nonaccrual status since March 1988. 

In addition, loans made to or guaranteed by the following 
countries were in nonaccrual status during the periods indicated: 

Country 
Honduras 
Nicaragua 
Peru 

From 
November 1989 
May 1988 
February 1989 

To 
June 1990 
September 1991 
September 1991 

The difference between the amounts of income not accrued and 
the amounts recognized as income when collected or when the 
countries came out of nonaccrual status had the net effect of increasing 
loan income by $ 1,473,000 in 1991 and decreasing loan income by 
$234,000 in 1990. 
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N O T E S T O F I N A N C I A L S T A T E M E N T S (continued) 

December 31 , 1991 and 1990 

In consideration of the delays in payments which have required 
the application of the nonaccrual policy as indicated above, the Bank 
provided for the possibility of losses on loans and participations in 
prioryears. The total allowance for loan losses amounts to $7,300,000 
at December 31, 1991. 

Note E - Amounts Returned to the United States 
Government 

The Bank as Administratot has returned to the Government of the 
United States the equivalent of $ 165,051,000 of the assets of the Trust 
Fund during the years 1980-1991 (1991-$8,785,000; 1990-
$18,984,000) for use in financing social development projects of the 
Inter-American Foundation, and will return up to the equivalent of 
$24,561,000 during 1992 through 1994. 

Note F - Technical Cooperation 

Technical cooperation comprises the following charges (credits), (in 
thousands): 

Years ended December 31, 

1991 

Projects approved $14,836 
Cancellations of balances 

for overages or projects not 
executed (1) 

Recuperation and adjustments . . . . (54) 
$14,781 

1990 

$ 4,775 

(14,473) 
67 

$(9,631 

SOCIAL PROGRESS TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

APPENDIX IV-1 

SUMMARY STATEMENT OF LOANS - NOTE D 
December 3 1 , 1991 and 1990 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars - Note B 

Countries in which 
loans have been made 

Argentina 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 
EI Salvador 
Guatemala 
Honduras 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 
Regional 

Total 1991 . . . 

Total 1990 . . . 

Loans 
approved, less 
cancellations 

$ 45,900 
20,648 
61,510 
34,352 
49,008 
11,700 
8,407 

27,449 
37,688 
28,313 

7,602 
34,927 
13,035 
12,862 
7,799 

45,108 
10,350 
72,861 
8,367 

$537,886 

$537,886 

Principal 
collected 

$ 42,868 
14,532 
59,295 
34,352 
48,460 
11,700 
8,407 

26,118 
22,798 
16,621 

7,602 
33,345 
13,035 
12,075 
7,139 

44,876 
10,350 
72,861 
4,825 

$491,259 

$479,628 

Outstanding 

$ 3,032 
6,116 
2,215 

548 

1,331 
14,890 
11,692 

1,582 

787 
660 
232 

3,542 
$46,627 

Outstanding 
1990 

$ 3,332 
6,379 
4,454 

1,078 
132 
65 

2,263 
16,230 
13,202 

2,409 
569 
788 
894 

2,266 
229 

3,968 

$58,258 
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INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

VENEZUELAN 
TRUST FUND 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS 

Inter-American Development Bank 
Administrator of the Venezuelan Trust Fund 

In our opinion, the financial statements appearing on pages 148 through 152 present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Venezuelan Trust Fund, which is administered by the Inter-American Development Bank, at 
December 31, 1991 and 1990, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity 
with generally accepted accounting principles. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Bank's 
management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted 
our audits of these statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards which require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for the 
opinion expressed above. 

PRICE WATERHOUSE 

Washington, D.C. 
February 11, 1992 
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BALANCE SHEET 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars - Note B 

December 31, 

1991 1990 

ASSETS 

Cash and temporary investments 
Cash 
Temporary investments, at amortized cost 

which approximates matket 
Time Deposits and other obligation of 
banks 

Total cash and temporary investments 

Loans outstanding (Note C) (Appendix V-l) 
Allowance fot loan losses 

Investment in equities, at cost 

Accrued interest and other charges 
On tempotary investments 
On loans 

Total assets 

204,831 
(11,000) 

1,509 
5,005 

41 

125,739 
125,780 

193,831 

1,535 

6,514 
$327,660 

$ 240,087 
(11,000) 

884 
5,956 

55 

103,700 
103,755 

229,087 

1,535 

6,840 
$341,217 

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE 

Liabilities 
Accounts payable 

Fund balance 
Fund established by the Venezuelan 

Investment Fund (Note A) 
Accumulated earnings 
Translation adjustments (Note B) 
Less amounts returned to the Venezuelan 

Investment Fund (Note A) 
Total liabilities and fund balance . . 

$406,981 
559,036 
(8,127) 

(630,554) 

$ 324 

327,336 
$327,660 

$ 408,508 
529,910 
( 8,443) 

(588,840) 

82 

341,135 
$341,217 
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STATEMENT OF INCOME AND ACCUMULATED EARNINGS 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars - Note B 

Years ended December 31, 

1991 1990 

Income 
Loans (Note C) 
Temporary investments 

Total income 

24,390 
6,102 

30,492 

$ 21,968 
7,613 

29,581 

Expenses 
Direct and indirect expenses (Note A) 
Commission on temporary investments (Note A) 

Total expenses 

Net income 
Accumulated earnings, beginning of year 

Accumulated earnings, end of year 

1,324 
42 

1,366 

29,126 
529,910 

$559,036 

1,397 
41 

1,440 

28,141 
501,769 

$529,910 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars - Note B 

Years ended December 31, 

1991 1990 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Lending (excluding related income): 

Loan disbursements 
Loan collections 
Net cash provided by lending activities 

Other assets and liabilities 
Net cash provided by investing activities 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Loan income collections 
Income from tempotary investments 
Administrative expenses 
Net cash provided by operating activities 

Refunded to the Venezuelan Investment Fund 
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and investments 
Net increase in cash and temporary investments 

Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by 
operating activities: 
Net income 
Difference between amounts accrued and amounts paid or 

collected for: 
Loan income 
Investment income 
Administrative expenses 

Net cash provided by operating activities 

$(51,767) 
86,483 
34,716 

227 
34,943 

25,334 
5,414 
(1,351) 
29,397 
(42,277) 

(38) 
$ 22,025 

$ 29,126 

944 
(688) 
15 

$ 29,397 

$(49,110) 
63,575 
14,465 

14,465 

21,148 
8,268 
(1,449) 
27,967 
(35,743) 

483 
$ 7,172 

$28,141 

(820) 
655 
(9) 

$ 27,967 

Supplemental disclosure of noncash activities: 
Decrease in loans outstanding resulting from exchange rate 

fluctuations $ 540 $ 945 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 3 1 , 1991 and 1990 

N o t e A - Nature o f the F u n d 

In 1975 the Venezuelan Investment Fund and the Inter-American 
Development Bank (Bank) entered into a Trust Agreement whereby 
the Bank became the Administtator of the Venezuelan Trust Fund. 
The initial resources of the Trust Fund were $400,000,000 and 
430,000,000 Venezuelan bolivats (Bs.), equivalent to $100,000,000 
at the tate of exchange in effect at that time. 

The purpose of the Fund is to contribute to the financing of 
projects and programs having a significant effect on the development 
of member countries of the Bank which are relatively less developed 
or of limited market, or of intermediate size, through better utilization 
of their natural resources and the promotion of their industry and 
agroindustry and to expand the Bank's export financing program, 
with emphasis on the strengthening of the integtation plans of Latin 
America, and to coopetate in the solution of problems which may arise 
affecting national and regional economic and social development 
plans. 

In accordance with the Trust Agreement, the Bank charges the 
Ttust Fund for direct and indirect expenses and a commission on 
tempotary investments. The direct and indirect expense charge is 
determined as a percentage of the Fund's assets at the end of the year, 
excluding certain assets not committed under loans. The Venezuelan 
Investment Fund may require the return of all sums received in 
payment of loans made from the Trust Fund as well as all collections 
of income derived from Trust Fund resources. Amounts returned to 
the Venezuelan Investment Fund in 1991 were $42,277,000, com
prised of $40,776,000 and Bs. 72,053,000 (1990 - $35,743,000, 
comprised of $34,334,000 and Bs. 34,426,000). 

Note B - Translation of Currencies 

The accounting records are maintained and the financial statements 
are expressed in United States dollars. Assets, liabilities and fund 
balance denominated in Venezuelan bolivars, which is the only other 
currency of the Fund, are translated into United States dollars at the 
rates of exchange in effect at the dates of the financial statements. 
Income and expenses in Venezuelan bolivars were translated at the 
approximate market rates of exchange prevailing during each month. 

The application of the above mentioned rates of exchange had 
the effect of reducing the United States dollar equivalent of the initial 
resources of the Fund by $1,527,000 in 1991 and $1,492,000 in 
1990. The portion of amounts returned to the Venezuelan Invest
ment Fund representing refunds of principal collected was also 
reduced by $563,000 in 1991 and $493,000 in 1990. The resulting 
net adjustment is shown in the Balance Sheet as translation adjust
ments under Fund Balance, and consists of charges (credits) as follows 
(in thousands): 

Years ended December 31, 

1991 

Cumulative adjustments, 
beginning of year $8,443 

Translation adjustments 
for the year (316) 

Cumulative adjustments, 
end of year $8,127 

1990 

$8,955 

(512) 

$8,443 

Note C - Loans Outstanding 

Loans approved are disbursed to borrowers in accordance with the 
requirements of the project being financed; however, disbursements 
do not begin until the borrower and guarantor take certain actions and 
furnish certain documents to the Bank. For borrowers other than 
members or central banks, the Bank as Administrator has received 
either the member's guarantee or other security deemed appropriate. 

The Bank as Administrator follows the policy of reviewing the 
collectibility of loans on a continuous basis and records provisions for 
loan losses in accordance with its determination of collectibility risk 
of the total loan portfolio. The Bank as Administratot ceases to accrue 
income under all loans in a country when service under any loan to or 
guaranteed by a borrower in such country, made from any fund 
owned ot administered by the Bank, is overdue for more than 180 
days; income is recotded thereafter only as it is collected, until loan 
service is current under all loans. The Bank as Administrator has a 
policy of not rescheduling loan repayments. 

Pursuant to the policy described above, at December 31, 1991, 
loans made to or guaranteed by Panama, with an outstanding balance 
of $ 16,671,000 of which $ 4,302,000 was overdue, have been in 
nonaccrual status since March 1988. 

In addition, loans made to ot guatanteed by the following 
countries were in nonaccrual status during the periods indicated: 

Country 
Honduras 
Nicaragua 
Peru 

From 
November 1989 
May 1988 
February 1989 

To 
June 1990 
Septembet 1991 
September 1991 

The difference between the amounts of income not accrued and 
the amounts recognized as income when collected or when the 
countries came out of nonaccrual status had the net effect of increasing 
loan income by $ 8,016,000 in 1991 and by $2,382,000 in 1990. 

In consideration of the delays in payments which have required 
the application of the nonaccrual policy as indicated above, the Bank 
as Administrator provided for the possibility of loan losses in priot 
years. The total allowance for loan losses amounts to $11,000,000 at 
December 31, 1991. 
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APPENDIX V-l 

SUMMARY STATEMENT OF LOANS - NOTE C 
December 3 1 , 1991 and 1990 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars - Note B 

Countries in which 
loans have been made 

Argentina 
Bahamas . 
Barbados . 
Bolivia . . . 
Brazil 

Chile 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 
Guatemala 

Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Jamaica 
Nicaragua 

Panama 
Peru 
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 
Regional 

Loans 
approved, 

less 
cancellations 

$ 2,577 
2,024 

18,839 
48,460 
51,721 

1,791 
109,109 
59,937 
52,240 
98,853 
32,940 

8,272 
6,701 

43,684 
116,940 
34,967 

21,435 
173,512 

9,320 
8,940 
3,422 

Total 1991 

Total 1990 

$905,684 

$847,959 

Principal 
collected 

$ 2,577 
1,044 

15,761 
29,719 
51,721 

1,791 
90,405 
24,604 
29,319 
82,691 
16,765 

3,058 
4,364 
19,608 
109,689 
12,888 
3,764 

164,512 
8,320 
8,940 
1,112 

$682,652 

$597,136 

Undisbursed 

$ — 

1,844 
4,267 

1,642 

5,000 
827 

1,759 

1,862 

1,000 

$18,201 

$10,736 

Outstanding 

980 
1,234 
14,474 

18,704 
33,691 
22,921 
11,162 
15,348 
3,455 
2,337 
22,214 
7,251 
22,079 
16,671 
9,000 
1,000 

2,310 

Outstanding 
1990 

1,122 
1,222 

17,609 

19,965 
35,897 
25,862 
17,368 
17,657 

3,643 
2,472 

26,282 
7,600 

30,897 

16,799 
12,166 

1,000 

2,526 
$204,831 

$240,087 

Loans approved, less cancellations, include shott and medium tetm lines of credit for export 
financing to the following countries at December 31, 1991: 

Argentina 
Barbados 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Chile 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic 
El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Jamaica 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Peru 
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 

$ 2,577 
17,137 
28,058 
51,721 

1,791 
. 90,000 

9,937 
79,440 

2,591 
2,272 
3,117 
8,715 

112,565 
1,000 
1,000 

162,000 
9,320 
8,940 

$592,181 
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Country 

ARGENTINA 
AUSTRIA 
BAHAMAS 
BARBADOS 
BELGIUM 

BOLIVIA 
BRAZIL 
CANADA 
CHILE 
COLOMBIA 

COSTA RICA 
DENMARK 
DOMINICAN REPUBLIC 
ECUADOR 
EL SALVADOR 

FINLAND 
FRANCE 
GERMANY 
GUATEMALA 
GUYANA 

HAITI 
HONDURAS 
ISRAEL 
ITALY 
JAMAICA 

JAPAN 
MEXICO 
NETHERLANDS 
NICARAGUA 
NORWAY 

PANAMA 
PARAGUAY 
PERU 
PORTUGAL 
SPAIN 

SURINAME 
SWEDEN 
SWITZERLAND 
TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO 
UNITED KINGDOM 

UNITED STATES 
URUGUAY 
VENEZUELA 
YUGOSLAVIA 

As of January 27, 1992 

Governor 

Domingo Cavallo 
Ferdinand Lacina 
Paul L. Adderley 
L. Erskine Sandiford 
Ph. Maystadt 

Samuel Doria Medina 
Marcilio Marques Moreira 
Barbara McDougall, P.C., M.P. 
Alejandro Foxley Rioseco 
Rudolf Hommes 

Rodolfo Méndez Mata 
Ole Loensmann Poulsen 
Luis F. Toral 
Pablo Better 
Mirna Liévano de Marques 

Ilkka Ristimàki 
Pierre Bérégovoy 
Michaela Geiger 
Richard Aitkenhead Castillo 
Carl B. Greenidge, M.P. 

Renaud Bernardin 
Ramón Medina Luna 
Jacob Frenkel 
Guido Carli 
Hugh Small, Q.C. 

Tsutomu Hata 
Pedro Aspe 
W. Kok 
Silvio De Franco M. 
Helge Kringstad 

Guillermo Ford B. 
Juan José Díaz Pérez 
Carlos Boloña Behr 
Jorge Braga de Macedo 
José Claudio Aranzadi Martínez 

Edwin Sedoc 
Alf Samuelsson 
Nicolas Imboden 

Lynda Chalker, M.P. 

Nicholas F. Brady 
Enrique Braga 
Miguel Rodríguez Fandeo 
Branimir Zekan 

Alternate 

Roque Fernández 
Othmar Haushofer 
Warren Rolle 
George Reíd 
Jean-Pierre Arnoldi 

Raúl Boada 
Francisco Roberto André Gros 
Frederick W. Gorbet 
Jorge Rodríguez Grossi 
Armando Montenegro Trujillo 

Carlos Vargas Pagan 
Sten Lilholt 
Manuel E. Gómez Pieterz 
Galo Mauricio Valencia Stacey 
J. Roberto Orellana M. 

Osmo Sarmavuori 
Jean-Claude Trichet 
Gert Haller 
José Federico Linares Martínez 
Winston Murray, M.P. 

Marie Michèle Rey 
Ricardo Maduro Joest 
Gad Arbel 
Lamberto Dini 
Omar Davies 

Yasushi Mieno 
José Angel Gurría Treviño 
J. P. Pronk 
Emilio Pereira A. 
Torild Skard 

Luis H. Moreno 

Jorge Chavez Alvarez 
Manuel França e Silva 
Miguel Angel Feito 

Stanly Ramsaran 
Lennart Baage 
Pietro Veglio 

Peter David Mark Freeman 

Robert B. Zoellick 
Carlos Cat 
Carlos Stark Rausseo 
Nikola Jelic 
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND ALTERNATE EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 

Edgar Ayales 
COSTA RICA 
Arturo J. Cruz (Alternate) 
NICARAGUA 

Eduardo Balcárcel 
URUGUAY 
Washington Ashwell (Alternate) 
PARAGUAY 

Horace Barber 
JAMAICA 
Jagdeesh Siewrattan (Alternate) 
TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO 

Claude Cambray 
FRANCE 
Wolfgang Natich (Alternate) 
AUSTRIA 

Fernando Carpentieri 
ITALY 
Annette Deckers (Alternate) 
NETHERLANDS 

José Luis Flores Hernández 
MEXICO 
Mario Read Vittini (Alternate) 
DOMINICAN REPUBLIC 
Pedro S. Malan 
BRAZIL 
Gustavo Darquea Espinosa (Alternate) 
ECUADOR 
Oscar Marulanda Gómez 
COLOMBIA 
Ricardo Palma-Valderrama (Alternate) 
PERU 

William M. McWhinney 
CANADA 
Yves L. Fortin (Alternate) 
CANADA 
Larry K. Mellinger 
UNITED STATES 
Richard C. Houseworth (Alternate) 
UNITED STATES 
Sonia Pérez R. 
VENEZUELA 
Juan Manuel Castulovich (Alternate) 
PANAMA 
A. Humberto Petrei 
ARGENTINA 
Juan Guillermo Espinosa (Alternate) 
CHILE 

Elected by: 
Costa Rica 
El Salvador 
Guatemala 

Elected by: 
Bolivia 
Paraguay 
Uruguay 

Elected by: 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Guyana 

Elected by: 
Austria 
France 
Israel 
Japan 

Elected by: 
Belgium 
Denmark 
Finland 
Germany 
Italy 

Elected by: 
Dominican Republic 
Mexico 

Elected by: 
Brazil 
Ecuador 
Suriname 

Elected by: 
Colombia 
Peru 

Elected by: 
Canada 

Appointed by: 
United States 

Haiti 
Honduras 
Nicaragua 

Jamaica 
Trinidad and Tobago 

Portugal 
Spain 
Switzerland 
Yugoslavia 

Netherlands 
Norway 
Sweden 
United 

Kingdom 

Number of 
Votes 

106,032 

98,140 

60,729 

Percentage of 
Voting Power 

2.87 

2.66 

1.65 

Elected by: 
Panama ' 
Venezuela 

Elected by: 
Argentina 
Chile 

130,042 

136,889 

299,284 

456,289 

175,620 

162,304 

1,276,949 

247,544 

547,549 

3.51 

3.70 

8.10 

12.35 

4.75 

4.39 

34.54 

6.70 

14.81 

External Review and Evaluation Office 
Trevor DaCosta, Director a.i. 

As of February 6, 1992 
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CHANNELS OF COMMUNICATION AND DEPOSITORIES 

Member Country Channel of Communications Depository 

ARGENTINA 
AUSTRIA 
BAHAMAS 
BARBADOS 
BELGIUM 

BOLIVIA 
BRAZIL 
CANADA 
CHILE 

COLOMBIA 
COSTA RICA 
DENMARK 
DOMINICAN REPUBLIC 
ECUADOR 
EL SALVADOR 
FINLAND 
FRANCE 
GERMANY 
GUATEMALA 
GUYANA 
HAITI 
HONDURAS 
ISRAEL 
ITALY 
JAMAICA 
JAPAN 
MEXICO 
NETHERLANDS 
NICARAGUA 
NORWAY 

PANAMA 
PARAGUAY 
PERU 
PORTUGAL 
SPAIN 

SURINAME 
SWEDEN 

SWITZERLAND 

TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO 
UNITED KINGDOM 
UNITED STATES 
URUGUAY 
VENEZUELA 

YUGOSLAVIA 

As of January 10, 1992 

Banco Central de la República Argentina 
Federal Ministry of Finance 
Ministry of Finance 
Ministry of Finance and Economic Affairs 
Administration de la Trésorerie, 

Service des Relations Internationales 
Banco Central de Bolivia 
Banco Central do Brasil 
Canadian International Development Agency 
Ministerio de Hacienda, Departamento 

de Presupuestos 
Banco de la República 
Ministerio de Hacienda 
Danish International Development Agency 
Banco Central de la República Dominicana 
Ministerio de Finanzas 
Banco Central de Reserva de El Salvador 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs 
Ministère de l'Économie 
Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation 
Banco de Guatemala 
Ministry of Finance 
Banque de la République d'Haïti 
Banco Central de Honduras 
Bank of Israel 
Ministero del Tesoro 
Ministry of Finance and Planning 
Ministry of Finance 

Secretaría de Hacienda y Crédito Público 
Ministry of Finance 
Ministerio de Economía y Desarrollo 
Royal Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs 

Department of Multilateral Development 
Cooperation 

Ministerio de Planificación y Política Económica 
Banco Central de Paraguay 
Banco Central de Reserva del Perú 
Ministério das Finanças 
Subdirección General de Política Comercial 

Multilateral, Secretaría de Estado de Comercio, 
Ministerio de Industria, Comercio y Turismo 

Central Bank van Suriname 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Department 

for International Development Co-operation 
Office Fédéral des Affaires Économiques 

Extérieures 
Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago 
Overseas Development Administration 
Treasury Department 
Ministerio de Economía y Finanzas 
Oficina de Coordinación y Planificación de la 

Presidencia de la República 
Federal Secretariat for Finance 

Banco Central de la República Argentina 
Osterreichische Nationalbank 
Central Bank of The Bahamas 
Central Bank of Barbados 

Banque Nationale de Belgique 
Banco Central de Bolivia 
Banco Central do Brasil 
Bank of Canada 

Banco Central de Chile 
Banco de la República 
Banco Central de Costa Rica 
Danmarks Nationalbank 
Banco Central de la República Dominicana 
Banco Central de Ecuador 
Banco Central de Reserva de El Salvador 
Bank of Finland 
Banque de France 
Deutsche Bundesbank 
Banco de Guatemala 
Bank of Guyana 
Banque de la République d'Haïti 
Banco Central de Honduras 
Bank of Israel 
Banca d'Italia 
Bank of Jamaica 
Bank of Japan 
Banco de México, S.A. 
De Nederlandsche Bank N.V. 
Banco Central de Nicaragua 

Bank of Norway 
Banco Nacional de Panamá 
Banco Central de Paraguay 
Banco Central de Reserva del Perú 
Banco de Portugal 
Banco de España 

Central Bank van Suriname 
Sveriges Riksbank 

Banque nationale suisse 

Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago 
Bank of England 
Federal Reserve Bank of New York 
Banco Central de Uruguay 
Banco Central de Venezuela 

National Bank of Yugoslavia 
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INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

COUNTRY OFFICES AND REPRESENTATIVES 

ARGENTINA, José María Puppo 
Calle Esmeralda 130, Pisos 19 y 20 
(Casilla de Correo 181, Sucursal 1) 
Buenos Aires Tel: 334-1756 

BAHAMAS, Garnet R. Woodham 
IDB House, East Bay Street 
(P.O. Box N-3743) 
Nassau Tel: 393-7159 

BARBADOS, Leonardo A. da Silva 
Maple Manor, Hastings 
(P.O. Box 402) 
Christchurch Tel: 427-3612 

BOLIVIA, Johann Schmálzle 
Edificio BISA, 5o Piso 
Avenida 16 de Julio 1628, 
(Casilla de Correo 5872) 
La Paz Tel: 37-0293 

BRAZIL, David B. Atkinson 
Setor Comercial Sul (SCS) 
Quadra 3 - No. 40 
Edifício Planalto - 2o andar 
70300 Brasília DF Tel: 321-7848 

CHILE, Paul Ernst Kohling 
Avda. Pedro de Valdivia 0193, 11° Piso 
(Casilla l66l l , Correo 9, Providencia) 
Santiago Tel: 231-7986 

COLOMBIA, Alejandro Scopelli R. 
Avenida 40 A, No. 13-09, 8o Piso 
(Apartado Aéreo 12037) 
Bogotá Tel: 288-0366 

COSTA RICA, Juan Manuel Corredor 
Edifício Centro Colón, Piso 12 
Paseo Colón, entre calles 38 y 40 
San José Tel: 33-3244 

DOMINICAN REPUBLIC, 
Nelson R. Ocampo 
Avenida Winston Churchill, 
Esquina calle Luis F. Thomen, 
Torre BHD 
(Apartado Postal 1386) 
Santo Domingo Tel: 562-6400 

ECUADOR Ronald P. Brousseau 
Avenida Amazonas 477 y Roca 
Edificio Banco de los Andes, 9° Piso 
(Apartado Postal 9041, Sucursal 7) 
Quito Tel: 56-2141 

As of February 6, 1992 

EL SALVADOR, Stephen E. McGaughey 
Condominio Torres del Bosque 
10° Piso, Colonia La Mascota 
(Apartado Postal (01) 199) 
San Salvador Tel: 23-8300 

GUATEMALA, Cario Binetti 
Edificio Géminis 10 
12 Calle 1-25, Zona 10, Nivel 19 
(Apartado Postal 935) 
Guatemala Tel: 35-2650 

GUYANA, Jacinto Vélez 
47 High Street, Kingston 
(P.O. Box 10867) 
Georgetown Tel: 5-7950 

HAITI 
FadriqueJ. Otero 
Bourdon 389 
(Boîte postale 1321) 
Port-au-Prince Tel: 45-5711 

HONDURAS, Charles T. Greenwood 
Edificio Los Castaños, 5o y 6° Pisos 
Colonia Los Castaños 
(Apartado Postal N° 3180) 
Tegucigalpa Tel: 32-8954 

JAMAICA, Jacques Cook 
40-46 Knutsford Blvd., 6th floor 
(P.O. Box 429) 
Kingston. 10 Tel: 926-2342 

MEXICO, Rodolfo Silva 
Avenida Horacio No. 1855 
6o Piso (Esquina Periférico) 
Los Morales — Polanco 
11510 México, D.F. Tel: 580-2122 

NICARAGUA, Joel A. Riley 
Edificio BID 
Km. 4-1/2 Carretera a Masaya 
(Apartado Postal 2512) 
Managua Tel: 67-0831 

PANAMA, Luis A. Sánchez Masi 
Avenida Samuel Lewis 
Edificio Banco Unión, Piso 14 
(Apartado Postal 7297v 

Panamá 5 Tel: 63-6944 

PARAGUAY, José Agustín Riveras 
Edificio Aurora I 
Calle Caballero esq. Eligió Ayala 
Pisos 2 y 3 
(Casilla de Correo 1209) 
Asunción Tel: 49-2061 

PERU, Javier Gala Palacios 
Paseo de la República 3245, 14° Piso 
(Apartado Postal 3778) 
San Isidro, Lima 100 Tel: 42-3400 

SURINAME, Christian Will 
6th Floor Hakrinbank NV 
Dr. Sophie Redmondstraat 11-13 
Paramaribo Tel: 74-317 

TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO, 
Robert H. BellefeuiUe 
Tatil Building, 11 Maraval Rd. 
(P.O. Box 68) 
Port of Spain Tel: 622-8367 

URUGUAY, Vladimir Radovic 
Andes 1365, Piso 13 
(Casilla de Correo 5029, Sucursal 1) 
Montevideo Tel: 92-0444 

VENEZUELA, Fernando A. Cossio 
Edificio Cremerca, Piso 3 
Avenida Venezuela, El Rosal 
Caracas 1060 Tel: 951-5533 

INSTITUTE FOR THE 
INTEGRATION 
OF LATIN AMERICA 

José María Puppo, Director a.i. 
Calle Esmeralda 130 — Pisos 16, 17, 18 
(Casilla de Correo No. 39, Sucursal 1) 
Buenos Aires Tel: 394-2265 

SPECIAL REPRESENTATIVE 
IN EUROPE 

FRANCE, Jorge C. Elena 
66, avenue d'Iéna 
75116 Paris Tel: 40-69-31-00 
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inter-American Development Bank 
1300 New York Ave., N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20577 
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